# MAINFIRST

# FULL PROSPECTUS 1 April 2022

MainFirst - Investment company with variable capital under the law of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg (Société d'Investissement à Capital Variable, SICAV)

Subscriptions can only be accepted on the basis of this Full Prospectus ("Full Prospectus"). The Full Prospectus is only valid if submitted together with the latest available annual report or, where applicable, the latest available semi-annual report if prepared later than the most recent annual report. The re-spective annual and semi-annual reports and the essential information for investors are available before and after conclusion of contract from the Company's registered office or any paying or information agent free of charge. Nobody shall be authorised to rely on statements that are not included in the Full Prospectus or in the essential information for investors or in documents to which this Full Prospectus or the essential information for investors refers and that are available to the public.

## MAINFIRST

LUXEMBOURG TRADE AND COMPANIES REGISTER NO. B 89 173

## INVESTMENT COMPANY WITH VARIABLE CAPITAL UNDER THE LAW OF THE GRAND DUCHY OF LUXEMBOURG (SOCIÉTÉ D'INVESTISSEMENT À CAPITAL VARIABLE, SICAV)

Investm	nent restrictions under tax law:
President	Thomas Bernard Haron Holding S.A. (société anonyme)
Members of the Board	Skender Kurtovic MainFirst Holding AG
	Marc-Antoine Bree Swiss Federal Tax Administration, Switzerland-Berne
	Dirk Leuk Haron Services Sarl.
MANAGEME	ENT, DISTRIBUTION AND ADVISORY
Management Company	MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers S.A. (société anonyme) 16, rue Gabriel Lippmann L-5365 Munsbach
Custodian Bank	DZ PRIVATBANK S.A. (société anonyme) 4, rue Thomas Edison L-1445 Strassen
Central Administration Agent, Registrar and Transfer Agent Domiciliary Agent and Paying Agent	DZ PRIVATBANK S.A. 4, rue Thomas Edison L-1445 Strassen
Investment Manager	MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Deutschland) GmbH Kennedyallee 76 D-60596 Frankfurt am Main
	MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Switzerland) AG Freigutstrasse 26 CH-8002 Zurich
	ETHENEA Independent Investors S.A. (société anonyme) 16, rue Gabriel Lippmann LU-5365 Munsbach
Securities lending agent	J.P. Morgan SE, Luxembourg Branch 6, route de Trèves L-2633 Senningerberg
Auditor	Ernst & Young S.A. (société anonyme) 35 E, Avenue John F. Kennedy L-1855 Luxembourg

#### Investment restrictions under tax law:

## Contents

GENE	RAL SECTION	5
Glo	ssary	5
1.	Introduction	9
2.	General information on the Company and its management	11
3.	General investment objectives, investment policy and risks	18
4.	Shares of the Company	22
5.	Issue of Shares	23
6.	Redemption of Shares	24
7.	Conversion of Shares	25
8.	Statutory notification to prevent money laundering	26
9.	Information for shareholders regarding disclosure obligations in the tax area (I 6)	
10.	Protection of personal data	27
11.	Combating market timing and late trading	29
12.	Dividend policy	29
13.	Costs	29
14.	Remuneration policy	32
15.	Tax treatment of the Company and its shareholders	32
16.	Information for investors concerning the automatic exchange of information	35
17.	Notifications to shareholders	35
18.	Investment restrictions	37
19.	Calculation of the net asset value	65
20.	Dissolution, liquidation, merger	66
21.	Available documents	69
SPEC	IAL SECTION	71
Mai	nFirst – Euro Value Stars	72
Mai	nFirst – Top European Ideas Fund	80
Mai	nFirst – Germany Fund	90
Mai	nFirst – Emerging Markets Corporate Bond Fund Balanced	99
Mai	nFirst – Global Equities Fund	106
Mai	nFirst – Absolute Return Multi Asset	115
Mai	nFirst – Emerging Markets Credit Opportunities Fund	124
Mai	nFirst – Global Dividend Stars	134

MainFirst – Global Equities Unconstrained Fund	144
MainFirst – Total Return European Equity Fund	153
MainFirst – Megatrends Asia	160
ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION	168
Title I Name - Registered Office - Duration - Purpose	168
Article 1 - Name	168
Article 2 - Registered Office	168
Article 3 - Duration	168
Article 4 - Purpose	168
Title II Share Capital - Shares - Net Asset Value	168
Article 5 - Capital Share Classes	168
Article 6 - Form of the Shares	169
Article 7 - Issue of Shares	170
Article 8 - Redemption of Shares	170
Article 9 - Conversion of Shares	172
Article 10 - Restrictions on ownership of Shares	172
	172
Article 11 - Calculation of the net asset value per Share	1/3
Article 12 - Frequency and temporary suspension of the calculation of asset value per Share, as well as of the issue, redemption and convers	the net ion of
Article 12 - Frequency and temporary suspension of the calculation of asset value per Share, as well as of the issue, redemption and convers Shares	<b>the net</b> ion of 176
Article 12 - Frequency and temporary suspension of the calculation of asset value per Share, as well as of the issue, redemption and convers Shares Title III Administration and supervision	the net ion of 176
Article 12 - Frequency and temporary suspension of the calculation of asset value per Share, as well as of the issue, redemption and convers Shares Title III Administration and supervision Article 13 - Members of the Board of Directors	the net ion of 176 176 176
Article 12 - Frequency and temporary suspension of the calculation of asset value per Share, as well as of the issue, redemption and convers Shares Title III Administration and supervision Article 13 - Members of the Board of Directors Article 14 - Meetings of the Board of Directors	the net ion of 176 176 176 177
<ul> <li>Article 12 - Frequency and temporary suspension of the calculation of asset value per Share, as well as of the issue, redemption and convers Shares</li> <li>Title III Administration and supervision</li> <li>Article 13 - Members of the Board of Directors</li> <li>Article 14 - Meetings of the Board of Directors</li> <li>Article 15 - Powers of the Board of Directors</li> </ul>	the net ion of 176 176 176 176 177 178
<ul> <li>Article 12 - Frequency and temporary suspension of the calculation of asset value per Share, as well as of the issue, redemption and convers Shares</li> <li>Title III Administration and supervision</li> <li>Article 13 - Members of the Board of Directors</li> <li>Article 14 - Meetings of the Board of Directors</li> <li>Article 15 - Powers of the Board of Directors</li> <li>Article 16 - Obligation of the Company vis-à-vis third parties</li> </ul>	the net ion of 176 176 176 176 177 178 178
<ul> <li>Article 12 - Frequency and temporary suspension of the calculation of asset value per Share, as well as of the issue, redemption and convers Shares</li> <li>Title III Administration and supervision</li> <li>Article 13 - Members of the Board of Directors</li> <li>Article 14 - Meetings of the Board of Directors</li> <li>Article 15 - Powers of the Board of Directors</li> <li>Article 16 - Obligation of the Company vis-à-vis third parties</li> <li>Article 17 - Delegation of powers</li> </ul>	the net ion of 176 176 176 176 177 178 178 178
<ul> <li>Article 12 - Frequency and temporary suspension of the calculation of asset value per Share, as well as of the issue, redemption and convers Shares</li> <li>Title III Administration and supervision</li> <li>Article 13 - Members of the Board of Directors</li> <li>Article 14 - Meetings of the Board of Directors</li> <li>Article 15 - Powers of the Board of Directors</li> <li>Article 16 - Obligation of the Company vis-à-vis third parties</li> </ul>	the net ion of 176 176 176 176 177 178 178 178 178
<ul> <li>Article 12 - Frequency and temporary suspension of the calculation of asset value per Share, as well as of the issue, redemption and convers Shares</li> <li>Title III Administration and supervision</li> <li>Article 13 - Members of the Board of Directors</li> <li>Article 14 - Meetings of the Board of Directors</li> <li>Article 15 - Powers of the Board of Directors</li> <li>Article 16 - Obligation of the Company vis-à-vis third parties</li> <li>Article 17 - Delegation of powers</li> <li>Article 18 - Investment policy and investment restrictions</li> </ul>	the net ion of 176 176 176 177 178 178 178 178 178 178 178 178
<ul> <li>Article 12 - Frequency and temporary suspension of the calculation of asset value per Share, as well as of the issue, redemption and convers Shares</li> <li>Title III Administration and supervision</li> <li>Article 13 - Members of the Board of Directors</li> <li>Article 14 - Meetings of the Board of Directors</li> <li>Article 15 - Powers of the Board of Directors</li> <li>Article 16 - Obligation of the Company vis-à-vis third parties</li> <li>Article 17 - Delegation of powers</li> <li>Article 18 - Investment policy and investment restrictions</li> <li>Article 19 - Compensation of the Members of the Board of Directors</li> </ul>	the net ion of 176 176 177 178 178 178 178 178 178 178 178 185
<ul> <li>Article 12 - Frequency and temporary suspension of the calculation of asset value per Share, as well as of the issue, redemption and convers Shares</li> <li>Title III Administration and supervision</li> <li>Article 13 - Members of the Board of Directors</li> <li>Article 14 - Meetings of the Board of Directors</li> <li>Article 15 - Powers of the Board of Directors</li> <li>Article 16 - Obligation of the Company vis-à-vis third parties</li> <li>Article 17 - Delegation of powers</li> <li>Article 18 - Investment policy and investment restrictions</li> <li>Article 19 - Compensation of the Members of the Board of Directors</li> </ul>	the net ion of 176 176 177 178 178 178 178 178 178 178 178 185 185 185
<ul> <li>Article 12 - Frequency and temporary suspension of the calculation of asset value per Share, as well as of the issue, redemption and convers Shares</li> <li>Title III Administration and supervision</li> <li>Article 13 - Members of the Board of Directors</li> <li>Article 14 - Meetings of the Board of Directors</li> <li>Article 15 - Powers of the Board of Directors</li> <li>Article 16 - Obligation of the Company vis-à-vis third parties</li> <li>Article 17 - Delegation of powers</li> <li>Article 18 - Investment policy and investment restrictions</li> <li>Article 19 - Compensation of the Members of the Board of Directors</li> <li>Article 20 - Conflicts of interest</li> <li>Article 21 - Supervision</li> </ul>	the net ion of 176 176 176 177 178 178 178 178 178 178 178 185 185 185 185
Article 12 - Frequency and temporary suspension of the calculation of asset value per Share, as well as of the issue, redemption and convers Shares	the net ion of 176 176 176 177 178 178 178 178 178 178 178 185 185 185 185 185 185

Article 25 - Merger of Sub-funds	188
Article 26 - Financial year	189
Article 27 - Distributions	189
Title V Final provisions	190
Article 28 - Dissolution of the Company	190
Article 29 - Liquidation	190
Article 30 - Amendments to the Articles of Association	190
Article 31 - Applicable law	190
Article 32 - Effective date	190

# **GENERAL SECTION**

## GLOSSARY

Articles of Association	The Articles of Association of the Company.
Banking day	A day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which the Banks are open for normal business in Luxembourg City all day. Deviations therefrom are stipulated in the Special Section. In this respect, 24 December and 31 December of each year shall not be considered to be banking days.
Base currency	The currency in which the respective Class of a Sub-fund is denominated.
Board of Directors	The Board of Directors of the Company.
Central Administration Agent, Registrar and Transfer Agent and Pay- ing Agent	DZ PRIVATBANK S.A., 4, rue Thomas Edison, L-1445 Strassen, which assumes these functions for the Investment Company.
CHF	The official currency of Switzerland.
Class	A Class or several Classes of a Sub-fund with particular features in terms of fee structure, minimum investment requirements, distribution policy, prerequisites to be fulfilled by the shareholders, base currency and other specific criteria.

Company	MainFirst, a variable capital investment company governed by Luxem- bourg law		
CRS	Common Reporting Standard.		
Custodian Bank	DZ PRIVATBANK S.A. 4, rue Thomas Edison, L-1445 Strassen, which assumes the custodian function for the Investment Company.		
EEA	European Economic Area		
ESG principles	Environmental, social aspects as well as the type of corporate governance that are taken into account when selecting investments.		
EU	European Union		
EU member state	A member state of the European Union		
EUR or euro	The official currency of the member states of European monetary union.		
FATCA	Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act.		
Full Prospectus	The Company's Full Prospectus as last amended.		
Fund currency	The currency in which the assets in which a Sub-fund invests are quoted and valued. Further details are provided in the Annex relating to the re- spective Sub-fund.		
GBP	The official currency of the United Kingdom.		
Gross share value	The net asset value per share taking into account all costs within the per- formance fee included therein. It is used to calculate the performance fee.		
Law of 2010	The Law of 17 December 2010 on Undertakings for Collective Investment, including subsequent amendments and additions.		
Member of the Board of Directors	A member of the Company's Board of Directors.		
Money market instru- ment	An instrument normally traded on the money market that is liquid and that has a value that can be determined at any time.		
Net asset value	The net asset value of the Company, a Sub-fund or, where applicable, a Class, calculated as described in this Full Prospectus and the Articles of Association.		

UCITS	Undertakings for collective investment in transferable securities pursuant to the European Council Directive 2009/65/EC of 13 July 2009 on the co- ordination of laws, regulations and administrative provisions relating to undertakings for collective investment in transferable securities (UCITS).
UCI	Undertaking for collective investment
Sub-fund	A Sub-fund as defined in Article 181 of the Law of 2010, i.e. a special portfolio of assets set up for one or more Classes of the Company that is invested in accordance with a specific investment objective. The Sub-fund does not have its own legal personality independent of the Company. However, each Sub-fund is liable exclusively for the assets and liabilities attributable to it. The features of the individual Sub-funds are described in more detail in the corresponding Annex.
Shares	Shares in the capital of the Company. All of the Shares must be fully paid up.
Securities financing transactions	Securities financing transactions such as securities financing and securi- ties repurchase agreements, acquisition with a repurchase option, reverse repurchase agreements.
	• All other marketable securities that entitle the holder to acquire securities by subscription or exchange with the exception of the techniques and instruments referred to in Article 42 of the Law of 2010.
	Bonds and other securitised debt instruments (debt instruments)
	Equities and other securities equivalent to equities (equities)
Securities	Securities as defined in Article 1(34) of the Law of 2010:
S.A.	A société anonyme, a joint stock company under Luxembourg law
Regulation 2015/2365	Refers to Regulation (EU) 2015/2365 of the European Parliament and the Council of 25 November 2015 on the transparency of securities financing transactions and the reuse and amending of Regulation (EU) No. 648/2012.
OECD member state	A member state of the OECD
OECD	The Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, whose member states at the time of publication include Australia, Austria, Bel- gium, Chile, Canada, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, Luxembourg, Mexico, New Zealand, Netherlands, Norway, Poland, Por- tugal, Slovakia, Slovenia, South Korea, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Tur- key, the United Kingdom and the United States of America.

<u> </u>	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Valuation Day	Any banking day on which the net asset value per Share of a Sub-fund (or a particular Class of a Sub-fund) is calculated and which is referred to
	in the Annex for the respective Sub-fund.

## 1. INTRODUCTION

The Full Prospectus (Full Prospectus) is published in the scope of the current share (issue) offer of MainFirst (Company), a variable capital investment company.

The Shares being offered **(Shares)** are Shares of the various Sub-funds **(Sub-funds)** of the Company and are offered for sale via Distributors. Subscriptions are only accepted if based on the valid Full Prospectus (General Section and Special Section) in conjunction with the latest published annual report and the latest published semi-annual report if it has been published later than the annual report.

Each Sub-fund is legally dependent and all Sub-funds together form the Investment Company, which itself is a legally independent entity. The Full Prospectus is exclusively published in the context of the offer of Shares of the Sub-funds available at the time of printing of the Full Prospectus.

The Sub-funds' Shares are issued, redeemed or converted at the prices resulting from the calculation of the Net Asset Value per Share of the relevant Sub-fund. In this context please refer to the following sections:

#### Issue of Shares

#### Redemption of Shares

#### Conversion of Shares

Pursuant to the provisions of the Law of 17 December 2010 relating to undertakings for collective investment ("UCIs"), as amended (the **Law of 2010**), the Company is entitled and obliged to prepare essential information for investors for the distribution of Shares of one or several Sub-fund(s), with the Full Prospectus available in Luxembourg at the Company's registered office, from the Management Company and from national agents.

Thus, the Full Prospectus contains one General Section comprising the provisions applicable to all Sub-funds, and a Special Section, detailing the individual Sub-funds and the provisions specific to them. In its Special Section, the Full Prospectus includes all Sub-funds and may be consulted by investors at the Company's registered office, via the Management Company and via the national agents. The Full Prospectus includes the General Section and the respective applicable Special Section. Additionally, the Company must issue key investor information containing a concise presentation of the relevant Sub-fund, information regarding the fields of investment, economics and trading, and additional information for investors.

The Company's Board of Directors (**Board of Directors**) has taken all necessary steps to ensure that the Full Prospectus, at the time of its publication, contains accurate and precise information on all of the key issues tackled therein. All members of the Board of Directors (**Directors**) accept their liability in this regard.

Potential subscribers of Shares are requested to seek personal advice – via their bank or their financial, legal or tax advisor – to become fully aware of any legal or tax consequences or of any consequences related to foreign exchange restrictions or controls which may be applicable to the

subscription, the holding, redemption, conversion or transfer of Shares with regard to the current legal situation in the country of residence, ordinary residence or place of business of such person.

Nobody is authorised to issue information other than the information provided in the Full Prospectus and in the documents referred to therein.

Any information disclosed by a person who is not referred to in the Full Prospectus should be regarded as unauthorised information. The information contained in the Full Prospectus is accurate at the time of issue, it may be updated from time to time to take account of any major changes that subsequently occur. Any potential subscriber of Shares is therefore advised to check with the Company as to whether a more recent Full Prospectus has been published since the original date of publication.

Any reference to the terms **EUR**, **GBP**, **CHF** and **USD** in this Full Prospectus shall mean the relevant legal tender in the member states of the single European currency, in the United Kingdom, Switzerland or the United States.

The Annexes are integral parts of the Full Prospectus and must be read in conjunction with it.

The Company informs potential investors of the fact that all investors can only assert their rights in their entirety directly against the Company, in particular the right to participate in General Meetings, if the investor is himself a shareholder of the Company and is thus entered in the Company's share register in his own name. In cases in which the investor has invested in the Company through an intermediary such as a trustee or a so-called nominee who has made the investment in his own name but on behalf of the investor, all of the rights associated with the investment may not automatically be asserted by the investor directly vis-à-vis the Company. Investors are advised to seek advice on their rights in such a situation.

Copies of the Full Prospectus may be acquired free of charge from the Management Company and from the Central Administration Agent, Register and Transfer Agent:

DZ PRIVATBANK S.A. 4, rue Thomas Edison

L-1445 Strassen

The Full Prospectus may be translated into other languages. Any foreign-language versions should be accurate and true translations of the German original. In the event of any differences between the German version of the Full Prospectus and other language versions of the same document, the German version shall be binding, unless national legal provisions in a distribution country stipulate that the version of the Full Prospectus issued in that country in a different language is the binding version.

**EUROPEAN UNION (EU)** – The Company is an Undertaking for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities (UCITS) pursuant to Directive 2009/65/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 July 2009 on the coordination of laws, regulations and administrative provisions relating to undertakings for collective investment in transferable securities (**UCITS Directive**); the Company's Board of Directors intends to publicly distribute the Shares in various EU member states (**EU member state**) according to the provisions of the UCITS Directive.

**LUXEMBOURG** – The Company is an Undertaking for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities (UCITS) pursuant to Section I of the Law of 2010. The Company's admission as a Luxembourg UCITS must not be interpreted as a positive judgement by the Luxembourg supervisory authority, *Commission de surveillance du secteur financier* (the **CSSF**) regarding the quality of the Shares in the Company distributed on the basis of this Full Prospectus.

The Full Prospectus must not serve as a basis for an offer or an invitation to purchase in a certain country or under certain conditions unless such offer or invitation is authorised in the relevant country or under the relevant conditions. Any potential subscriber of Shares receiving a copy of the Full Prospectus (General and Special Section) or the subscription from outside of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg, shall regard such documents as an invitation to purchase or subscribe regarding such Shares only if such invitation can be made in full legally in the corresponding country without any registration or other requirements, or if the relevant person complies with such country's applicable legal provisions, or has received all official and any other authorisations required, and has complied with all applicable formal requirements.

**FRANCE** – Shares in certain Sub-funds of the Company may be held in France as part of a share savings plan (*Plan d'épargne en actions*). As regards the Germany Fund, Top European Ideas Fund and Euro Value Stars Sub-funds, the Company undertakes to invest its assets pursuant to Article 91 quater L of Annex II of the French *Code général des impôts* such that on a sustained basis at least 75% is invested in transferable securities or rights, as indicated under a, b and c of the 1st paragraph of Article L.221-31 of the French *Code monétaire et financier*.

**UNITED STATES OF AMERICA** – The Shares have not been registered under the provisions of the United States Securities Act of 1933; thus, they must by no means be offered or in any way sold within the United States of America or any of its territories and may also not be offered or sold either to United States citizens or for the benefit of U.S. persons, with the term "U.S. person" being defined in Article 10 of the Articles of Association (**Articles**).

## 2. GENERAL INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY AND ITS MANAGE-MENT

#### General information on the Company

- 2.1 The Company is an investment company with variable capital ("société d'investissement à capital variable", SICAV, in the form of a société anonyme) which was established on 26 September 2002, in the form of a stock company in accordance with Luxembourg law, pursuant to the provisions of the law of 10 August 1915 on Commercial Companies including subsequent changes and supplements and the amended law of 30 March 1988 on undertakings for collective investments for an indefinite period. The Company's Articles of Association and the Full Prospectus have been amended pursuant to the Law of 20 December 2002 on Undertakings for Collective Investment and also, subsequently, pursuant to the Law of 2010.
- 2.2 It has its registered office at 4, rue Thomas Edison, L-1445 Strassen, Luxembourg.
- 2.3 The Company is recorded in the Luxembourg Register of Commerce and Companies under no. B 89 173.
- 2.4 The founding Articles of Association were published in *Mémorial C, Recueil Spécial des so-ciétés et associations* (Mémorial) on 24 October 2002. The *Mémorial* was replaced on 1 June 2016 by the new information platform *Recueil électronique des sociétés et associations* ("RESA") of the Luxembourg Register of Commerce and Companies. Amendments to the

Articles of Association to the Investment Company of Association came into effect most recently on 1 January 2021 and were published in RESA.

- 2.5 The Company's Central Administration is located in Luxembourg.
- 2.6 At the time of formation, the Company's initial capital amounted to EUR 125,000, represented by two thousand five hundred (2,500) fully paid-in no-par Shares.
- 2.7 The Company's capital was required to have reached a level of EUR 1,250,000 within six months of the Company being approved. It is represented by fully paid-in no-par Shares.
- 2.8 In accordance with the Articles of Association, Shares can be issued as considered by the Board of Directors to various Sub-funds of the Company's assets. The assets of each Sub-fund are established separately and invested according to the relevant Sub-fund's investment objectives. Thus, the Company is established as an umbrella fund, enabling the investor to choose from various investment objectives and to invest in one or more Sub-funds of the Company's assets.
- 2.9 Each of these Sub-funds has its independent portfolio of securities and legitimate assets managed according to specific investment objectives. Each of the Sub-funds can vary in particular by investment strategy, investment objectives, fund currency (fund currency) or other criteria as mentioned in the respective Annex. Exemption of liability exists among the individual Sub-funds. Shareholder and creditor rights concerning a Sub-fund or rights regarding the inception, custody or the liquidation of a Sub-fund only refer to the assets of this Sub-fund.
- 2.10 The assets of a Sub-fund are only liable up to the sum of the shareholder's invested assets in this Sub-fund and also liable for the costs associated with the inception, management or liquidation of the Sub-fund. Every Sub-fund is treated as an independent entity with regards to the relationships of shareholders to one another.
- 2.11 The Sub-fund can issue several Classes (Class) whose assets are subject to a mutual investment objective. The Classes differ, for instance, regarding the fee structure, minimum investment requirements, distribution policy, and compliance of requirements for the shareholders, fund currency and other specific criteria. A specific Class does not hold a separate portfolio of investments. Each Class is therefore also liable for an obligation specifically made in another Class of the Sub-fund, for example from currency hedging when issuing currency hedged Classes. This inclusion may negatively impact the net asset value (net asset value) of the non-hedged Classes.
- 2.12 At present, Shares in the following Sub-funds of the Company are issued:
  - MainFirst Euro Value Stars
  - MainFirst Top European Ideas Fund
  - MainFirst Germany Fund
  - MainFirst Emerging Markets Corporate Bond Fund Balanced
  - MainFirst Global Equities Fund
  - MainFirst Absolute Return Multi Asset
  - MainFirst Emerging Markets Credit Opportunities Fund
  - MainFirst Global Dividend Stars
  - MainFirst Global Equities Unconstrained Fund
  - MainFirst Total Return European Equity Fund
  - MainFirst Megatrends Asia

- 2.13 The Board of Directors shall exclusively issue Registered Shares in the above Sub-funds.
- 2.14 Upon the launch of new Sub-funds, the Full Prospectus shall be amended as appropriate by providing detailed information regarding the new Sub-funds.
- 2.15 At any time, the Company's capital corresponds to the total of all Sub-funds' net asset values.

#### **Management Company**

2.16 The Board of Directors of the Management Company has appointed MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers S.A., as the Company's Management Company as defined in the Law of 2010 pursuant to an agreement concluded with effect from 1 January 2016.

The Management Company was founded for an unlimited term on 12 March 2013. The Share capital currently totals EUR 1,000,000. The Management Company is entered in the Luxembourg Commercial Register under number RCS B 176025. Its Articles of Association were last amended on 26 June 2018 and published in the official gazette RESA on 6 July 2018. The registered office of the Management Company is located at 16, rue Gabriel Lippmann, L-5365 Munsbach, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg.

2.17 The Board of Directors of the Management Company is composed of the following persons:

Thomas Bernard (Chairman of the Board of Directors),

Josiane Jennes (Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors) and

Skender Kurtovic (member of the Board of Directors).

2.18 The managers of the Management Company are:

#### (a) Anja Richter

Anja Richter has a German doctorate in Law and has worked in the Luxembourg finance industry for over 19 years. She is responsible for the legal, compliance & outsourcing controlling, fund design and portfolio management areas. She is also on the Board of Directors for several Luxembourg fund structures and has extensive experience in the administration and design of Luxembourg fund structures.

## (b) Thomas Merx

Thomas Merx is responsible for the Fund Service, Risk Management & Investment Compliance, Infrastructure/IT and AIF Valuation divisions. He came to MainFirst Bank AG in 2010 as Senior Portfolio Manager and Risk Manager, before being named Head of Risk Management of MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers S.A. in 2015. Mr Merx has an MBA from Columbia University, New York, and a BA (Bachelor of Arts) from Middlebury College. Mr Merx has held various positions in the financial services industry since 1995.

#### (c) Marc-Oliver Scharwath

In October 2018, Marc-Oliver Scharwath joined MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers S.A. and assumed responsibility for sales, customer service, marketing and communication as well as the Human Resources and Finance departments. A fully qualified German lawyer and Master of Laws (University of East Anglia, Norwich – UK), he has over 10 years of experience in the Luxembourg industry and most recently served as Executive Director and Country Head of a leading capital management company in Luxembourg.

- 2.19 The Management Company acts in this function to several investment funds and companies in Luxembourg. A full list of these investment vehicles can be obtained from the registered office of the Management Company. A description of procedures for avoiding conflicts of interest can be found at <a href="http://www.mainfirst.com">www.mainfirst.com</a>.
- 2.20 The Management Company, as the management company appointed by the Company in accordance with Chapter 15 of the Law of 2010, fulfils the remit described in Annex II of the Law of 2010 with regard to portfolio management, central administration and distribution of the Shares in the Company. The domiciliation tasks are not assigned to the Management Company.
- 2.21 Subject to the Board of Directors' consent and in accordance with the applicable statutory rules, the Management Company may delegate performance of the tasks with regard to portfolio management, central administration and distribution of the Shares in the Company to suitable third parties.
- 2.22 Any such delegation to third parties notwithstanding, the Management Company shall retain responsibility for monitoring the tasks concerned. The delegation may not impair the effectiveness of the supervision by the Management Company in any way. In particular, the Management Company should not be hindered by the transfer of duties from acting in the best interests of the shareholders.
- 2.23 This covers the following activities in particular:
  - (a) Administration of the Company's assets and Sub-funds that has been outsourced under the respective Investment Management Agreements to MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Deutschland) GmbH with registered office in Kennedyallee 76, D-60596 Frankfurt am Main and MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Switzerland) AG, Freigutstrasse 26, CH-8002 Zürich, applicable as of 1 January 2016 in each case as well as with ETHENEA Independent Investors S.A. with registered office in 16, rue Gabriel Lippmann, L-5365 Munsbach, applicable as of 1 October 2020.
  - (b) Central Administration Agent and Registrar and Transfer Agent, which have been outsourced to DZ PRIVATBANK S.A., with registered office at 4, rue Thomas Edison, L-1445 Strassen, by agreement with effect from 1 January 2021.

#### **Custodian Bank and Paying Agent**

2.24 The Company's assets are deposited with DZ PRIVATBANK S.A. (**Custodian Bank**), which has agreed to act as sole Custodian Bank subject to a global custody agreement entered into with the Company for an unspecified period of time with effect from 1 January 2021 (the **Custodian Bank Agreement**).

The Custodian Bank Agreement may be terminated by the Company, the Management Company or by the Custodian Bank by giving 6 months' written notice prior to the end of the Company's financial year. Termination must always observe the provisions of Article 36(a) of the Law of 2010, i.e. a bank replacing the Custodian Bank must be named within a period of two months after the termination, and the Custodian Bank must perform the activities required to uphold the legitimate interests of the shareholders until a new bank is named.

The Custodian Bank is organised as a public limited company (*société anonyme*) under Luxembourg law for an unlimited duration, and its registered office is at 4, rue Thomas Edison, L-1445 Strassen, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg. It is subject to supervision by the Luxembourg financial market supervisory authority (CSSF) and is entered in the Luxembourg Trade and Companies Register under number B 82183.

Under the Custodian Bank Agreement, the Custodian Bank shall (i) perform the duties of Custodian Bank in relation to the custodial assets of the Company and (ii) carry out monitoring to ensure that any non-custodial assets of the Company always remain in the ownership of the Company. In addition, the Custodian Bank shall effectively and adequately monitor the Company's cash flows in accordance with legal requirements.

With regard to its custodial function as mentioned under (i) above, the Custodian Bank shall keep all financial instruments in a corresponding account opened at the Custodian Bank in the name of the Company (the account being at all times segregated in such a way that all financial instruments in this account can be clearly identified as belonging to the Company), as well as all financial instruments that can be physically held at the Custodian Bank. In the event of the Custodian Bank's insolvency or bankruptcy, assets of the Company segregated in this way shall not be available to creditors of the Custodian Bank in order to meet any claims of such creditors against the Custodian Bank.

With regard to other non-custodial assets as referred to in (ii) above, the Custodian Bank shall check the Company's ownership of such assets and enter these assets in a register. This register shall be kept permanently up to date by the Custodian Bank. For the purpose of checking the Company's right of ownership, the Custodian Bank shall have access to information and documents provided to it by the Company, and, in so far as available, publicly accessible or verifiable information or registers.

The Custodian Bank is responsible for adequate surveillance of the Company's cash flows and, in particular, for ensuring that all payments made by or on behalf of investors reach the Company and that all cash of the Company is posted to cash accounts which (i) have been opened in the name of the Company or in the name of the Custodian Bank on behalf of the Company, (ii) have been opened in accordance with points (a), (b) and (c) of Article 18(1) of Directive 2006/73/EC, and (iii) are in accordance with the obligations to be observed pursuant to Article 16 of Directive 2006/76/EC. Where cash accounts have been opened in the name of the Custodian Bank on behalf of the Company, cash of the Company within the meaning of (ii) above and cash of the Custodian Bank must not be mixed in these accounts.

- 2.25 Pursuant to the provisions of the Law of 2010, and in addition to its custodial duties, it is the task of the Custodian Bank to ensure that:
  - (a) the sale, issue, redemption, conversion and the declaration of invalidity of Shares by the Company itself or for its account are carried out in compliance with legal requirements and the Articles of Association;
  - (b) valuation of Shares is carried out in compliance with the law and the Articles of Association;
  - (c) the instructions of the Company are carried out, provided these do not infringe legal requirements or the Articles of Association;
  - (d) regarding transactions involving the Company's assets, the corresponding consideration is received within the usual timeframe;
  - (e) the Company's revenues are used for the purposes specified in the Articles of Association.

2.26 Assets held in custody by the Depositary cannot be reused for their own account by the Depositary, or by a third party to whom the custodial function has been transferred. Reuse is considered to be transactions with assets such as transfer, pledging, selling and borrowing.

According to the provisions of the Custodian Bank Agreement and the requirements of the Law of 2010, the Custodian Bank may, under certain conditions and to ensure the performance of its duties, transfer all or part of its tasks to third parties whom it appoints from time to time. A list of third parties who may potentially be appointed by the Custodian Bank is available at <u>www.mainfirst.com</u>.

The Custodian Bank shall employ all due skill, care and diligence in selecting and appointing such third parties, as required by the Law of 2010, so as to ensure that its entrusts assets of the Company only to those third parties who have adequate resources and experience to undertake the transferred activities and appropriate standards of security in accordance with the Law of 2010. This includes, in particular, ensuring that the third party is subject to appropriate prudential financial regulation and supervision.

Regardless of the foregoing, where the laws of a third country require that certain financial instruments of the Company be held in custody by a company established in the third country concerned, the Custodian Bank may transfer the custodial function to such companies, but only as long as and to the extent that the laws of a third country so require.

2.27 The Custodian Bank's liability shall not be affected should the Bank entrust third parties wholly or partially with the custody of the Company's assets.

The Custodian Bank is liable to the Company and its shareholders for the loss of any financial instruments that have been held by the Custodian Bank or a third party (delegate) in accordance with the Law of 2010, and in particular is obliged to deliver a financial instrument of the same type or the corresponding amount back to the Company without undue delay.

The Custodian Bank shall also be liable for any other losses caused by it through negligence or intentional misconduct arising in the exercise of its obligations under the Law of 2010.

If the event which resulted in the loss of financial instrument was not due to the Custodian Bank's own actions or omissions (or those of a third party), the Custodian Bank shall be released from liability if it is able to show that it could not have prevented the event which led to the loss, despite all appropriate precautionary measures and efforts, in accordance with the provisions of the Law of 2010.

2.28 As remuneration for its services as the Custodian Bank, the Custodian Bank charges the standard banking costs in Luxembourg in connection with holding assets and securities, which are described in greater detail in Section 12 of the General Section.

In carrying out its duties, the Custodian Bank shall always act honestly, fairly, professionally, independently and exclusively in the interest of the Company and its investors. In particular, the Custodian Bank must not undertake any activities in relation to the Company that might constitute a conflict of interest between the Company, the shareholders and the Custodian Bank, unless the Custodian Bank is able to make a functional and hierarchical separation of the exercise of custodial duties with potential conflicts, and such potential conflict points are properly identified, managed, monitored and disclosed.

#### Central Administration Agent, Registrar and Transfer Agent and Paying Agent

2.29 The Management Company has delegated the tasks of Central Administration Agent, Registrar and Transfer Agent and Paying Agent to DZ PRIVATBANK S.A. DZ PRIVATBANK S.A. (Central Administration Agent, Registrar and Transfer Agent and Paying Agent) shall be responsible, among other tasks, for the performance of the administrative functions required by Luxembourg law, the maintenance of the Company's accounting records and the maintenance of the Share Register. In addition, it shall be responsible for the periodic calculation of the net asset value per Share and shall also assume any other functions of a central administration agent according to Luxembourg laws. In particular, it shall be responsible for the relevant proceeds. The Central Administration Agent, has under its responsibility and control, transferred various administrative tasks, such as the calculation of the net asset values, to Attrax Financial Services S.A. (société anonyme) with registered office at 3, rue Heienhaff, L-1736 Senningerberg.

#### Distributors

- 2.30 In compliance with the applicable laws, the Company and the Management Company intend to appoint, in accordance with the applicable laws, Distributors and suitable third parties (e.g. platforms) to offer and sell the Shares of each Sub-fund in all countries in which the offering and sale of these Shares is permitted. These contract partners are entitled to retain or reduce the front-end load or parts of the front-end load for the Shares they distribute. Contracts with these contract partners regulate rights and obligations in connection with the offering and sale of the Shares of the Sub-funds. The Company has entered into contracts with Distributors and other suitable third parties to offer and sell the Shares of the Sub-funds.
- 2.31 The contract partners transmit the subscription, redemption and conversion orders to the Management Company.

#### **Investment Manager**

- 2.32 The Company and the Management Company have named MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Switzerland) AG, Freigutstrasse 26, CH-8002 Zurich, Switzerland, as Investment Manager for the Sub-funds MainFirst Emerging Markets Corporate Bond Fund Balanced and MainFirst Emerging Markets Credit Opportunities Fund. MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Switzerland) AG can also delegate fund management tasks for all Sub-funds to MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Deutschland) GmbH at its own responsibility, cost and control.
- 2.33 For the Sub-fund MainFirst Total Return European Equity Fund, the Company has transferred investment management to ETHENEA Independent Investors S.A., 16, rue Gabriel Lippmann, L-5365 Munsbach. The Fund Manager, under Chapter 15 of the Law of 17 December 2010, has an authorisation to manage assets in its country of domicile with respect to the investment funds and is subject to appropriate supervision.
- 2.34 For all of the other Sub-funds, the Company and the Management Company have named MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Deutschland) GmbH, Kennedyallee 76, D-60596 Frankfurt am Main, Germany. MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Deutschland) GmbH can also delegate fund management tasks for all Sub-funds to MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Switzerland) AG at its own responsibility, cost and control.

- 2.35 The basis for the exercise of the functions of MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Deutschland) GmbH is the assumption of the rights and obligations in the course of the legal succession (spin-off of the Asset Management division from MainFirst Bank AG with the continued existence of MainFirst Bank AG) with effect from 27 September 2018. MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Deutschland) GmbH as legal successor of MainFirst Bank AG has taken on all of the rights and responsibilities of this agreement. The amended agreement is effective as at 27 September 2018. In a letter of approval dated 24 August 2018, the Bundesanstalt für Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht (BaFin) granted MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Deutschland) GmbH permission to provide financial services in accordance with Section 32 (1) sentence 1 KWG a), investment brokerage (Section 1 (1a) sentence 2 no. 1 KWG), b), acquisition brokerage (Section 1 (1a) sentence 2 no. 2 KWG) and c) financial portfolio management (Section 1 (1a) sentence 2 no. 3 KWG).
- 2.36 The basis for the appointment of MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Switzerland) AG is an agreement with effect from 1 January MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Switzerland) AG has been licensed by the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority (FINMA) as a manager of collectively owned assets and provides advisory and financial services in particular to banks, securities dealers, other financial intermediaries and institutional investors. MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Switzerland) AG, which was established in June 2007, was founded in May 2003 under the name MF Financial Services.
- 2.37 The basis for the appointment of ETHENEA Independent Investors S.A. is an agreement dated 1 October 2020. ETHENEA Independent Investors S.A., as a Management Company under Chapter 15 of the Law of 17 December 2010, has an authorisation to manage the assets of investment funds in Luxembourg and is subject to the supervision of the CSSF. The Company was established in January 2002.
- 2.38 The Investment Managers are authorised, under the supervision of the Board of Directors and the Management Company, to take decisions on the investment and reinvestment of the assets of the Sub-funds in accordance with the Full Prospectus and the Articles of Association of the Company.

# 3. GENERAL INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES, INVESTMENT POLICY AND RISKS

- 3.1 The fundamental objective of the Company is to provide its shareholders with an appropriate increase in value of the capital invested in conjunction with a broad diversification of the risks involved.
- 3.2 Investments in any of the Company's Sub-funds are subject to market fluctuations and other risks typically associated with investing in securities.
- 3.3 The value of the investment may be influenced by national and international macroeconomic developments, by interest rate fluctuations or by changes in the currencies of the investment countries, but also by exchange control provisions, by the tax legislation of the individual investment countries, including the provisions regarding withholding tax, by change of government or by changes in the economic and currency policies of the relevant countries. There is therefore no guarantee that the objectives of the investment policy will be achieved in practice.

- 3.4 The investment policy for the respective Sub-funds is consistently implemented in accordance with the investment restrictions described in section 17.
- 3.5 Each Sub-fund may apply different strategies to reduce investment risks and to optimise its portfolio return but is, however, subject to the investment restrictions described in section 17. At present, such strategies include options on securities, exchange futures, futures, and options on futures. The situation on the markets and the applicable legal provisions may restrict the use of such instruments. The Company cannot guarantee the success of such strategies. The Sub-funds participating in the futures and options markets, and the Sub-funds applying currency exchange transactions in compliance with the investment restrictions specified under section 17 are subject to the risks and costs related to such specific investments; they would not be subject to such risks and costs if they had not concluded such transactions. Should the Investment Manager's assessment of the development of the securities, currency and interest markets not be correct, the Sub-fund may find itself in a more unfavourable situation than if the risk hedging or optimising strategies had not been applied.
- 3.6 There is no guarantee that the Sub-funds' portfolios are effectively hedged or that the Subfunds will actually achieve their investment objectives.
- 3.7 None of the Company's Sub-funds shall, as part of their investment policy, invest in equities or Shares of the Investment Manager or of companies that are associated with the Investment Manager.
- 3.8 The fundamental objective of the Company, the Management Company and the Portfolio Managers appointed is to assess and take into account *environmental and social aspects as well as the type of corporate governance* when investment decisions are made ("ESG Principles"). Investments should contribute to a sustainable global financial system. Further details, in particular on the investment process, the internal principles and guidelines as well as further information on the strategies, investment decisions and results taking into account ESG aspects are available to interested parties and shareholders at <u>www.mainfirst.com</u>.

The Sub-funds of the Investment Company take sustainability aspects into account in their investment processes. They use a combination of different methods to do so:

- Negative lists
  - Limit product exposure at issuer level
- Norm-based criteria
  - Take human rights, labour rights, environmental and ethical standards into account in the investment decision and/or the investment process
- ESG integration
  - ESG risk indicators are constantly analysed in the investment process and also contribute to investment decisions.

Further details can be found at <u>www.mainfirst.com</u>.

FUND	DEDICATED ESG STRAT- EGY	ESG INTEGRA- TION	SUSTAINABILITY ANALYSIS OF ALL SE- CURITIES	SFDR ALLOCATION
MainFirst - Euro Value Stars		х		6
MainFirst - Top European Ideas Fund	х	х	х	8
MainFirst - Germany Fund	х	х	х	8

#### ESG strategy used

FUND	DEDICATED ESG STRAT- EGY	ESG INTEGRA- TION	SUSTAINABILITY ANALYSIS OF ALL SE- CURITIES	SFDR ALLOCATION
MainFirst - Emerging Markets Corpo- rate Bond Fund Balanced	х	х	х	8
MainFirst - Global Equities Fund	х	х	х	8
MainFirst - Absolute Return Multi As- set	х	x	x	8
MainFirst - Emerging Markets Credit Opportunities Fund	х	х	х	8
MainFirst- Global Dividend Stars	х	х	х	8
MainFirst - Global Equities Uncon- strained Fund	х	х	x	8
MainFirst - Total Return European Equities		х		6
MainFirst - Megatrends Asia	х	х	х	8

## Exclusion criteria for companies

FUND	WEAPONS & CLUSTER MUNI- TIONS	UN GLOBAL COMPACT
MainFirst - Euro Value Stars	х	x
MainFirst - Top European Ideas Fund	х	х
MainFirst - Germany Fund	х	x
MainFirst - Emerging Markets Corporate Bond Fund Balanced	x	Х
MainFirst - Global Equities Fund	x	х
MainFirst - Absolute Return Multi Asset	x	x
MainFirst - Emerging Markets Credit Op- portunities Fund	x	Х
MainFirst- Global Dividend Stars	x	х
MainFirst - Global Equities Unconstrained Fund	х	Х
MainFirst - Total Return European Equities	х	
MainFirst - Megatrends Asia	Х	Х

## Exclusion criteria for government bonds

FUND	HUMAN RIGHTS / DE- MOCRACY	BIODIVERSITY	CORRUPTION	NUCLEAR NON- PROLIFERA- TION TREATY
MainFirst - Emerging Markets Corporate Bond Fund Balanced				
MainFirst - Absolute Return Multi Asset	х	х	х	х
MainFirst - Emerging Markets Credit Op- portunities Fund				

## Additional information

FUND	ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
MainFirst - Euro Value Stars	https://mainfirst.com/de/aktienfonds/mainfirst-euro-value-stars/?thirdparty=y
MainFirst - Top European Ideas Fund	https://mainfirst.com/de/aktienfonds/mainfirst-top-european-ideas-fund/?thirdparty=y
MainFirst - Germany Fund	https://mainfirst.com/de/aktienfonds/mainfirst-germany-fund/?thirdparty=y

FUND	ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
MainFirst - Emerging Markets Corporate Bond Fund Balanced	https://mainfirst.com/de/rentenfonds/mainfirst-emerging-markets-corporate-bond- fund-balanced/?thirdparty=y
MainFirst - Global Equities Fund	https://mainfirst.com/de/aktienfonds/mainfirst-global-equities-fund/?thirdparty=y
MainFirst - Absolute Return Multi Asset	https://mainfirst.com/de/mischfonds/mainfirst-absolute-return-multi-asset/?third- party=y
MainFirst - Emerging Markets Credit Op- portunities Fund	https://mainfirst.com/de/rentenfonds/mainfirst-emerging-markets-credit-opportuni- ties-fund/?thirdparty=y
MainFirst- Global Dividend Stars	https://mainfirst.com/de/aktienfonds/mainfirst-global-dividend-stars/?thirdparty=y
MainFirst - Global Equities Unconstrained Fund	https://mainfirst.com/de/aktienfonds/mainfirst-global-equities-unconstrained- fund/?thirdparty=y
MainFirst - Total Return European Equities	https://mainfirst.com/de/aktienfonds/mainfirst-total-return-european-equity- fund/?thirdparty=y
MainFirst – Megatrends Asia	https://www.mainfirst.com/de/aktienfonds/mainfirst-megatrends-asia/?thirdparty=y

3.9 Risks associated with investing in eligible Chinese stocks with the Shanghai and Shenzhen Hong Kong Stock Connect

The Shanghai and Shenzhen Hong Kong Stock Connect ("SHSC") is a programme for mutual market access ("Mutual Market Access Programme") under which investors (here the Fund) can trade in selected securities that are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange ("Shanghai Stock Exchange (SSE)") via the stock exchange and clearing houses in Hong Kong ("Northbound Trading"), and investors in mainland China who meet certain criteria are given the opportunity to trade in selected securities that are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange ("Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (SEHK)") via the stock exchange and clearing houses in Shanghai ("Southbound Trading").

If applicable, the Fund will acquire Chinese A-Shares with the SHSC programme in accordance with its investment policy. A share of the Shanghai Stock Exchange or the Shenzhen Stock Exchange designated as an A-Share refers to the share of a company that is traded in Renminbi, the currency of the People's Republic of China. Originally, these shares could only be traded by Chinese citizens. The use of SHSC can result in the following risks or increase the risks mentioned in this chapter:

- Trading via the SHSC is subject to a daily quota, which may mean that the Fund is limited in its investment opportunities or may not be able to make its intended investments on a specific day via the SHSC. The daily quota limits the maximum net purchases in crossborder trading that can be made on a daily basis under the Stock Connect programme. As soon as the remaining balance of the northbound daily quota reaches zero or is exceeded at the beginning of the session, new buy orders are rejected and only accepted again on the following trading day. In addition, there are restrictions on the total holdings of foreign investments that apply to all Hong Kong and overseas investors, as well as restrictions on the holdings of individual overseas investors. Investors should be aware that different trading hours and different allotment and holding limits can limit the Fund's ability to make timely investments.
- The exchanges connected via SHSC reserve the right to suspend trading in order to ensure a proper market if they deem this to be necessary. It should also be noted that SHSC is only operated on days that are considered a trading day in the People's Republic of China and Hong Kong and the following day is a banking day in the countries mentioned.
- Due to the novelty of SHSC and the creation of the necessary processes and resources required by SHSC for the use of SHSC, operational risks (such as the fact that systems do not function properly) can arise. The settlement risk is reduced by the fact that only the

principle of delivery versus payment is used for the settlement of the Fund's transactions in A-shares.

- The SHSC is subject to the supervision of the Chinese financial supervisory authority (CSRC: China Securities Regulatory Commission) and thus the legal and regulatory provisions of the People's Republic of China, which can influence the Fund due to the use of SHSC.
- Economic developments in the People's Republic of China can have an impact on the Fund's assets due to the use of SHSC and thus the investment in certain eligible Chinese A-shares.

## 4. SHARES OF THE COMPANY

- 4.1 The Company may issue Shares in the form of Bearer Shares or Registered Shares. Bearer shares are only issued in the form of a global certificate held in a clearing and settlement system.
- 4.2 The issued Shares, regardless of their form, may be issued as either accumulating or distributing Shares.
- 4.3 The Board of Directors may issue Classes of Shares as detailed in the respective Special Sections. The Board of Directors shall determine the terms (determination of the initial issue date at the initial issue price) by means of a resolution passed by same.
- 4.4 Savings and withdrawal plans for Registered Shares of all A and B Share Classes held in the Share Register are not offered. Savings and withdrawal plans at custodian institutions are offered for Bearer Shares of the A and B Share Classes.
- 4.5 The net return from the issue of Shares shall be invested in the corresponding Sub-fund's assets.
- 4.6 The Board of Directors shall set up separate assets for each Sub-fund. Each of these assets shall be allocated exclusively to the Shares issued for the relevant Sub-fund considering the ratio of the shareholders concerned.
- 4.7 Each Sub-fund shall only be only liable for its own obligations to third parties and to creditors in particular. Pursuant to the Law of 2010, the Company is not liable as a whole, irrespective of which Sub-fund's liabilities are concerned.
- 4.8 Registered Shares are entered into a register of Shares maintained by the Company or one or more persons commissioned by the Company to this effect. The registration comprises the name of each holder of Registered Shares, the holder's domicile or chosen ordinary residence as communicated to the Company, the number of Registered Shares held and the amount paid in for each such Share.
- 4.9 Entry of the shareholder's name in the register is proof of their ownership.
- 4.10 Subject to the Company's consent, Shares may also be held via an intermediary such as a trustee or nominee. In such cases, the trustee or nominee is entered into the register following the subscription of Shares. However, all shareholders may at any time have their own name entered in the register by requesting that the trustee or nominee transfer the Shares to the shareholder.

- 4.11 Bearer Shares are issued in the form of global certificates. Shareholders are not entitled to the delivery of physical securities.
- 4.12 All Shares must be fully paid in; they have no face value and do not grant any preference or pre-emptive rights. Pursuant to the legal provisions and the stipulations of the Articles of Association, each Share grants one vote in any General Meeting, irrespective of the corresponding Sub-fund.

## 5. ISSUE OF SHARES

- 5.1 Accumulating and/or distributing Shares in each Sub-fund are issued at the subscription price. This price is calculated on any valuation day on the basis of the net asset value per Share.
- 5.2 As soon as Sub-funds are available for subscription, the Company may determine an initial subscription period in which the Shares are issued at a fixed initial subscription price plus a sales charge if applicable.
- 5.3 After the initial subscription period, the Shares of the various Sub-funds are issued at an issue price based on the net asset value per Share on the relevant valuation day. Moreover, a sales charge is applied which can be credited wholly or partially to the Distributor commissioned with the sale of the Shares in the country in which the investor is ordinarily resident.
- 5.4 Subscription applications for the acquisition of Registered Shares may be submitted to the Management Company, the Registrar and Transfer Agent and the Distributor, if any. These receiving offices are obligated to forward the subscription applications to the Registrar and Transfer Agent immediately. Subscription applications are considered to have been received when they are received at the Registrar and Transfer Agent, which accepts the subscription orders on behalf of the Management Company.
- 5.5 Subscription orders arriving at the Registrar and Transfer Agent by no later than 12 noon (Luxembourg time) on the valuation day are settled after acceptance at the subscription price applicable on that valuation day. Orders arriving after 12 noon (Luxembourg time) on the valuation day are settled after acceptance at the subscription price of the following valuation day.
- 5.6 The issue price must be paid within three (3) bank working days (**bank working day**) of receipt of subscription.
- 5.7 In any case, the issue price shall be determined after the specified cut-off time in order to ensure that investors subscribe based on prices that are not known to them in advance.
- 5.8 Individual Sub-funds may deviate from these general regulations. In such case, the Special Section containing the description of that Sub-fund contains a description of the special regulations for the Sub-fund.
- 5.9 The Company reserves the right to reject or only partially accept any subscription order. Moreover, the Company reserves the right to suspend the issue and redemption of Shares of any Sub-fund without prior notice and at any time.
- 5.10 The Company may resolve to issue fractions of Shares if the net amount of a subscription is not sufficient for whole Shares and the investor has not given instructions to subscribe to

whole Shares only. Fractions of Registered Shares may be issued up to one hundredth of a Share.

- 5.11 Subscription orders sent to the Distributor or other intermediaries must in any case include the purchaser's proxy statement granting sub-proxies.
- 5.12 Should the Company suspend calculation of the net asset value per Share for a Sub-fund (refer to section 18. of the Full Prospectus), no Shares shall be issued for the relevant Sub-fund during the time of the suspension.

## 6. REDEMPTION OF SHARES

- 6.1 Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the following stipulations, every shareholder of the Company is entitled to request from the Company at any time the redemption of some or all of the Shares they hold in a Sub-fund.
- 6.2 Shareholders who wish to redeem all or a part of their Shares must submit a written, irrevocable application to the Company. Such application shall detail the following: the identity and the address of the applicant, the number of Shares to be redeemed or the amount for which the shareholder wishes to redeem Shares, and the name of the Sub-fund in which the Shares have been issued. The redemption price may not be paid to any person other than the shareholder. Any exceptions are subject to a review by the Custodian Bank of the information provided.
- 6.3 The redemption price can only be paid out if all of the documents required for the redemption are submitted with the redemption application in the proper form, as well as any certificates, where applicable.
- 6.4 Completed redemption and conversion applications for the redemption or conversion of Registered Shares may be submitted to the Management Company, the Registrar and Transfer Agent and the Distributor, if any, and the Paying Agents. These offices are obligated to forward the redemption and conversion applications to the Registrar and Transfer Agent immediately.
- 6.5 Redemption orders received by the Registrar and Transfer Agent by no later than 12 noon (Luxembourg time) on the valuation day are settled after acceptance at the redemption price applicable on that valuation day. Orders arriving after 12 noon (Luxembourg time) on the valuation day are settled after acceptance at the redemption price of the following valuation day.
- 6.6 As a general rule, the redemption price shall be paid in the currency of the relevant Sub-fund or upon shareholder's application in another currency as specified by the shareholder and available from the Custodian Bank, with the exchange-related costs charged to the shareholder.
- 6.7 The redemption price of Shares may be higher or lower than the relevant purchase or subscription price. The redemption price corresponds to the net asset value per Share on the corresponding valuation day. It is generally paid out in Luxembourg, at the latest five (5) banking days after the day on which the net asset value applicable to the redemption has been calculated. The Sub-fund specific determination of the deadline for payment of the redemption price is defined in the relevant Special Section.

- 6.8 Payments are made at the shareholder's risk by bank transfer to an account specified by the shareholder. If the account is held by a third party, the restriction defined in 6.2 shall apply accordingly.
- 6.9 Redeemed Shares shall be cancelled.
- 6.10 Redemptions of a Sub-fund's Shares shall not be carried out during any period when calculation of the net asset value per Share for that Sub-fund has been suspended.
- 6.11 Should the incoming redemption (Article 8 of the Articles of Association) or conversion orders (Article 9 of the Articles of Association) for Shares, on a day on which the redemption or conversion of Shares is possible, exceed 10% of the relevant Sub-fund's outstanding Shares, the Board of Directors or Management Company may resolve to suspend all or a part of the redemption and conversion orders for a specified period of time and under consideration of the Company's interests. However, such suspension must as a general rule not exceed seven (7) valuation days. The processing of these redemption and conversion orders is then given priority over the processing of subsequent orders received after the initial redemption date.
- 6.12 Pursuant to Article 10 of the Articles of Association, the Company is authorised to repurchase all Shares held by a U.S. Person.
- 6.13 In order to protect the remaining investors, Shares which are presented for redemption may be subject, at the discretion of the Board of Directors, to a redemption fee (the redemption fee). Further information on whether a redemption fee will apply and the amount thereof can be found in the relevant Annex to the Sub-fund.
- 6.14 The redemption fee will be deducted from the redemption proceeds paid for the respective redemption order. The redemption fee will be applied to the respective Sub-fund and shall be used as a priority for the purpose of paying the costs of settling the redemption order as well as generating available redemption funds. The Board of Directors reserves the right at its discretion to waive the redemption fee in whole or in part for any Share Class.

## 7. CONVERSION OF SHARES

- 7.1 Pursuant to the stipulations of the Articles of Association and subject to the following stipulations, every shareholder may convert Shares issued in one Sub-fund into Shares of another Sub-fund.
- 7.2 The conversion of Shares within a Sub-fund or between different Sub-funds is possible on any valuation day.
- 7.3 The shareholder shall place the conversion order with the Company by fax or in writing. The procedures and time limits applicable to the redemption of Shares shall also apply to the conversion of Shares.
- 7.4 A conversion order shall be executed when a properly completed conversion order is received by the Registrar and Transfer Agent.
- 7.5 The conversion ratio for the relevant Shares is calculated based on the relevant Shares' net asset values on the same valuation day. The Board of Directors and Management Company are authorised to allow the conversion on condition that the relevant costs incurred at the agents charged with the conversion of Shares are paid.

7.6 Conversion of Shares shall not take place during any period when calculation of the net asset value per Share has been suspended with regard to the relevant Shares of the Company.

## 8. STATUTORY NOTIFICATION TO PREVENT MONEY LAUNDERING

- 8.1 As part of efforts to combat money laundering, all of the applicable international and Luxembourg laws and regulations on the prevention of money laundering and financing of terrorism must be complied with, in particular (i) the Law to Combat Money Laundering and the Financing of Terrorism of 12 November 2004, as amended, (ii) the Law of 5 April 1993 on the Financial Sector, as last amended, (iii) the CSSF Regulation No. 12-02, as amended, and (iv) CSSF Circulars 06/247, 06/263, 07/327, 10/458, 10/484, 10/486, 10/495, 11/519, 11/528, 11/529, 13/556, 15/609, 17/650, 17/661, 18/680, 18/684, 18/698, 19/732, 20/740, 20/742, 20/744, 20/746, 20/747, 21/767 (including in each case any subsequent amendments and additions) and with other obligations imposed by further applicable legal provisions and circulars for persons operating in the financial sector in order to avoid investment funds being used for money laundering and terrorism financing purposes.
- 8.2 The measures for preventing money laundering make it necessary for every potential investor in the Company to prove their identity.
- 8.3 The Fund, the Management Company or a person authorised by it may request from applicants any document that it deems necessary to establish their identity. In addition, the Fund, the Management Company (or an authorised representative of the Management Company) may request any other information it requires to comply with the applicable legal and regulatory requirements, including, without limitation, the CRS and FATCA laws.
- 8.4 If an applicant is late in submitting the requested documents, or does not submit them at all, or submits them incompletely, the subscription application will be rejected. For redemptions, incomplete documentation may result in a delay in the payment of the redemption price. The Management Company is not responsible for the late settlement or failure of a transaction if the applicant has submitted the documents late, not at all or incompletely.
- 8.5 Shareholders may from time to time be requested by the Fund or the Management Company (or a representative of the Management Company), in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations relating to their obligations to continuously monitor and control their clients, to provide additional or updated documents relating to their identity. If these documents are not provided immediately, the Management Company is obliged and entitled to block the fund Shares of the shareholders concerned.
- 8.6 In order to implement Article 30 of Directive (EU) 2015/849 of the European Parliament and of the Council, the so-called 4th EU Money Laundering Directive, the Law of 13 January 2019 on the establishment of a register of beneficial owners was passed. This law requires registered entities to report their beneficial owners to the register established for this purpose.
- 8.7 In Luxembourg, investment companies and investment funds, among other entities, are defined by law as "registered entities".
- 8.8 The beneficial owner within the meaning of the Law of 12 November 2004 is, for example, normally any natural person who holds or otherwise controls more than 25% of the shares or interests in a legal entity.

8.9 Depending on the specific situation, this could lead to the obligation to report the names and other personal details of the Investment Company or Fund's final investors to the register of beneficial owners. The following data on a beneficial owner can be consulted by anyone free of charge on the website of the "Luxembourg Business Registers" as from 1 September 2019: Surname, first name(s), nationality(ies), date and place of birth, country of residence and nature and extent of the business interest. Only in exceptional circumstances can public access be restricted after an individual review (for which a fee is charged) of the case.

# 9. INFORMATION FOR SHAREHOLDERS REGARDING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS IN THE TAX AREA (DAC-6)

- 9.1 In accordance with the Sixth EU Directive (EU) 2018/822 OF THE COUNCIL of 25 May 2018 amending Directive 2011/16/EU with regard to the mandatory automatic exchange of information in the area of taxation on reportable cross-border arrangements "DAC-6"- so-called intermediaries and, under certain circumstances, also taxpayers are generally obliged to report certain cross-border arrangements that feature at least one of the so-called indicators to their respective national tax authorities. The indicators describe tax features of a cross-border arrangement, which makes the arrangement notifiable. EU member states will exchange the reported information with one another.
- 9.2 DAC-6 had to be implemented into national law by the EU member states by 31 December, 2019, with its first application from 1 January, 2021. All reportable cross-border arrangements that have been implemented since the DAC-6 came into force on 25 June, 2018, must be reported retrospectively.
- 9.3 The Management Company intends to fulfil any reporting obligation that may exist in relation to the Fund or its direct or indirect investments. This reporting obligation may include information about the tax structure and the investors with regard to their identity, in particular name, place of residence and the tax identification number of the shareholders. Shareholders can also be directly subject to this reporting obligation themselves. If shareholders would like advice on this matter, it is recommended that they consult a legal or tax advisor.

## **10. PROTECTION OF PERSONAL DATA**

- 10.1 Personal data are processed in accordance with Regulation (EU) 2016/679 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 April 2016 on the protection of individuals with regard to the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such data and repealing Directive 95/46/EC ("General Data Protection Regulation") and the data protection law applicable in Luxembourg (including, but not limited to, the amended Law of 2 August 2002 on the protection of personal data during data processing).
- 10.2 Personal data provided in connection with an investment in the Fund may be stored on a computer and processed by the Management Company for the account of the Fund and by the Custodian Bank, each acting as data manager.
- 10.3 Personal data are processed for the purpose of processing subscription and redemption applications, maintaining the Share Register and for the purpose of carrying out the duties of

the above-mentioned parties and complying with applicable laws or regulations, in Luxembourg as well as in other jurisdictions, including but not limited to applicable company law, laws and regulations relating to the fight against money laundering and terrorist financing and tax law, such as FATCA (Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act), CRS (Common Reporting Standard) or similar laws or regulations (such as at OECD level **(OECD)**).

- 10.4 Personal data are only made available to third parties if this is necessary due to justified business interests or for the exercise or defence of legal claims in court or if laws or regulations make disclosure obligatory. This may include disclosure to third parties, such as governmental or regulatory authorities, including tax authorities and auditors in Luxembourg as well as in other jurisdictions.
- 10.5 Except in the cases mentioned above, no personal data will be transferred to countries outside the European Union or the European Economic Area.
- 10.6 By subscribing for and/or holding Shares, shareholders give their consent at least tacitly to the aforementioned processing of their personal data and, in particular, to the disclosure of such data to and processing of such data by the above-mentioned parties, including affiliated companies in countries outside the European Union, which may not offer the same protection as the Luxembourg data protection legislation.
- 10.7 In so doing, the shareholders acknowledge and accept that failure to provide the personal data requested by the Management Company within the framework of their relationship with the Fund may prevent their participation in the Fund from continuing and may result in the Management Company notifying the competent Luxembourg authorities accordingly.
- 10.8 In doing so, the shareholders acknowledge and accept that the Management Company will report all relevant information in connection with their investment in the Fund to the Luxembourg tax authorities, which will share this information in an automated procedure with the competent authorities of the relevant countries or other authorised jurisdictions in accordance with the CRS Law or relevant European and Luxembourg legislation.
- 10.9 If the personal data provided in connection with an investment in the Fund includes personal data of (deputy) representatives, authorised signatories or beneficial owners of the share-holders, the shareholders shall be deemed to have obtained the consent of the persons concerned to the aforementioned processing of their personal data and in particular to the disclosure of their data to and processing of their data by the aforementioned parties, including parties in countries outside the European Union, which may not offer the same protection as Luxembourg data protection law.
- 10.10 Shareholders may request access, correction or deletion of their personal data in accordance with applicable data protection law. Such orders must be made in writing to the Management Company. It is assumed that the shareholders will inform such (deputy) representatives, authorised signatories or beneficial owners whose personal data are processed about these rights.
- 10.11 Although the above-mentioned parties have taken reasonable measures to ensure the confidentiality of personal data, due to the fact that such data is transmitted electronically and is available outside Luxembourg, the same level of confidentiality and protection as that currently provided by the data protection legislation applicable in Luxembourg cannot be guaranteed as long as the personal data is located abroad.

- 10.12 Personal data will only be kept until the purpose of the data processing is fulfilled, but always taking into account the applicable legal minimum retention periods.
- 10.13 Investors can find information on this on the website of the Management Company at www.mainfirst.com and read the Data Protection Notice and the Data Protection Directive.

## **11. COMBATING MARKET TIMING AND LATE TRADING**

- 11.1 Purchasing, selling or converting Shares in order to perform market timing, late trading or similar practices is not allowed.
- 11.2 Market timing means the application of arbitrage transactions, i.e. investors systematically subscribe, redeem or convert Shares of an Undertaking for Collective Investment **(UCI)** within a short period of time, making use of time zones and/or inefficiencies or weaknesses of the valuation system of the UCI's Shares.
- 11.3 The Company does not permit any practices related to market timing, as these may have a negative impact on the performance of the Company by increasing costs and/or diluting profits. The Company reserves the right to reject subscription or conversion applications from an investor who is suspected of using such practices. The Company may also temporarily or completely suspend the issue of Shares or take appropriate action to protect the Company's other shareholders. Any payments already made shall be repaid without delay.
- 11.4 Late trading means the acceptance of a subscription, conversion or redemption application which has been received after the expiry of the cut-off time of the relevant day, and execution thereof at a price corresponding to the relevant Share price of that day.
- 11.5 In any case, the Company shall ensure that subscription, redemption and conversion are based on a Share price that was not previously known to the investor. The cut-off time for the acceptance of applications is explicitly specified in the Special Section of the Full Prospectus.

## **12. DIVIDEND POLICY**

- 12.1 The income and capital gains achieved in each Sub-fund shall be accumulated or distributed by the relevant Sub-fund. Should it however be deemed appropriate to pay a dividend with regard to any Sub-fund, the members of the Board of Directors may propose to the General Meeting of shareholders that a dividend be distributed from the distributable net capital gains and/or the realised and/or non-realised capital gains net of the realised and/or non-realised capital losses.
- 12.2 Any dividend statements shall be published on the website at <u>www.mainfirst.com</u>.
- 12.3 Dividends not collected within five years shall be forfeited to the benefit of the relevant Subfund.

## **13. COSTS**

Flat-rate fee

13.1 The Company shall pay, for the services of the Management Company, the Central Administration Agent, the Custodian Bank, the Investment Manager and the Distributors, a flat-rate fee in the various Classes and as detailed in the Special Sections, the amount of which is specified in the corresponding Special Sections of the Full Prospectus. All the other costs, including the commissions for the Custodian Bank, the Domiciliary Agent, the Administration Agent, the Registrar and Transfer Agents, all Paying Agents and all permanent representatives at locations where the Company is subject to registration, shall, in addition, be borne by the Company. Costs incurred outside of the flat-rate fee can be covered by the flat-rate fee subject to a resolution of the Company's Board of Directors.

This fee is subject to VAT.

#### Other costs

- 13.2 Moreover, the Company shall bear the costs resulting from the Company's operations. This also includes the costs which result in connection with the following aspects of business operations:
  - (a) Taxes and other state levies, including potential costs incurred by the Company in conjunction with the FATCA rules;
  - (b) Legal services and audits;
  - (c) Purchase and sale of securities and fees in connection with securities transactions including potential costs in relation to Regulation (EU) No. 648/2012 of 4 July 2012 on OTC derivatives, central counterparties and trade repositories (EMIR), and other transaction costs;
  - (d) Proxy statements for the convocation of the General Meeting;
  - (e) Annual and semi-annual reports;
  - (f) Prospectuses and key investor information (including any translations);
  - (g) Sales promotion and marketing activities;
  - (h) Payment of distributions;
  - (i) Registration and reporting to all government and supervisory authorities;
  - (j) Fees and expenses of the Board of Directors;
  - (k) Insurance premiums;
  - (I) Interest;
  - (m) Listing fees and brokerage;
  - (n) Reimbursement of expenses and other costs as well as expenses and other costs incurred due to the required use of third parties, in particular for the selection, development and use of any custodians/sub-depositaries, to the Custodian Bank and all other contract partners of the Company;
  - (o) Publication of the net asset value per Share and the Share price;
  - (p) Legal and tax consulting; as well as
  - (q) License fees, in particular for the use of any proprietary trade names;

- (r) Costs of any necessary valuation experts for non-liquid assets;
- (s) reasonable costs for risk controlling;
- (t) Costs for controlling, managing and settling the exchange of collateral in respect of standardised and non-standardised ("OTC derivatives") derivative transactions; and
- (u) Other transaction costs
- (v) Costs for judicial or extra-judicial claims in the form of remuneration to the Management Company in the amount of up to 5% of the amounts received for the Company - after deduction and compensation of the costs incurred for the Company from the respective judicial or extra-judicial proceedings.
- 13.3 The Company may estimate administrative and other recurring or periodical costs and recognize them annually or for any other period.
- 13.4 If a liability of the Company cannot be allocated to a specific Sub-fund, it shall be allocated to all Sub-funds on a pro rata basis of the relevant net asset values or in any other way as may be decided by the Board of Directors to the best of its knowledge and belief, with pursuant to the provisions of the preceding section "Shares" all liabilities, irrespective of the Sub-fund to which they are allocated, binding the Company as a whole unless otherwise agreed upon with the individual creditors.
- 13.5 The costs are paid initially from the earnings, then from the realised or non-realised price gains. Costs related to the formation of the Company and the subsequent launch of new Sub-funds are paid on a pro rata basis out of the assets of the various Sub-funds of the Company's assets and amortized over the following five financial years of the Company. Costs for the launch of new Sub-funds are exclusively charged to the respective Sub-fund and can be written down over a period of five years after the launch of the respective Sub-fund.
- 13.6 In the event that a Sub-fund acquires Shares in another Sub-fund of the Company, a UCITS or UCI that is directly or indirectly managed by the same Management Company, the same Investment Manager or a company with which it is associated by way of joint management or control or direct or indirect investment exceeding 10% of the capital or the votes (associated undertakings), only a reduced flat-rate management fee of 0.25% may be charged to the Sub-fund assets and no performance fee may be charged. Additionally, any front-end loads or redemption charges of the associated companies may not be charged to the Sub-fund. If, however, a Sub-fund invests in Shares in a UCITS or UCI that is issued and/or managed by another company, it should be borne in mind that front-end loads and redemption charges may be calculated for these target funds. If a Sub-fund invests in a UCITS or UCI, fees for the administration and management of the investing fund will be charged to the Fund assets. To this extent, the possibility of fees for fund administration and fund management being charged twice cannot be excluded.

#### Techniques for efficient portfolio management

13.7 All income that is recorded as a result of the use of efficient techniques for portfolio management benefits the respective Sub-fund for the portfolio of which these are employed.

#### **Management Company fee**

13.8 The Management Company fee is included in the flat-rate fee. The flat-rate fee shall be paid to the Management Company. This fee shall be calculated on the basis of the daily net asset value of the Sub-fund and shall be payable monthly by the Sub-fund.

## **14. REMUNERATION POLICY**

- 14.1 The Company has established a remuneration policy in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations, in particular the Law of 2010, the ESMA Guidelines (2015/1172) and the CSSF Circulars 10/437 and 18/698, which applies to all employees.
- 14.2 This remuneration policy is intended to support both the culture and the corporate strategy of the Management Company. It is based on the assumption that remuneration should be linked to a person's performance and behaviour and be in line with the strategy, objectives, values, and interests of the Company and its shareholders. The remuneration policy is available at www.mainfirst.com and in hard copy upon request.
- 14.3 The remuneration policy is consistent with sound and effective risk management and it does not promote and encourage risk-taking which is inconsistent with the risk profiles, contractual conditions or Articles of Association of the UCITS managed by Management Company.
- 14.4 The remuneration policy is consistent with the business strategy, objectives, values and interests of the Management Company and the UCITS it manages and of the investors in such UCITS, as well as with any sustainability risks, and includes measures to avoid conflicts of interest.
- 14.5 The performance is evaluated over a period of several years, which is appropriate to the holding period which the Management Company recommended to the investors in the UCITS, in order to ensure that the evaluation is based on the longer-term performance of the UCITS and its investment risks and that the actual disbursement of performance-based remuneration components is spread over the same period.
- 14.6 The fixed and variable components of total remuneration are in appropriate proportion to each other, with the proportion of the fixed component of the total remuneration high enough to offer complete flexibility in terms of variable remuneration components, including the possibility of paying no variable component at all.

## **15. TAX TREATMENT OF THE COMPANY AND ITS SHAREHOLDERS**

#### Tax treatment of the Company in Luxembourg

15.1 The Company's assets are not subject to any taxation on its income and profits in the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg. In the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg, the Company's assets are only subject to the so-called *taxe d'abonnement*, which is currently 0.05% p.a. A reduced *taxe d'abonnement* in the amount of 0.01% p.a. is applicable to (i) the Sub-funds or Share Classes whose Shares are issued exclusively to institutional shareholders as defined in Article 174 of the Law of 17 December 2010, (ii) Sub-funds whose exclusive purpose is to invest in money market instruments, in time deposits with credit institutions or both. The *taxe d'abonnement* is calculated and paid quarterly on the Company's net assets reported at the end of each quarter. The amount of the *taxe d'abonnement* for each Sub-fund or the Share Classes is

mentioned in the relevant Annex to the Full Prospectus. An exemption from the *taxe d'abon-nement* applies, among other circumstances, to the extent that the Fund's assets are invested in other Luxembourg investment funds that are themselves already subject to the *taxe d'abon-nement*.

- 15.2 Income received by the Fund (in particular interest and dividends) may be subject to withholding or assessment taxes in the countries in which the respective (Sub-) Fund's assets are invested. The Fund may also be subject to taxation in the source country on realised or unrealised capital gains on its investments. Neither the Custodian Bank nor the Management Company is required to obtain tax certificates.
- 15.3 Interested parties and shareholders are advised to inform themselves about laws and regulations applicable to the taxation of the Company's assets, the subscription, purchase, holding, redemption or transfer of Shares and to seek advice from external third parties, in particular from a tax advisor.

#### Tax treatment of the shareholders of the Investment Company

- 15.4 Shareholders who are not or have not been tax residents in the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg and who do not maintain a permanent establishment or do not have a permanent representative there are not subject to Luxembourg income tax with respect to their income or capital gains from their Shares in the Fund.
- 15.5 Natural persons who are tax residents in the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg are subject to progressive Luxembourg income tax.
- 15.6 Companies that are tax residents in the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg are subject to corporate income tax on the income from the fund Shares.
- 15.7 Interested parties and shareholders are advised to inform themselves about laws and regulations applicable to the taxation of the Company's assets, the subscription, purchase, holding, redemption or transfer of Shares and to seek advice from external third parties, in particular from a tax advisor.

### FATCA – Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act

- 15.8 The Shares of the Investment Company have not been, are not and will not be authorised or registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (U.S. Securities Act of 1933) (the "Securities Act"), or under the securities laws of any state or local authority of the United States of America or its territories or of any other state or local authority either in the possession of or under the jurisdiction of the United States of America, including the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico (the "United States"), or registered or, directly or indirectly, transferred, offered or sold to or to the benefit of any U.S. Person (as defined in the Securities Act).
- 15.9 The Investment Company is not and will not be approved or registered in accordance with the U.S. Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (Investment Company Act of 1940) (the "Investment Company Act"), or under the laws of any individual state of the U.S. and the shareholders are not entitled to the benefit of registration under the Investment company Act.
- 15.10 In addition to other requirements contained in the Full Prospectus, the Articles of Association or the subscription form, shareholders must not be (a) "U.S. Persons" as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act, (b) "Specified U.S. Persons" as defined in the Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act ("FATCA"), must be (c) "Non-U.S. Persons" as defined in the Commodity Exchange Act, and must not be (d) "U.S. Persons" as defined under U.S. tax law (Internal

Revenue Code) of 1986, as amended (the "Code") and the implementing provisions adopted pursuant to the code of the United States Treasury (Treasury Regulations). Additional information is available on request from the Management Company.

Persons who wish to acquire Shares must confirm in writing that they meet the requirements of the preceding paragraph.

- 15.11 FATCA was made law in the United States of America as part of the Hiring Incentives to Restore Employment Act of March 2010. FATCA obligates financial institutions outside the United States of America ("foreign financial institutions" or "FFIs") to the annual submission of information on financial accounts (financial accounts), which are held directly or indirectly by Specified U.S. Persons, to the U.S. tax authorities (Internal Revenue Service or IRS). A withholding tax of 30% is charged on certain U.S. income of FFIs that do not meet this obligation.
- 15.12 On 28 March 2014, the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg entered into an intergovernmental agreement ("IGA") in accordance with Model 1, with the United States of America, and a related memorandum of understanding (Memorandum of Understanding).

The Management Company and the Fund comply with FATCA regulations.

The Share Classes of the Fund may either:

- 1. be subscribed by shareholders through a FATCA-compliant independent intermediary (Nominee), or
- 2. directly and indirectly subscribed by shareholders through a distributor (which acts only as an intermediary and not as a nominee) with the exception of:
- Specified U.S. Persons

This shareholder group includes those U.S Persons who are classified by the government of the United States as at risk in terms of practices of tax avoidance and tax evasion. However, this does not apply, inter alia, to listed companies, tax-exempt organisations, real estate investment trusts (REITs), trust companies, securities dealers or similar.

 passive non-financial foreign entities (or passive NFFE), substantial ownership of which is held by a U.S. Person

This shareholder group is generally understood to be those NFFEs (i) that do not qualify as active NFFEs, or (ii) where there is not a retained foreign partnership or a retained foreign trust under the relevant implementation provisions of the United States Treasury (Treasury Regulations).

• Non-participating Financial Institutions

The United States of America determines this status based on the non-compliance of a financial institution that has not complied with the given requirements due to violation of conditions of the respective country-specific IGAs within 18 months after the initial notification.

- 15.13 If the Fund should be obligated to pay a withholding tax or undertake reporting or suffer other damages due to the lack of FATCA compliance of a shareholder, the Fund reserves the right, without prejudice to any other rights, to make claims for damages against the relevant shareholder.
- 15.14 For questions regarding FATCA and the FATCA status of the Fund, shareholders and potential shareholders are advised to contact their financial, tax and/or legal advisor.

## 16. INFORMATION FOR INVESTORS CONCERNING THE AUTOMATIC EXCHANGE OF INFORMATION

- 16.1 The Council Directive 2014/107/EU of 9 December 2014 concerning the obligation of automatic exchange of (tax) information and the Common Reporting Standard ("CRS"), a reporting and due diligence standard developed by the OECD for the international automatic exchange of information on financial accounts, implements the automatic exchange of information in accordance with the intergovernmental agreements and the Luxembourg regulations (Law on the Implementation of the Automatic Exchange of Information in Tax Matters on Financial Accounts of 18 December 2015). The automatic exchange of information will be implemented in Luxembourg for the first time for the 2016 tax year.
- 16.2 To this end, on an annual basis, financial institutions subject to reporting requirements report information on the applicants and the person subject to reporting requirements to the Luxembourg tax authorities ("Administration des Contributions Directes"), which in turn forwards this information to the tax authorities of the countries in which the applicant(s) is/are tax resident.

This concerns in particular the communication of:

- the name, address, tax identification number, country of residence and date and place of birth of each person subject to reporting requirements
- register number,
- register balance or value,
- credited investment income including proceeds from disposals.
- 16.3 The reportable information for a specific tax year, which must be submitted to the Luxembourg tax authorities by 30 June of the following year, will be exchanged between the tax authorities concerned by 30 September of that year, for the first time in September 2017 based on the 2016 data.

## **17. NOTIFICATIONS TO SHAREHOLDERS**

17.1 Information, in particular notifications to shareholders, is published on the website of the Management Company at <u>www.mainfirst.com</u>. In addition, where required by law, notices will also be published in Luxembourg in the "RESA" and in the Tageblatt and, if required, in an additional daily Luxembourg newspaper with sufficient circulation.

- 17.2 Any convocation of General Meetings including such General Meetings called to decide on amendments to the Articles of Association or on the dissolution and liquidation of the Company, shall be disclosed to shareholders pursuant to Luxembourg law.
- 17.3 The Board of Directors may determine all other conditions to be fulfilled by shareholders in order for them to participate in a General Meeting. The agenda may stipulate that the necessary quorum and majorities are to be determined on the basis of the number of Shares that have been issued by midnight (Luxembourg time) five days before the date of the General Meeting (the **fixing date**). In such a case, Shareholders' participation rights shall be based on the number of shares that they hold on the fixing date.
- 17.4 The Company shall publish annually a detailed report on its business activities and the management of its assets, including the balance sheet, the profit and loss account, a detailed statement of each Sub-fund's assets, the consolidated accounts of the Company covering all Sub-funds, and the report of the financial auditor.
- 17.5 Moreover, the Company shall publish semi-annual reports which include especially for each Sub-fund and for the Company as a whole – the composition of the assets, the number of Shares outstanding and the number of Shares issued and redeemed since the last publication.
- 17.6 These documents can be requested free of charge by any interested party at the Company's registered office.
- 17.7 The financial year of the Company begins on 1 January of the calendar year and ends on 31 December of the same year.
- 17.8 The annual consolidated balance sheet of the Company i.e. the summary of all Sub-funds is prepared in EUR, the base currency (base currency) of the Company's capital.
- 17.9 The Annual General Meeting of shareholders is held in Luxembourg within 6 months of the end of the financial year, at the place indicated in the convocation, by decision of the Board of Directors.
- 17.10 The Company has introduced a procedure designed to handle complaints from shareholders quickly and appropriately. Shareholders may submit their complaints to the Company's address at any time. In order to guarantee that the compliant will be dealt with promptly, it should refer to the relevant Sub-fund and Class in which the shareholder submitting the complaint holds Shares. Complaints may be lodged in writing, by telephone or during a personal discussion. Written complaints shall be recorded and kept on file. Verbal complaints shall be documented in writing and kept on file. Written complaints may be submitted in German or in any of the official languages of the investor's home state within the European Union. Complaints may also be addressed to the Management Company; by post to: Main-First Affiliated Fund Managers S.A., 16, rue Gabriel Lippmann, L-5365 Munsbach, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg.
- 17.11 Information on the approach to sustainability risks and the strategies laid down for this purpose will be available on the website of the Management Company www.mainfirst.com and the website of the Investment Manager www.mainfirst.com or <u>www.ethenea.com</u>. The Investment Managers will take into account the main adverse impacts of investment decisions on sustainability factors as defined in Article 4(1)(a) of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 November 2019.

## **18. INVESTMENT RESTRICTIONS**

- 18.1 The Company's assets are subject to risks and fluctuations typical for securities investments. Therefore, the Company cannot guarantee that the planned investment objective will actually be achieved and that the Company's investments will develop positively. The Board of Directors specifies the investment policy for each Sub-fund based on the principle of risk diversification. The General Principles listed below shall apply to all Sub-funds of the Company.
- 18.2 None of the Company's Sub-funds shall, as part of their investment policy, invest in equities or Shares of the Investment Manager or of companies that are associated with the Investment Manager.
- 18.3 In general, the investment policy to be applied to each Sub-fund shall be in compliance with the following provisions:

## **Company's Investments**

- 18.4 The Company's investments consist of the following financial instruments in accordance with the Law of 2010:
  - (a) Securities and money market instruments listed or traded on a regulated market; and/or
  - (b) Securities and money market instruments traded on another market in an EU member state (EU member state), provided that such market operates regularly and is recognised and open to the public; and/or
  - (c) Securities and money market instruments officially listed on a securities exchange of a third state or traded on another regulated market of a third state, provided that such market is recognised, open to the public and functions properly, if such securities exchange or market is specified in the Company's Articles of Association; and/or
  - (d) Securities and money market instruments from new issues, provided that:
    - their issue terms include the obligation for an official listing on a securities exchange or for trading on another regulated market as specified above under 17.4(b) and 17.4(c);
    - they are admitted there for official trading within one year upon issue; and/or (e)
  - (e) Shares of UCITS admitted pursuant to the UCITS Directive and/or other undertakings for collective investment in transferable securities within the meaning of Article 1(2) (a) and (b) of the UCITS Directive having their registered office in an EU member state or a third state, provided that:
    - such other undertakings for collective investment have been admitted based on legal provisions that subject them to a supervisory authority which is considered by the Luxembourg CSSF as equally suitable by EU standards, and that the cooperation of the relevant authorities is sufficiently ensured;
    - the level of protection for shareholders of the other undertakings for collective investment is equivalent to the level of protection of an UCITS and that especially the regulations concerning the separate custody of the special assets, borrowing,

lending and short selling of securities and money market instruments are considered as equivalent to the provisions of the UCITS Directive;

- the business activities of the other undertakings for collective investment are specified in semi-annual and annual reports, which enable a judgement to be formed as regards the assets and liabilities, the income and the transactions within the reporting period;
- the UCITS or the other undertakings for collective investment, the Shares of which are to be purchased, are authorised in compliance with their respective Articles of Association to invest a total of 10% of their special assets in other UCITS or undertakings for collective investment; and/or
- (f) sight deposits or callable deposits with a maturity not exceeding 12 months with credit institutes, if such credit institution has its registered office in an EU member state, or – if the credit institution's registered office is in a third state – if such institute is subject to supervisory provisions that the CSSF considers as equivalent to EU standards; and/or
- (g) derivative financial instruments (derivatives), including equivalent instruments which are settled in cash and traded on a regulated market specified under letters 17.4(a), 17.4(b) and 17.4(c), and/or derivative financial instruments not traded on a securities exchange (OTC derivatives) provided that:
  - the underlying assets are instruments within the meaning of Article 41, paragraph 1 of the Law of 2010, or financial indices, interest rates, exchange rates or currencies, in which the UCITS is allowed to invest pursuant to the investment targets specified in its Articles of Association;
  - the counterparties to the transactions with OTC derivatives are institutes subject to a supervisory authority of such category as authorised by the CSSF;
  - and the OTC derivatives are subject to a reliable and verifiable daily valuation and can be sold, liquidated or sold off by a counter-deal at the appropriate market value at any time upon the initiative of the UCITS; and/or
- (h) money market instruments not traded on a regulated market and within the definition of Article 1 of the current law of 2010, if the issue or the issuer of such instruments is already subject to provisions regarding the protection of deposits and investors, and provided that they have been:
  - issued or guaranteed by a centralised governmental, regional or local corporate body or the central bank of a EU member state, the European Central Bank, the EU or the European Investment Bank, a third state, or, if it is a federal state, a member state of the federation, or by an international public body comprising at least one member state; or
  - issued by a company whose securities are traded on a regulated market specified under letters 17.4(a), 17.4(b) and 17.4(c); or
  - issued or guaranteed by an institution that is subject to a supervisory authority pursuant to the criteria defined by Community law, or by an institution that is subject to and complies with supervisory provisions that are considered by the CSSF to be at least as strict as those laid down in Community law; or

- issued by other issuers belonging to a category approved by the Luxembourg supervisory authority, provided that the investments in such instruments are subject to investor protection equivalent to that laid down in the first, second and third indent and provided the issuer is either a company whose capital and reserves amount to at least EUR 10 million and which presents and publishes its annual accounts in accordance with Directive 78/660/EEC or is an entity which, within a group of companies that includes one or more listed companies, is responsible for the financing of the group, or is an entity that is responsible for the financing of securitisation vehicles which benefit from a banking liquidity line.
- 18.5 Moreover, the Company may execute the transactions specified below for each Sub-fund.
  - (a) The Company may invest up to 10% of a Sub-fund's net assets in securities other than those described under 17.4.
  - (b) The respective Sub-fund may hold liquid assets in the form of investment accounts (current accounts) and overnight deposits, but only on an ancillary basis.
  - (c) Unless otherwise stated in the Special Section of the relevant Sub-fund, the Sub-fund may acquire assets in foreign currencies and may therefore be subject to foreign currency exposure.
  - (d) The investment in money market instruments is limited to the extent that such money market instruments comply with the requirements specified under 18.4(h).
  - (e) The Company may borrow money amounting to up to 10% of any Sub-fund's net assets for a limited period of time.
  - (f) The Company may acquire foreign currencies via a back-to-back loan.
  - (g) Unless otherwise specified in the specific section of the relevant Sub-fund, investments in Delta-1 Certificates on commodities, precious metals and indices thereon, unless they are financial indices within the meaning of Article 9 (1) of Directive 2007/16/EC and Article XIII of ESMA Guideline 2014/937, are limited to a total of 20% of the net assets of the Sub-fund.
  - (h) Unless otherwise stated in the Special Section of the relevant Sub-fund, the following shall apply: The use of financial derivative instruments ("Derivatives") and techniques and instruments for efficient portfolio management as defined in Sections 17.10 et seq. is intended to achieve the aforementioned investment objectives for both investment and hedging purposes. In addition to option rights, this also includes swaps and forward contracts on transferable securities, money market instruments, financial indices within the meaning of Article 9(1) of Directive 2007/16/EC and Article XIII of the ESMA Guidelines 2014/937, interest rates, exchange rates, currencies and investment funds in accordance with Article 41(1) e) of the Law of 17 December 2010. Total return swaps may also be used. These instruments can be used to synthetically replicate the profit and loss profile of the underlying instrument without being invested in the respective underlying. For the investor, the income from this total return swap is based on the performance of the underlying with its income (dividends, coupons, etc.) and the performance of the derivative instrument that was used. Such derivatives may only be used within the limits of this Article. Additional information on techniques and instruments can be found in the chapter "Notes on techniques and instruments" of the Full Prospectus.

- The Company may acquire Shares of other undertakings for collective investment in transferable securities (UCITS) and/or other undertakings for collective investments (UCI) pursuant to the following investment restrictions:
  - (i) The Company may acquire Shares of other UCITS and/or other UCI within the meaning of 17.4(e) provided that such investment in a single UCITS and/or other UCI does not exceed 20% of the Sub-fund's net assets.
  - (ii) Investments in Shares of UCI other than UCITS may not exceed a total of 30% of such UCITS' net assets.

The above restrictions shall not apply to feeder Sub-funds as defined in section 17.39.

(j) Investment restrictions under tax law:

If the Special Section of the relevant Sub-fund states that the Sub-fund is an equity fund or a balanced fund, the following conditions apply in conjunction with the regulatory investment restrictions listed:

An equity fund is a Sub-fund which continuously invests more than 50% of its net assets in equity investments.

A balanced fund is a Sub-fund which continuously invests at least 25% of its net assets in equity investments.

In determining the amount of assets invested in equity investments, loans are deducted in proportion to the share of equity investments in the value of all assets (modified net Sub-fund assets).

Equity investments are:

- 1. shares in a capital company admitted to official trading on a stock exchange or listed on another organised market,
- 2. shares in a capital company which is not a real estate company and which
  - a) is domiciled in a Member State of the European Union or in another state which is a party to the Agreement on the European Economic Area and is subject to and not exempt from taxation of income for corporations, or
  - b) is domiciled in a non-member state and is subject to and not exempt from income tax of at least 15% for capital companies,
- 3. Investment units in equity funds which, in accordance with their investment requirements, invest more than 50% of their modified net Sub-fund assets or more than 50% of their assets in the aforementioned units in capital companies, in the amount of 51% of their value; if an equity fund provides for a higher percentage than 51% of its value in its investment requirements, the investment share is deemed to be an equity investment in the amount of this higher percentage.
- 4. Investment units in balanced funds which, in accordance with their terms and conditions of investment, invest at least 25% of their modified net Sub-fund assets or at least 25% of their assets in the aforementioned Shares in capital companies, in the amount of 25% of their value; if a balanced fund provides for a higher percentage than 25% of its value in its terms and conditions of investment, the investment share is deemed to be an equity investment in the amount of this higher percentage.

- 18.6 Moreover, the Company shall comply, regarding any of its Sub-funds, with the following investment restrictions:
  - (a) The Company may not invest its assets in securities or money market instruments of a single issuer if the investment restrictions specified below are exceeded:
    - (i) The Company must not invest more than 10% of any Sub-fund's net assets in securities or money market instruments of a single issuer. Moreover, the Company must not invest more than 20% of any Sub-fund's net assets in deposits with a single institution. The Fund's risk exposure to a counterparty in an OTC derivative transaction may not exceed:
      - (A) 10% of any Sub-fund's net assets if the other party is a credit institution according to the meaning of Article 41 section 1 letter f) of the Law of 2010;
      - (B) otherwise 5% of any Sub-fund's net assets
    - (ii) The aggregate value of securities and money market instruments of issuers in whose securities and instruments the Company invests more than 5% of any Subfund's net assets must not exceed 40% of the net assets of the relevant Sub-fund. This limit does not apply to deposits and transactions involving OTC derivatives with credit institutions subject to prudential supervision.

Notwithstanding the individual limit under number (i) above, the Company must not invest more than 20% of any Sub-fund's net assets in a single institution

- (A) Transferable securities or money market instruments issued by a single institution; and/or
- (B) Deposits with a single institution, and/or
- (C) OTC derivatives purchased from a single institution.
- (iii) The limit specified above under 17.6(a)(i) sentence 1 can be extended to a maximum of 35% in the case of securities or money market instruments issued or guaranteed by a EU member state and its local authorities, by a third state or by international public bodies involving at least one EU member state.
- (iv) The limit specified above under 17.6(a)(i) sentence 1 can be extended to a maximum of 25% in the case of certain debt obligations issued by a credit institution with its registered office in an EU member state, if such institution is subject to a special prudential supervision based on legal provisions for the protection of the holders of such debt obligations. In particular, the proceeds from the issue of such debt obligations must be invested pursuant to legal provisions in assets which sufficiently cover the liabilities resulting therefrom for the whole term of such debt obligations and which would be used in the first instance to repay the principal and the interest payments in the event of the issuer being wound up. Should the Company invest more than 5% of any Sub-fund's net assets in such debt obligations of a single issuer, the total of such investments must not exceed 40% of the Sub-fund's net asset value.

The securities and money market instruments specified above under items 17.6(a)(iii) and 17.6(a)(iv) are included in the calculation of the investment limit of 40% pursuant to items 17.6(a)(iii) above.

The investment limits specified in items 17.6(a)(i), 17.6(a)(ii), 17.6(a)(iii) and 17.6(a)(iv) must not be accumulated; therefore investments in securities or money market instruments of a single issuer, or deposits or derivatives with/of such issuer within the meaning of items 17.6(a)(i), 17.6(a)(ii), 17.6(a)(iii) and 17.6(a)(iv) must on no account exceed 35% of any Sub-fund's net assets.

Companies which are part of the same group regarding the preparation of consolidated annual reports within the meaning of Directive 83/349/EEC or pursuant to generally acknowledged international accounting standards must be considered as a single issuer for the purposes of calculating the investment limits specified in this Article.

A fund may invest a total of 20% of its assets in securities and money market instruments of a single group of companies.

Pursuant to Article 181(1) of the Law of 2010, any Sub-fund of an umbrella fund must be regarded individually as one single issuer, provided that the principle of separation of obligations of the various Sub-funds via third parties is guaranteed.

Notwithstanding the investment limits specified above under 17.6(a)(i), 17.6(a)(ii) and 17.6(a)(iii), the Company shall be entitled to invest – based on the principle of risk diversification – up to 100% of any Sub-fund's assets in securities and money market instruments issued or guaranteed by a EU member state or its local authorities, by another OECD member state (OECD member state) or by international public bodies including one or several EU member state(s), provided such securities comprise at least six different issues and the assets of a single issue do not exceed 30% of the relevant Sub-fund's assets.

- (b) For all Sub-funds combined, the Company may not purchase more than 10% of the debt obligations issued by a single issuer.
- (c) For all Sub-funds combined, the Company may not purchase more than 25% of the Shares issued by a single UCITS and/or other UCI.
- (d) For all Sub-funds combined, the Company may not purchase more than 10% of the money market instruments issued by a single issuer.

The investment limits specified above under letters 17.6(b), 17.6(c) and 17.6(d) do not have to be applied at the time of purchase if the gross amount of the debt obligations or the money market instruments or the net amount of the Shares issued cannot be calculated at the time of the purchase.

The above investment limits specified under items 17.6(b), 17.6(c) and 17.6(d) shall not apply to:

- (i) securities and money market instruments issued or guaranteed by an EU member state or its local authorities;
- securities and money market instruments issued or guaranteed by a state that is not an EU member state;

- securities and money market instruments issued by an international public body that comprises one or more EU member state(s);
- (iv) Shares of a company in a state that is not an EU member state ("third state"), provided such company invests its assets mainly in the assets of issuers based in such state and if such participation is the only possible way to invest in assets of the relevant issuer of such state, due to the state's legal provisions. The above stipulation shall, however, only apply if the Company in the third state complies with the investment limits laid down in items 17.5(e) and 17.6(a)(i) to 17.6(a)(iv), 17.6(b), 17.6(c) and 17.6(d). In the event of the investment limits specified in items 17.6(a)(i) to 17.6(a)(iv) and 17.6(e) being exceeded, letter 17.6(l) shall apply accordingly;
- (v) Shares of the equity capital of subsidiaries held by one investment company or several investment companies, if such subsidiary – in the state of its registered office – performs only and exclusively for such investment company/companies certain administration, advisory or distribution services regarding the repurchase of Shares upon application of the shareholders.
- (e) The Company may not invest in commodities or precious metals or in certificates thereof; currency transactions including the corresponding futures and options are not considered as commodity trade within the meaning of this investment restriction.
- (f) The Company may not make investments involving the unlimited liability of the investor.
- (g) The Company may not short sell securities or otherwise deal in instruments it does not own.
- (h) The Company may not purchase real property unless doing so is indispensable for its immediate business activities.
- (i) The Company may not use its assets for firm commitment underwritings.
- (j) The Company may not issue options or other subscription rights on its Shares.
- (k) Notwithstanding the admissibility of purchasing bonds and other securitised receivables, as well as the ownership of bank securities accounts, the Company may not provide loans or guarantees to third parties. However, the Company may invest up to 10% of each Sub-fund's net assets in securities that have not been fully paid up.
- (I) The Company may exceed the above investment restrictions in the scope of exercising subscription rights to the extent that such rights result from the securities comprising the Company's assets. Should the Company exceed the investment restrictions involuntarily or by exercising subscription rights, it shall primarily try to remedy this situation in the shareholders' interests within the scope of its selling transactions.

## **General risk information**

- 18.7 The assets in which the Investment Manager invests on behalf of a Sub-fund of the Company carry risks as well as opportunities to create additional value. These include:
  - (a) General market risk: The assets in which the Investment Manager invests on behalf of the Fund carry risks as well as opportunities to create additional value. If the Fund invests directly or indirectly in securities and other assets, it is exposed to general trends

and tendencies in the markets, particularly the securities markets, which are due to diverse and sometimes irrational factors. Losses may occur when the market value of the assets decreases with respect to the cost price. If an investor sells Shares in the Fund at a time when the value of the assets in the Fund has decreased since the time of share purchase, they will not receive the full amount of the money invested in the Fund. Although the Fund always seeks to increase its value, this cannot be guaranteed. The investor's risk is however limited to the amount invested. There is no additional funding obligation concerning the money invested.

- (b) Interest rate risk: Investing in fixed-income securities entails a risk that the market interest rate at the time of issuance of a security could change. If market rates increase with respect to the interest rate at the time of issue, fixed-income securities will generally decrease in value. If, on the other hand, market interest rates fall, then the price of fixedincome securities will rise. This price trend means that the current return on a fixedincome security is roughly equivalent to the current market interest rate. However, such fluctuations can have different consequences, depending on the maturity of fixed-income securities. Fixed-income securities with shorter maturities generally have lower price risks than fixed-income securities with longer maturities. On the other hand, fixedincome securities with shorter maturities generally have lower returns compared to fixedincome securities with longer maturities.
- (c) Risk of negative credit interest: The Management Company invests the liquid assets of a Sub-fund at the Custodian Bank or other credit institutions on behalf of the Sub-fund. Some of these deposits with banks are subject to an interest rate that corresponds to international interest rates less a certain margin. If these interest rates fall below the agreed margin, this leads to negative interest on the corresponding account. Depending on the development of the interest rate policy of the respective central banks, short-term, medium-term and long-term bank balances may generate negative interest rates.
- (d) Credit risk: The creditworthiness (ability and willingness to pay) of the issuer of securities or money market instruments held directly or indirectly by the Fund may subsequently decrease. This generally leads to a fall in the price of the security concerned, in excess of general market fluctuations.
- (e) Corporate risk: The performance of securities and money market instruments held directly or indirectly by the Fund is also dependent on company-specific factors, such as the business situation of the issuer. If company-specific factors deteriorate, the price of the security concerned may decrease significantly and permanently, despite an otherwise generally positive stock market performance.
- (f) Counterparty default risk: The issuer of securities held directly or indirectly by the Fund or the debtor of a claim belonging to the Fund may become insolvent. The corresponding assets of the Fund may become economically worthless as a result.
- (g) Counterparty risk: Where transactions are not performed through a stock exchange or regulated market ("OTC transactions"), there is a risk – above and beyond the general counterparty default risk – of the counterparty of the transaction failing or being unable to meet all of its obligations. This applies particularly to transactions involving techniques and instruments. The Management Company may accept collateral to reduce counterparty risk in the case of OTC derivatives. This is done in accordance with and taking into account the requirements of ESMA Guideline 2012/832. The collateral may be accepted

in the form of the assets listed in 17.26. The received securities will not be sold, reinvested or pledged. The Management Company will apply graduated valuation discounts to securities received as collateral (haircut strategy), taking into account the specific characteristics of the securities and the issuer. The applied haircuts can be inquired of the Management Company at any time free of charge. Collateral is based on individual contractual agreements between the counterparty and the Management Company. These define, among other things, the type and quality of the collateral, haircuts, allowances and minimum transfer amounts. The values of OTC derivatives and of any collateral already provided are determined on a daily basis. If an increase or reduction of collateral is necessary based on the individual contractual conditions, this will be reguested or claimed back from the counterparty. Details of the agreements can be reguested from the Management Company at any time free of charge. The Management Company shall ensure that the risk of default in the case of transactions of the respective Sub-fund with OTC derivatives does not exceed 10% of the net Sub-fund assets where the counterparty is a credit institution within the meaning of Article 41 (1) f) of the Law of 17 December 2010 and 5% of net Sub-fund assets in all other cases.

(h) Currency risk: Where the Fund directly or indirectly holds assets denominated in foreign currencies, it is exposed to a currency risk (if foreign currency positions are not hedged). Any depreciation of the foreign currency against the base currency of the Fund will lead to a reduction in the value of assets denominated in the foreign currency.

Specific risks in connection with currency-hedged Share Classes: Share classes whose currency is not the Sub-fund currency are subject to a currency risk which can be hedged using financial derivatives. The costs, liabilities and/or benefits associated with such hedging are borne exclusively by the individual Share Class. The use of financial derivatives for only one Share Class may give rise to counterparty and operational risks, including for investors in other Share Classes of the Sub-fund. Hedging is used to reduce any fluctuations in exchange rates between the Sub-fund currency and the hedged Share Class currency. The purpose of this hedging strategy is to adjust the currency risk of the hedged Share Class so that the performance of the hedged Share Class follows as closely as possible the performance of a Share Class in the Sub-fund currency. The use of this hedging strategy may provide significant protection to the shareholder of the relevant Share Class against the risk of depreciation of the Share Class currency at the value of the Sub-fund currency. However, it may also result in the shareholders of the hedged Share Class not being able to benefit from an appreciation in value compared to the Sub-fund currency. There may also be incongruities between the currency position of the Sub-fund and the currency position of the hedged Share Class, particularly in the event of severe market distortions. In the event of a net flow into the hedged Share Class, this currency hedging may only be carried out retrospectively or adjusted if necessary.

Sector risk: Where a Fund's investments are focused on particular sectors, this reduces the diversification of risk. As a result, the Fund will be particularly dependent both on general trends and on the trend of company profits in individual sectors or interdependent sectors.

(i) Country/region risk: Where a Fund's investments are focused on particular countries or regions, this likewise reduces the diversification of risk. As a result, the Fund will be

particularly dependent on individual or interrelated countries and regions and on the companies based and/or operating in those countries and regions.

- (j) Legal and tax risk: The legal and tax treatment of the Fund may change in ways that cannot be predicted or influenced.
- (k) Country and transfer risks: Economic or political instability in countries where the Fund is invested may mean that the Fund does not receive all or part of the monies due to it, despite the solvency of the issuer of the securities or other assets concerned. This may be due to e.g. foreign exchange controls, transfer restrictions or other legal changes.
- (I) Liquidity risk: Particularly in the case of illiquid (narrow-market) securities, even an order that is not particularly large can lead to significant price changes both on buying and on selling. If an asset is not liquid, there is a risk that it cannot be sold, or can only be sold at a substantial discount. In the case of purchase, the illiquidity of an asset may mean that the purchase price is significantly increased.
- (m) Custody risk: Custody risk describes the risk resulting from the general possibility that, in the event of insolvency or negligent, deliberate or fraudulent behaviour on the part of the custodian or a sub-custodian, the Fund may be deprived, wholly or partly and to its detriment, of access to the investments held in custody.
- (n) Emerging markets risks: Investments in emerging markets are investments in countries that, according to the World Bank's definition, do not fall in the category of "high gross national income per capita", i.e. that are not classified as "developed". In addition to the specific risks of the specific asset class, investments in these countries are typically exposed to higher risks, to a particular degree to the liquidity risk and general market risk. Political, economic or social instability or diplomatic developments in emerging countries may have a negative effect on investments in those countries. Greater risks may also occur when processing transactions in securities from these countries, leading to losses for shareholders, in particular because delivery of securities concurrently against payment is not possible or usual in those countries. In emerging markets, the legal and regulatory environment and the accounting, auditing and reporting standards may also differ significantly from otherwise customary international levels and standards, to the investor's disadvantage. This may not only result in differences in state supervision and regulation, but may also entail further risks in the enforcement and settlement of claims of the Sub-fund. Greater custody risk may also arise in such countries, due in particular to the different ways of acquiring title to purchased assets. Emerging markets are generally more volatile and less liquid than markets in industrialised countries, which can result in increased volatility of the shares of the Sub-fund.

Functioning legal systems, which are required for capital markets to function properly, often still have to be developed in emerging countries. As a result, there may be all kinds of legal uncertainties. A large number of legal concepts that are essential components of developed legal systems still have to develop in emerging countries, be confirmed by consistent case law and practice, and stand the test of time. The results of judicial and administrative proceedings are often difficult to predict due to a lack of relevant practice or the lack of independence from judges or sovereigns.

The supervision and regulation of stock exchanges, credit institutions and issuers in various emerging countries is limited under certain circumstances. In addition, investments made by the Sub-fund as a foreign investor in securities in certain emerging markets may be subject to local restrictions.

The underlying tax conditions in emerging countries may not develop favourably. In some emerging countries, confiscatory or retroactive taxation is possible.

Many emerging countries have only recently developed organized securities markets and the corresponding institutions. The method used to process, clear and register securities transactions can lead to technical and practical problems. In the worst cases, this can result in disputes concerning the ownership of securities; in other cases inefficient systems can lead to payment delays. Risks can also result in connection with local custody agreements, as this may be a relatively new practice for some emerging countries.

Many emerging countries have foreign exchange controls, which could impact the import or export of foreign currencies into or from the respective emerging country and the convertibility of the respective national currency. Particular attention must be paid to the rules for exchanging currencies and any licenses that may be required in this regard. In addition, the value of investment instruments in emerging countries may be affected, to a substantial degree, by volatile exchange rates and high inflation. In some emerging countries, it may be the case that the repayment of profits and income from the Subfund's investments is not possible without a state dispensation, which generally has a negative impact on the value of Shares of the Sub-fund.

Stock markets and other markets in emerging countries are generally much smaller (in terms of market capitalization, turnover and the number of instruments traded) than their counterparts in developed countries. This alone can impact the value of an investment by the Sub-fund, and will probably lead to increased volatility.

In some emerging countries, the accounting standards and practices differ significantly from internationally recognized standards. This means that it is difficult to obtain reliable historical financial information in the emerging countries in which new accounting legislation has been passed to align with international standards. In some emerging countries, corporate debtors may not be subject to the rules of accounting, auditing or comparable requirements.

Emerging countries have a potentially more unstable political climate than developed countries. A common characteristic of emerging countries is the rapid pace of political and social change. Far-reaching political reform has often led to new constitutional and social tension. It is not possible to fully rule out the possibility of continuing instability, through to society reacting to fundamental principles, rules or reforms of the market economy. There is a particular risk in emerging countries that guarantees for investor protection, from which the Sub-fund is expected to benefit, are not always respected. In addition, measures to promote foreign investment may not be continued or may be reversed. In extreme cases, this could lead to a renationalization of the privatized industries and to expropriation or private ownership without compensation.

The success of investments by the Sub-fund in emerging countries can be negatively impacted by the type of underlying, economically under-developed infrastructure in place. Poor telecommunication and transport systems and an inefficient banking sector could constrain positive business growth. In addition, in individual cases, there is an increased risk of subsequent liability for environmental problems caused by the former owners of a company or plot of land.

- (o) Inflation risk: Inflation risk means the risk of suffering financial losses owing to inflation. Inflation can significantly reduce the return of the Fund and the value of the investment as such in terms of purchasing power. Different currencies are affected by inflation risk to varying degrees.
- (p) Settlement risk: Particularly in the case of investments in unlisted securities, there is a risk that settlement by a transfer system will not be executed as expected due to payment or delivery being delayed or not taking place as agreed.
- (q) Risks associated with the use of derivatives: Due to the leverage effect of options, the value of the Fund's assets may be more strongly affected both positively and negatively than is the case where securities and other assets are acquired directly; this being so, their use entails particular risks. Financial futures contracts used for a purpose other than hedging are also associated with significant opportunities and risks, since only a fraction of the contract size (margin) has to be paid immediately. Price changes can therefore lead to significant gains or losses. As a result, the risk and volatility of the Fund may be increased. Depending on the format of swaps, a future change in the market interest rate (interest rate risk) or the failure of the other party (counterparty risk) or a change in the underlying can have an impact on the valuation of swaps. In general, future changes in (the value of) underlying cash flows, assets, income, or risks can lead to gains as well as losses in the Fund.
- (r) Risk of suspension of redemption: Shareholders are entitled in principle to demand daily redemption of their Shares from the Management Company. However, the Management Company may temporarily suspend redemption of Shares in exceptional circumstances and only redeem the Shares later at the price then applicable. This price may be lower than it was prior to suspension of redemption. The Management Company may also be obliged to suspend redemption if one or more funds whose units have been acquired for the Fund for their part suspend redemption, and these account for a significant proportion of the net assets of the Fund.
- (s) Risk associated with investment in commodities: Although the source of commodities in nature is finite and some commodities cannot be artificially reproduced, this is no guarantee of a constant increase in value in future. Instead, prices are inherently subject to local and global market fluctuations and the potential influence of numerous factors such as liquidity, the ratio of supply and demand, market activity, regulatory interventions, natural disasters and other geopolitical circumstances. These factors can affect values both positive and negatively, which may lead to partial loss of the sum invested. Furthermore, the proceeds achievable on sale may differ from the current value. Commodities should generally be regarded as risky due to their high volatility, which describes the degree and frequency of price fluctuations.
- (t) Risks associated with securities financing transactions: If the borrower in a securities financing transaction becomes insolvent, the Fund could suffer a loss equal to the amount by which the proceeds from the sale of the underlying securities and/or other collateral provided for the securities financing transaction in favour of the Fund is less

than the repurchase price or the value of the underlying securities. Likewise, the Fund could suffer losses if bankruptcy or similar proceedings are instituted against the borrower of a securities financing transaction or if it otherwise fails to meet its obligations on the repurchase date. Among other things, the Fund could miss out on interest or principal payments on the relevant securities and incur costs in connection with the delay and enforcement of such transactions. While it is expected that entering into securities financing transactions will generally not have a material impact on the performance of a Sub-fund, the use of such techniques may have a material (negative or positive) impact on the Net Asset Value of a Sub-fund.

- (u) Risks associated with the receipt and provision of collateral: The Management Company receives or provides collateral for OTC derivatives and securities financing transactions. OTC derivatives and securities financing transactions may change in value. There is a risk that the collateral received will no longer be sufficient to cover the Management Company's claim for delivery or retransfer of the full amount owed to the counterparty. In order to minimise this risk, the Management Company or a third party appointed by it will reconcile the value of collateral with the value of OTC derivatives and securities financing transactions on a daily basis within the framework of collateral management and demand additional collateral in consultation with the counterparty. The collateral may be accepted in the form of the assets listed in 17.26. However, the credit institution where cash is held may default. Government bonds and bonds issued by international institutions and securities may develop negatively. In the event of a default in the transaction, the invested collateral could no longer be available in full taking into account or despite consideration of haircuts, although the Fund's originally granted amount must be repaid by the Management Company for the Fund. In order to minimise this risk, the Management Company reviews the values on a daily basis as part of collateral management and agrees to provide additional collateral in the event of increased risk.
- (v) Specific risks of investing in target funds: If the Investment Manager uses other funds (target funds) for account of a Sub-fund as an investment vehicle for its assets by acguiring Shares in such other funds, it assumes, in addition to the risks generally associated with investment policies of the other funds, the risks that result from the structure of the "fund" vehicle. As a result it is itself subject to fund capital risk, settlement risk, the risk of restricted flexibility, the risk of changes to underlying conditions, the risk of changes to terms and conditions, the investment policy and other general provisions of a fund, key personnel risk, the risk of transaction costs at the Fund level arising from Share movements and, in general, performance risk. If a target fund's investment policy is oriented towards investment strategies that expect markets to rise, the relevant positions should usually have a positive effect on the target fund's net assets when markets are rising, and normally a negative effect when the markets are falling. If a target fund's investment policy is oriented towards investment strategies that expect markets to fall, the relevant positions should usually have a positive effect on the target fund's net assets when markets are falling, and normally a negative effect when the markets are rising. The investment managers of different target funds act independently of each other. This may lead to several target funds assuming opportunities and risks in the same or related markets or assets, which concentrates the opportunities and risks of the Fund holding these target funds on the same or related markets or assets. However, the opportunities and risks incurred by different target funds may also offset each other. If a fund invests in target funds, costs are regularly incurred both at the level of the Fund

making the investment and at the level of the target funds, in particular management fees (fixed and/or performance-related), Custodian Bank fees and other costs; these result in increased charges to the investors in the Fund making the investment.

- (w) Risk of suspension of redemption: Investors are entitled to demand daily redemption of their Shares from the Management Company on each valuation day. However, the Management Company may temporarily suspend the redemption of Shares in exceptional circumstances and only redeem the Shares at a later date at the price then applicable. This price may be lower than it was prior to suspension of redemption. The Management Company may also be obliged to suspend redemption if one or more funds whose units have been acquired for a Sub-fund for their part suspend redemption, and these account for a significant proportion of the net assets of the respective Sub-fund.
- (x) Risks associated with the acquisition of distressed securities: Individual Sub-funds may invest in distressed securities in accordance with their investment policy. Distressed securities are securities of companies that are insolvent, otherwise at risk of default or experiencing other economic difficulties. These circumstances may result in a rating downgrade, if one has not already occurred, so that these securities are generally in the "speculative grade" range or worse. Such securities are subject to significant risks and the earnings situation is extremely uncertain. There is a risk that restructuring plans, swap offers, etc., may not be feasible and may have a negative impact on the value of these securities. The value of investments in these securities may fluctuate significantly as the value depends on future circumstances of the issuer which are unknown at the time of the investment. It may occur that these securities can only be resold at a significant mark-down, with a delay or not at all. There is a risk of total default, with the result that the Sub-fund loses its entire investment in the securities concerned.
- (y) Risks in connection with the acquisition of contingent convertible bonds ("CoCo bonds"): CoCo bonds are perpetual subordinated bonds which are converted from debt to equity of the issuing company, usually banks, according to defined criteria ("trigger events"; e.g. falling below a defined equity ratio). In contrast to traditional convertible bonds, the investor is not given an option. Depending on the structure, either a mandatory conversion into shares or a partial or complete write-down can be effected. Upon conversion, the investor changes from a lender to an equity investor. In relation to the same issuer, CoCo bond investors may suffer a capital loss before equity investors.

CoCo bonds may be subject to other special risks such as trigger level risk: Thresholds can be applied differently and determine the risk of conversion or write-down depending on the distance between equity and threshold value. In a mandatory conversion, CoCo bonds can be converted into equity securities. CoCo bond investors may lose their invested capital in the event of a write-down or conversion. Transparency is crucial to mitigate risk), coupon termination risk (for CoCo bond investors, there is a risk of not receiving all expected coupon payments. Coupon payments may be suspended by the issuer at any time, for any reason and for any period. Upon resumption, there is a risk that deferred coupon payments will not be paid out), capital structure inversion risk (under certain circumstances, CoCo bond investors may suffer losses when the trigger is triggered before the shareholders - in contrast to the traditional capital hierarchy), rollover risk (CoCo bonds are issued as instruments with unlimited maturity, which can only be called at a predefined level with the approval of the competent authority. Due to the flexible callability of CoCo bonds, there is a possibility that the maturity of the bond may

be postponed and thus the investor may not receive the capital repayment at the expected time, which may lead to a change in the yield and valuation of the CoCo bond and a deterioration of the liquidity situation in the Sub-fund), Unknown risks (the structure of CoCo bonds is relatively new. Effects of tense market phases on the underlying characteristics of CoCo bonds cannot yet be clearly classified) as well as yield/valuation risks (the often attractive returns due to the aforementioned risks and the complexity of these investments are the primary reason for investing in CoCo bonds. So far, however, it has not been ensured that investors take sufficient account of the underlying risks in the assessment and risk measurement process.

The above list of risk factors is not an exhaustive description of all risks associated with an investment in CoCo bonds. The activation of the trigger or suspension of the coupon payment by a single issuer may, under certain circumstances, lead to an overreaction and consequently to an increase in volatility and illiquidity for the entire asset class. In an illiquid market, pricing can also come under pressure. Further information regarding potential risks associated with investments in CoCo bonds can be found in the Communication from the European Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA/2014/944) dated 31 July 2014.

- (z) Potential conflicts of interest: The Management Company, its employees, representatives and/or affiliates may act as directors, investment advisors, investment managers, central administration agent, registrar and transfer agent or otherwise as a service provider for the Fund or Sub-fund. The function of the Custodian Bank or sub-custodian that has been delegated custodial functions can also be exercised by an affiliate of the Management Company. The Management Company and the Custodian Bank, unless a connection exists between them, have adequate structures to avoid possible conflicts of interest from the connection. If conflicts of interest cannot be prevented, the Management Company and the Custodian Bank will identify, control and monitor them, and if any are found, disclose them. The Management Company is aware that conflicts of interest may arise due to the various activities that it carries out with respect to the administration of the Fund or Sub-fund. In accordance with the Law of 17 December 2010 and the applicable regulations of the CSSF, the Management Company has sufficient and appropriate structures and control mechanisms, and in particular it acts in the best interests of the Funds or Sub-funds. The potential conflicts of interest arising from the delegation of tasks are described in the principles for handling conflicts of interest. These can be found on the Management Company's website www.mainfirst.com. To this extent that investor interests are affected by the appearance of conflict of interest, the Management Company will disclose the nature or sources of the existing conflict of interest on its website. In the outsourcing of tasks to a third party, the Management Company shall ensure that the third parties have taken the necessary and equivalent measures to comply with all requirements on organisation and avoidance of conflicts of interest as they are set down in the applicable Luxembourg laws and regulations, and monitor compliance with these requirements.
- (aa) Risks associated with investments in asset-backed securities: Asset-backed securities ("ABS") is the generic term for a bond issued by an issuer that is backed or secured by an underlying pool of assets. The underlying assets are usually credit claims. These are bundled in a pool of receivables, which is managed in trust by a financing company. This special purpose entity securitises the receivables and resells them to investors. These

are highly complex financial instruments whose risks are correspondingly difficult to assess. Mortgage-backed securities (MBS) are a subcategory of ABS. MBS are bonds that are backed or secured by a pool of receivables secured by real estate liens. Collateralised debt obligations ("CDOs") are another type. CDOs are structured bonds backed by a pool of different types of receivables, in particular loan and mortgage receivables or others such as leasing receivables.

ABS are complex and structured securities whose risk potential can only be assessed after thorough analysis. A generally valid assessment is not possible due to the wide variety of ways in which they are structured. Compared to other interest bearing securities, these asset backed securities may be subject to additional or higher risks, including: Counterparty default risks (due to changing capital market interest rates, the debtor may no longer be able to meet its obligations, which may lead to an increase in the counterparty default risk in the pool of receivables.), liquidity risks (despite being listed on the stock exchange, investments in ABS may be illiquid.), interest rate risks (due to early repayment options in the underlying pool, interest rate changes may occur.), credit default risks (there is a risk that claims from the underlying pool may not be serviced.). reinvestment risks (due to limited tradeability, there is a possibility that the Sub-fund may not always be fully invested.), default risks (the default risk inherent in this investment cannot be excluded despite risk-limiting measures and may lead to total default.), correlation risk (the various underlying claims from a pool may be interdependent and affected by interactions that are reflected in the valuation of the asset-backed securities. In extreme situations, significant price losses may occur if a defaulted receivable infects other receivables in the pool) and complexity risks (the extent of the individual risk types relating to investments in ABS can often only be estimated due to the complexity of the asset class. More precise forecasts are only possible for short periods of time. As investments in ABS are usually planned for the longer term, there is a significant risk for investors in this regard).

(bb) Risk due to force majeure

Force majeure is defined as events whose occurrence cannot be controlled by the persons involved. These include, for example, major traffic accidents, pandemics, earthquakes, floods, hurricanes, nuclear accidents, war and terrorism, design and construction defects beyond the control of the Fund, environmental legislation, general economic circumstances or industrial disputes. To the extent that a Sub-fund is affected by one or more events of force majeure, this may result in losses up to and including the total loss of the respective Sub-fund.

(cc) Sustainability risks

The materialization of an environmental, social or governance (hereinafter "ESG") event or condition whose occurrence could have an actual or potential material adverse effect on the value of the investment and thus on the performance of the Sub-fund is considered a sustainability risk. Sustainability risks can have a significant impact on other types of risk, such as market price risks or counterparty risks, and can materially influence the risk within these risk types. Failure to take ESG risks into account could have a negative impact on returns over the long term.

(dd) Risks resulting from the ESG strategy

If ESG criteria are taken into account as a component in the investment decision-making process for a Sub-fund in accordance with its investment strategy, the choice of target investments may be limited and the performance of the Sub-fund may be diminished compared to funds that do not take ESG criteria into account. The decision as to which component is the most important from an overall risk and return perspective is subject to the subjective assessment of fund management.

The risk types described are not exhaustive, but represent the main risks of the investment fund. In general, further risks may exist and occur.

## **Risk profiles**

- 18.8 The investment funds managed by the Management Company are classified in one of the following risk profiles. The risk profile of the Fund can be found in the corresponding Annex. The descriptions of the following profiles have been prepared assuming normally functioning markets. In unforeseen market situations or in case of market disruptions due to non-functioning markets, further risks may arise besides those mentioned in the risk profile.
  - (a) Risk profile risk averse The Fund is suitable for risk-averse investors. Due to the composition of the net fund assets, there is a low overall risk, accompanied by corresponding income potential. The risks can consist, in particular, of currency, credit rating and price risks as well as risks that result from changes to the market interest rate.
  - (b) Risk profile conservative The Fund is suitable for conservative investors. Due to the composition of the net fund assets, there is a moderate overall risk, also accompanied by corresponding income potential. The risks can consist, in particular, of currency, credit rating and price risks as well as risks that result from changes to the market interest rate.
  - (c) Risk profile growth-oriented The Fund is suitable for growth-oriented investors. Due to the composition of the net fund assets, there is a high overall risk, also accompanied by high income potential. Risks include, in particular, currency, credit and price risks, and risks resulting from changes in market interest rates.
  - (d) Risk profile speculative The Fund is suitable for speculative investors. Due to the composition of the net fund assets, there is a very high overall risk, also accompanied by very high income potential. The risks can consist, in particular, of currency, credit rating and price risks as well as risks that result from changes to the market interest rate.

#### **Risk management process**

- 18.9 The Company shall apply a risk management procedure that enables it to monitor and measure at all times the risks related to the investment positions and their share of the total risk profile of the investment portfolios of the Funds managed by it. In accordance with the Law of 17 December 2010 and the applicable regulatory requirements of the CSSF, the Management Company reports regularly to the CSSF concerning the risk management process used. The Management Company ensures, within the framework of the risk management process and on the basis of appropriate and reasonable methods, that the overall risk of the managed Funds associated with derivatives does not exceed the total net asset value of their portfolios. For this purpose, the Management Company uses the following methods:
  - (a) Commitment approach: Under the commitment approach, positions in derivative financial instruments are converted into their corresponding underlying equivalents using the

delta method. Netting and hedging effects between derivative financial instruments and their underlyings are taken into account. The sum of these underlying equivalents may not exceed the total net asset value of the Fund portfolio.

- (b) VaR approach: The value-at-risk indicator (VaR) is a mathematical, statistical concept and is used as a standard measure of risk in the financial sector. The VaR indicates the potential loss of a portfolio during a certain period (called the holding period) which will not be exceeded with a certain probability (called the confidence level).
  - (i) Relative VaR approach: Under the relative VaR approach, the VaR of the Fund may not be greater than twice the VaR of a reference portfolio. The reference portfolio must accurately reflect the Fund's investment policy.
  - (ii) Absolute VaR approach: With the absolute VaR approach, the VaR (99% confidence level, 20-day holding period) of the Fund may not exceed 20% of the Fund's assets.
- (c) For funds whose overall risk associated with derivatives is calculated using the VaR approach, the Management Company estimates the expected degree of leverage. This degree of leverage may deviate from the actual value depending on the market situation, and may be greater or smaller. Investors are advised that this information provides no indication of the risk exposure of the Fund. It is also made explicit that the published expected degree of leverage is not to be understood as an investment limit. The method used to determine the overall risk associated with derivatives and, where applicable, disclosure of the reference portfolio, the expected degree of leverage and the method used to calculate it, are indicated in the Fund-specific Annex.

#### Liquidity management

18.10 The Management Company has established written policies and procedures for the Sub-funds that permit it to monitor the liquidity risks of the Sub-funds and to ensure that the liquidity profile of the Sub-funds' investments is consistent with the underlying liabilities of the Sub-funds. Taking into account the investment strategy, the liquidity profile of the Sub-funds is as follows: The liquidity profile of a Sub-fund is determined in its entirety by its structure in terms of the assets and liabilities contained in the Sub-fund as well as in terms of the investor structure and the redemption conditions defined in the Full Prospectus.

The policies and procedures include:

- The Management Company monitors the liquidity risks that may arise at the level of the Sub-funds or the assets. For this purpose, it makes an assessment of the liquidity of the assets held in the Sub-fund in relation to the Sub-fund's assets and determines liquidity classes for this purpose. The liquidity assessment includes, for example, an analysis of the trading volume, complexity or other typical features as well as a qualitative assessment of an asset, if applicable.
- The Management Company monitors the liquidity risks that may arise from increased investor demand for unit redemption or from large-scale redemptions. This involves formulating expectations about changes in net assets, taking into account available information about empirical values from historical changes in net assets.
- The Management Company monitors current receivables and liabilities of the Subfunds and assesses their impact on the liquidity situation of the Sub-funds.

- The Management Company has established appropriate liquidity risk limits for the Fund. It monitors compliance with these limits and has established procedures in the event that the limits have been or may be breached.
- The procedures established by the Management Company ensure consistency between the liquidity classes, the liquidity risk limits and the expected net changes in funds.

The Management Company regularly reviews these policies and updates them as needed.

The Management Company regularly performs stress tests that enable it to assess the liquidity risks of the Sub-fund. The Management Company conducts the stress tests on the basis of reliable and up-to-date quantitative or, if this is not appropriate, qualitative information. This process includes consideration of investment strategy, redemption periods, payment obligations and periods within which the assets may be sold, as well as information relating to historical events or hypothetical assumptions. The stress tests simulate, where appropriate, a lack of liquidity of the assets in the Sub-fund and the extent of atypical requests for unit redemptions. They cover market risks and their effects, including margin calls, collateral requirements or credit lines. They will be carried out taking into account the investment strategy, the liquidity profile, the type of investor and the redemption policy of the Fund at a frequency appropriate to the nature of the Sub-fund.

## Use of techniques and instruments for efficient portfolio management

- 18.11 In line with CSSF Circular 14/592 regarding the ESMA guidelines on exchange traded funds and other UCITS issues, the Company may use techniques and instruments relating to securities and money market instruments for the purposes of efficient portfolio management of a Sub-fund, insofar as these (i) are economically appropriate and cost efficient, (ii) are intended to generate additional returns in keeping with the risk profile of the respective Sub-fund and the risk diversification provisions contained in this Full Prospectus and/or (iii) are used to achieve a reduction in risks or costs and (iv) the associated risks are adequately covered by the risk management procedure of the respective Sub-fund.
- 18.12 The use of techniques and instruments for efficient portfolio management may in no way cause a Sub-fund to deviate from its investment objectives and investment restrictions as laid out in this Full Prospectus or be exposed to any additional risk exceeding that described in this Full Prospectus and which, in particular, has an adverse impact on the ability to carry out redemption orders.
- 18.13 Only first-class financial institutions from OECD countries may act as counterparties for the Company when using techniques and instruments for a Sub-fund of the Company. There shall be no minimum credit rating requirement.
- 18.14 The respective techniques and instruments used during the reference period must be disclosed in the Company's semi-annual and annual reports such that the overall value of the transactions and/or total value of the resulting open positions is clearly shown in relation to the respective Sub-fund portfolios.

The Company's annual report includes information on the following issues:

(a) Total value of open positions recorded by using techniques for efficient portfolio management;

- (b) Identity of the counterparty/counterparties for these techniques for efficient portfolio management;
- (c) Type and amount of the collateral received that can be allocated to the counterparty risk for the Sub-fund;
- (d) The identity of the issuer if the securities held by this issue exceed 20% of the net asset value of the Sub-fund;
- (e) Whether the Sub-fund is entirely collateralised via securities that are issued or guaranteed by an EU member state; and
- (f) Income that results from techniques for efficient portfolio management for the entire reporting period, including direct and indirect operating costs and fees incurred.

The Company's annual report must include information on the following for the respective Subfunds which employed financial instruments in the period under review:

- (g) Total value of open positions recorded with derivatives;
- (h) Identity of the counterparty/counterparties for financial derivatives;
- (i) Type and amount of the collateral received that can be allocated to the counterparty risk for the Sub-fund.
- 18.15 Each Sub-fund will ensure that the total value of the open positions resulting from derivatives does not exceed the respective fund's net asset value.
- 18.16 The total value of the open positions is calculated using the current value of the underlying assets, the counterparty risk, the forecast market movements and the time remaining through to liquidation of the open positions.
- 18.17 If a security or a money market instrument includes a derivative, the derivative must be included in the calculations to be performed according to this section 17.
- 18.18 Techniques for efficient portfolio management include:
  - (i) Options on securities and futures, and also, among others,
  - securities lending and securities repurchase transactions (opérations à réméré, operations de prise/mise en pension), acquisition with repurchase option, reverse repurchase agreements (securities financing transactions), and
  - (iii) total return swaps

as described below.

- (a) Options on securities and futures:
  - (i) The following applies to the functioning and risks of **options**:

An option is the right to buy (call option) or sell (put option) a certain asset at a predetermined price (strike price) on a predetermined date (exercise date). The price of a call or put option is known as the option "premium". Buying and selling options is associated with particular risks. The premium paid for a purchased call or put option may be lost if the price of the underlying security of the option does not perform as expected and if it is therefore not in the interest of the holder to exercise the option. When selling a call option, there is a risk that the holder may

no longer participate in a potentially substantial price increase of the security or may be forced to cover its position under unfavourable market conditions when the counterparty exercises the option. When selling a put option there is a risk that the holder could be obliged to buy the underlying securities at the strike price, despite the market value of these securities being considerably lower when the option is exercised. The leverage effect of options can mean that the impact on the value of a fund's assets is much greater than if the securities had been purchased directly.

(ii) The following applies to the functioning and risks of **financial futures**:

Financial futures are mutual contracts authorising or requiring the parties to the contract to receive or deliver a particular asset at a predetermined time and at a predetermined price. This implies considerable opportunities and also risks, as only a fraction of the total contract volume (margin) must be paid immediately. Any price volatility referred to the margin may result in substantial profits or losses.

The Company reserves the right to establish additional investment restrictions at any time, provided that they are indispensable for compliance with laws and regulations of certain states in which the Company's Shares are offered and sold.

- (b) Securities financing (securities loan)
  - (i) The Company may lend securities from its portfolio to a counterparty for a standard market fee for a given period. Following this period, the counterparty is obliged to return securities of the same type and value to the Company (securities lending or securities loan).
  - (ii) The Company may lend securities to a counterparty itself or as part of a standardised lending system organised by a recognised clearing system or a first-class financial institution.
  - (iii) Types of securities that can be used in securities lending transactions and securities loans shall be as follows:
    - Equities;
    - Equity-like securities;
    - Funds;
    - Exchange Traded Funds (ETF);
    - Bonds.
- (c) Securities repurchase transactions

The Company may enter into securities repurchase transactions as defined below:

- (i) as the borrower or "repo seller" in which case the Company sells securities from its portfolio with a repurchase option.
- (ii) as the lender or "repo buyer", in which case the Company purchases securities and the counterparty has a repurchase option on condition that the securities are one of the types listed below:
  - (A) short-term bank certificates or money market instruments as defined in the Law of 2010;

- (B) bonds issued or guaranteed by OECD member states or by their local authorities or by supranational institutions or organisations with regional, EEA (EEA) or worldwide scope;
- (C) Shares or units in money market funds with daily calculation of net asset value and with a rating of AAA or equivalent;
- (D) bonds issued by non-governmental issuers which have adequate liquidity;
- (E) shares which are listed or traded on an exchange or a regulated market of an EU member state, provided these securities are represented in a major index.

During the period of the securities repurchase agreement, and until such time as the counterparty has exercised the option or the deadline for the repurchase has expired, the Company may not sell the securities underlying the loan unless it is able to hedge these positions in another way.

(d) Repurchase agreements (repo transactions)

A repurchase agreement is an advance transaction for which, when it matures, the Subfund has an obligation to repurchase the sold assets and the purchaser (counterparty) has the obligation to return the assets received.

If a Sub-fund enters into a repurchase agreement, it should ensure that it can call back the underlying securities for the repurchase agreement at any time, or that it can terminate the agreed repurchase agreement.

(e) Reverse repo transactions

A reverse repo transaction is an advance transaction for which, when it matures, the seller (counterparty) must accept the return of the assets sold and the respective Subfund must return the assets received.

During the term of a reverse repo transaction the Company may not pledge the securities or transfer them as collateral unless the Company is able to hedge these positions in another way.

If a Sub-fund enters into a reverse repo transaction, it must ensure that it can call back the full monetary amount at any time, or that it can either terminate the agreed reverse repo transaction either in the total amount incurred or at a mark-to-market value. If the cash amount can be called back at any time at a mark-to-market value, the mark-tomarket value of the reverse repurchase agreement should be used to calculate the net asset value of the relevant Sub-fund.

(f) Total return swap

A total return swap is a derivative contract as defined in Article 2 number 7 of Regulation (EU) No. 648/2012 in which one counterparty transfers to another counterparty the total return of a reference obligation, including income from interest and fees, gains and losses from volatility and credit losses.

18.19 The Sub-fund must ensure that all of the securities transferred as part of securities lending can be transferred back and that all of the securities lending agreements entered into can be terminated at any time.

- 18.20 Forward repo transactions and reverse repo transactions of up to seven days should be viewed as agreements for which the Sub-fund can call back the assets at any time.
- 18.21 The Company will prepare a strategy for direct and indirect operating costs/fees which result from the techniques for efficient portfolio management and which are to be deducted from the income of the respective Sub-fund. The difference accrues, in full, to the corresponding Sub-fund. As described in 17.13, the annual report will disclose the income as well as the direct and indirect operating costs and fees for the entire period under review.
- 18.22 The counterparty risk in connection with OTC derivatives and techniques for efficient portfolio management may not exceed 10% of the Sub-fund's assets if the counterparty is a bank with its registered office in the European Union or a country which the CSSF believes is comparable with EU regulations with regard to financial supervision regulations. In all other cases, the maximum limit is 5%.
- 18.23 The counterparty risk for a Sub-fund vis-à-vis the counterparty is equal to the positive mark-to-market value of all transactions in connection with OTC derivatives and techniques for efficient portfolio management with the counterparty, subject to the condition that:
  - (a) In the event that forecloseable netting agreements apply, open items that result from transactions with derivatives and techniques for efficient portfolio management with a counterparty can be netted; and
  - (b) Collateral which is deposited in favour of a Sub-fund and which meets the conditions stipulated in 17.23 below at all times, reduce the counterparty risk of the corresponding Sub-fund in line with the amount of the collateral deposited.

# Management of collateral for transactions with OTC derivatives and techniques for efficient portfolio management

- 18.24 The Company may also obtain collateral in order to reduce the counterparty risk for sales with a right of repurchase and/or reverse repurchase transactions. In cases where such collateral is obtained, the Company shall adhere to the applicable legal provisions in respect of such collateral, in particular Circular 08/356, to the extent that these are not superseded by the regulations set out below.
- 18.25 All collateral that minimizes the counterparty risk must fulfil the following requirements at all times:
  - (a) Liquidity: All collateral received that is not cash must be highly liquid and be traded at a transparent price on a regulated market or within a multi-lateral trading system, so that it can be sold short-term at a price that is close to the valuation established prior to the sale. The collateral must always observe the regulations set out under 17.6(b), 17.6(c) and 17.6(d) above.
  - (b) Valuation: Collateral received should be valued at least once per stock market day. Assets that have highly volatile prices should only be accepted as collateral if suitable conservative haircuts are applied.
  - (c) Issuer's creditworthiness: The issuer of the collateral that is received should have a good credit rating.

- (d) Correlation: The collateral received by the Sub-fund should be issued by a legal entity which is independent of the counterparty and does not have a high correlation with the counterparty's development.
- (e) Diversification of collateral (asset concentration): With regard to the collateral, attention must be paid to ensure suitable diversification with regard to countries, markets and issuers. The criterion of reasonable diversification in view of the issuer concentration is regarded as having been fulfilled if the Sub-fund of a counterparty with efficient portfolio management or transactions with OTC derivatives receives a collateral basket for which the maximum amount of the open items vis-à-vis a specific issuer is 20% of the net asset value. If a Sub-fund has different counterparties, the various collateral baskets should be aggregated, in order to calculate the 20% threshold for the total value of the open items vis-à-vis an individual issuer. Deviating from this sub-section, a Sub-fund may be collateralised entirely by different securities and money market instruments that are issued or guaranteed by an EU member state, one or more local authorities, an OECD state or an international public body that belongs to at least one EU member state. This Sub-fund should hold securities that have been issued as part of at least six different issues, whereby the securities from one single emission should not exceed 30% of the net asset value of the Sub-fund. If a Sub-fund aims to be entirely collateralised by securities issued or guaranteed by a single EU member state, this fact must be disclosed in the Annex to the Sub-fund. Furthermore, the Sub-fund should specify which EU member state, local authorities or international public bodies have issued or guaranteed the securities that the Sub-fund has accepted as collateral for more than 20% of its net asset value.
- (f) Risks in connection with collateral management, for example, operating and legal risks, are to be identified, controlled and minimised by risk management.
- 18.26 The Sub-fund should have the opportunity of exploiting the collateral received at all times without referring to the counterparty or approval by the counterparty.
- 18.27 The Sub-funds will exclusively accept the following assets as collateral, which can be provided irrespective of their maturity:
  - (a) Cash collateral: Cash collateral includes not only cash and short-term bank certificates, but also money market instruments as set out in the UCITS guideline. A letter of credit or a guarantee at first request issued by a top-quality bank that is not affiliated with the counterparty is equivalent to liquid assets.
  - (b) Bonds issued or guaranteed by an OECD member state or a local regional authority in such a country or a public authority in such a country or an EU institution, or by a supranational institution with a regional or global orientation.
  - (c) Shares or units issued by undertakings for collective investments active on the money market whose net asset value is valued daily, and which have an AAA or comparable rating.
  - (d) Equities or units issued by undertakings for collective investments in securities.
  - (e) Bonds issued or guaranteed by first-class issuers that offer a reasonable liquidity.

- (f) Shares that are admitted or traded on a regulated market in an EU member country or a stock exchange in an OECD member country, subject to the condition that the units are included in a main index.
- 18.28 Non-cash collateral received should not be sold, re-invested or pledged.
- 18.29 Cash collateral received should only:
  - (a) be invested as a demand deposit;
  - (b) be invested in top quality government bonds;
  - (c) be used for reverse repo transactions, subject to the condition that these are transactions with banks that are subject to supervision, and the Sub-fund can call back the full amount accrued at any time;
  - (d) be invested in money market funds with short term structures according to the definition in CESR's guidelines CESR/10~049 on a joint definition for European money market funds.
- 18.30 Newly invested cash collateral should be diversified according to the diversification conditions for non-cash collateral.
- 18.31 Each Sub-fund which receives collateral for at least 30% of its assets, should have a reasonable stress-test strategy. This aims to ensure that both under normal and extraordinary liquidity conditions stress tests are performed regularly, so that the Sub-fund can value the liquidity risk associated with the collateral.
- 18.32 In line with CSSF Circular 13/559 the Company will set up a haircut strategy for each Class of assets that are received as collateral. As a rule, the Company will receive cash collateral, equities and top-quality government bonds with haircuts of between 1-10% as collateral. However, the Company reserves the right to use other collateral with a corresponding haircut. When working in the haircut strategy, the Company will take into account the characteristics of the assets, such as creditworthiness or price volatility.
- 18.33 As part of collateral management, the Company sets thresholds for over-collateralisation. Over-collateralisation for cash and government bond collateral is between 102-110% and for equity securities it totals 105%-110% of the securities lent.
- 18.34 The following provisions also apply to securities lending transactions:
  - (a) The net risks (i.e. risks of a UCITS minus the collateral received) to which the Company is exposed vis-à-vis a counterparty as a result of securities lending or securities repurchase transactions for the purchase or sale of securities must be included within the 20% investment limit stipulated in item 17.6(a)(ii).
  - (b) Prior to or at the point of transfer of the securities to be lent, the Company must have received the collateral from the borrower or an intermediary acting on its own account. Provided the intermediary operates under a lending system as defined under item 17.17
     (b) (ii), the securities may be transferred prior to the receipt of the collateral on condition that the intermediary provides a guarantee that the transfer will be duly concluded.

#### Special information on the counterparty risk for the use of derivatives

Each Sub-fund can perform transactions on OTC markets. The Sub-fund is thus exposed to the counterparty's credit risk and its ability to fulfil such agreements. For example, the Sub-

fund can enter into a swap transaction or another derivative instrument as above under 17.17. Each individual transaction exposes the Sub-fund to the risk that the counterparty will not fulfil its obligations. In the event of bankruptcy or the insolvency of a counterparty, the Sub-fund may suffer significant losses as a result of a delay in liquidating the positions, this includes the loss of the investments' value while the Company exercises its rights. There is also the possibility that the use of the agreed techniques is ended, for example as a result of bankruptcy, a violation of the law, or changes to the law compared to the laws that were in force on the date the agreements were concluded. These risks are limited in line with the requirements to uphold the investment restrictions set out under 17.4, 17.5 and 17.17.

OTC markets and inter-dealer markets impact the transactions of Sub-funds that are held by Sub-funds. Participants on these markets are typically not subject to the credit evaluation or financial supervision required for participants on regulated markets. A Sub-fund which invests in swaps, derivatives, synthetic instruments or other OTC transactions on these markets bears the counterparty's credit risk and is also subject to its default risk. These risks may differ materially from those for transactions on regulated markets, as the latter are secured with guarantees, daily mark to market valuations, daily settlements and corresponding segregation as well as minimum capitalisation requirements. As a rule, transactions that are concluded directly between two counterparties do not benefit from this protection. Each Sub-fund is also subject to the risk that the counterparty does not execute the transaction as agreed as a result of an inconsistency regarding the contractual conditions (irrespective of whether in good faith or not) or as a result of a credit or liquidity problem. This can lead to losses for the respective Sub-fund. This counterparty risk increases for contracts with longer maturities, as events could prevent agreement, or if the Company has geared its transactions to a single counterparty or a small group of counterparties. In the event that the counterparty defaults, the respective Sub-fund can become the subject of contradictory market movements while it performs replacement transactions. The respective Sub-fund can conclude a transaction with any counterparty. It can also conclude an unrestricted number of transactions with a single counterparty. The Sub-funds do not perform any internal checks of the counterparty's creditworthiness. The Sub-fund's possibility of concluding transactions with any counterparty, the lack of meaningful and independent valuation evaluation of own financial transactions by the counterparty and the lack of a regulated market for the conclusion of agreements can increase the Sub-fund's loss potential.

## Special information on techniques for efficient portfolio management

According to the conditions and thresholds set out in 17.17(d) and 18.18(e), the Sub-fund can enter into an acquisition with a repurchase option or a reverse repo transaction as the purchaser or seller. If the counterparty for an acquisition with a repurchase option or a reverse repo transaction defaults, the Sub-fund may suffer a loss in that the income from the purchase of the underlying securities for the transaction and/or other collateral which is held by the Sub-fund in connection with the acquisition of the repurchase option or the reverse repo transaction, are lower than the repurchase price or the value of the underlying securities. In addition, the respective Sub-fund can suffer losses as a result of the bankruptcy of or corresponding similar proceedings against the counterparty for the acquisition with a repurchase option or the reverse repo transaction or any other type of non-fulfilment on the repurchase date, for example loss of interest or loss in the value of the respective security as well as default and foreclosure costs with regard to the acquisition with a repurchase option or the reverse repo transaction.

Any Sub-fund can enter securities financing agreements according to the conditions and thresholds stipulated in 17.17(b). If the counterparty to a securities lending agreement defaults, the respective Sub-fund can suffer a loss in that the income from the sale of the Sub-fund in connection with the collateral held as part of the securities lending agreement are lower than the securities lent. In addition, the respective Sub-fund can suffer losses as a result of the bankruptcy of or corresponding similar proceedings against the counterparty to the securities lending agreement or any other type of non-fulfilment for the return of the securities, for example a loss of interest or a loss in the value of the respective security as well as default and foreclosure costs with regard to the securities lending agreement.

The respective Sub-fund will only employ an acquisition with a repurchase option or a reverse repo transaction and a securities lending agreement in order to minimise risks (hedging) or to generate additional capital or income for the respective Sub-fund. When employing these techniques, the Sub-fund will uphold the conditions set out above at any time. The risks from the conclusion of an acquisition with a repurchase option or a reverse repo transaction and a securities lending agreement are closely monitored. In addition, techniques (including security or collateral management) are employed in order to reduce these risks. It is to be assumed that the use of an acquisition with a repurchase option or a reverse repo transaction and a securities lending agreement do not have a major impact on the performance of the Sub-fund. However, this use can have a significant effect, be this positive or negative, on the Sub-fund's net asset value.

As Sub-funds can reinvest cash collateral received, there is the risk that the value of the reinvested cash collateral may be lower than the amount to be repaid. However, this risk is reduced via investments in top-quality government bonds, reverse repo transactions, liquid money market funds, term deposits, etc.

## **EMIR (European Markets Regulation)**

- 18.35 The Company shall, pursuant to the usage of the investment instruments described in this Section 17, in all cases in conjunction with the respective banking partner or counterparty, comply with the central counterparties and transaction register and the execution stipulations thereof as well as the regulations delegated hereto as set forth in CSSF circular 13/557 and on the basis of Regulation EU/648/2012 on OTC derivatives (known as the EMIR regulation) where, and to the extent, applicable.
- 18.36 Assets that fall under Section 17.35 and collateral received in this context are kept in safe custody by the custodian.

#### Regulation 2015/2365

- 18.37 No total return swaps will be used for the Fund.
- 18.38 The Fund will continue to enter into securities financing transactions and reverse repurchase agreements to reinvest the cash collateral. These securities financing transactions are only used to generate additional income for the Fund's assets. In this context, income is generated in particular through the loan fee that is paid by the lender of the loaned asset. The loan fee is incurred depending on the duration of the loan transaction, the amount of the loan fee negotiated and the value of the loaned asset. The loan fee is negotiated by the securities financing agent and may vary depending on the borrower. In addition, within the framework of the regulatory requirements, the Fund generates income through the reinvestment of cash collateral received, which must be deposited by the borrower in connection with the loan of

assets. Due to the aforementioned intention of generating additional income for the Sub-fund assets, the Fund will conduct securities financing transactions on a permanent basis within the limits set out below. The quantity of securities borrowed can vary over the course of the year and depends on demand and the type of assets contained in the Fund's assets. For example, shares of large cap companies in developed markets enjoy a different level of demand from borrowers than bonds from small and medium cap companies in emerging markets. The proportion of securities financing transactions that will likely be used, as stated below, was estimated on the basis of historical experience from securities financing transactions of the respective Sub-funds. The proportion actually used may vary depending on the market situation and demand. The securities financing transactions are carried out by the securities financing agent, who brings the lender and borrower together in one transaction and receives the fees listed below, among other things. These securities financing transactions can be cancelled daily and are conducted by the securities financing agent as described above. If an asset is sold due to the investment strategy, it is automatically reversed by securities financing agents. The securities financing transactions therefore have no influence on the investment strategy of the respective Fund assets.

18.39 The maximum or probable proportion of the assets under management of the respective Sub-fund for **securities financing transactions** is determined as follows:

Sub-fund	Maximum proportion of the Sub-fund's assets under management that can be used	Proportion of the Sub- fund's assets under man- agement that can proba- bly be used	
Euro Value Stars		5-10%	
Top European Ideas Fund		40.45%	
Germany Fund	7	10-15%	
Emerging Markets Corporate Bond Fund Balanced	1	5-10%	
Global Equities Fund	7	10-15%	
Absolute Return Multi Asset	30 %	10-13%	
Emerging Markets Credit Opportunities Fund	1	5-10%	
Global Dividend Stars	1	5-10%	
Global Equities Unconstrained Fund		10-15%	
Total Return European Equities	7	0-5%	
Megatrends Asia	7	0-070	

Income generated from using securities financing transactions is invested in the Sub-fund assets in full, less any costs and fees of parties necessarily involved, which includes transaction costs associated with the execution of securities financing transactions.

18.40 Income from securities financing is currently distributed among the various parties involved as follows:

Gross income					
100 %					
Share of gross income					
60 %	15 %	25 %			
Sub-fund assets	Management Company	Securities lending agent			
	(MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers S.A.)	(J.P. Morgan Bank Luxembourg S.A.)			

The following activities are carried out by the parties involved in the establishment of securities financing transactions (management company, securities financing agent, custodian): Securities financing agent:

- Trade finding & best execution
- Settlement of trades, reconciliation, corporate actions and recall management

- Cash and non-cash collateral management, reinvestment of cash collateral, valuation of collateral

- Invoice management & billing

## Management Company:

Monitoring of counterparty exposures (non-cash collateral & reinvested cash collateral)
 Investment compliance: monitoring of compliance with all investment restrictions (e.g. equity participation rate or diversification across borrower, sector, asset class, country)

- Monitoring of collateral management (review of collateral ratios, cash/non-cash, evaluation)

- Monitoring of settlement processes, recalls (in the case of sales)
- Monitoring of securities financing income (including reinvestments of cash collateral)
- Outsourcing controlling on the securities financing agent
- Tax management (including withholding tax)
- Monitoring of invoicing & control of the annual/semi-annual reports

## Custodian:

- Settlement of trades
- Custody of securities
- Control and blocking of the loaned assets

For every securities financing transaction, MainFirst pays a transaction fee of EUR 21.00 to the custodian. Of this, 20% (EUR 4.20) will be reimbursed to the Fund from the management company's income.

## **Feeder Sub-funds**

18.41 The Board of Directors may set up Sub-funds in the form of feeder Sub-funds as defined in Article 77 (1) of the Law of 2010. If and insofar as a Sub-fund is to be used as a feeder Sub-fund, this Full Prospectus shall be updated accordingly.

## **19. CALCULATION OF THE NET ASSET VALUE**

## Calculation and publication of the net asset value per Share

- 19.1 The net asset value per Share is calculated separately for each Sub-fund under the responsibility of the Central Administration Agent, Registrar and Transfer Agent and in the corresponding Sub-fund's currency (the **base currency** of the Sub-fund).
- 19.2 The net asset value of an accumulating or distributing Share of a Sub-fund corresponds to the amount resulting from the division of such net assets applicable to the total of the accumulating or distributing Shares by the total number of such Sub-fund's accumulating or distributing Shares issued and outstanding.
- 19.3 A Sub-fund's net asset value per Share is calculated on each banking day in Luxembourg (valuation day) pursuant to Article 11 of the Articles of Association.

19.4 For any Sub-fund of the Company, the latest net asset value per Share and the issue, redemption and conversion price of the Shares can be obtained from the Company's registered office during business hours or from a website as determined by the Company.

## Temporary suspension of the calculation of the net asset value per Share, as well as of the issuing, redemption and conversion of Shares

- 19.5 The Company may suspend the calculation of the net asset value, and of the issue, redemption and conversion of Shares of any Sub-fund to the extent that this is in compliance with the provisions of Article 12 of the Articles of Association.
- 19.6 The information regarding such suspension and termination thereof shall be published in the "Luxemburger Wort" and in any other newspaper to be determined by the Board of Directors. Shareholders who have applied for the subscription, redemption or conversion of Shares and are thus affected by the suspension of the calculation of the net asset value shall be informed accordingly by the Company.

## Swing pricing adjustment

- 19.7 A Sub-fund may suffer a dilution of the net asset value per Share due to investors who sell or buy Shares in a Sub-fund at a price which does not reflect the trading or other costs which arise from the Investment Manager conducting securities transactions in order to take account of the net inflows and/or outflows of funds.
- 19.8 In order to counteract this influence and to protect shareholders' interests, a swing pricing procedure can be applied. If the total net inflows and outflow of funds of a Sub-fund on a valuation day exceed a limit set beforehand by the Board of Directors, the net asset value per Share can be correspondingly adjusted upwards or downwards. The limit is regularly checked and where necessary adjusted by the Board of Directors for each Sub-fund.
- 19.9 The amount of the respective net inflows and net outflows of funds is calculated on the basis of the latest information available at the time the net asset value is calculated. The swing pricing procedure can be applied to all Sub-funds.
- 19.10 The amount of the price adjustment is determined by the Board of Directors based on the Sub-fund's trading and other costs. Such adjustment may vary according to the Sub-fund and shall not exceed up to 1% of the original net asset value per Share. The price adjustment applicable to a specific Sub-fund can be requested from the registered office of the Company.

## 20. DISSOLUTION, LIQUIDATION, MERGER

#### **Dissolution and liquidation of the Company**

- 20.1 The Company can be dissolved at any time by a resolution of the General Meeting of shareholders, resulting in an amendment to the Articles of Association.
- 20.2 Should the amount of the Company's capital fall below two thirds of the minimum capital specified in Article 5 of the Articles of Association, the Board of Directors shall submit a motion of dissolution of the Company at the General Meeting. The General Meeting shall decide by a simple majority of the Shares present at the Meeting without a specific quorum being required.

- 20.3 Should the amount of the Company's capital fall below one quarter of the minimum capital specified in Article 5 of the Articles of Association, the Board of Directors shall submit to the General Meeting a motion of dissolution of the Company. The General Meeting shall reach its decisions without a specific quorum being required, and the decision to dissolve the Company may be taken by the shareholders representing one quarter of the Shares present at the Meeting.
- 20.4 The meeting must be convened such that the General Meeting can be held within 40 days of it being determined that the net assets have fallen below two thirds or one quarter of the statutory minimum capital.
- 20.5 The liquidation is performed by one or more liquidators; these may be natural or legal persons and are appointed upon approval of the supervisory authority by the General Meeting, which also decides on their powers and remuneration.
- 20.6 The liquidators shall distribute the net proceeds from the liquidation of each Sub-fund to the shareholders of the corresponding Sub-fund in relation to the net asset value per Share.
- 20.7 Should the Company be liquidated due to its own decision or to a court ruling, such liquidation shall be performed pursuant to the provisions of the Law of 2010. This law determines the measures to be taken to enable the shareholders to participate in the pay-out of the liquidation proceeds. It stipulates that any amount not claimed by shareholders after conclusion of the liquidation shall be deposited with the *Caisse de Consignation*. The deposited amounts shall be forfeited unless collected within the statutory limitation period.

## Dissolution, liquidation and merger of Sub-funds

- 20.8 The General Meeting of shareholders of a Sub-fund may decide to reduce the Fund assets by dissolving the Sub-fund concerned and cancelling the Shares of that Sub-fund that have been issued, paying out the value of the Shares to the shareholders minus realisation costs on the basis of the valuation day on which the decision enters into force. A quorum is not required at the General Meetings of shareholders of the Sub-funds concerned and decisions shall be adopted with a simple majority of the Shares present or represented at the Meeting.
- 20.9 Following completion of the liquidation of a Sub-fund, the proceeds from liquidation for Shares that have not been handed in are immediately deposited with the *Caisse de Consignation* in Luxembourg.
- 20.10 If for whatsoever reason the total net asset value of a Sub-fund or Class within a Subfund falls below a value or does not reach a value stipulated by the Board of Directors as being the minimum value for the economically efficient management of that Sub-fund or Class, or in the event of an essential change in the political, economic or monetary environment or in the context of a rationalisation, the Board of Directors may resolve to withdraw all of the Shares of the corresponding Class(es) at the value (taking into account the actual realisation prices and realisation costs of the investments) on the valuation day or at the time when the corresponding decision enters into force. The Company shall inform holders of the corresponding Class(es) prior to the forced redemption taking effect, detailing the reasons for the redemption and the procedure to be followed. Subject to any decision to the contrary in the interests of the shareholders or in order to uphold the equal treatment of all shareholders, shareholders of the Sub-fund concerned may apply to have their Shares redeemed or converted free of charge prior to the forced redemption (but taking account of the actual realisation prices and costs of the investments).

#### Merger of the Company or of Sub-funds

- 20.11 The Company may participate in crossborder or domestic mergers according to the following rules in the capacity of either a "merging" or a "receiving" UCITS (as defined in Article 1 (20) a) to c) of the Law of 2010):
  - (a) The Board of Directors is responsible for determining the date on which the merger will enter into force.
  - (b) For the purposes of item 19.11:
    - (i) the terms "merger", "merging UCITS" and "receiving UCITS" have the meaning assigned to them pursuant to Article 1(20), (a) to (c) of the Law of 2010;
    - (ii) the terms "shareholder" (Anteilinhaber) or "share" (Anteil) also include, in certain circumstances, the shareholders or Shares of the Company or another UCITS;
    - (iii) the term "UCITS" also refers to a Sub-fund of a UCITS; and
    - (iv) the term "Company" also refers to a Sub-fund of the Company.
  - (c) If the Company is the subject of a merger with another UCITS in the capacity of either a merging or receiving UCITS, the following general rules should be adhered to:
    - (i) The Company shall provide its shareholders with appropriate and precise information (particularly the details prescribed in Article 72(3), a) to e) on the planned merger to enable the shareholders to form a sound judgement on the effects of the plan on their investment and to be able to effectively exercise their rights as described in more detail under items (ii) and (iii). This information shall only be provided to shareholders following approval of the merger by the CSSF and at least thirty days prior to the final deadline for applying for Shares to be redeemed or paid out (or converted where applicable) free of charge.
    - (ii) The decision by the Board of Directors to merge shall be subject to approval by the General Meeting, which shall vote on the basis of a simple majority of the votes present or represented at the Meeting. In the case of a merger leading to the dissolution of the Company, the resolution of the General Meeting must be recorded by notarial deed and must also be supported by a majority of votes and have the quorum as stipulated for an amendment to the Articles of Association. Where the approval of the General Meeting is required, only the consent of the General Meeting of shareholders of the Sub-fund concerned is needed.
    - (iii) The Company's shareholders have the right to request that their Shares be resold or redeemed without any further costs other than those retained by the Company to cover its costs of dissolving the Company. This right shall take effect as of the date on which the shareholders in the merging UCITS and the shareholders in the receiving UCITS are informed of the planned merger in accordance with item (i) and expire five working days before the date on which the conversion ratio is calculated pursuant to item (vi).
    - (iv) The Board of Directors may, without any impact on the rights described in item (iii) and in deviation from the provisions of Article 11(2) and Article 28 paragraph (1), item b) of the Law of 2010, suspend the subscription, redemption or disbursement

of Shares for as long as such a suspension is justified in order to protect the shareholders.

- (v) The Company and the other UCITS must draw up a common merger plan that corresponds to the content requirements of Article 69 paragraph (1) of the Law of 2010.
- (vi) The merger plan must set out a date on which the merger will take effect and the date for the calculation of the ratio for the conversion of Shares in the merging UCITS for Shares in the receiving UCITS and, where applicable, for stipulating the relevant net holding for cash payments.
- (vii) The Fund's Custodian Bank must verify the details described in Article 69 paragraph (1), items a), f) and g) of the Law of 2010.
- (d) If the Company is the merging UCITS, the following special rules must be adhered to:
  - (i) The Company shall commission its auditor with the task of verifying the following details:
    - (A) the agreed criteria for the valuation of the assets and, where applicable, the liabilities at the time of calculating the conversion ratio pursuant to section 19.11(vi);
    - (B) where applicable, the cash payment per Share; and
    - (C) the method for calculation of the conversion ratio and the actual conversion ratio at the time of calculating the ratio pursuant to section 19.11(vi).
  - (ii) Upon request, the shareholders in the Company and the shareholders of the receiving UCITS, as well as the responsible supervisory authorities, shall be provided with a copy of the auditor's report free of charge.
- (e) If the Company is the receiving UCITS, the following special rules must be adhered to:
  - (i) Whilst adhering to the principle of risk diversification, the Company may for a period of six (6) months after the date on which the merger takes effect deviate from the provisions of Articles 43, 44, 45 and 46 of the Law of 2010.
  - (ii) The Company shall confirm to the Custodian Bank in writing that the transfer of the assets and, where applicable, liabilities of the merging UCITS has been concluded.
  - (iii) The Company shall take the requisite measures to ensure that details of the merger are published as required and that the CSSF and all other authorities concerned are duly informed.

## **21. AVAILABLE DOCUMENTS**

21.1 Copies of, inter alia, the documents specified below can be consulted on the Company's website, <u>www.mainfirst.com</u>, and/or may be inspected at the Company's registered office at 4, rue Thomas Edison, L-1445 Strassen, or at the registered office of the Central Administration Agent at the same address or at the Management Company's registered office at 16, rue Gabriel Lippmann, L-5365 Munsbach on any banking day during office hours:

the Articles of Association (available as a copy);

- the Custodian Bank Agreement, a description of the tasks and duties of the Custodian Bank and a list of functions outsourced to third parties, a description of the policy for avoidance of conflicts of interest;
- (ii) the agreement with the Central Administration Agent, Registrar and Transfer Agent, Luxembourg Paying Agent and Domiciliary Agent;
- (iii) the agreements with the Investment Managers of the respective Sub-funds;
- (iv) the annual and semi-annual reports (available as a copy);
- (v) the voting rights policy of the Company; and
- (vi) the Key Investor Information Document (KIID) for each Sub-fund and Share Class.

# **SPECIAL SECTION**

MainFirst – Euro Value Stars	72	
MainFirst – Top European Ideas Fund	80	
MainFirst – Germany Fund	90	
MainFirst – Emerging Markets Corporate Bond Fund Balanced	99	
MainFirst – Global Equities Fund	106	
MainFirst – Absolute Return Multi Asset	115	
MainFirst – Emerging Markets Credit Opportunities Fund	124	
MainFirst – Global Dividend Stars	134	
MainFirst – Global Equities Unconstrained Fund	144	
MainFirst – Total Return European Equity Fund	153	
MainFirst – Megatrends Asia	160	

This Special Section supplements the General Section with respect to the MainFirst Sub-funds and should only be read in combination with the General Section.

# **MAINFIRST – EURO VALUE STARS**

A Sub-fund of MainFirst, SICAV

## **SPECIAL SECTION I**

This Special Section supplements the General Section with respect to the **MainFirst – Euro Value Stars** (the **Financial Product Sub-fund**) and should only be read in combination with the General Section.

CLASSES	ISIN CODE	BASE CUR- RENCY	MINIMUM SUBSCRIP- TION AND MINIMUM HOLDING AMOUNT	INITIAL ISSUE PRICE	PERFORMANCE FEE
A Shares	LU0152754726	EUR	None	EUR 100	
A1 Shares	LU2115136751	USD		USD 100	
A2 shares	LU2115136835	CHF		CHF 100	
B shares	LU0279295249	EUR		EUR 100	
B1 shares	LU2115136918	USD		USD 100	
B2 shares	LU2115137056	CHF		CHF 100	
C shares	LU0152755707	EUR	EUR 500,000	EUR 100	15 %
C1 shares	LU2115137130	USD	F       CHF 500,000       CHF 100         R       EUR 500,000       EUR 100         D       USD 500,000       USD 100	USD 100	
C2 shares	LU2115137213	CHF			
D shares	LU0719478231	EUR			
D1 shares	LU2115137304	USD		USD 100	
D2 shares	LU2115137486	CHF		CHF 100	
R Shares*	LU1004823396	EUR	None	EUR 100	15 %

## 1. OVERVIEW

CLASSES	ISIN CODE	BASE CUR- RENCY	MINIMUM SUBSCRIP- TION AND MINIMUM HOLDING AMOUNT	INITIAL ISSUE PRICE	PERFORMANCE FEE
R1 Shares*	LU2115137569	USD		USD 100	
R2 Shares*	LU2115137643	CHF		CHF 100	
X Shares*	LU1004823479	EUR		EUR 100	
X1 Shares*	LU2115137999	USD		USD 100	
X2 Shares*	LU2115138021	CHF		CHF 100	
V Shares	LU1394739228	EUR		EUR 100	Nono
W Shares	LU2115137726	EUR	EUR 500,000	EUR 100	None

CLASSES	ISSUE SURCHARGE	FLAT-RATE FEE***	FRAC- TIONS	INVESTORS	DISTRIBUTION POLICY
A Shares		up to 2.00% of the net assets p.a.			
A1 Shares				Public transac- tions	Accumulating
A2 Shares			up to		
B Shares					
B1 Shares	up to 5% of the net asset value of		1/100th of a		Distributing**
B2 Shares	the share		Share		
C Shares	up to 1.40% of the net assets p.a.				
C1 Shares		up to 1.40% of the net assets p.a.		Institutional in- vestors	Accumulating
C2 Shares					
D Shares					Distributing**

CLASSES	ISSUE SURCHARGE	FLAT-RATE FEE***	FRAC- TIONS	INVESTORS	DISTRIBUTION POLICY		
D1 Shares	up to 1.40% of the	Institutional in-					
D2 Shares		net assets p.a.		vestors			
R Shares*							
R1 Shares*		-					Accumulating
R2 Shares*	up to 5% of the		up to 1/100th of a Share	Public transac- tions			
X Shares*	net asset value of the share						
X1 Shares*			Share		Distributing**		
X2 Shares*							
V Shares		up to 2.00% of the net assets p.a.		VAG investors			
W Shares				Institutional in- vestors	Accumulating		

\*R Shares and X Shares are sold exclusively through distributors who provide financial services within the framework of independent advice or discretionary portfolio management, and who do not receive or pass on any portfolio commissions for this service. Nevertheless, the Company or the Management Company reserves the right to accept subscriptions by investors in Classes R and X.

\*\*Distributions are made by resolution of the Board of Directors. The distribution data are published annually.

\*\*\*This overview is to be read in conjunction with the information on costs in the General Section (particularly section 12) and the Special Section (particularly section 7) on this Sub-fund. The flat-rate fee includes the remuneration for the Management Company, the Investment Manager, distribution, central administration and the Custodian Bank and amounts to at least EUR 20,000 p.a. per Sub-fund. All information on remuneration is exclusive of any applicable value added tax.

# 2. INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES AND INVESTMENT POLICY

- 1. The Sub-fund seeks to achieve long-term capital growth in line with a reasonable risk diversification by investing primarily in equities and other equity securities of companies worldwide.
- 2. The Sub-fund above is an equity fund.
- 3. The Sub-fund is actively managed. The composition of the portfolio is determined by the Investment Manager exclusively in accordance with the criteria defined in the investment objectives/policy, and is

regularly reviewed and adjusted if necessary. The performance of the Sub-fund is compared with the indices mentioned under point 8. The investment universe of the Sub-fund is not limited to the components of these indices. As a result, the performance of the Sub-fund may deviate significantly from the benchmark indices.

- 4. The investment focus is such that at least 75% of the Sub-fund's assets (excluding cash and cash equivalents) are invested in Shares and other equity-related securities of companies that are based in the eurozone, conduct most of their business in the eurozone or are holding companies, the majority of whose associated companies have their registered offices in a eurozone country. Depending on the actual situation, the investment focus may be on large-cap companies or also on small and mid-caps.
- 5. Up to 25% of the Sub-fund's assets may be invested in: Shares of companies all over the world that do not meet the requirements of the preceding paragraph as well as bonds, convertible bonds and warrant bonds, whose warrants are issued on securities of companies worldwide that are denominated in a freely convertible currency.
- 6. Notwithstanding the desired risk diversification, the Sub-fund's assets may temporarily be concentrated on certain countries and sectors.
- 7. In derogation of item 17.4(e) of the investment restrictions of the General Section of the Full Prospectus, the Sub-fund shall not acquire units in funds (UCITS and/or UCI), regardless of their legal form. The Sub-fund is therefore <u>target-fund eligible</u> within the meaning of Art. 41 (1) e) of the Law of 2010.
- 8. The Sub-fund may also hold increased amounts of liquid assets.
- 9. Taking into account the ESG strategy of the investment manager, ESG criteria, in particular sustainability risks, are considered as a component in the investment decision-making process for this Subfund. In this case, however, the fund management decides which components are to be used, taking into account the overall risk and return aspects and the exclusions.

The investment manager does not currently take into account any adverse effects of investment decisions on sustainability factors for this Sub-fund. In the market, the relevant data that must be used to determine and weight the adverse sustainability impacts are currently not available to a sufficient degree. By 30 December 2022 at the latest, the investment manager will provide information on whether and how the most important negative effects of investment decisions on sustainability factors are taken into account.

10. The ESG principles underlying the investment process are described in Section 3 "General Investment Objectives, Investment Policy and Risks" and on the Company's website <u>www.mainfirst.com</u>. The Subfund does not promote sustainable features or does not have the goal of sustainable investment within the meaning of Article 8 or Article 9 of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088. In accordance with the provisions of Article 7 of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 (EU taxonomy), the following is pointed out in this context:

The underlying investments in this financial product do not take into account the EU criteria for environmentally sustainable economic activities.

11. The Sub-fund will use securities financing transactions within the meaning of Regulation 2015/2365. In this context, reference is made to points 17.7 (t), 17.7 (u) (risk information) and 17.18 (b), 17.37 – 17.40 (general explanations and cost structure) of the General Section, which includes explanations of the cost structure and the specific risks associated with these transactions.

# 3. RISK PROFILE AND RISK MANAGEMENT PROCEDURE

## **Risk profile**

1. The Sub-fund is recommended for speculative investors who do not need the invested capital over the long term. Due to the composition of the net Sub-fund assets, there is a high overall risk, also accompanied by high income potential. The risks can consist, in particular, of currency, credit rating and price risks as well as risks that result from changes to the market interest rate.

## **Risk management**

- 2. The Sub-fund shall apply the relative Value-at-Risk (VaR) method on the benchmark **EUROSTOXX Net Return EUR** (SXXT Index) in order to determine the risk associated with its investments.
- 3. Any leverage of the Sub-fund's investments achieved through the use of derivative financial instruments is not expected to exceed 100% of the nominal value of these assets of the portfolio. However, this limit may be exceeded in individual cases. This limit is calculated from the total of all nominal values of the derivative financial instruments used by the Sub-fund.

# 4. BASE CURRENCY OF THE SUB-FUND

The base currency of the Sub-fund is EUR.

If the currency of a Share Class differs from the base currency of the Sub-fund, currency hedging is pursued for this Share Class by hedging the exchange rate risk. However, no assurance can be given for the success of this currency hedging and there may be incongruities between the currency position of the Sub-fund and the currency position of the hedged Share Class, particularly in the event of severe market distortions. Hedging strategies can be used both when the value of the base currency of the Sub-fund decreases and when it increases relative to the value of the currency of the hedged Share Class. This means that the use of these strategies can provide significant protection for the investor of the relevant Share Class against the risk of the depreciation of the base currency relative to the value of the currency of the hedged Share Class, but may also result in the investor not being able to benefit from an appreciation in the base currency.

# 5. ISSUE, REDEMPTION AND CONVERSION OF SHARES

The procedural rules stipulated in the General Section shall apply.

As an exception to the procedure under point 6.7, the following rules apply:

The redemption price corresponds to the net asset value per Share on the corresponding valuation day. Payment shall in principle be made in Luxembourg no later than three (3) banking days after the day on which the net asset value applicable to the redemption has been determined.

# 6. INVESTMENT MANAGER

The Company and the Management Company have appointed MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Deutschland) GmbH as Investment Manager for this Sub-fund.

# 7. COSTS

# Remuneration of the Management Company, the Central Administration, the Custodian Bank, the Investment Manager plus performance fee, and the Distributors

## Flat-rate fee

The Sub-fund is charged a flat-rate fee in the amount stated under Section 1 of this Sub-fund Annex. The flat-rate fee shall be paid to the Management Company. The Management Company pays the remuneration for the Investment Manager and the Distributors from this flat-rate fee. The flat-rate fee shall be calculated for the Sub-fund on a pro rata basis taking into account the daily net asset value of the Sub-fund and shall be payable monthly by the Sub-fund.

The total amount of remuneration for the Management Company, the Central Administration, the Custodian Bank, the Investment Manager and the Distributors shall be up to 2.00% p.a. of the net Subfund assets, depending on the Share Class, but at least EUR 20,000.00 p.a. per Sub-fund. This fee is subject to VAT.

The applicable rate of remuneration and the effective costs charged are stated in the annual and semiannual reports.

## Performance fee

The Investment Manager also receives, as an incentive, a performance fee of 15% of the net value increase per share of the Sub-fund resulting from the ordinary business activity of the Sub-fund. The performance fee is paid to the management company and calculated separately for the Sub-fund using the following formula:

In the following explanation, "gross share value" means the net asset value per share without the delimitation of the performance fee contained in this net asset value. In other words, to compare the performances, the net asset value per share is used, taking into account all costs, without the performance fee contained therein.

The performance fee amounts to 15% of the positive difference between the percentage change in the so-called gross share value of the respective Class and the Benchmark (see "8. SPECIFIC INFOR-MATION ON THE BENCHMARK"). The performance fee is calculated on the basis of the number of Shares currently in circulation in the respective Share Class. No performance fee is charged for Shares in the V and W Classes.

The daily return differential between the percentage change in the gross share value of the respective Class and the percentage-based performance of the benchmark is calculated as follows:

Return of the gross share value – return of the benchmark = return differential.

When calculating the performance fee, an additional mechanism is applied that includes that it can only be levied if the cumulative differential calculated using the above method has reached a new **high watermark** since the date of launching the Sub-fund. The reference period of the high watermark extends over the entire lifespan of the respective unit classes of the Sub-fund. The difference between the cumulative old (before withdrawal of the performance fee) and the new peak value is applied. The performance fee that is proportionally attributable and deferred to the share redemption at the time of an outperformance of the share class during the year is retained for these shares ("crystallisation") and paid to the investment manager at the end of the accounting period. The performance fee of the share class is calculated on each valuation day by comparing the percentage change in the share value plus the performance fee amount per share (gross share value) contained in the current share value and the percentage change in the benchmark based on the shares currently in circulation.

The deferred total amount changes on the valuation days on which the daily return differential exceeds the high watermark. On the valuation days on which the daily return differential falls below the high watermark, the total amount accrued in the respective share class is released. The performance fee amount already crystallised on share redemptions during the year is retained even in the event of future negative performance.

A disbursable performance fee will be withdrawn from the Sub-fund at the end of the financial year (accounting period; 1 January - 31 December of each year); corresponding provisions for the performance fee are made each time the net asset value of the Sub-fund is calculated. These provisions are included in the net asset value. A further performance fee is only applicable if and when, at the end of the financial year, the previous high watermark determined for the payment of the remuneration is exceeded.

The calculation period for the performance fee is the financial year. The basis for the initial calculation of the performance fee is the sum of the subscription amounts received in the initial subscription period. After the initial subscription period, the performance fee is determined by comparing the percentage change in the share value plus the performance amount per share (gross share value) contained in the current share value and the percentage change in the benchmark and the applicable return differential.

Should the Company or the Sub-fund be liquidated, the net asset value used is that applicable on the day on which the decision was made to dissolve the Company or the Sub-fund.

The performance fee is calculated for unit certificate classes that differ from the Sub-fund currency (e.g. Sub-fund currency EUR, class currency CHF) in such a way that the performance of the unit value and the benchmark development are determined in the Sub-fund currency. Exchange rate fluctuations therefore have no direct impact on the level of the performance fee in the Sub-fund currency.

### Calculation example:

### Calculation assumptions for end of accounting period 1:

Shares in circulation	1000
High watermark in EUR	100
Distribution per unit in EUR	1
Net unit value at the end of the accounting period in EUR	112
Complete accrued performance fee for previous day in EUR	300
Benchmark value at the beginning of the period	10,000
Benchmark value at the end of the period	11,000
Benchmark value indexed at the end of the period	
(based on high watermark in EUR)	110
Performance fee rate	15%

## Calculation for end of accounting period 1:

(EUR 112 + (EUR 300/1,000) + EUR 1 – EUR 110) x 1,000 x 15% = EUR 495

(Net unit value plus (already accrued performance fee) plus distribution minus indexed benchmark value) multiplied by circulating units multiplied by performance fee rate

At the end of accounting period 1, a performance fee of EUR 495 can be paid out, as the gross share value (net share value + already accrued performance fee) including distribution of EUR 113.30 exceeds the indexed benchmark of 110.

#### Calculation assumptions for end of accounting period 2:

Shares in circulation at start	1000
Shares in circulation at end	800
High watermark in EUR	112
Distribution per unit in EUR	0
Net unit value at the end of the accounting period in EUR	116.50
Complete accrued performance fee for previous day in EUR	0

Benchmark value at the beginning of the period	11,000
Benchmark value at the end of the period	11,500
Benchmark value indexed at the end of the period	
(based on high watermark) in EUR	117.09
Performance fee rate	15%

## Calculation of the crystallisation amount at the time of return

Assumption: Gross share value EUR 115, indexed benchmark EUR 114, redeemed shares 200

(EUR 115 – EUR 114) x 200 x 15% = EUR 30

(Gross share value minus indexed benchmark) multiplied by return multiplied by performance fee rate

An amount of EUR 30 can be crystallised at the time the share certificates are returned, as the gross share value exceeds the indexed benchmark. Regardless of the further performance of the share class, this amount is paid out at the end of the accounting period.

## Calculation for end of accounting period 2:

(EUR 116.50 + (EUR 0/800) + EUR 0 - EUR 117.09) x 800 x 15% < EUR 0 = no performance fee

(Net share value plus (already accrued performance fee) plus distribution minus indexed benchmark value) multiplied by circulating shares multiplied by performance fee rate

At the end of accounting period 2, no performance fee can be paid out, as the gross share value (net share value + already accrued performance fee) of EUR 116.50 does not exceed the indexed benchmark of EUR 117.09.

At the end of the accounting period, a performance fee is paid in the amount of the crystallisation amount of EUR 30. The performance payout only affects those shareholders who have sold during the year at a gross share price that was higher than the indexed benchmark value.

# 8. SPECIFIC INFORMATION ON THE BENCHMARK

The different Share Classes of the Sub-fund use the following benchmark, although an active investment approach is not limited to target investments included in a benchmark and the portfolio composition may differ significantly from the benchmark:

- Classes in the base currency EUR and CHF, the EURO STOXX Net Return EUR (SXXT Index),
- Classes in the base currency USD, the STOXX Europe 600 Net Return USD (SXXV Index).

STOXX Limited is approved as an administrator of these benchmarks by the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority ("BaFin") in accordance with Regulation (EU) 2016/1011.

The Management Company has established a different benchmark in a robust written plan if one of the benchmarks ceases to exist or changes significantly. The latest version of this robust written plan can be downloaded from <u>www.mainfirst.com</u> or obtained free of charge from the Management Company.

## 9. TERM OF THE SUB-FUND

The Sub-fund has been launched for an unspecified period of time

# MAINFIRST – TOP EUROPEAN IDEAS FUND

A Sub-fund of MainFirst, SICAV

# **SPECIAL SECTION II**

This Special Section supplements the General Section with respect to the **MainFirst – Top European** Ideas (the **Financial Product Sub-fund**) Sub-fund and should only be read in combination with the General Section.

# 1. OVERVIEW

CLASSES	ISIN CODE	BASE CUR- RENCY	MINIMUM SUB- SCRIPTION AND MINIMUM HOLDING AMOUNT	INITIAL ISSUE PRICE	PERFORMANCE FEE
A Shares	LU0308864023	EUR		EUR 100	
A1 Shares	LU2115128733	CHF		CHF 100	
A2 Shares	LU1006510173	GBP	- None -	GBP 100	
A3 Shares	LU1006510504	USD		USD 100	
B Shares	LU0308864296	EUR		EUR 100	
B1 Shares	LU2115128816	CHF		CHF 100	15 %
B2 Shares	LU1006510256	GBP		GBP 100	
B3 Shares	LU1006510686	USD		USD 100	
C Shares	LU0308864965	EUR	EUR 500,000	EUR 100	
C1 Shares	LU2115128907	CHF	CHF 500,000	CHF 100	
C2 Shares	LU1006510330	GBP	GBP 500,000	GBP 100	
C3 Shares	LU1006510769	USD	USD 500,000	USD 100	15 %

CLASSES	ISIN CODE	BASE CUR- RENCY	MINIMUM SUB- SCRIPTION AND MINIMUM HOLDING AMOUNT	INITIAL ISSUE PRICE	PERFORMANCE FEE
D Shares	LU0719477936	EUR	EUR 500,000	EUR 100	
D1 Shares	LU2115129038	CHF	CHF 500,000	CHF 100	
D2 Shares	LU1006510413	GBP	GBP 500,000	GBP 100	
D3 Shares	LU1006510843	USD	USD 500,000	USD 100	
R Shares*	LU1004823552	EUR		EUR 100	
R1 Shares*	LU2115129111	CHF		CHF 100	
R2 Shares*	LU1004826142	GBP		GBP 100	
R3 Shares*	LU1004826498	USD		USD 100	
X Shares*	LU1004823636	EUR	None	EUR 100	
X1 Shares*	LU2115129384	CHF		CHF 100	
X2 Shares*	LU1004826225	GBP		GBP 100	
X3 Shares*	LU1004826571	USD		USD 100	
V Shares	LU1394739491	EUR		EUR 100	
W Shares	LU2115129202	EUR	EUR 500,000	EUR 100	None

CLASSES	ISSUE SURCHARGE	FLAT-RATE FEE***	FRAC- TIONS	INVESTORS	DISTRIBUTION POLICY
A Shares					
A1 Shares					Accuration
A2 Shares					Accumulating
A3 Shares		up to 2.00% of Public transac-			
B Shares		the net assets p.a.		tions	
B1 Shares					Diatributina**
B2 Shares				Distributing**	
B3 Shares					
C Shares					
C1 Shares	up to 5% of the net asset value of the		up to		Accumulating
C2 Shares	share		1/100		Accumulating
C3 Shares		up to 1.40% of the net assets		Institutional inves-	
D Shares		p.a.		tors	
D1 Shares					
D2 Shares					Distributing**
D3 Shares					
R Shares*					
R1 Shares*		up to 1.20% of the net assets p.a.		Public transac- tions	Accumulating
R2 Shares*		p.a.			

CLASSES	ISSUE SURCHARGE	FLAT-RATE FEE***	FRAC- TIONS	INVESTORS	DISTRIBUTION POLICY	
R3 Shares*						
X Shares*						
X1 Shares*		up to 1.20% of the net assets p.a.		Difference		
X2 Shares*	up to 5% of the net				up to	Public transac- tions
X3 Shares*	asset value of the share		1/100			
V Shares		up to 2.00% of		VAG investors		
W Shares		the net assets p.a.		Institutional inves- tors	Accumulating	

\*R Shares and X Shares are sold exclusively through distributors who provide financial services within the framework of independent advice or discretionary portfolio management, and who do not receive or pass on any portfolio commissions for this service. Nevertheless, the Company or the Management Company reserves the right to accept subscriptions by investors in Classes R and X.

\*\*Distributions are made by resolution of the Board of Directors. The distribution data are published annually.

\*\*\*This overview is to be read in conjunction with the information on costs in the General Section (particularly section 12) and the Special Section (particularly section 7) on this Sub-fund. The flat-rate fee includes the remuneration for the Management Company, the Investment Manager, distribution, central administration and the Custodian Bank and amounts to at least EUR 20,000 p.a. per Sub-fund. All information on remuneration is exclusive of any applicable value added tax.

# 2. INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES AND INVESTMENT POLICY

- The Sub-fund's investment target is to outperform the Benchmark (see "8. SPECIFIC INFORMATION ON THE BENCHMARK"). These investments in equities and other participation securities are made globally, although the investment focus lies on European companies. Additionally, occasional investments may be made in emerging markets on the basis of an opportunistic approach. Depending on the actual situation, the investment focus may be on large-cap companies or also on small and midcaps.
- 2. The Sub-fund above is an equity fund.
- 3. The Sub-fund is actively managed. The composition of the portfolio is determined by the Investment Manager exclusively in accordance with the criteria defined in the investment objectives/policy, and is regularly reviewed and adjusted if necessary. The performance of the Sub-fund is compared with the

indices mentioned under point 8. The investment universe of the Sub-fund is not limited to the components of these indices. As a result, the performance of the Sub-fund may deviate significantly from the benchmark indices.

- 4. The investment focus is such that at least 75% of the Sub-fund's assets (excluding cash and cash equivalents) is invested in Shares and other equity-related securities of companies that are based in an EU member state, conduct most of their business in an EU member state or are holding companies, the majority of whose associated companies have their registered offices in an EU member state.
- 5. Up to 25% of the Sub-fund's assets may be invested in: Shares of companies all over the world that do not meet the requirements of the preceding paragraph as well as bonds, convertible bonds and warrant bonds, whose warrants are issued on securities of companies worldwide that are denominated in a freely convertible currency. Notwithstanding the desired risk diversification, the Sub-fund's assets may temporarily be concentrated on certain countries and sectors.
- In derogation of item 17.4(e) of the investment restrictions of the General Section of the Full Prospectus, the Sub-fund shall not acquire units in funds (UCITS and/or UCI), regardless of their legal form. The Sub-fund is therefore <u>target-fund eligible</u> within the meaning of Art. 41 (1) e) of the Law of 2010.
- 7. The Sub-fund may also hold increased amounts of liquid assets.
- 8. In compliance with the ESG strategy of the Investment Manager, ESG criteria, in particular sustainability risks, are taken into account in the investment decision-making process for this Sub-fund. To the extent that the Sub-fund invests in corporate securities, only such securities may be acquired that apply good corporate governance practices and do not fall under the general exclusion criteria. Article 8 of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 and Article 6 of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 (EU taxonomy) apply to this Sub-fund.

MainFirst Holding AG, to which the Investment Manager belongs, is a signatory to the UN PRI (United Nations-supported Principles for Responsible Investment).

The investment universe undergoes a systematic selection process. This selection process also takes into account ESG aspects based on our own analyses and with the help of external research services.

In addition, the fund management makes use of external research from one or more sustainability rating agencies. Their results are taken into account as one component in the Investment Manager's investment decision-making process.

The sustainability strategy of the Sub-fund aims to contribute to an improvement of the sustainability profile of selected portfolio companies through active dialogue and engagement activities.

For the assessment of the suitability of investments for the Fund's assets, the individual ESG criteria are also taken into account in addition to the traditional parameters for risk and return expectations.

Detailed information on the Management Company's responsible investment principles and the list of sustainability rating agencies used can be found at www.mainfirst.com.

The ESG principles underlying the investment process are described in Section 3 "GENERAL IN-VESTMENT OBJECTIVES, INVESTMENT POLICY AND RISKS" and on the Company's website <u>www.mainfirst.com</u>. In accordance with the provisions of Article 6 of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 (EU taxonomy), the following is pointed out in this context: The principle of "avoidance of significant impairments" within the meaning of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 only applies to those investments on which the financial product is based that take into account the EU criteria for ecologically sustainable economic activities.

The investments underlying the remaining part of the financial product do not take into account the EU criteria for environmentally sustainable economic activities.

The Investment Manager takes into account the adverse sustainability impact for this Sub-fund as defined in Article 7(1) of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 November 2019. To this end, the Investment Manager systematically integrates the main adverse impacts of investment decisions on sustainability factors into their ESG investment process. Different sustainability aspects are weighted in the sustainability assessment of investments depending on their relevance for the respective business model. The ability to systematically take into account the most important adverse sustainability impacts depends largely on the quality of the available data. Further details are available on the website of MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Deutschland) GmbH (www.mainfirst.com). Information on the adverse effects on sustainability factors is provided in the annual report.

9. The Sub-fund will use securities financing transactions within the meaning of Regulation 2015/2365. In this context, reference is made to points 17.7 (t), 17.7 (u) (risk information) and 17.18 (b), 17.37 – 17.40 (general explanations and cost structure) of the General Section, which includes explanations of the cost structure and the specific risks associated with these transactions.

# 3. RISK PROFILE AND RISK MANAGEMENT PROCEDURE

## **Risk profile**

1. The Sub-fund is recommended for speculative investors who do not need the invested capital over the long term. Due to the composition of the net Sub-fund assets, there is a high overall risk, also accompanied by high income potential. The risks can consist, in particular, of currency, credit rating and price risks as well as risks that result from changes to the market interest rate.

## **Risk management**

- The Sub-fund shall apply the relative Value-at-Risk (VaR) method on the benchmark STOXX EU-ROPE 600 (Net Return) EUR (SXXR INDEX) in order to determine the risk associated with its investments.
- 3. Any leverage of the Sub-fund's investments achieved through the use of derivative financial instruments is not expected to exceed 100% of the nominal value of these assets of the portfolio. However, this limit may be exceeded in individual cases. This limit is calculated from the total of all nominal values of the derivative financial instruments used by the Sub-fund.

# 4. BASE CURRENCY OF THE SUB-FUND

The base currency of the Sub-fund is EUR.

If the currency of a Share Class differs from the base currency of the Sub-fund, currency hedging is pursued for this Share Class by hedging the exchange rate risk. However, no assurance can be given for the success of this currency hedging and there may be incongruities between the currency position

of the Sub-fund and the currency position of the hedged Share Class, particularly in the event of severe market distortions. Hedging strategies can be used both when the value of the base currency of the Sub-fund decreases and when it increases relative to the value of the currency of the hedged Share Class. This means that the use of these strategies can provide significant protection for the investor of the relevant Share Class against the risk of the depreciation of the base currency relative to the value of the currency of the hedged Share Class, but may also result in the investor not being able to benefit from an appreciation in the base currency.

# 5. ISSUE, REDEMPTION AND CONVERSION OF SHARES

The procedural rules stipulated in the General Section shall apply.

As an exception to the procedure under point 6.7, the following rules apply:

The redemption price corresponds to the net asset value per Share on the corresponding valuation day. Payment shall in principle be made in Luxembourg no later than three (3) banking days after the day on which the net asset value applicable to the redemption has been determined.

# 6. INVESTMENT MANAGER

The Company and the Management Company have appointed MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Deutschland) GmbH as Investment Manager for this Sub-fund.

# 7. COSTS

Remuneration of the Management Company, the Central Administration, the Custodian Bank, the Investment Manager plus performance fee, and the Distributors

## Flat-rate fee

The Sub-fund is charged a flat-rate fee in the amount stated under Section 1 of this Sub-fund Annex. The flat-rate fee shall be paid to the Management Company. The Management Company pays the remuneration for the Investment Manager and the Distributors from this flat-rate fee. The flat-rate fee shall be calculated for the Sub-fund on a pro rata basis taking into account the daily net asset value of the Sub-fund and shall be payable monthly by the Sub-fund.

The total amount of remuneration for the Management Company, the Central Administration, the Custodian Bank, the Investment Manager and the Distributors shall be up to 2.00% p.a. of the net Sub-fund assets, depending on the Share Class, but at least EUR 20,000.00 p.a. per Sub-fund. This fee is subject to VAT.

The applicable rate of remuneration and the effective costs charged are stated in the annual and semiannual reports

## Performance fee

The Investment Manager also receives, as an incentive, a performance fee of 15% of the net value increase per share of the Sub-fund resulting from the ordinary business activity of the Sub-fund. The

performance fee is paid to the management company and calculated separately for the Sub-fund using the following formula:

In the following explanation, "gross share value" means the net asset value per share without the delimitation of the performance fee contained in this net asset value. In other words, to compare the performances, the net asset value per share is used, taking into account all costs, without the performance fee contained therein.

The performance fee amounts to 15% of the positive difference between the percentage change in the so-called gross share value of the respective Class and the Benchmark (see "8. SPECIFIC INFOR-MATION ON THE BENCHMARK"). The performance fee is calculated on the basis of the number of Shares currently in circulation in the respective Share Class. No performance fee is charged for Shares in the V and W Classes.

The daily return differential between the percentage change in the gross share value of the respective Class and the percentage-based performance of the benchmark is calculated as follows:

Return of the gross share value – return of the benchmark = return differential.

When calculating the performance fee, an additional mechanism is applied that includes that it can only be levied if the cumulative differential calculated using the above method has reached a new high watermark since the date of launching the Sub-fund. The reference period of the high watermark extends over the entire lifespan of the respective unit classes of the Sub-fund. The difference between the cumulative old (before withdrawal of the performance fee) and the new peak value is applied. The performance fee that is proportionally attributable and deferred to the share redemption at the time of an outperformance of the share class during the year is retained for these shares ("crystallisation") and paid to the investment manager at the end of the accounting period. The performance fee of the respective share class is calculated on each valuation day by comparing the percentage change in the share value plus the performance fee amount per share (gross share value) contained in the current share value and the percentage change in the benchmark based on the shares currently in circulation. The deferred total amount changes on the valuation days on which the daily return differential exceeds the high watermark. On the valuation days on which the daily return differential falls below the high watermark, the total amount accrued in the respective share class is released. The performance fee amount already crystallised on share redemptions during the year is retained even in the event of future negative performance.

A disbursable performance fee will be withdrawn from the Sub-fund at the end of the financial year (accounting period; 1 January - 31 December of each year); corresponding provisions for the performance fee are made each time the net asset value of the Sub-fund is calculated. These provisions are included in the net asset value. A further performance fee is only applicable if and when, at the end of the financial year, the previous high watermark determined for the payment of the remuneration is exceeded.

The calculation period for the performance fee is the financial year. The basis for the initial calculation of the performance fee is the sum of the subscription amounts received in the initial subscription period. After the initial subscription period, the performance fee is determined by comparing the percentage change in the share value plus the performance amount per share (gross share value) contained in the current share value and the percentage change in the benchmark and the applicable return differential.

Should the Company or the Sub-fund be liquidated, the net asset value used is that applicable on the day on which the decision was made to dissolve the Company or the Sub-fund.

The performance fee is calculated for unit certificate classes that differ from the Sub-fund currency (e.g. Sub-fund currency EUR, class currency CHF) in such a way that the performance of the unit value and the benchmark development are determined in the Sub-fund currency. Exchange rate fluctuations therefore have no direct impact on the level of the performance fee in the Sub-fund currency.

## Calculation example:

## Calculation assumptions for end of accounting period 1:

Shares in circulation High watermark in EUR Distribution per unit in EUR Net unit value at the end of the accounting period in EUR Complete accrued performance fee for previous day in EUR Benchmark value at the beginning of the period Benchmark value at the end of the period Benchmark value indexed at the end of the period (based on high watermark in EUR)	1000 100 1 112 300 10,000 11,000 110
(based on high watermark in EUR) Performance fee rate	110 15%

## Calculation for end of accounting period 1:

## (EUR 112 + (EUR 300/1,000) + EUR 1 – EUR 110) x 1,000 x 15% = EUR 495

(Net unit value plus (already accrued performance fee) plus distribution minus indexed benchmark value) multiplied by circulating units multiplied by performance fee rate

At the end of accounting period 1, a performance fee of EUR 495 can be paid out, as the gross share value (net share value + already accrued performance fee) including distribution of EUR 113.30 exceeds the indexed benchmark of 110.

## Calculation assumptions for end of accounting period 2:

Shares in circulation at start Shares in circulation at end High watermark in EUR Distribution per unit in EUR Net unit value at the end of the accounting period in EUR Complete accrued performance fee for previous day in EUR Benchmark value at the beginning of the period Benchmark value at the end of the period	1000 800 112 0 116.50 0 11,000 11,500
Benchmark value indexed at the end of the period (based on high watermark) in EUR	117.09
Performance fee rate	15%

## Calculation of the crystallisation amount at the time of return

Assumption: Gross share value EUR 115, indexed benchmark EUR 114, redeemed shares 200

(EUR 115 – EUR 114) x 200 x 15% = EUR 30

(Gross share value minus indexed benchmark) multiplied by return multiplied by performance fee rate

An amount of EUR 30 can be crystallised at the time the share certificates are returned, as the gross share value exceeds the indexed benchmark. Regardless of the further performance of the share class, this amount is paid out at the end of the accounting period.

## Calculation for end of accounting period 2:

(EUR 116.50 + (EUR 0/800) + EUR 0 - EUR 117.09) x 800 x 15% < EUR 0 = no performance fee

(Net share value plus (already accrued performance fee) plus distribution minus indexed benchmark value) multiplied by circulating shares multiplied by performance fee rate

At the end of accounting period 2, no performance fee can be paid out, as the gross share value (net share value + already accrued performance fee) of EUR 116.50 does not exceed the indexed benchmark of EUR 117.09.

At the end of the accounting period, a performance fee is paid in the amount of the crystallisation amount of EUR 30. The performance payout only affects those shareholders who have sold during the year at a gross share price that was higher than the indexed benchmark value.

# 8. SPECIFIC INFORMATION ON THE BENCHMARK

The different Share Classes of the Sub-fund use the following benchmark, although an active investment approach is not limited to target investments included in a benchmark and the portfolio composition may differ significantly from the benchmark:

- Classes in the base currency EUR and CHF, the STOXX EUROPE 600 (Net Return) EUR (SXXR Index),
- Classes in the base currency USD, the STOXX Europe 600 Hedged USD Net Total Return (SXXHUN Index),
- Classes in the base currency GBP, the STOXX Europe 600 Hedged GBP Net Total Return (SXXHGN Index).

STOXX Limited, Zurich, Switzerland, is the administrator of these benchmarks. STOXX Limited is admitted as an administrator with the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority ("BaFin") within the meaning of Regulation (EU) 2016/1011.

The Management Company has established a different benchmark in a robust written plan if one of the benchmarks ceases to exist or changes significantly. The latest version of this robust written plan can be downloaded from <u>www.mainfirst.com</u> or obtained free of charge from the Management Company.

# 9. TERM OF THE SUB-FUND

The Sub-fund has been launched for an unspecified period of time

# **MAINFIRST – GERMANY FUND**

A Sub-fund of MainFirst, SICAV

# **SPECIAL SECTION III**

This Special Section supplements the General Section with respect to the **MainFirst – Germany Fund** (the **Financial Product Sub-fund**) Sub-fund and should only be read in combination with the General Section.

# 1. OVERVIEW

CLASSES	ISIN CODE	BASE CUR- RENCY	MINIMUM SUB- SCRIPTION AND MINIMUM HOLDING AMOUNT	INITIAL ISSUE PRICE	PERFORMANCE FEE
A Shares	LU0390221256	EUR		EUR 100	
A1 Shares	LU2115129467	USD		USD 100	
A2 Shares	LU2115129541	CHF	Nees	CHF 100	
B Shares	LU0390221686	EUR	None	EUR 100	
B1 Shares	LU2115129624	USD		USD 100	
B2 Shares	LU2115129897	CHF		CHF 100	
C Shares	LU0390221926	EUR	EUR 500,000	EUR 100	15 %
C1 Shares	LU2115129970	USD	USD 500,000	USD 100	
C2 Shares	LU2115130044	CHF	CHF 500,000	CHF 100	
D Shares	LU0719478157	EUR	EUR 500,000	EUR 100	
D1 Shares	LU2115130127	USD	USD 500,000	USD 100	
D2 Shares	LU2115130390	CHF	CHF 500,000	CHF 100	
R Shares*	LU1004823719	EUR	None	EUR 100	
R1 Shares*	LU2115130473	USD	None	USD 100	15 %

CLASSES	ISIN CODE	BASE CUR- RENCY	MINIMUM SUB- SCRIPTION AND MINIMUM HOLDING AMOUNT	INITIAL ISSUE PRICE	PERFORMANCE FEE
R2 Shares*	LU2115130630	CHF		CHF 100	
X Shares*	LU1004823800	EUR		EUR 100	
X1 Shares*	LU2115130804	USD		USD 100	
X2 Shares	LU2115130986	CHF		CHF 100	
V Shares	LU1394739574	EUR		EUR 100	Nana
W Shares	LU2115130713	EUR	EUR 500,000	EUR 100	None

CLASSES	ISSUE SURCHARGE	FLAT-RATE FEE***	FRAC- TIONS	INVESTORS	DISTRIBUTION POLICY			
A Shares								
A1 Shares					Accumulating			
A2 Shares		up to 2.00% of		Public transac-				
B Shares		the net assets p.a.	p.a. up 1/10	tions	tions			
B1 Shares	up to 5% of the net			up to 1/100th		Distributing**		
B2 Shares	asset value of the share			of a Share				
C Shares								
C1 Shares		up to 1.40% of					Institutional in-	Accumulating
C2 Shares		the net assets p.a.		vestors				
D Shares					Distributing**			
D1 Shares	up to 5% of the net asset value of the	up to 1.40% of	up to	Institutional in-	Diatributina**			
D2 Shares	share	the net assets p.a.	1/100th	vestors	Distributing**			

CLASSES	ISSUE SURCHARGE	FLAT-RATE FEE***	FRAC- TIONS	INVESTORS	DISTRIBUTION POLICY	
R Shares*			of a Share			
R1 Shares*					Accumulating	
R2 Shares*		up to 1.20% of	-		Public transac-	
X Shares*		the net assets p.a.		tions		
X1 Shares*					Distributing**	
X2 Shares						
V Shares		up to 2.00% of		VAG investors		
W Shares		the net assets p.a.		Institutional in- vestors	Accumulating	

\*R Shares and X Shares are sold exclusively through distributors who provide financial services within the framework of independent advice or discretionary portfolio management, and who do not receive or pass on any portfolio commissions for this service. Never-theless, the Company or the Management Company reserves the right to accept subscriptions by investors in Classes R and X.

\*\*Distributions are made by resolution of the Board of Directors. The distribution data are published annually.

\*\*\*This overview is to be read in conjunction with the information on costs in the General Section (particularly section 12) and the Special Section (particularly section 7) on this Sub-fund. The flat-rate fee includes the remuneration for the Management Company, the Investment Manager, distribution, central administration and the Custodian Bank and amounts to at least EUR 20,000 p.a. per Sub-fund. All information on remuneration is exclusive of any applicable value added tax.

# 2. INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES AND INVESTMENT POLICY

- The Sub-fund seeks to achieve long-term capital growth in line with a reasonable risk diversification by investing the Sub-fund's assets primarily in Shares and other equity-related securities with the focus on Germany, where at least two thirds of the Sub-fund's Assets are invested. Depending on the actual situation, the investment focus may be on large-cap companies or also on small and mid-caps.
- 2. The Sub-fund above is an equity fund.
- 3. The Sub-fund is actively managed. The composition of the portfolio is determined by the Investment Manager exclusively in accordance with the criteria defined in the investment objectives/policy, and is regularly reviewed and adjusted if necessary. The performance of the Sub-fund is compared with the indices mentioned under point 8. The investment universe of the Sub-fund is not limited to the components of these indices. As a result, the performance of the Sub-fund may deviate significantly from the benchmark indices.
- 4. The investment focus is such that at least 75% of the Sub-fund's assets (excluding cash and cash equivalents) is invested in Shares and other equity-related securities of companies that are based in

an EU member state, conduct most of their business in an EU member state or are holding companies whose associated companies predominantly have their registered offices in an EU member state.

- 5. Up to 25% of the Sub-fund's assets may be invested in: Shares of companies all over the world that do not meet the requirements of the preceding paragraph as well as bonds, convertible bonds and warrant bonds, whose warrants are issued on securities of companies worldwide that are denominated in a freely convertible currency. Notwithstanding the targeted risk diversification, the Sub-fund's assets may temporarily be concentrated on certain countries and sectors.
- In derogation of item 17.4(e) of the investment restrictions of the General Section of the Full Prospectus, the Sub-fund shall not acquire units in funds (UCITS and/or UCI), regardless of their legal form. The Sub-fund is therefore <u>target-fund eligible</u> within the meaning of Art. 41 (1) e) of the Law of 2010.
- 7. The Sub-fund may also hold increased amounts of liquid assets.
- 8. In compliance with the ESG strategy of the Investment Manager, ESG criteria, in particular sustainability risks, are taken into account in the investment decision-making process for this Sub-fund. To the extent that the Sub-fund invests in corporate securities, only such securities may be acquired that apply good corporate governance practices and do not fall under the general exclusion criteria. Article 8 of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 and Article 6 of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 (EU taxonomy) apply to this Sub-fund.

MainFirst Holding AG, to which the Investment Manager belongs, is a signatory to the UN PRI (United Nations-supported Principles for Responsible Investment).

The investment universe undergoes a systematic selection process. This selection process also takes into account ESG aspects based on our own analyses and with the help of external research services.

In addition, the fund management makes use of external research from one or more sustainability rating agencies. Their results are taken into account as one component in the Investment Manager's investment decision-making process.

The sustainability strategy of the Sub-fund aims to contribute to an improvement of the sustainability profile of selected portfolio companies through active dialogue and engagement activities.

For the assessment of the suitability of investments for the Fund's assets, the individual ESG criteria are also taken into account in addition to the traditional parameters for risk and return expectations.

Detailed information on the Management Company's responsible investment principles and the list of sustainability rating agencies used can be found at www.mainfirst.com.

The ESG principles underlying the investment process are described in Section 3 "GENERAL IN-VESTMENT OBJECTIVES, INVESTMENT POLICY AND RISKS" and on the Company's website <u>www.mainfirst.com</u>. In accordance with the provisions of Article 6 of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 (EU taxonomy), the following is pointed out in this context:

The principle of "avoidance of significant impairments" within the meaning of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 only applies to those investments on which the financial product is based that take into account the EU criteria for ecologically sustainable economic activities.

The investments underlying the remaining part of the financial product do not take into account the EU criteria for environmentally sustainable economic activities.

The Investment Manager takes into account the adverse sustainability impact for this Sub-fund as defined in Article 7(1) of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 November 2019. To this end, the Investment Manager systematically integrates the main adverse

impacts of investment decisions on sustainability factors into their ESG investment process. Different sustainability aspects are weighted in the sustainability assessment of investments depending on their relevance for the respective business model. The ability to systematically take into account the most important adverse sustainability impacts depends largely on the quality of the available data. Further details are available on the website of MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Deutschland) GmbH (www.mainfirst.com). Information on the adverse effects on sustainability factors is provided in the annual report.

9. The Sub-fund will use securities financing transactions within the meaning of Regulation 2015/2365. In this context, reference is made to points 17.7 (t), 17.7 (u) (risk information) and 17.18 (b), 17.37 – 17.40 (general explanations and cost structure) of the General Section, which includes explanations of the cost structure and the specific risks associated with these transactions.

# 3. RISK PROFILE AND RISK MANAGEMENT PROCEDURE

## **Risk profile**

1. The Sub-fund is suitable for growth-oriented investors. Due to the composition of the net Sub-fund assets, there is a high overall risk, also accompanied by high income potential. The risks can consist, in particular, of currency, credit rating and price risks as well as risks that result from changes to the market interest rate.

## **Risk management**

2. The Sub-fund shall use the commitment approach to calculate its total risk exposure. In this way, the Company shall ensure that the total risk associated with derivatives does not exceed the total net asset value of the Sub-fund portfolio. This results in a possible total exposure of the Sub-fund in the amount of up to 200% of its net assets.

# 4. BASE CURRENCY OF THE SUB-FUND

The base currency of the Sub-fund is EUR.

If the currency of a Share Class differs from the base currency of the Sub-fund, currency hedging is pursued for this Share Class by hedging the exchange rate risk. However, no assurance can be given for the success of this currency hedging and there may be incongruities between the currency position of the Sub-fund and the currency position of the hedged Share Class, particularly in the event of severe market distortions. Hedging strategies can be used both when the value of the base currency of the Sub-fund decreases and when it increases relative to the value of the currency of the hedged Share Class. This means that the use of these strategies can provide significant protection for the investor of the relevant Share Class against the risk of the depreciation of the base currency relative to the value of the currency of the hedged Share Class, but may also result in the investor not being able to benefit from an appreciation in the base currency.

# 5. ISSUE, REDEMPTION AND CONVERSION OF SHARES

The procedural rules stipulated in the General Section shall apply.

As an exception to the procedure under point 6.7, the following rules apply:

The redemption price corresponds to the net asset value per Share on the corresponding valuation day. Payment shall in principle be made in Luxembourg no later than three (3) banking days after the day on which the net asset value applicable to the redemption has been determined.

# 6. INVESTMENT MANAGER

The Company and the Management Company have appointed MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Deutschland) GmbH as Investment Manager for this Sub-fund.

# 7. COSTS

Remuneration of the Management Company, the Central Administration, the Custodian Bank, the Investment Manager plus performance fee, and the Distributors

## Flat-rate fee

The Sub-fund is charged a flat-rate fee in the amount stated under Section 1 of this Sub-fund Annex. The flat-rate fee shall be paid to the Management Company. The Management Company pays the remuneration for the Investment Manager and the Distributors from this flat-rate fee. The flat-rate fee shall be calculated for the Sub-fund on a pro rata basis taking into account the daily net asset value of the Sub-fund and shall be payable monthly by the Sub-fund.

The total amount of remuneration for the Management Company, the Central Administration, the Custodian Bank, the Investment Manager and the Distributors shall be up to 2.00% p.a. of the net Subfund assets, depending on the Share Class, but at least EUR 20,000.00 p.a. per Sub-fund. This fee is subject to VAT.

The applicable rate of remuneration and the effective costs charged are stated in the annual and semiannual reports.

## Performance fee

The Investment Manager also receives, as an incentive, a performance fee of 15% of the net value increase per share of the Sub-fund resulting from the ordinary business activity of the Sub-fund. The performance fee is paid to the management company and calculated separately for the Sub-fund using the following formula:

In the following explanation, "gross share value" means the net asset value per share without the delimitation of the performance fee contained in this net asset value. In other words, to compare the performances, the net asset value per share is used, taking into account all costs, without the performance fee contained therein.

The performance fee amounts to 15% of the positive difference between the percentage change in the so-called gross share value of the respective Class and the Benchmark (see "8. SPECIFIC INFOR-MATION ON THE BENCHMARK"). The performance fee is calculated on the basis of the number of Shares currently in circulation in the respective Share Class. No performance fee is charged for Shares in the V and W Classes.

The daily return differential between the percentage change in the gross share value of the respective Class and the percentage-based performance of the benchmark is calculated as follows:

Return of the gross share value – return of the benchmark = return differential.

When calculating the performance fee, an additional mechanism is applied that includes that it can only be levied if the cumulative differential calculated using the above method has reached a new high watermark since the date of launching the Sub-fund. The reference period of the high watermark extends over the entire lifespan of the respective unit classes of the Sub-fund. The difference between the cumulative old (before withdrawal of the performance fee) and the new peak value is applied. The performance fee that is proportionally attributable and deferred to the share redemption at the time of an outperformance of the share class during the year is retained for these shares ("crystallisation") and paid to the investment manager at the end of the accounting period. The performance fee of the respective share class is calculated on each valuation day by comparing the percentage change in the share value plus the performance fee amount per share (gross share value) contained in the current share value and the percentage change in the benchmark based on the shares currently in circulation. The deferred total amount changes on the valuation days on which the daily return differential exceeds the high watermark. On the valuation days on which the daily return differential falls below the high watermark, the total amount accrued in the respective share class is released. The performance fee amount already crystallised on share redemptions during the year is retained even in the event of future negative performance.

A disbursable performance fee will be withdrawn from the Sub-fund at the end of the financial year (accounting period; 1 January - 31 December of each year); corresponding provisions for the performance fee are made each time the net asset value of the Sub-fund is calculated. These provisions are included in the net asset value. A further performance fee is only applicable if and when, at the end of the financial year, the previous high watermark determined for the payment of the remuneration is exceeded.

The calculation period for the performance fee is the financial year. The basis for the initial calculation of the performance fee is the sum of the subscription amounts received in the initial subscription period. After the initial subscription period, the performance fee is determined by comparing the percentage change in the share value plus the performance amount per share (gross share value) contained in the current share value and the percentage change in the benchmark and the applicable return differential.

Should the Company or the Sub-fund be liquidated, the net asset value used is that applicable on the day on which the decision was made to dissolve the Company or the Sub-fund.

The performance fee is calculated for unit certificate classes that differ from the Sub-fund currency (e.g. Sub-fund currency EUR, class currency CHF) in such a way that the performance of the unit value and the benchmark development are determined in the Sub-fund currency. Exchange rate fluc-tuations therefore have no direct impact on the level of the performance fee in the Sub-fund currency.

## Calculation example:

Calculation assumptions for end of accounting period 1:

Shares in circulation	1000
High watermark in EUR	100
Distribution per unit in EUR	1
Net unit value at the end of the accounting period in EUR	112
Complete accrued performance fee for previous day in EUR	300
Benchmark value at the beginning of the period	10,000

Benchmark value at the end of the period	11,000
Benchmark value indexed at the end of the period	
(based on high watermark in EUR)	110
Performance fee rate	15%

## Calculation for end of accounting period 1:

(EUR 112 + (EUR 300/1,000) + EUR 1 – EUR 110) x 1,000 x 15% = EUR 495

(Net unit value plus (already accrued performance fee) plus distribution minus indexed benchmark value) multiplied by circulating units multiplied by performance fee rate

At the end of accounting period 1, a performance fee of EUR 495 can be paid out, as the gross share value (net share value + already accrued performance fee) including distribution of EUR 113.30 exceeds the indexed benchmark of 110.

### Calculation assumptions for end of accounting period 2:

Shares in circulation at start	1000
Shares in circulation at end	800
High watermark in EUR	112
Distribution per unit in EUR	0
Net unit value at the end of the accounting period in EUR	116.50
Complete accrued performance fee for previous day in EUR	0
Benchmark value at the beginning of the period	11,000
Benchmark value at the end of the period	11,500
Benchmark value indexed at the end of the period	
(based on high watermark) in EUR	117.09
Performance fee rate	15%

### Calculation of the crystallisation amount at the time of return

Assumption: Gross share value EUR 115, indexed benchmark EUR 114, redeemed shares 200

(EUR 115 - EUR 114) x 200 x 15% = EUR 30

(Gross share value minus indexed benchmark) multiplied by return multiplied by performance fee rate

An amount of EUR 30 can be crystallised at the time the share certificates are returned, as the gross share value exceeds the indexed benchmark. Regardless of the further performance of the share class, this amount is paid out at the end of the accounting period.

## Calculation for end of accounting period 2:

(EUR 116.50 + (EUR 0/800) + EUR 0 - EUR 117.09) x 800 x 15% < EUR 0 = no performance fee

(Net share value plus (already accrued performance fee) plus distribution minus indexed benchmark value) multiplied by circulating shares multiplied by performance fee rate

At the end of accounting period 2, no performance fee can be paid out, as the gross share value (net share value + already accrued performance fee) of EUR 116.50 does not exceed the indexed benchmark of EUR 117.09.

At the end of the accounting period, a performance fee is paid in the amount of the crystallisation amount of EUR 30. The performance payout only affects those shareholders who have sold during the year at a gross share price that was higher than the indexed benchmark value.

# 8. SPECIFIC INFORMATION ON THE BENCHMARK

The Share Classes of the Sub-fund use the following benchmark, although an active investment approach is not limited to target investments included in a benchmark and the portfolio composition may differ significantly from the benchmark:

## - Deutsche Börse AG HDAX (HDAX Index).

The owner of these benchmarks is Deutsche Börse AG Frankfurt, Germany, which has outsourced the administration to STOXX Limited, Zurich, Switzerland. STOXX Limited is admitted as an administrator with the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority ("BaFin") within the meaning of Regulation (EU) 2016/1011.

The Management Company has established a different benchmark in a robust written plan if the benchmark ceases to exist or changes significantly. The latest version of this robust written plan can be downloaded from <u>www.mainfirst.com</u> or obtained free of charge from the Management Company.

# 9. TERM OF THE SUB-FUND

The Sub-fund has been launched for an unspecified period of time

# MAINFIRST – EMERGING MARKETS CORPORATE BOND FUND BALANCED

A Sub-fund of MainFirst, SICAV

# **SPECIAL SECTION IV**

This Special Section supplements the General Section with respect to the **MainFirst – Emerging Markets Corporate Bond Fund Balanced** (the **Financial Product Sub-fund**) Sub-fund and should only be read in combination with the General Section.

# 1. OVERVIEW

CLASSES	ISIN CODE	BASE CUR- RENCY	MINIMUM SUB- SCRIPTION AND MINIMUM HOLDING AMOUNT	INITIAL ISSUE PRICE	PERFORMANCE FEE
A Shares	LU0816909013	USD		USD 100	
A1 Shares	LU0816909286	CHF		CHF 100	
A2 Shares	LU0816909369	EUR	Nora	EUR 100	
B Shares	LU0816909443	USD	None	USD 100	
B1 Shares	LU0816909799	CHF		CHF 100	
B2 Shares	LU0816909872	EUR		EUR 100	None
C Shares	LU0816909955	USD	USD 500,000	USD 100	
C1 Shares	LU0816910292	CHF	CHF 500,000	CHF 100	
C2 Shares	LU0816910375	EUR	EUR 500,000	EUR 100	
D Shares	LU0816910458	USD	USD 500,000	USD 100	
D1 Shares	LU0816910615	CHF	CHF 500,000	CHF 100	

CLASSES	ISIN CODE	BASE CUR- RENCY	MINIMUM SUB- SCRIPTION AND MINIMUM HOLDING AMOUNT	INITIAL ISSUE PRICE	PERFORMANCE FEE
D2 Shares	LU0816910706	EUR	EUR 500,000	EUR 100	
R Shares*	LU1004824014	USD		USD 100	
R1 Shares*	LU1004824287	CHF		CHF 100	
R2 Shares*	LU1004824444	EUR	Nana	EUR 100	None
X Shares*	LU1004824105	USD	None	USD 100	none
X1 Shares*	LU1004824360	CHF		CHF 100	
X2 Shares*	LU1004824527	EUR		EUR 100	

CLASSES	ISSUE SURCHARGE	FLAT-RATE FEE***	FRAC- TIONS	INVESTORS	DISTRIBUTION POLICY	
A Shares						
A1 Shares					Accumulating	
A2 Shares		up to 1.40% of		Public transac-		
B Shares		the net assets p.a.		tions		
B1 Shares	up to 5% of the net		up to 1/100th		Distributing**	
B2 Shares	asset value of the share		of a Share			
C Shares						
C1 Shares		up to 1.00% of the net assets p.a.			Institutional in-	Accumulating
C2 Shares				vestors		
D Shares					Distributing**	

CLASSES	ISSUE SURCHARGE	FLAT-RATE FEE***	FRAC- TIONS	INVESTORS	DISTRIBUTION POLICY
D1 Shares				Institutional in-	Diatributing**
D2 Shares				vestors	Distributing**
R Shares*					
R1 Shares*	up to 5% of the net	up to 1.00% of the net assets p.a.	up to 1/100th		Accumulating
R2 Shares*	asset value of the share		of a Share Public transac-	Public transac-	
X Shares*				tions	
X1 Shares*					Distributing**
X2 Shares*					

\*R Shares and X Shares are sold exclusively through distributors who provide financial services within the framework of independent advice or discretionary portfolio management, and who do not receive or pass on any portfolio commissions for this service. Never-theless, the Company or the Management Company reserves the right to accept subscriptions by investors in Classes R and X.

\*\*Distributions are made by resolution of the Board of Directors. The distribution data are published annually.

\*\*\*This overview is to be read in conjunction with the information on costs in the General Section (particularly section 12) and the Special Section (particularly section 7) on this Sub-fund. The flat-rate fee includes the remuneration for the Management Company, the Investment Manager, distribution, central administration and the Custodian Bank and amounts to at least EUR 20,000 p.a. per Sub-fund. All information on remuneration is exclusive of any applicable value added tax.

# 2. INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES AND INVESTMENT POLICY

- 1. This Sub-fund seeks to achieve positive growth in the value of its assets by investing in a diversified portfolio of debt securities and similar debt instruments which are issued by debtors in emerging markets and which are denominated in a freely convertible currency.
- 2. The Sub-fund is actively managed. The composition of the portfolio is determined by the Investment Manager exclusively in accordance with the criteria defined in the investment objectives/policy, and is regularly reviewed and adjusted if necessary. The performance of the Sub-fund is compared with the indices mentioned under point 8. The investment universe of the Sub-fund is not limited to the components of these indices. As a result, the performance of the Sub-fund may deviate significantly from the benchmark indices.
- 3. In order to meet this objective, the Sub-fund will mostly invest its assets in bonds (including zero bonds), short-term debt securities and in similar debt instruments (the Investment Instruments). Investment instruments are issued or guaranteed by government debtors from emerging markets (in particular central banks, government authorities and regional banks) or corporate debtors with their registered office in an emerging market. In so doing, the Sub-fund will focus its investments on investment instruments from corporate debtors.

In particular the following countries are understood to be "Emerging Countries" for the purpose of this Special Section: Argentina, Brazil, Chile, China, Hong Kong, India, Indonesia, Israel, Kazakhstan, Columbia, South Korea, Mexico, Nigeria, Peru, the Philippines, Poland, Qatar, Russia, Singapore, South Africa, Thailand, Ukraine, United Arab Emirates, Venezuela. The above list should not be considered exhaustive and is subject to change. Emerging countries are generally undergoing a phase of economic development but have not yet, however, reached the stage of development of the developed nations, particularly Western Europe, North America or Japan.

Investment instruments can be denominated in any convertible currency, including USD, EUR and the currencies of emerging countries to the extent that these are freely convertible. A maximum of 30% of the net Sub-fund assets can be invested in investment instruments which are denominated in a currency of a non-OECD member country. There is no limit to the total proportion of investment instruments that are denominated in currencies from non-OECD member countries. Investment instruments can be denominated in an unlimited number of currencies or in a single currency.

In connection with this section, OECD member countries which belong to the emerging countries are not counted as being OECD member countries.

- 4. The Sub-fund pursues a balanced strategy, i.e. investment instruments do not have to have any or any specific rating (S&P, Moody's and Fitch). It is much rather the case that investments are made in a large number of rating categories. The intended target is an average rating of at least BB over the entire Sub-fund. In addition, the portfolio is diversified in terms of regions, countries and sectors.
- 5. In addition, the Sub-fund may invest in the following investment instruments:
  - (a) fixed or variable income debt securities denominated in freely convertible currencies, and which were issued by government debtors in a non-emerging country or corporate debtors with their registered office in a non-emerging country, which mostly generate their revenues in an emerging country;
  - (b) Convertible bonds or debt securities with warrants issued by corporate debtors with their registered office in a non-emerging country, which mostly generate their revenues in an emerging country and which are denominated in a freely convertible currency;
  - (c) Investment instruments which resulted passively from the forced conversion, the forced exchange or other type of realization, without input from the Company or the asset manager for the convertible bonds and debt securities with warrants named under (b) (e.g. as the result of bankruptcy or restructuring of the issuer).
- 6. Notwithstanding the targeted risk diversification, the Sub-fund's assets may temporarily be concentrated on certain sectors.
- 7. Units in UCITS or other UCI ("target funds") may be acquired up to a maximum limit of 10% of the Sub-fund's assets, meaning that the Sub-fund is <u>eligible to invest in target funds</u>. With regard to the target funds that can be acquired for the Sub-fund, there is no restriction on the types of target funds that can be acquired.
- 8. The Sub-fund may hold cash as well. The net Sub-fund assets may, depending on the assessment of the market situation (in the short term) and taking into account the investment restrictions under tax law pursuant to Article 18 of the Articles of Association, deviate from the above investment focus and the above investment limits, if in this case, with the addition of cash and cash equivalents, the investment focus and the above investment limits are complied with overall.

9. Taking into account the ESG strategy of the investment manager, ESG criteria, in particular sustainability risks, are considered as a component in the investment decision-making process for this Subfund. In this case, however, the fund management decides which components are to be used, taking into account the overall risk and return aspects and the exclusions. Article 8 of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 and Article 6 of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 (EU taxonomy) apply to this Sub-fund.

MainFirst Holding AG, to which the Investment Manager of the Sub-fund belongs, is a signatory to the UN PRI (United Nations-supported- for Responsible Investment).

The investment universe undergoes a systematic selection process. This selection process also takes ESG aspects into account on the basis of our own analyses and with the help of external research.

In addition, the fund management makes use of external research from one or more sustainability rating agencies. Their results are taken into account as one component in the Investment Manager's investment decision-making process.

The sustainability strategy of the Sub-fund aims to contribute to an improvement of the sustainability profile of selected portfolio companies through active dialogue and engagement activities.

In order to assess the suitability of investments for the Fund's assets, in addition to the traditional parameters for risk and return expectations, the individual ESG criteria are also taken into account.

Detailed information on the Management Company's responsible investment principles and the list of sustainability rating agencies used can be found at www.mainfirst.com.

The ESG principles underlying the investment process are described in Section 3 "GENERAL IN-VESTMENT OBJECTIVES, INVESTMENT POLICY AND RISKS" and on the Company's website <u>www.mainfirst.com</u>. In accordance with the provisions of Article 6 of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 (EU taxonomy), the following is pointed out in this context:

The principle of "avoidance of significant impairments" within the meaning of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 only applies to those investments on which the financial product is based that take into account the EU criteria for ecologically sustainable economic activities.

The investments underlying the remaining part of the financial product do not take into account the EU criteria for environmentally sustainable economic activities.

The Investment Manager takes into account the adverse sustainability impact for this Sub-fund as defined in Article 7(1) of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 November 2019. To this end, the Investment Manager systematically integrates the main adverse impacts of investment decisions on sustainability factors into their ESG investment process. Different sustainability aspects are weighted in the sustainability assessment of investments depending on their relevance for the respective business model. The ability to systematically take into account the most important adverse sustainability impacts depends largely on the quality of the available data. Further details are available on the website of MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Switzerland) AG (www.mainfirst.com). Information on the adverse effects on sustainability factors is provided in the annual report.

10. The Sub-fund will use securities financing transactions within the meaning of Regulation 2015/2365. In this context, reference is made to points 17.7 (t), 17.7 (u) (risk information) and 17.18 (b), 17.37 – 17.40 (general explanations and cost structure) of the General Section, which includes explanations of the cost structure and the specific risks associated with these transactions.

# 3. RISK PROFILE AND RISK MANAGEMENT PROCEDURE

## **Risk profile**

1. The Sub-fund is suitable for growth-oriented investors. Due to the composition of the net Sub-fund assets, there is a high overall risk, also accompanied by high income potential. The risks can consist, in particular, of currency, credit rating and price risks as well as risks that result from changes to the market interest rate.

## **Risk management**

2. The Sub-fund shall use the commitment approach to calculate its total risk exposure. In this way, the Company shall ensure that the total risk associated with derivatives does not exceed the total net asset value of the Sub-fund portfolio. This results in a possible total exposure of the Sub-fund in the amount of up to 200% of its net assets.

# 4. BASE CURRENCY OF THE SUB-FUND

The base currency of the Sub-fund is USD.

If the currency of a Share Class differs from the base currency of the Sub-fund, currency hedging is pursued for this Share Class by hedging the exchange rate risk. However, no assurance can be given for the success of this currency hedging and there may be incongruities between the currency position of the Sub-fund and the currency position of the hedged Share Class, particularly in the event of severe market distortions. Hedging strategies can be used both when the value of the base currency of the Sub-fund decreases and when it increases relative to the value of the currency of the hedged Share Class. This means that the use of these strategies can provide significant protection for the investor of the relevant Share Class against the risk of the depreciation of the base currency relative to the value of the currency of the hedged Share Class, but may also result in the investor not being able to benefit from an appreciation in the base currency.

# 5. ISSUE, REDEMPTION AND CONVERSION OF SHARES

The procedural rules stipulated in the General Section shall apply.

# 6. INVESTMENT MANAGER

The Company and the Management Company have appointed MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Switzerland) AG as Investment Manager for this Sub-fund.

# 7. COSTS

Remuneration of the Management Company, the Central Administration, the Custodian Bank, the Investment Manager, and the Distributors

Flat-rate fee

The Sub-fund is charged a flat-rate fee in the amount stated under Section 1 of this Sub-fund Annex. The flat-rate fee shall be paid to the Management Company. The Management Company pays the remuneration for the Investment Manager and the Distributors from this flat-rate fee. The flat-rate fee shall be calculated for the Sub-fund on a pro rata basis taking into account the daily net asset value of the Sub-fund and shall be payable monthly by the Sub-fund.

The total amount of remuneration for the Management Company, the Central Administration, the Custodian Bank, the Investment Manager and the Distributors shall be up to 1.40% p.a. of the net Subfund assets, depending on the Share Class, but at least EUR 20,000.00 p.a. per Sub-fund.

The applicable rate of remuneration and the effective costs charged are stated in the annual and semiannual reports. This fee is subject to VAT.

The Investment Manager is remunerated from the flat-rate fee charged. Consequently, the Investment Manager receives remuneration in the form of an annual commission which is calculated on a daily basis and is payable for each calendar month.

# 8. SPECIFIC INFORMATION ON THE BENCHMARK

The different Share Classes of the Sub-fund use the following benchmark, although an active investment approach is not limited to target investments included in a benchmark and the portfolio composition may differ significantly from the benchmark:

- Classes in the base currency USD, the J.P. Morgan Corporate EMBI Broad Diversified Composite Index Level (JBCDCOMP Index),
- Classes in the base currency EUR, the J.P. Morgan CEMBI Broad Diversified Composite Index Level Hedged in EUR (JBCDHECP Index),
- Classes in the base currency CHF, the J.P. Morgan CEMBI Broad Diversified Composite Index Level Hedged in CHF (JBCDHFCP Index).

J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, New York, USA, is administrator of these benchmarks. J.P. Morgan Securities PLC, London, UK is registered as administrator with the Financial Conduct Authority in the United Kingdom ("FCA") within the meaning of Regulation (EU) 2016/1011.

The Management Company has established a different benchmark in a robust written plan if the benchmark ceases to exist or changes significantly. The latest version of this robust written plan can be downloaded from <u>www.mainfirst.com</u> or obtained free of charge from the Management Company.

# 9. TERM OF THE SUB-FUND

The Sub-fund has been launched for an unspecified period of time

# **MAINFIRST – GLOBAL EQUITIES FUND**

A Sub-fund of MainFirst, SICAV

# **SPECIAL SECTION V**

This Special Section supplements the General Section with respect to the **MainFirst – Global Equities Fund** (the **Financial Product Sub-fund**) Sub-fund and should only be read in combination with the General Section.

CLASSES	ISIN CODE	BASE CUR- RENCY	MINIMUM SUB- SCRIPTION AND MINIMUM HOLD- ING AMOUNT	INITIAL ISSUE PRICE	PERFORMANCE FEE
A Shares	LU0864709349	EUR		EUR 100	
A1 Shares	LU2115131794	CHF		CHF 100	
A2 Shares	LU1740030686	USD	Ness	USD 100	
B Shares	LU0864710354	EUR	None	EUR 100	
B1 Shares	LU2115131877	CHF		CHF 100	
B2 Shares	LU1740030769	USD		USD 100	
C Shares	LU0864710602	EUR	EUR 500,000	EUR 100	15 %
C1 Shares	LU2115131950	CHF	CHF 500,000	CHF 100	
C2 Shares	LU1740030843	USD	USD 500,000	USD 100	
D Shares	LU0864711089	EUR	EUR 500,000	EUR 100	
D1 Shares	LU2115132099	CHF	CHF 500,000	CHF 100	
D2 Shares	LU1740030926	USD	USD 500,000	USD 100	
R Shares*	LU1004824790	EUR	None	EUR 100	

## 1. OVERVIEW

CLASSES	ISIN CODE	BASE CUR- RENCY	MINIMUM SUB- SCRIPTION AND MINIMUM HOLD- ING AMOUNT	INITIAL ISSUE PRICE	PERFORMANCE FEE
R1 Shares*	LU2115132255	CHF		CHF 100	15 %
R2 Shares*	LU2115132172	USD		USD 100	
X Shares*	LU1004824873	EUR	Nees	EUR 100	
X1 Shares*	LU2115132503	CHF	None	CHF 100	
X2 Shares*	LU2115132412	USD		USD 100	
V Shares	LU1394739731	EUR		EUR 100	None
W Shares	LU2115132339	EUR	EUR 500,000 EUR 100		NUTE

CLASSES	ISSUE SURCHARGE	FLAT-RATE FEE***	FRAC- TIONS	INVESTORS	DISTRIBUTION POLICY
A Shares	up to 5% of the net asset value of the share	up to 2.00% of the net assets p.a.	up to 1/100th of a Share	Public transac- tions	
A1 Shares					Accumulating
A2 Shares					
B Shares					Distributing**
B1 Shares					
B2 Shares					
C Shares		up to 1.40% of the net assets p.a.		Institutional in- vestors	Accumulating
C1 Shares					
C2 Shares					
D Shares					Distributing**
D1 Shares					Distributing**

CLASSES	ISSUE SURCHARGE	FLAT-RATE FEE***	FRAC- TIONS	INVESTORS	DISTRIBUTION POLICY
D2 Shares	up to 5% of the net asset value of the share	up to 1.40% of the net assets p.a.	up to 1/100th of a Share	Institutional in- vestors	
R Shares*		up to 1.20% of the net assets p.a.		Public transac- tions	Accumulating
R1 Shares*					
R2 Shares*					
X Shares*					Distributing**
X1 Shares*					
X2 Shares*					
V Shares		up to 2.00% of the net assets p.a.		VAG investors	Accumulating
W Shares				Institutional in- vestors	

\*R Shares and X Shares are sold exclusively through distributors who provide financial services within the framework of independent advice or discretionary portfolio management, and who do not receive or pass on any portfolio commissions for this service. Never-theless, the Company or the Management Company reserves the right to accept subscriptions by investors in Classes R and X.

\*\*Distributions are made by resolution of the Board of Directors. The distribution data are published annually.

\*\*\*This overview is to be read in conjunction with the information on costs in the General Section (particularly section 12) and the Special Section (particularly section 7) on this Sub-fund. The flat-rate fee includes the remuneration for the Management Company, the Investment Manager, distribution, central administration and the Custodian Bank and amounts to at least EUR 20,000 p.a. per Sub-fund. All information on remuneration is exclusive of any applicable value added tax.

# 2. INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES AND INVESTMENT POLICY

- The Sub-fund's investment target is to outperform the Benchmark (see "8. SPECIFIC INFORMATION ON THE BENCHMARK"). These investments in equities and other participation securities are made globally. Depending on the actual situation, the investment focus may be on large-cap companies or also on small and mid-caps.
- 2. The Sub-fund above is an equity fund.
- 3. The Sub-fund is actively managed. The composition of the portfolio is determined by the Investment Manager exclusively in accordance with the criteria defined in the investment objectives/policy, and is regularly reviewed and adjusted if necessary. The performance of the Sub-fund is compared with the

indices mentioned under point 8. The investment universe of the Sub-fund is not limited to the components of these indices. As a result, the performance of the Sub-fund may deviate significantly from the benchmark indices.

- 4. The equity component of the Sub-fund's assets shall always be at least 51% (gross).
- 5. Up to 25% of the Sub-fund's assets may be invested in: bonds, convertible bonds and warrant bonds whose warrants are issued on securities of companies worldwide that are denominated in a freely convertible currency. Notwithstanding the targeted risk diversification, the Sub-fund's assets may temporarily be concentrated on certain countries and sectors.
- 6. When acquiring shares, the Fund has the option of acquiring eligible Chinese A Shares through the Shanghai and Shenzhen Hong Kong Stock Connect ("SHSC") programmes. The use of the SHSC programme serves as an additional investment opportunity for the fund.
- In derogation of item 17.4(e) of the investment restrictions of the General Section of the Full Prospectus, the Sub-fund shall not acquire units in funds (UCITS and/or UCI), regardless of their legal form. The Sub-fund is therefore <u>target-fund eligible</u> within the meaning of Art. 41 (1) e) of the Law of 2010.
- 8. The Sub-fund may also hold liquid assets.
- 9. In compliance with the ESG strategy of the Investment Manager, ESG criteria, in particular sustainability risks, are taken into account in the investment decision-making process for this Sub-fund. To the extent that the Sub-fund invests in corporate securities, only such securities may be acquired that apply good corporate governance practices and do not fall under the general exclusion criteria. Article 8 of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 and Article 6 of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 (EU taxonomy) apply to this Sub-fund.

MainFirst Holding AG, to which the Investment Manager belongs, is a signatory to the UN PRI (United Nations-supported Principles for Responsible Investment).

The investment universe undergoes a systematic selection process. This selection process also takes into account ESG aspects based on our own analyses and with the help of external research services.

In addition, the fund management makes use of external research from one or more sustainability rating agencies. Their results are taken into account as one component in the Investment Manager's investment decision-making process.

The sustainability strategy of the Sub-fund seeks to deliver, on average, a better ESG risk profile than the benchmark. The benchmark used to guide the Sub-fund's investment strategy is not aligned with the environmental and social characteristics of the Fund. A description of the method used to calculate the benchmark can be found at www.msci.com.

For the assessment of the suitability of investments for the Fund's assets, the individual ESG criteria are also taken into account in addition to the traditional parameters for risk and return expectations.

Detailed information on the Management Company's responsible investment principles and the list of sustainability rating agencies used can be found at www.mainfirst.com.

The ESG principles underlying the investment process are described in Section 3 "GENERAL IN-VESTMENT OBJECTIVES, INVESTMENT POLICY AND RISKS" and on the Company's website <u>www.mainfirst.com</u>. ESG risks are a central component of the investment process. Measurement of the ESG risk score underpins the Sub-fund's sustainability strategy: The MainFirst - Global Equities Fund is expected to have a better average ESG risk score than its benchmark (see "8. SPECIFIC INFORMATION ON THE BENCHMARK"). In accordance with the provisions of Article 6 of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 (EU taxonomy), the following is pointed out in this context:

The principle of "avoidance of significant impairments" within the meaning of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 only applies to those investments on which the financial product is based that take into account the EU criteria for ecologically sustainable economic activities.

The investments underlying the remaining part of the financial product do not take into account the EU criteria for environmentally sustainable economic activities.

The Investment Manager takes into account the adverse sustainability impact for this Sub-fund as defined in Article 7(1) of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 November 2019. To this end, the Investment Manager systematically integrates the main adverse impacts of investment decisions on sustainability factors into their ESG investment process. Different sustainability aspects are weighted in the sustainability assessment of investments depending on their relevance for the respective business model. The ability to systematically take into account the most important adverse sustainability impacts depends largely on the quality of the available data. Further details are available on the website of MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Deutschland) GmbH (www.mainfirst.com). Information on the adverse effects on sustainability factors is provided in the annual report.

 The Sub-fund will use securities financing transactions within the meaning of Regulation 2015/2365. In this context, reference is made to points 17.7 (t), 17.7 (u) (risk information) and 17.18 (b), 17.37 – 17.40 (general explanations and cost structure) of the General Section, which includes explanations of the cost structure and the specific risks associated with these transactions.

## 3. RISK PROFILE AND RISK MANAGEMENT PROCEDURE

### **Risk profile**

1. The Sub-fund is recommended for speculative investors who do not need the invested capital over the long term. Due to the composition of the net Sub-fund assets, there is a high overall risk, also accompanied by high income potential. The risks can consist, in particular, of currency, credit rating and price risks as well as risks that result from changes to the market interest rate.

### **Risk management**

- 2. The Sub-fund will apply the relative Value-at-Risk method (VaR) to the benchmark MSCI World Net Total Return EUR Index (MSDEWIN INDEX) in order to determine the overall risk of its investments.
- 3. The **leverage** of the investments of the Sub-fund possibly generated through the use of derivative financial instruments is not expected to exceed 200% of the nominal value of the portfolio's investments. However, this limit may be exceeded in individual cases. This limit is calculated from the total of all nominal values of the derivative financial instruments used by the Sub-fund.

## 4. BASE CURRENCY OF THE SUB-FUND

The base currency of the Sub-fund is EUR.

If the currency of a Share Class differs from the base currency of the Sub-fund, no currency hedging is pursued for this Share Class by hedging the exchange rate risk.

## 5. ISSUE, REDEMPTION AND CONVERSION OF SHARES

The procedural rules stipulated in the General Section shall apply.

As an exception to the procedure under point 6.7, the following rules apply:

The redemption price corresponds to the net asset value per Share on the corresponding valuation day. Payment shall in principle be made in Luxembourg no later than three (3) banking days after the day on which the net asset value applicable to the redemption has been determined.

## 6. INVESTMENT MANAGER

The Company and the Management Company have appointed MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Deutschland) GmbH as Investment Manager for this Sub-fund.

## 7. COSTS

Remuneration of the Management Company, the Central Administration, the Custodian Bank, the Investment Manager plus performance fee, and the Distributors

#### Flat-rate fee

The Sub-fund is charged a flat-rate fee in the amount stated under Section 1 of this Sub-fund Annex. The flat-rate fee shall be paid to the Management Company. The Management Company pays the remuneration for the Investment Manager and the Distributors from this flat-rate fee. The flat-rate fee shall be calculated for the Sub-fund on a pro rata basis taking into account the daily net asset value of the Sub-fund and shall be payable monthly by the Sub-fund.

The total amount of remuneration for the Management Company, the Central Administration, the Custodian Bank, the Investment Manager and the Distributors shall be up to 2.00% p.a. of the net Subfund assets, depending on the Share Class, but at least EUR 20,000.00 p.a. per Sub-fund. This fee is subject to VAT.

The applicable rate of remuneration and the effective costs charged are stated in the annual and semiannual reports.

#### Performance fee

The Investment Manager also receives, as an incentive, a performance fee of 15% of the net value increase per share of the Sub-fund resulting from the ordinary business activity of the Sub-fund. The performance fee is paid to the management company and calculated separately for the Sub-fund using the following formula:

In the following explanation, "gross share value" means the net asset value per share without the delimitation of the performance fee contained in this net asset value. In other words, to compare the performances, the net asset value per share is used, taking into account all costs, without the performance fee contained therein.

The performance fee amounts to 15% of the positive difference between the percentage change in the so-called gross share value of the respective Class and the Benchmark (see "8. SPECIFIC INFOR-MATION ON THE BENCHMARK"). The performance fee is calculated on the basis of the number of Shares currently in circulation in the respective Share Class. No performance fee is charged for Shares in the V and W Classes.

The daily return differential between the percentage change in the gross share value of the respective Class and the percentage-based performance of the benchmark is calculated as follows:

Return of the gross share value – return of the benchmark = return differential.

When calculating the performance fee, an additional mechanism is applied that includes that it can only be levied if the cumulative differential calculated using the above method has reached a new high watermark since the date of launching the Sub-fund. The reference period of the high watermark extends over the entire lifespan of the respective unit classes of the Sub-fund. The difference between the cumulative old (before withdrawal of the performance fee) and the new peak value is applied. The performance fee that is proportionally attributable and deferred to the share redemption at the time of an outperformance of the share class during the year is retained for these shares ("crystallisation") and paid to the investment manager at the end of the accounting period. The performance fee of the respective share class is calculated on each valuation day by comparing the percentage change in the share value plus the performance fee amount per share (gross share value) contained in the current share value and the percentage change in the benchmark based on the shares currently in circulation. The deferred total amount changes on the valuation days on which the daily return differential exceeds the high watermark. On the valuation days on which the daily return differential falls below the high watermark, the total amount accrued in the respective share class is released. The performance fee amount already crystallised on share redemptions during the year is retained even in the event of future negative performance.

A disbursable performance fee will be withdrawn from the Sub-fund at the end of the financial year (accounting period; 1 January - 31 December of each year); corresponding provisions for the performance fee are made each time the net asset value of the Sub-fund is calculated. These provisions are included in the net asset value. A further performance fee is only applicable if and when, at the end of the financial year, the previous high watermark determined for the payment of the remuneration is exceeded.

The calculation period for the performance fee is the financial year. The basis for the initial calculation of the performance fee is the sum of the subscription amounts received in the initial subscription period. After the initial subscription period, the performance fee is determined by comparing the percentage change in the share value plus the performance amount per share (gross share value) contained in the current share value and the percentage change in the benchmark and the applicable return differential.

Should the Company or the Sub-fund be liquidated, the net asset value used is that applicable on the day on which the decision was made to dissolve the Company or the Sub-fund.

The performance fee is calculated for unit certificate classes that differ from the Sub-fund currency (e.g. Sub-fund currency EUR, class currency CHF) in such a way that the performance of the unit value and the benchmark development are determined in the Sub-fund currency. Exchange rate fluc-tuations therefore have no direct impact on the level of the performance fee in the Sub-fund currency.

### Calculation example:

Calculation assumptions for end of accounting period 1:

Shares in circulation High watermark in EUR Distribution per share in EUR Net share value at the end of the accounting period in EUR Complete accrued performance fee for previous day in EUR Benchmark value at the beginning of the period Benchmark value at the end of the period Benchmark value indexed at the end of the period	1000 100 1 112 300 10,000 11,000
(based on high watermark in EUR)	110
Performance fee rate	15%

#### Calculation for end of accounting period 1:

(EUR 112 + (EUR 300/1,000) + EUR 1 - EUR 110) x 1,000 x 15% = EUR 495

(Net unit value plus (already accrued performance fee) plus distribution minus indexed benchmark value) multiplied by circulating units multiplied by performance fee rate

At the end of accounting period 1, a performance fee of EUR 495 can be paid out, as the gross share value (net share value + already accrued performance fee) including distribution of EUR 113.30 exceeds the indexed benchmark of 110.

#### Calculation assumptions for end of accounting period 2:

Shares in circulation at start Shares in circulation at end High watermark in EUR	1000 800 112
Distribution per share in EUR	0
Net share value at the end of the accounting period in EUR	116.50
Complete accrued performance fee for previous day in EUR	0
Benchmark value at the beginning of the period	11,000
Benchmark value at the end of the period	11,500
Benchmark value indexed at the end of the period	
(based on high watermark) in EUR	117.09
Performance fee rate	15%

#### Calculation of the crystallisation amount at the time of return

Assumption: Gross share value EUR 115, indexed benchmark EUR 114, redeemed shares 200

(EUR 115 – EUR 114) x 200 x 15% = EUR 30

(Gross share value minus indexed benchmark) multiplied by return multiplied by performance fee rate

An amount of EUR 30 can be crystallised at the time the share certificates are returned, as the gross share value exceeds the indexed benchmark. Regardless of the further performance of the share class, this amount is paid out at the end of the accounting period.

#### Calculation for end of accounting period 2:

(EUR 116.50 + (EUR 0/800) + EUR 0 - EUR 117.09) x 800 x 15% < EUR 0 = no performance fee

(Net share value plus (already accrued performance fee) plus distribution minus indexed benchmark value) multiplied by circulating shares multiplied by performance fee rate

At the end of accounting period 2, no performance fee can be paid out, as the gross share value (net share value + already accrued performance fee) of EUR 116.50 does not exceed the indexed benchmark of EUR 117.09.

At the end of the accounting period, a performance fee is paid in the amount of the crystallisation amount of EUR 30. The performance payout only affects those shareholders who have sold during the year at a gross share price that was higher than the indexed benchmark value.

## 8. SPECIFIC INFORMATION ON THE BENCHMARK

The different Share Classes of the Sub-fund use the following benchmark, although an active investment approach is not limited to target investments included in a benchmark and the portfolio composition may differ significantly from the benchmark:

### - MSCI World Net Total Return EUR Index (MSDEWIN Index)

The administrator of these benchmarks is MSCI Inc., New York, USA ("MSCI"). MSCI is registered as administrator with the Financial Conduct Authority in the United Kingdom ("FCA") within the meaning of Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 with MSCI Limited.

The Management Company has established a different benchmark in a robust written plan if the benchmark ceases to exist or changes significantly. The latest version of this robust written plan can be downloaded from <u>www.mainfirst.com</u> or obtained free of charge from the Management Company.

## 9. TERM OF THE SUB-FUND

The Sub-fund has been launched for an unspecified period of time

# MAINFIRST – ABSOLUTE RETURN MULTI ASSET

A Sub-fund of MainFirst, SICAV

## **SPECIAL SECTION VI**

This Special Section supplements the General Section with respect to the **MainFirst – Absolute Return Multi Asset** (the **Financial Product Sub-fund**) Sub-fund and should only be read in combination with the General Section.

## 1. OVERVIEW

CLASSES	ISIN CODE	BASE CUR- RENCY	MINIMUM SUB- SCRIPTION AND MINIMUM HOLD- ING AMOUNT	INITIAL ISSUE PRICE	PERFORMANCE FEE
A Shares	LU0864714000	EUR		EUR 100	
A1 Shares	LU1740031064	CHF	CHF 100		
A2 shares	LU2115133816	USD	News	USD 100	
B Shares	LU0864714422	EUR	None	EUR 100	
B1 Shares	LU1740031148	CHF		CHF 100	
B2 Shares	LU2115133907	USD		USD 100	45.0/
C Shares	LU0864714935	EUR	EUR 500,000	EUR 100	15 %
C1 Shares	LU1740031221	CHF	CHF 500,000	CHF 100	
C2 Shares	LU2115134038	USD	USD 500,000	USD 100	
D Shares	LU0864715312	EUR	EUR 500,000	EUR 100	
D1 Shares	LU1740031494	CHF	CHF 500,000	CHF 100	
D2 Shares	LU2115134111	USD	USD 500,000	USD 100	

115 FULL PROSPECTUS – SPECIAL SECTION – MAINFIRST – ABSOLUTE RETURN MULTI ASSET

CLASSES	ISIN CODE	BASE CUR- RENCY	MINIMUM SUB- SCRIPTION AND MINIMUM HOLD- ING AMOUNT	INITIAL ISSUE PRICE	PERFORMANCE FEE
R Shares*	LU1004824956	EUR		EUR 100	
R1 Shares*	LU2115134384	CHF		CHF 100	
R2 Shares*	LU2115134202	USD	None	USD 100	45.04
X Shares*	LU1004825508	EUR		EUR 100	15 %
X1 Shares*	LU2115134624	CHF		CHF 100	
X2 Shares*	LU2115134541	USD		USD 100	
V Shares	LU1394739814	EUR		EUR 100	Nana
W Shares	LU2115134467	EUR	EUR 500,000	EUR 100	None

CLASSES	ISSUE SURCHARGE	FLAT-RATE FEE***	FRAC- TIONS	INVESTORS	DISTRIBUTION POLICY
A Shares					
A1 Shares					Accumulating
A2 Shares	up to 5% of the net	up to 1.70% of	up to 1/100th	Public transac-	
B Shares	asset value of the share	the net assets p.a.	of a Share	tions	
B1 Shares					Distributing**
B2 Shares					

CLASSES	ISSUE SURCHARGE	FLAT-RATE FEE***	FRAC- TIONS	INVESTORS	DISTRIBUTION POLICY										
C Shares		up to 1.20% of the net assets		Institutional in-	Accumulating										
C1 Shares		p.a.		vestors	, is a management of the second se										
C2 Shares					Accumulating										
D Shares				Institutional in-											
D1 Shares				vestors	Distributing**										
D2 Shares															
R Shares*		up to 1.20% of the net assets p.a.													
R1 Shares*	up to 5% of the net													up to 1/100th	
R2 Shares*	asset value of the share		of a Share	Public transac-											
X Shares*			Onare	tions											
X1 Shares*		up to 2.00% of the net assets p.a.		Distributing**											
X2 Shares*															
V Shares			the net assets		VAG investors										
W Shares				the net assets	the net assets	Institutional in- vestors	Accumulating								

\*R Shares and X Shares are sold exclusively through distributors who provide financial services within the framework of independent advice or discretionary portfolio management, and who do not receive or pass on any portfolio commissions for this service. Nevertheless, the Company or the Management Company reserves the right to accept subscriptions by investors in Classes R and X.

\*\*Distributions are made by resolution of the Board of Directors. The distribution data are published annually.

\*\*\*This overview is to be read in conjunction with the information on costs in the General Section (particularly section 12) and the Special Section (particularly section 7) on this Sub-fund. The flat-rate fee includes the remuneration for the Management Company, the Investment Manager, distribution, central administration and the Custodian Bank and amounts to at least EUR 20,000 p.a. per Sub-fund. All information on remuneration is exclusive of any applicable value added tax.

## 2. INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES AND INVESTMENT POLICY

1. The Sub-fund's investment strategy aims to generate a positive investment result of more than 5% p.a. over the long term (the **benchmark**).

- 2. The above Sub-fund is a balanced fund.
- 3. The Sub-fund is actively managed. The composition of the portfolio is determined by the Investment Manager exclusively in accordance with the criteria defined in the investment objectives/policy, and is regularly reviewed and adjusted if necessary. The Sub-fund is not managed against an index as a reference base.
- 4. Depending on the market situation and the assessment of the fund management, the Sub-fund may invest in equities, bonds, money market instruments, certificates, other structured products (e.g. reverse convertible bonds, bonds with warrants, convertible bonds) target funds and fixed-term deposits. The certificates are certificates on legally permissible underlyings, e.g.: equities, bonds, investment fund units, financial indices and currencies.
- 5. The equity component of the Sub-fund's assets shall always be at least 25% (gross).
- 6. For interest-bearing securities, the issuer is selected at the Investment Manager's discretion and is not subject to a minimum rating from a ratings agency, with the result that bonds without ratings can also be acquired.
- 7. When acquiring shares, the Fund has the option of acquiring eligible Chinese A Shares through the Shanghai and Shenzhen Hong Kong Stock Connect ("SHSC") programmes. The use of the SHSC programme serves as an additional investment opportunity for the fund.
- In addition, as part of its investment policy, the Sub-fund can invest up to 10% of the Sub-fund's assets in fund units (UCITS and/or UCI), irrespective of their legal form, that are subject to supervision equivalent to the CSSF. The Sub-fund is therefore <u>target-fund eligible</u> within the meaning of Art. 41 (1) e) of the Law of 2010.
- 9. The Sub-fund may also hold liquid assets.
- 10. In compliance with the ESG strategy of the Investment Manager, ESG criteria, in particular sustainability risks, are taken into account in the investment decision-making process for this Sub-fund. To the extent that the Sub-fund invests in corporate securities, only such securities may be acquired that apply good corporate governance practices and do not fall under the general exclusion criteria. Article 8 of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 and Article 6 of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 (EU taxonomy) apply to this Sub-fund.

MainFirst Holding AG, to which the Investment Manager belongs, is a signatory to the UN PRI (United Nations-supported Principles for Responsible Investment).

The investment universe undergoes a systematic selection process. This selection process also takes into account ESG aspects based on our own analyses and with the help of external research services.

In addition, the fund management makes use of external research from one or more sustainability rating agencies. Their results are taken into account as one component in the Investment Manager's investment decision-making process.

The sustainability strategy of the Sub-fund seeks to deliver, on average, a medium or better ESG risk profile.

For the assessment of the suitability of investments for the Fund's assets, the individual ESG criteria are also taken into account in addition to the traditional parameters for risk and return expectations.

Detailed information on the Management Company's responsible investment principles and the list of sustainability rating agencies used can be found at www.mainfirst.com.

The ESG principles underlying the investment process are described in Section 3 "GENERAL IN-VESTMENT OBJECTIVES, INVESTMENT POLICY AND RISKS" and on the Company's website <u>www.mainfirst.com</u>. ESG risks are a central component of the investment process. Measurement of the ESG risk score underpins the Sub-fund's sustainability strategy: MainFirst - Absolute Return Multi Asset is expected to have a low to medium ESG risk score on average. In accordance with the provisions of Article 6 of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 (EU taxonomy), the following is pointed out in this context:

The principle of "avoidance of significant impairments" within the meaning of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 only applies to those investments on which the financial product is based that take into account the EU criteria for ecologically sustainable economic activities.

The investments underlying the remaining part of the financial product do not take into account the EU criteria for environmentally sustainable economic activities.

The Investment Manager takes into account the adverse sustainability impact for this Sub-fund as defined in Article 7(1) of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 November 2019. To this end, the Investment Manager systematically integrates the main adverse impacts of investment decisions on sustainability factors into their ESG investment process. Different sustainability aspects are weighted in the sustainability assessment of investments depending on their relevance for the respective business model. The ability to systematically take into account the most important adverse sustainability impacts depends largely on the quality of the available data. Further details are available on the website of MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Deutschland) GmbH (www.mainfirst.com). Information on the adverse effects on sustainability factors is provided in the annual report.

11. The Sub-fund will use securities financing transactions within the meaning of Regulation 2015/2365. In this context, reference is made to points 17.7 (t), 17.7 (u) (risk information) and 17.18 (b), 17.37 – 17.40 (general explanations and cost structure) of the General Section, which includes explanations of the cost structure and the specific risks associated with these transactions.

## 3. RISK PROFILE AND RISK MANAGEMENT PROCEDURE

### **Risk profile**

1. The Sub-fund is suitable for growth-oriented investors. Due to the composition of the net Sub-fund assets, there is a high overall risk, also accompanied by high income potential. The risks can consist, in particular, of currency, credit rating and price risks as well as risks that result from changes to the market interest rate.

#### **Risk management**

2. The Sub-fund shall use the commitment approach to calculate its total risk exposure. In this way, the Company shall ensure that the total risk associated with derivatives does not exceed the total net asset value of the Sub-fund portfolio. This results in a possible total exposure of the Sub-fund in the amount of up to 200% of its net assets.

## 4. BASE CURRENCY OF THE SUB-FUND

The base currency of the Sub-fund is EUR.

If the currency of a Share Class differs from the base currency of the Sub-fund, no currency hedging is pursued for this Share Class by hedging the exchange rate risk.

## 5. ISSUE, REDEMPTION AND CONVERSION OF SHARES

The procedural rules stipulated in the General Section shall apply.

As an exception to the procedure under point 6.7, the following rules apply:

The redemption price corresponds to the net asset value per Share on the corresponding valuation day. Payment shall in principle be made in Luxembourg no later than three (3) banking days after the day on which the net asset value applicable to the redemption has been determined.

## 6. INVESTMENT MANAGER

The Company and the Management Company have appointed MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Deutschland) GmbH as Investment Manager for this Sub-fund.

## 7. COSTS

Remuneration of the Management Company, the Central Administration, the Custodian Bank, the Investment Manager plus performance fee, and the Distributors

#### Flat-rate fee

The Sub-fund is charged a flat-rate fee in the amount stated under Section 1 of this Sub-fund Annex. The flat-rate fee shall be paid to the Management Company. The Management Company pays the remuneration for the Investment Manager and the Distributors from this flat-rate fee. The flat-rate fee shall be calculated for the Sub-fund on a pro rata basis taking into account the daily net asset value of the Sub-fund and shall be payable monthly by the Sub-fund.

The total amount of remuneration for the Management Company, the Central Administration, the Custodian Bank, the Investment Manager and the Distributors shall be up to 2.00% p.a. of the net Subfund assets, depending on the Share Class, but at least EUR 20,000.00 p.a. per Sub-fund. This fee is subject to VAT.

The applicable rate of remuneration and the effective costs charged are stated in the annual and semiannual reports.

#### Performance fee

The Investment Manager also receives, as an incentive, a performance fee of 15% of the net value increase per share of the Sub-fund resulting from the ordinary business activity of the Sub-fund. The performance fee is paid to the management company and calculated separately for the Sub-fund using the following formula:

In the following explanation, "gross share value" means the net asset value per share without the delimitation of the performance fee contained in this net asset value. In other words, to compare the performances, the net asset value per share is used, taking into account all costs, without the performance fee contained therein.

The performance fee amounts to 15% of the positive difference between the percentage change in the so-called gross share value of the respective Class and the reference value (5%). The performance fee is calculated on the basis of the number of Shares currently in circulation in the respective Share Class. No performance fee is charged for Shares in the V and W Classes.

The daily return differential between the percentage change in the gross share value of the respective Class and the percentage-based performance of the reference value is calculated as follows:

Return of the gross share value – reference value = return differential.

The reference value of 5% p.a. is thereby determined taking into account the compound interest effect under the Day Count Convention ACT/ACT with daily precision for the relevant consideration period.

When calculating the performance fee, an additional mechanism is applied that includes that it can only be levied if the cumulative differential calculated using the above method has reached a new high watermark since the date of launching the Sub-fund. The reference period of the high watermark extends over the entire lifespan of the respective unit classes of the Sub-fund. The difference between the cumulative old (before withdrawal of the performance fee) and the new peak value is applied. The performance fee that is proportionally attributable and deferred to the share redemption at the time of an outperformance of the share class during the year is retained for these shares ("crystallisation") and paid to the investment manager at the end of the accounting period. The performance fee of the respective share class is calculated on each valuation day by comparing the percentage change in the share value plus the performance fee amount per share (gross share value) contained in the current share value and the percentage change in the reference value based on the shares currently in circulation. The deferred total amount changes on the valuation days on which the daily return differential exceeds the high watermark. On the valuation days on which the daily return differential falls below the high watermark, the total amount accrued in the respective share class is released. The performance fee amount already crystallised on share redemptions during the year is retained even in the event of future negative performance.

A disbursable performance fee will be withdrawn from the Sub-fund at the end of the financial year (accounting period; 1 January - 31 December of each year); corresponding provisions for the performance fee are made each time the net asset value of the Sub-fund is calculated. These provisions are included in the net asset value. A further performance fee is only applicable if and when, at the end of the financial year, the previous high watermark determined for the payment of the remuneration is exceeded.

The calculation period for the performance fee is the financial year. The basis for the initial calculation of the performance fee is the sum of the subscription amounts received in the initial subscription period. After the initial subscription period, the performance fee is determined by comparing the percentage change in the share value plus the performance amount per share (gross share value) contained in the current share value and the percentage change in the reference value and the applicable return differential.

Should the Company or the Sub-fund be liquidated, the net asset value used is that applicable on the day on which the decision was made to dissolve the Company or the Sub-fund.

### Calculation example:

#### Calculation assumptions for end of accounting period 1:

Shares in circulation High watermark in EUR	1,000 100
Distribution per share in EUR	1
Net share value at the end of the accounting period in EUR	
before the booking of the last performance fee delta	112
Complete accrued performance fee for previous day in EUR	300
Reference value	5% p.a.
Reference value at the end of the period in EUR (based on high watermark in EUR)	105
Performance fee rate	15%

#### Calculation for end of accounting period 1:

(EUR 112 + (EUR 300/1,000) + EUR 1 - EUR 105) x 1,000 x 15% = EUR 1,245

(Net unit value plus (already accrued performance fee) plus distribution minus the reference value in EUR) multiplied by circulating units multiplied by performance fee rate

At the end of accounting period 1, a performance fee of EUR 495 can be paid out, as the gross share value (net share value + already accrued performance fee) including distribution of EUR 113.30 exceeds the reference value of 105.

#### Calculation assumptions for end of accounting period 2:

Shares in circulation at start	1,000
Shares in circulation at end	800
High watermark in EUR	111.06
Distribution per share in EUR	0
Net share value at the end of the accounting period in EUR	116.50
Complete accrued performance fee for previous day in EUR	0
Reference value	5% p.a.
Reference value at the end of the period in EUR	
(based on high watermark in EUR)	116.61
Performance fee rate	15%

#### Calculation of the crystallisation amount at the time of return

Assumption: Gross share value EUR 115, reference value EUR 114, redeemed shares 200

(EUR 115 – EUR 114) x 200 x 15% = EUR 30

(Gross share value minus reference value in EUR) multiplied by return multiplied by performance fee rate

An amount of EUR 30 can be crystallised at the time the share certificates are returned, as the gross share value exceeds the reference value in EUR. Regardless of the further performance of the share class, this amount is paid out at the end of the accounting period.

#### Calculation for end of accounting period 2:

(EUR 116.50 + (EUR 0/800) + EUR 0 - EUR 116.61) x 800 x 15% < EUR 0 = no performance fee

(Net share value plus (already accrued performance fee) plus distribution minus the reference value in EUR) multiplied by circulating shares multiplied by performance fee rate

At the end of accounting period 2, no performance fee can be paid out, as the gross share value (net share value + already accrued performance fee) of EUR 116.50 does not exceed the reference value of EUR 116.61.

At the end of the accounting period, a performance fee is paid in the amount of the crystallisation amount of EUR 30. The performance payout only affects those shareholders who have sold during the year at a gross share price that was higher than the reference value in EUR.

## 8. TERM OF THE SUB-FUND

The Sub-fund has been launched for an unspecified period of time

## MAINFIRST – EMERGING MARKETS CREDIT OPPORTUNITIES FUND

A Sub-fund of MainFirst, SICAV

## **SPECIAL SECTION VII**

This Special Section supplements the General Section with respect to the **MainFirst – Emerging Markets Credit Opportunities Fund** (the **Financial Product Sub-fund**) Sub-fund and should only be read in combination with the General Section.

## 1. OVERVIEW

CLASSES	ISIN CODE	BASE CUR- RENCY	MINIMUM SUB- SCRIPTION AND MINIMUM HOLD- ING AMOUNT	INITIAL ISSUE PRICE	PERFORMANCE FEE
A Shares	LU1061983901	USD		USD 100	
A1 Shares	LU1061984032	CHF		CHF 100	
A2 Shares	LU1061984115	EUR	Nees	EUR 100	
B Shares	LU1061984206	USD	None -	USD 100	
B1 Shares	LU1061984388	CHF		CHF 100	
B2 Shares	LU1061984461	EUR		EUR 100	45.0/
C Shares	LU1061984545	USD	USD 500,000	USD 100	15 %
C1 Shares	LU1061984628	CHF	CHF 500,000	CHF 100	
C2 Shares	LU1061984891	EUR	EUR 500,000	EUR 100	
D Shares	LU1061984974	USD	USD 500,000	USD 100	
D1 Shares	LU1061985195	CHF	CHF 500,000	CHF 100	
D2 Shares	LU1061985278	EUR	EUR 500,000	EUR 100	

CLASSES	ISIN CODE	BASE CUR- RENCY	MINIMUM SUB- SCRIPTION AND MINIMUM HOLD- ING AMOUNT	INITIAL ISSUE PRICE	PERFORMANCE FEE
R Shares*	LU1061985351	USD		USD 100	
R1 Shares*	LU1061985435	CHF		CHF 100	
R2 Shares*	LU1061985518	EUR		EUR 100	
X Shares*	LU1061985609	USD	None	USD 100	15 %
X1 Shares*	LU1061985781	CHF		CHF 100	
X2 Shares*	LU1061985864	EUR		EUR 100	
V Shares	LU2115131109	USD		USD 100	
V1 Shares	LU2115131281	CHF		CHF 100	
V2 Shares	LU2115131018	EUR		EUR 100	Ness
W Shares	LU2115131448	USD	USD 500,000 CHF 500,000	USD 100	None
W1 Shares	LU2115131521	CHF		CHF 100	1
W2 Shares	LU2115131364	EUR	EUR 500,000	EUR 100	1

CLASSES	ISSUE SURCHARGE	FLAT-RATE FEE***	FRAC- TIONS	INVESTORS	DISTRIBUTION POLICY
A Shares					
A1 Shares	up to 5% of the net	up to 1.70% of	up to 1/100th	Public transac-	Accumulating
A2 Shares	asset value of the share	the net assets p.a.	of a Share	tions	
B Shares					Distributing**

CLASSES	ISSUE SURCHARGE	FLAT-RATE FEE***	FRAC- TIONS	INVESTORS	DISTRIBUTION POLICY																						
B1 Shares		up to 1.70% of the net assets		Public transac- tions	Distributing**																						
B2 Shares		p.a.	tions																								
C Shares																											
C1 Shares					Accumulating																						
C2 Shares		up to 1.30% of the net assets		Institutional in-																							
D Shares		p.a.		vestors																							
D1 Shares			D			Distributing**																					
D2 Shares																											
R Shares*		1/100 of a																									
R1 Shares*	up to 5% of the net asset value of the		up to 1/100th	ı	Accumulating																						
R2 Shares*	share		the net assets	the net assets	the net assets	the net assets	the net assets	the net assets	the net assets	the net assets	the net assets	the net assets	the net assets	the net assets	the net assets	the net assets	the net assets	the net assets	the net assets	the net assets	the net assets	the net assets	the net assets		of a Share	Public transac-	
X Shares*																									tions		
X1 Shares*				Distrib	Distributing**																						
X2 Shares*																											
V Shares																											
V1 Shares				VAG investors																							
V2 Shares		up to 2.00% of			Acoursidation																						
W Shares		the net assets p.a.			Accumulating																						
W1 Shares				Institutional in- vestors																							
W2 Shares																											

\*R Shares and X Shares are sold exclusively through distributors who provide financial services within the framework of independent advice or discretionary portfolio management, and who do not receive or pass on any portfolio commissions for this service. Never-theless, the Company or the Management Company reserves the right to accept subscriptions by investors in Classes R and X.

\*\*Distributions are made by resolution of the Board of Directors. The distribution data are published annually.

\*\*\*This overview is to be read in conjunction with the information on costs in the General Section (particularly section 12) and the Special Section (particularly section 7) on this Sub-fund. The flat-rate fee includes the remuneration for the Management Company, the Investment Manager, distribution, central administration and the Custodian Bank and amounts to at least EUR 20,000 p.a. per Sub-fund. All information on remuneration is exclusive of any applicable value added tax.

## 2. INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES AND INVESTMENT POLICY

- 1. This Sub-fund seeks to achieve positive growth in the value of its assets by investing in a diversified portfolio of debt securities and similar debt instruments which are issued by debtors in emerging markets and which are denominated in a freely convertible currency.
- 2. The Sub-fund is actively managed. The composition of the portfolio is determined by the Investment Manager exclusively in accordance with the criteria defined in the investment objectives/policy, and is regularly reviewed and adjusted if necessary. The performance of the Sub-fund is compared with the indices mentioned under point 8. The investment universe of the Sub-fund is not limited to the components of these indices. As a result, the performance of the Sub-fund may deviate significantly from the benchmark indices.
- 3. In order to meet this objective, the Sub-fund will mostly (at least 51%) invest its assets in bonds (including zero bonds), short-term debt securities and in similar debt instruments (the Investment Instruments). Investment instruments are issued or guaranteed by government debtors from emerging markets (in particular central banks, government authorities and regional banks) or corporate debtors with their registered office in an emerging market. In so doing, the Sub-fund will focus its investments on investment instruments from corporate debtors.

In particular the following countries are understood to be "Emerging Countries" for the purpose of this Special Section: Argentina, Bahrain, Brazil, Chile, China, Dominican Republic, Hong Kong, El Salvador, Ghana, Guatemala, India, Indonesia, Iraq, Israel, Jamaica, Kazakhstan, Columbia, Croatia, Kuwait, South Korea, Malaysia, Mexico, Mongolia, Nigeria, Oman, Panama, Peru, the Philippines, Poland, Qatar, Russia, Singapore, South Africa, Thailand, Turkey, Ukraine, Venezuela, United Arab Emirates, Vietnam. The above list should not be considered exhaustive and is subject to change. Emerging countries are generally undergoing a phase of economic development but have not yet, however, reached the stage of development of the developed nations, particularly Western Europe, North America or Japan.

Investment instruments can be denominated in any convertible currency, including USD, EUR and the currencies of emerging countries and non-OECD Member States. Investment instruments can be denominated in an unlimited number of currencies or in a single currency. The investment instruments of the Sub-fund's net assets may also be denominated in the currencies of non-OECD Member States. However, a maximum of 30% of the net Sub-fund assets may be invested in investment instruments which are denominated in a single currency of a non-OECD Member State. In connection with this item, OECD member countries which belong to the emerging countries are not counted as being OECD member countries.

4. The Sub-fund pursues a high yield strategy, i.e. the investment instruments do not need to be rated or have a specific rating (S&P, Moody's and Fitch). Most of the investments are in high yield rating categories. The portfolio is diversified in terms of regions, countries and sectors.

- 5. In addition, the Sub-fund may invest in the following investment instruments:
  - (a) fixed or variable income debt securities denominated in freely convertible currencies, and which were issued by government debtors in a non-emerging country or corporate debtors with their registered office in a non-emerging country, which mostly generate their revenues in an emerging country;
  - (b) Convertible bonds or debt securities with warrants issued by corporate debtors with their registered office in a non-emerging country, which mostly generate their revenues in an emerging country and which are denominated in a freely convertible currency;
  - (c) Investment instruments which resulted passively from the forced conversion, the forced exchange or other type of realization, without input from the Company or the asset manager for the convertible bonds and debt securities with warrants named under 2.6(b) (e.g. as the result of bankruptcy or restructuring of an issuer).
- 6. Notwithstanding the targeted risk diversification, the Sub-fund's assets may temporarily be concentrated on certain sectors.
- 7. Units in UCITS or other UCI ("target funds") may be acquired up to a maximum limit of 10% of the Sub-fund's assets, meaning that the Sub-fund is <u>eligible to invest in target funds</u>. With regard to the target funds that can be acquired for the Sub-fund, there is no restriction on the types of target funds that can be acquired.
- 8. The Sub-fund may hold cash as well. The net Sub-fund assets may, depending on the assessment of the market situation (in the short term) and taking into account the investment restrictions under tax law pursuant to Article 18 of the Articles of Association, deviate from the above investment focus and the above investment limits, if in this case, with the addition of cash and cash equivalents, the investment focus and the above investment limits are complied with overall.
- 9. Taking into account the ESG strategy of the investment manager, ESG criteria, in particular sustainability risks, are considered as a component in the investment decision-making process for this Subfund. In this case, however, the fund management decides which components are to be used, taking into account the overall risk and return aspects and the exclusions. Article 8 of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 and Article 6 of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 (EU taxonomy) apply to this Sub-fund.

MainFirst Holding AG, to which the Investment Manager of the Sub-fund belongs, is a signatory to the UN PRI (United Nations-supported- for Responsible Investment).

The investment universe undergoes a systematic selection process. This selection process also takes ESG aspects into account on the basis of our own analyses and with the help of external research.

In addition, the fund management makes use of external research from one or more sustainability rating agencies. Their results are taken into account as one component in the Investment Manager's investment decision-making process.

The sustainability strategy of the Sub-fund aims to contribute to an improvement of the sustainability profile of selected portfolio companies through active dialogue and engagement activities.

In order to assess the suitability of investments for the Fund's assets, in addition to the traditional parameters for risk and return expectations, the individual ESG criteria are also taken into account.

Detailed information on the Management Company's responsible investment principles and the list of sustainability rating agencies used can be found at www.mainfirst.com.

The ESG principles underlying the investment process are described in Section 3 "GENERAL IN-VESTMENT OBJECTIVES, INVESTMENT POLICY AND RISKS" and on the Company's website <u>www.mainfirst.com</u>. In accordance with the provisions of Article 6 of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 (EU taxonomy), the following is pointed out in this context:

The principle of "avoidance of significant impairments" within the meaning of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 only applies to those investments on which the financial product is based that take into account the EU criteria for ecologically sustainable economic activities.

The investments underlying the remaining part of the financial product do not take into account the EU criteria for environmentally sustainable economic activities.

The Investment Manager takes into account the adverse sustainability impact for this Sub-fund as defined in Article 7(1) of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 November 2019. To this end, the Investment Manager systematically integrates the main adverse impacts of investment decisions on sustainability factors into their ESG investment process. Different sustainability aspects are weighted in the sustainability assessment of investments depending on their relevance for the respective business model. The ability to systematically take into account the most important adverse sustainability impacts depends largely on the quality of the available data. Further details are available on the website of MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Switzerland) AG (www.mainfirst.com). Information on the adverse effects on sustainability factors is provided in the annual report.

10. The Sub-fund will use securities financing transactions within the meaning of Regulation 2015/2365. In this context, reference is made to points 17.7 (t), 17.7 (u) (risk information) and 17.18 (b), 17.37 – 17.40 (general explanations and cost structure) of the General Section, which includes explanations of the cost structure and the specific risks associated with these transactions.

## 3. RISK FACTORS, RISK PROFILE AND RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

### **General risk factors**

- The Sub-fund may, if necessary, invest in futures contracts, swaps and options on currencies. The corresponding markets are volatile. The risk of suffering losses is higher than for direct investments in securities. These techniques and instruments are only used if they are in line with the Sub-fund's investment policy and do not negatively affect its quality.
- 2. Even when the Company does everything within its power to achieve the investment target, no guarantee can be given that it will be achieved. Correspondingly, the net asset value of the Shares in the Sub-fund can rise or fall. Investments in this Sub-fund are intended for long-term investors.

### **Risk profile**

3. The Sub-fund is suitable for growth-oriented investors. Due to the composition of the net Sub-fund assets, there is a high overall risk, also accompanied by high income potential. The risks can consist, in particular, of currency, credit rating and price risks as well as risks that result from changes to the market interest rate.

### **Risk management**

4. The Sub-fund shall use the commitment approach to calculate its total risk exposure. In this way, the Company shall ensure that the total risk associated with derivatives does not exceed the total net

asset value of the Sub-fund portfolio. This results in a possible total exposure of the Sub-fund in the amount of up to 200% of its net assets.

## 4. BASE CURRENCY OF THE SUB-FUND

The base currency of the Sub-fund is USD.

If the currency of a Share Class differs from the base currency of the Sub-fund, currency hedging is pursued for this Share Class by hedging the exchange rate risk. However, no assurance can be given for the success of this currency hedging and there may be incongruities between the currency position of the Sub-fund and the currency position of the hedged Share Class, particularly in the event of severe market distortions. Hedging strategies can be used both when the value of the base currency of the Sub-fund decreases and when it increases relative to the value of the currency of the hedged Share Class. This means that the use of these strategies can provide significant protection for the investor of the relevant Share Class against the risk of the depreciation of the base currency relative to the value of the currency of the hedged Share Class, but may also result in the investor not being able to benefit from an appreciation in the base currency.

## 5. ISSUE, REDEMPTION AND CONVERSION OF SHARES

The procedural rules stipulated in the General Section shall apply.

## 6. INVESTMENT MANAGER

The Company and the Management Company have appointed MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Switzerland) AG as Investment Manager for this Sub-fund.

## 7. COSTS

Remuneration of the Management Company, the Central Administration, the Custodian Bank, the Investment Manager plus performance fee, and the Distributors

### Flat-rate fee

The Sub-fund is charged a flat-rate fee in the amount stated under Section 1 of this Sub-fund Annex. The flat-rate fee shall be paid to the Management Company. The Management Company pays the remuneration for the Investment Manager and the Distributors from this flat-rate fee. The flat-rate fee shall be calculated for the Sub-fund on a pro rata basis taking into account the daily net asset value of the Sub-fund and shall be payable monthly by the Sub-fund.

The total amount of remuneration for the Management Company, the Central Administration, the Custodian Bank, the Investment Manager and the Distributors shall be up to 2.00% p.a. of the net Subfund assets, depending on the Share Class, but at least EUR 20,000.00 p.a. per Sub-fund. This fee is subject to VAT. The applicable rate of remuneration and the effective costs charged are stated in the annual and semiannual reports.

#### Performance fee

The Investment Manager also receives, as an incentive, a performance fee of 15% of the net value increase per share of the Sub-fund resulting from the ordinary business activity of the Sub-fund. The performance fee is paid to the management company and calculated separately for the Sub-fund using the following formula:

In the following explanation, "gross share value" means the net asset value per share without the delimitation of the performance fee contained in this net asset value. In other words, to compare the performances, the net asset value per share is used, taking into account all costs, without the performance fee contained therein.

The performance fee amounts to 15% of the positive difference between the percentage change in the so-called gross share value of the respective Class and the Benchmark (see "8. SPECIFIC INFOR-MATION ON THE BENCHMARK").

The performance fee is only due if the portfolio of the Sub-fund shows a positive performance at the end of the financial year. If the benchmark at the end of the financial year is negative but the portfolio of the Sub-fund is positive, a performance fee shall be due. Accordingly, a performance fee shall not apply if both the benchmark and the portfolio of the Sub-fund are negative.

The performance fee is calculated on the basis of the number of Shares currently in circulation in the respective Share Class. No performance fee is charged for Shares in Classes V, V1, V2, W, W1 and W2.

The daily return differential between the percentage change in the gross share value of the respective Class and the percentage-based performance of the benchmark is calculated as follows:

Return of the gross share value – return of the benchmark = return differential.

When calculating the performance fee, an additional mechanism is applied that includes that it can only be levied if the cumulative differential calculated using the above method has reached a new high watermark since the date of launching the Sub-fund. The reference period of the high watermark extends over the entire lifespan of the respective unit classes of the Sub-fund. The difference between the cumulative old (before withdrawal of the performance fee) and the new peak value is applied. The performance fee that is proportionally attributable and deferred to the share redemption at the time of an outperformance of the share class during the year is retained for these shares ("crystallisation") and paid to the investment manager at the end of the accounting period. The performance fee of the respective share class is calculated on each valuation day by comparing the percentage change in the share value plus the performance fee amount per share (gross share value) contained in the current share value and the percentage change in the benchmark based on the shares currently in circulation. The deferred total amount changes on the valuation days on which the daily return differential exceeds the high watermark. On the valuation days on which the daily return differential falls below the high watermark, the total amount accrued in the respective share class is released. The performance fee amount already crystallised on share redemptions during the year is retained even in the event of future negative performance.

A disbursable performance fee will be withdrawn from the Sub-fund at the end of the financial year (accounting period; 1 January - 31 December of each year); corresponding provisions for the performance fee are made each time the net asset value of the Sub-fund is calculated. These provisions are included in the net asset value. A further performance fee is only applicable if and when, at the end of

the financial year, the previous high watermark determined for the payment of the remuneration is exceeded.

The calculation period for the performance fee is the financial year. The basis for the initial calculation of the performance fee is the sum of the subscription amounts received in the initial subscription period. After the initial subscription period, the performance fee is determined by comparing the percentage change in the share value plus the performance amount per share (gross share value) contained in the current share value and the percentage change in the benchmark and the applicable return differential.

Should the Company or the Sub-fund be liquidated, the net asset value used is that applicable on the day on which the decision was made to dissolve the Company or the Sub-fund.

#### Calculation example:

#### Calculation assumptions for end of accounting period 1:

Shares in circulation	1000
High watermark in EUR	100
Distribution per share in EUR	1
Net share value at the end of the accounting period in EUR	112
Complete accrued performance fee for previous day in EUR	300
Benchmark value at the beginning of the period	10,000
Benchmark value at the end of the period	11,000
Benchmark value indexed at the end of the period	
(based on high watermark in EUR)	110
Performance fee rate	15%

#### Calculation for end of accounting period 1:

(EUR 112 + (EUR 300/1,000) + EUR 1 - EUR 110) x 1,000 x 15% = EUR 495

(Net unit value plus (already accrued performance fee) plus distribution minus indexed benchmark value) multiplied by circulating units multiplied by performance fee rate

At the end of accounting period 1, a performance fee of EUR 495 can be paid out, as the gross share value (net share value + already accrued performance fee) including distribution of EUR 113.30 exceeds the indexed benchmark of 110.

#### Calculation assumptions for end of accounting period 2:

Shares in circulation at start Shares in circulation at end High watermark in EUR	1000 800 112
Distribution per share in EUR	0
Net share value at the end of the accounting period in EUR	116.50
Complete accrued performance fee for previous day in EUR	0
Benchmark value at the beginning of the period	11,000
Benchmark value at the end of the period	11,500
Benchmark value indexed at the end of the period	
(based on high watermark) in EUR	117.09
Performance fee rate	15%

#### Calculation of the crystallisation amount at the time of return

Assumption: Gross share value EUR 115, indexed benchmark EUR 114, redeemed shares 200

(EUR 115 – EUR 114) x 200 x 15% = EUR 30

(Gross share value minus indexed benchmark) multiplied by return multiplied by performance fee rate

An amount of EUR 30 can be crystallised at the time the share certificates are returned, as the gross share value exceeds the indexed benchmark. Regardless of the further performance of the share class, this amount is paid out at the end of the accounting period.

#### Calculation for end of accounting period 2:

(EUR 116.50 + (EUR 0/800) + EUR 0 - EUR 117.09) x 800 x 15% < EUR 0 = no performance fee

(Net share value plus (already accrued performance fee) plus distribution minus indexed benchmark value) multiplied by circulating shares multiplied by performance fee rate

At the end of accounting period 2, no performance fee can be paid out, as the gross share value (net share value + already accrued performance fee) of EUR 116.50 does not exceed the indexed benchmark of EUR 117.09.

At the end of the accounting period, a performance fee is paid in the amount of the crystallisation amount of EUR 30. The performance payout only affects those shareholders who have sold during the year at a gross share price that was higher than the indexed benchmark value.

## 8. SPECIFIC INFORMATION ON THE BENCHMARK

The different Share Classes of the Sub-fund use the following benchmark, although an active investment approach is not limited to target investments included in a benchmark and the portfolio composition may differ significantly from the benchmark:

- Classes in the base currency USD, the J.P. Morgan Corporate Broad EMBI Diversified High Yield Index Level (JBCDNOIG Index),
- Classes in the base currency EUR, the J.P. Morgan CEMBI Broad Diversified High Yield Hedged in EUR (JBCDHEHY Index),
- Classes in the base currency CHF, the J.P. Morgan CEMBI Broad Diversified High Yield Hedged in CHF (JBCDHFHY Index).

J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, New York, USA, is administrator of these benchmarks. J.P. Morgan Securities PLC, London, UK is registered as administrator with the Financial Conduct Authority in the United Kingdom ("FCA") within the meaning of Regulation (EU) 2016/1011.

The Management Company has established a different benchmark in a robust written plan if the benchmark ceases to exist or changes significantly. The latest version of this robust written plan can be downloaded from <u>www.mainfirst.com</u> or obtained free of charge from the Management Company.

### 9. TERM OF THE SUB-FUND

The Sub-fund has been launched for an unspecified period of time

## **MAINFIRST – GLOBAL DIVIDEND**

## **STARS**

A Sub-fund of MainFirst, SICAV

## **SPECIAL SECTION VIII**

This Special Section supplements the General Section with respect to the **MainFirst- Global Dividend Stars** (the **Financial Product Sub-fund**) Sub-fund and should only be read in combination with the General Section.

## 1. OVERVIEW

CLASSES	ISIN CODE	BASE CUR- RENCY	MINIMUM SUBSCRIP- TION AND MINIMUM HOLDING AMOUNT	INITIAL ISSUE PRICE	PERFORMANCE FEE
A Shares	LU1238901240	EUR		EUR 100	
A1 Shares	LU2115134970	CHF		CHF 100	
A2 Shares	LU2115134897	USD	Nezz	USD 100	
B Shares	LU1238901323	EUR	None	EUR 100	
B1 Shares	LU1963826406	CHF		CHF 100	
B2 Shares	LU2115135191	USD		USD 100	45.00
C Shares	LU1238901596	EUR	EUR 500,000	EUR 100	15 %
C1 Shares	LU2115135357	CHF	CHF 500,000	CHF 100	
C2 Shares	LU2115135274	USD	USD 500,000	USD 100	
D Shares	LU1238901679	EUR	EUR 500,000	EUR 100	
D1 Shares	LU2115135514	CHF	CHF 500,000	CHF 100	
D2 Shares	LU2115135431	USD	USD 500,000	USD 100	

CLASSES	ISIN CODE	BASE CUR- RENCY	MINIMUM SUBSCRIP- TION AND MINIMUM HOLDING AMOUNT	INITIAL ISSUE PRICE	PERFORMANCE FEE
E Shares*	LU1963825697	EUR	EUR 2,500,000	EUR 100	
E1 Shares*	LU1963826588	CHF	CHF 2,500,000	CHF 100	
E2 Shares*	LU2115135787	USD	USD 2,500,000	USD 100	
F Shares*	LU1963825770	EUR	EUR 2,500,000	EUR 100	
F1 Shares*	LU2115135944	CHF	CHF 2,500,000	CHF 100	
F2 Shares*	LU2115135860	USD	USD 2,500,000	USD 100	
R Shares*	LU1238901752	EUR		EUR 100	15 %
R1 Shares*	LU2115136165	CHF		CHF 100	
R2 Shares*	LU2115136082	USD		USD 100	
X Shares*	LU1238901836	EUR	None	EUR 100	
X1 Shares*	LU2115136678	CHF	-	CHF 100	
X2 Shares*	LU2115136595	USD		USD 100	
V Shares	LU2115136249	EUR		EUR 100	Net
W Shares	LU2115136322	EUR	EUR 500,000	EUR 100	None

CLASSES	ISSUE SURCHARGE	FLAT-RATE FEE***	FRAC- TIONS	INVESTORS	DISTRIBUTION POLICY
A Shares			up to		
A1 Shares	up to 5% of the net asset value of the share	up to 1.70% of the net assets p.a.	1/100th of a	Public transac- tions	Accumulating
A2 Shares		Fior	Share		

CLASSES	ISSUE SURCHARGE	FLAT-RATE FEE***	FRAC- TIONS	INVESTORS	DISTRIBUTION POLICY
B Shares					
B1 Shares		up to 1.70% of the net assets		Public transac- tions	Distributing**
B2 Shares	-	p.a.			
C Shares	-				
C1 Shares	-				Accumulating
C2 Shares	-			Institutional in-	
D Shares	-			vestors	
D1 Shares	-	t p.a. t p.a.		Distributing**	
D2 Shares	-		% of the net p.a.		
E Shares*	up to 5% of the net asset value of the share			-	
E1 Shares*			of a Share		Accumulating
E2 Shares*	-			Public transac-	
F Shares*	-			tions	
F1 Shares*				Distributing**	
F2 Shares*	-				
R Shares*					
R1 Shares*					Accumulating
R2 Shares*		up to 0.95% of the net assets		Public transac- tions	
X Shares*		p.a.		-	
X1 Shares*					Distributing**

CLASSES	ISSUE SURCHARGE	FLAT-RATE FEE***	FRAC- TIONS	INVESTORS	DISTRIBUTION POLICY	
X2 Shares*	up to 5% of the net	up to 0.95% of the net assets p.a.	up to	Public transac- tions	Distributing**	
V Shares	asset value of the share	up to 1.70% of	asset value of the	1/100th of a Share	VAG investors	
W Shares		the net assets p.a.	Shale	Institutional in- vestors	Accumulating	

\* E Shares, F Shares, R Shares and X Shares are not reserved for specific investors, i.e. both institutional and retail investors can subscribe for Shares, taking into account the criteria defined here. E Shares, F Shares, R Shares and X Shares are sold exclusively through Distributors who provide financial services within the framework of independent advice or discretionary portfolio management, and who do not receive or pass on any portfolio commissions for this service. Nevertheless, the Company or the Management Company reserves the right to accept subscriptions by investors in the E Shares, F Shares, R Shares and X Shares Classes.

\*\*Distributions are made by resolution of the Board of Directors. The distribution data are published annually.

\*\*\*This overview is to be read in conjunction with the information on costs in the General Section (particularly section 12) and the Special Section (particularly section 7) on this Sub-fund. The flat-rate fee includes the remuneration for the Management Company, the Investment Manager, distribution, central administration and the Custodian Bank and amounts to at least EUR 20,000 p.a. per Sub-fund. All information on remuneration is exclusive of any applicable value added tax.

## 2. INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES AND INVESTMENT POLICY

- The Sub-fund's investment target is to outperform the benchmark (see "8. SPECIFIC INFORMATION ON THE BENCHMARK"). Sub-fund investments are made in equities and other equity-related securities across the world. Depending on the actual situation, the investment focus may be on large-cap companies or also on small and mid-caps. The main focus of investment policy is equity investments with the objective of attractive dividend income.
- 2. The Sub-fund above is an equity fund.
- 3. The Sub-fund is actively managed. The composition of the portfolio is determined by the Investment Manager exclusively in accordance with the criteria defined in the investment objectives/investment policy, and is regularly reviewed and adjusted if necessary. The performance of the Sub-fund is compared with the indices mentioned under point 8. The investment universe of the Sub-fund is not limited to the components of these indices. As a result, the performance of the Sub-fund may deviate significantly from the benchmark indices.
- 4. The equity component of the Sub-fund's assets shall always be at least 51% (gross).
- 5. Up to 25% of the Sub-fund's assets may be invested in: bonds, convertible bonds and warrant bonds whose warrants are issued on securities of companies worldwide that are denominated in a freely convertible currency. Notwithstanding the targeted risk diversification, the Sub-fund's assets may temporarily be concentrated on certain countries and sectors.
- 6. Other than specified in section 17.4(e) of the investment restrictions of the General Section of the Full Prospectus, the Sub-fund shall not buy Shares of funds (UCITS and/or UCI), irrespective of their legal

form. The Sub-fund is therefore <u>target-fund eligible</u> within the meaning of Art. 41 (1) e) of the Law of 2010.

- 7. The Sub-fund may also hold liquid assets.
- 8. Taking into account the ESG strategy of the investment manager, ESG criteria, in particular sustainability risks, are considered as a component in the investment decision-making process for this Subfund. In this case, however, the fund management decides which components are to be used, taking into account the overall risk and return aspects and the exclusions. Article 8 of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 and Article 6 of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 (EU taxonomy) apply to this Sub-fund.

MainFirst Holding AG, to which the Investment Manager belongs, is a signatory to the UN PRI (United Nations-supported Principles for Responsible Investment).

The investment universe undergoes a systematic selection process. This selection process also takes ESG aspects into account on the basis of our own analyses and with the help of external research.

In addition, the fund management makes use of external research from one or more sustainability rating agencies. Their results are taken into account as one component in the Investment Manager's investment decision-making process.

The sustainability strategy of the Sub-fund aims to contribute to an improvement of the sustainability profile of selected portfolio companies through active dialogue and engagement activities.

In order to assess the suitability of investments for the Fund's assets, in addition to the traditional parameters for risk and return expectations, the individual ESG criteria are also taken into account.

Detailed information on the Management Company's responsible investment principles and the list of sustainability rating agencies used can be found at www.mainfirst.com.

The ESG principles underlying the investment process are described in Section 3 "GENERAL IN-VESTMENT OBJECTIVES, INVESTMENT POLICY AND RISKS" and on the Company's website <u>www.mainfirst.com</u>. In accordance with the provisions of Article 6 of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 (EU taxonomy), the following is pointed out in this context:

The principle of "avoidance of significant impairments" within the meaning of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 only applies to those investments on which the financial product is based that take into account the EU criteria for ecologically sustainable economic activities.

The investments underlying the remaining part of the financial product do not take into account the EU criteria for environmentally sustainable economic activities.

The Investment Manager takes into account the adverse sustainability impact for this Sub-fund as defined in Article 7(1) of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 November 2019. To this end, the Investment Manager systematically integrates the main adverse impacts of investment decisions on sustainability factors into their ESG investment process. Different sustainability aspects are weighted in the sustainability assessment of investments depending on their relevance for the respective business model. The ability to systematically take into account the most important adverse sustainability impacts depends largely on the quality of the available data. Further details are available on the website of MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Deutschland) GmbH (www.mainfirst.com). Information on the adverse effects on sustainability factors is provided in the annual report.

9. The Sub-fund will use securities financing transactions within the meaning of Regulation 2015/2365. In this context, reference is made to points 17.7 (t), 17.7 (u) (risk information) and 17.18 (b), 17.37 –

17.40 (general explanations and cost structure) of the General Section, which includes explanations of the cost structure and the specific risks associated with these transactions.

## 3. RISK PROFILE, INVESTOR PROFILE AND RISK MANAGEMENT PROCEDURES

#### **Risk profile**

1. The Sub-fund is suitable for growth-oriented investors.

#### **Investor profile**

2. The Sub-fund is recommended for risk-aware investors who do not need the invested capital in the long term.

#### Risk management procedure

3. The Sub-fund shall use the commitment approach to calculate its total risk exposure. In this way, the Company shall ensure that the total risk associated with derivatives does not exceed the total net asset value of the Sub-fund portfolio.

Under the commitment approach, positions in derivative financial instruments are converted into their corresponding underlying equivalents using the delta method. Netting and hedging effects between derivative financial instruments and their underlyings are taken into account. The sum of these underlying equivalents may not exceed the total net asset value of the Sub-fund portfolio.

## 4. BASE CURRENCY OF THE SUB-FUND

The base currency of the Sub-fund is EUR.

If the currency of a Share Class differs from the base currency of the Sub-fund, currency hedging is pursued for this Share Class by hedging the exchange rate risk. However, no assurance can be given for the success of this currency hedging and there may be incongruities between the currency position of the Sub-fund and the currency position of the hedged Share Class, particularly in the event of severe market distortions. Hedging strategies can be used both when the value of the base currency of the Sub-fund decreases and when it increases relative to the value of the currency of the hedged Share Class. This means that the use of these strategies can provide significant protection for the investor of the relevant Share Class against the risk of the depreciation of the base currency relative to the value of the currency of the hedged Share Class, but may also result in the investor not being able to benefit from an appreciation in the base currency.

## 5. ISSUE, REDEMPTION AND CONVERSION OF SHARES

The procedural rules stipulated in the General Section shall apply.

As an exception to the procedure under point 6.7, the following rules apply:

The redemption price corresponds to the net asset value per Share on the corresponding valuation day. Payment shall in principle be made in Luxembourg no later than three (3) banking days after the day on which the net asset value applicable to the redemption has been determined.

## 6. INVESTMENT MANAGER

The Company and the Management Company have appointed MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Deutschland) GmbH as Investment Manager for this Sub-fund.

## 7. COSTS

## Remuneration of the Management Company, the Central Administration, the Custodian Bank, the Investment Manager plus performance fee, and the Distributors

### Flat-rate fee

The Sub-fund is charged a flat-rate fee in the amount stated under Section 1 of this Sub-fund Annex. The flat-rate fee shall be paid to the Management Company. The Management Company pays the remuneration for the Investment Manager and the Distributors from this flat-rate fee. The flatrate fee shall be calculated for the Sub-fund on a pro rata basis taking into account the daily net asset value of the Sub-fund and shall be payable monthly by the Sub-fund.

The total amount of remuneration for the Management Company, the Central Administration, the Custodian Bank, the Investment Manager and the Distributors shall be up to 1.70% p.a. of the net Sub-fund assets, depending on the Share Class, but at least EUR 20,000.00 p.a. per Sub-fund. This fee is subject to VAT.

The applicable rate of remuneration and the effective costs charged are stated in the annual and semi-annual reports.

### Performance fee

The Investment Manager also receives, as an incentive, a performance fee of 15% of the net value increase per share of the Sub-fund resulting from the ordinary business activity of the Sub-fund. The performance fee is paid to the management company and calculated separately for the Sub-fund using the following formula:

In the following explanation, "gross share value" means the net asset value per share without the delimitation of the performance fee contained in this net asset value. In other words, to compare the performances, the net asset value per share is used, taking into account all costs, without the performance fee contained therein.

The performance fee amounts to 15% of the positive difference between the percentage change in the so-called gross share value of the respective Class and the Benchmark (see "8. SPECIFIC INFORMATION ON THE BENCHMARK"). The performance fee is calculated on the basis of the number of Shares currently in circulation in the respective Share Class. No performance fee is charged for Shares in the V and W Classes.

The daily return differential between the percentage change in the gross share value of the respective Class and the percentage-based performance of the benchmark is calculated as follows: Return of the gross share value – return of the benchmark = return differential.

When calculating the performance fee, an additional mechanism is applied that includes that it can only be levied if the cumulative differential calculated using the above method has reached a new high watermark since the date of launching the Sub-fund. The reference period of the high watermark extends over the entire lifespan of the respective unit classes of the Sub-fund. The difference between the cumulative old (before withdrawal of the performance fee) and the new peak value is applied. The performance fee that is proportionally attributable and deferred to the share redemption at the time of an outperformance of the share class during the year is retained for these shares ("crystallisation") and paid to the investment manager at the end of the accounting period. The performance fee of the respective share class is calculated on each valuation day by comparing the percentage change in the share value plus the performance fee amount per share (gross share value) contained in the current share value and the percentage change in the benchmark based on the shares currently in circulation. The deferred total amount changes on the valuation days on which the daily return differential exceeds the high watermark. On the valuation days on which the daily return differential falls below the high watermark, the total amount accrued in the respective share class is released. The performance fee amount already crystallised on share redemptions during the year is retained even in the event of future negative performance.

A disbursable performance fee will be withdrawn from the Sub-fund at the end of the financial year (accounting period; 1 January - 31 December of each year); corresponding provisions for the performance fee are made each time the net asset value of the Sub-fund is calculated. These provisions are included in the net asset value. A further performance fee is only applicable if and when, at the end of the financial year, the previous high watermark determined for the payment of the remuneration is exceeded.

The calculation period for the performance fee is the financial year. The basis for the initial calculation of the performance fee is the sum of the subscription amounts received in the initial subscription period. After the initial subscription period, the performance fee is determined by comparing the percentage change in the share value plus the performance amount per share (gross share value) contained in the current share value and the percentage change in the benchmark and the applicable return differential.

Should the Company or the Sub-fund be liquidated, the net asset value used is that applicable on the day on which the decision was made to dissolve the Company or the Sub-fund.

The performance fee is calculated for share certificate classes that differ from the Sub-fund currency (e.g. Sub-fund currency EUR, class currency CHF) in such a way that the performance of the unit value and the benchmark development are determined in the Sub-fund currency. Exchange rate fluctuations therefore have no direct impact on the level of the performance fee in the Subfund currency.

#### Calculation example:

#### Calculation assumptions for end of accounting period 1:

1000
100
1
112
300
10,000
11,000

Benchmark value indexed at the end of the period	
(based on high watermark in EUR)	110
Performance fee rate	15%

Calculation for end of accounting period 1:

(EUR 112 + (EUR 300/1,000) + EUR 1 - EUR 110) x 1,000 x 15% = EUR 495

(Net unit value plus (already accrued performance fee) plus distribution minus indexed benchmark value) multiplied by circulating units multiplied by performance fee rate

At the end of accounting period 1, a performance fee of EUR 495 can be paid out, as the gross share value (net share value + already accrued performance fee) including distribution of EUR 113.30 exceeds the indexed benchmark of 110.

#### Calculation assumptions for end of accounting period 2:

Shares in circulation at start	1000
Shares in circulation at end	800
High watermark in EUR	112
Distribution per share in EUR	0
Net share value at the end of the accounting period in EUR	116.50
Complete accrued performance fee for previous day in EUR	0
Benchmark value at the beginning of the period	11,000
Benchmark value at the end of the period	11,500
Benchmark value indexed at the end of the period	
(based on high watermark) in EUR	117.09
Performance fee rate	15%

#### Calculation of the crystallisation amount at the time of return

Assumption: Gross share value EUR 115, indexed benchmark EUR 114, redeemed shares 200

(EUR 115 – EUR 114) x 200 x 15% = EUR 30

(Gross share value minus indexed benchmark) multiplied by return multiplied by performance fee rate

An amount of EUR 30 can be crystallised at the time the share certificates are returned, as the gross share value exceeds the indexed benchmark. Regardless of the further performance of the share class, this amount is paid out at the end of the accounting period.

#### Calculation for end of accounting period 2:

(EUR 116.50 + (EUR 0/800) + EUR 0 - EUR 117.09) x 800 x 15% < EUR 0 = no performance fee

(Net share value plus (already accrued performance fee) plus distribution minus indexed benchmark value) multiplied by circulating shares multiplied by performance fee rate

At the end of accounting period 2, no performance fee can be paid out, as the gross share value (net share value + already accrued performance fee) of EUR 116.50 does not exceed the indexed benchmark of EUR 117.09.

At the end of the accounting period, a performance fee is paid in the amount of the crystallisation amount of EUR 30. The performance payout only affects those shareholders who have sold during the year at a gross share price that was higher than the indexed benchmark value.

## 8. SPECIFIC INFORMATION ON THE BENCHMARK

The different Share Classes of the Sub-fund use the following benchmark, although an active investment approach is not limited to target investments included in a benchmark and the portfolio composition may differ significantly from the benchmark:

- Classes in the base currency EUR and CHF, the **MSCI World High Dividend Yield Net Return EUR Index (M7WOEDY Index)**,

- Classes in the base currency USD, the MSCI World High Dividend Yield Net Total Return Index (M1WDHDVD Index).

MSCI Inc., New York, USA ("MSCI") is administrator of these benchmarks. MSCI is registered as administrator with the Financial Conduct Authority in the United Kingdom ("FCA") within the meaning of Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 with MSCI Limited.

The Management Company has established a different benchmark in a robust written plan if the benchmark ceases to exist or changes significantly. The latest version of this robust written plan can be downloaded from <u>www.mainfirst.com</u> or obtained free of charge from the Management Company.

## 9. TERM OF THE SUB-FUND

The Sub-fund has been launched for an unspecified period of time

# MAINFIRST – GLOBAL EQUITIES UNCONSTRAINED FUND

A Sub-fund of MainFirst, SICAV

## **SPECIAL SECTION IX**

This Special Section supplements the General Section with respect to the **MainFirst – Global Equities Unconstrained Fund** (the **Financial Product Sub-fund**) Sub-fund and should only be read in combination with the General Section.

## 1. OVERVIEW

CLASSES	ISIN CODE	BASE CUR- RENCY	MINIMUM SUB- SCRIPTION AND MINIMUM HOLD- ING AMOUNT	INITIAL ISSUE PRICE	PERFOR- MANCE FEE
A Shares	LU1856130205	EUR		EUR 100	
A1 Shares	LU2115132768	CHF		CHF 100	
A2 Shares	LU1856130387	USD	Nezz	USD 100	
B Shares	LU1856130460	EUR	None	EUR 100	
B1 Shares	LU2115132842	CHF	_	CHF 100	
B2 Shares	LU1856130544	USD		USD 100	
C Shares	LU1856130627	EUR	EUR 500,000	EUR 100	15 %
C1 Shares	LU2115132925	CHF	CHF 500,000	CHF 100	
C2 Shares	LU1856130890	USD	USD 500,000	USD 100	
D Shares	LU1856130973	EUR	EUR 500,000	EUR 100	
D1 Shares	LU2115133147	CHF	CHF 500,000	CHF 100	
D2 Shares	LU1856131195	USD	USD 500,000	USD 100	

CLASSES	ISIN CODE	BASE CUR- RENCY	MINIMUM SUB- SCRIPTION AND MINIMUM HOLD- ING AMOUNT	INITIAL ISSUE PRICE	PERFOR- MANCE FEE
R Shares*	LU1856131278	EUR		EUR 100	
R1 Shares*	LU2115133493	CHF		CHF 100	
R2 Shares*	LU2115133220	USD		USD 100	
X Shares*	LU1856131351	EUR	None	EUR 100	15 %
X1 Shares*	LU2115133733	CHF		CHF 100	
X2 Shares*	LU2115133659	USD		USD 100	
V Shares	LU1856131435	EUR		EUR 100	Neze
W Shares	LU2115133576	EUR	EUR 500,000	EUR 100	None

CLASSES	ISSUE SURCHARGE	FLAT-RATE FEE***	FRAC- TIONS	INVESTORS	DISTRIBUTION POLICY	
A Shares						
A1 Shares				Public transac- tions	Accumulating	
A2 Shares		up to 2.00% of				
B Shares	up to 5% of the net	the net assets p.a.	up to			
B1 Shares	asset value of the share		1/100th of a		Distributing**	
B2 Shares			Share			
C Shares						
C1 Shares		up to 1.40% of the net assets		Institutional in- vestors	Accumulating	
C2 Shares		p.a.				

CLASSES	ISSUE SURCHARGE	FLAT-RATE FEE***	FRAC- TIONS	INVESTORS	DISTRIBUTION POLICY										
D Shares															
D1 Shares		the net assets p.a.	the net assets	the net assets			Institutional in- vestors	Distributing**							
D2 Shares															
R Shares*															
R1 Shares*		up to 1.20% of the net assets p.a.			Accumulating										
R2 Shares*	up to 5% of the net asset value of the		the net assets	up to 1.20% of 1. the net assets		Public transac-									
X Shares*	share												Share	tions	
X1 Shares*								Distributing**							
X2 Shares*															
V Shares		up to 2.00% of		VAG investors											
W Shares		the net assets p.a.		Institutional in- vestors	Accumulating										

\*R Shares and X Shares are sold exclusively through distributors who provide financial services within the framework of independent advice or discretionary portfolio management, and who do not receive or pass on any portfolio commissions for this service. Nevertheless, the Company or the Management Company reserves the right to accept subscriptions by investors in Classes R and X.

\*\*Distributions are made by resolution of the Board of Directors. The distribution data are published annually.

\*\*\*This overview is to be read in conjunction with the information on costs in the General Section (particularly section 12) and the Special Section (particularly section 7) on this Sub-fund. The flat-rate fee includes the remuneration for the Management Company, the Investment Manager, distribution, central administration and the Custodian Bank and amounts to at least EUR 20,000 p.a. per Sub-fund. All information on remuneration is exclusive of any applicable value added tax.

# 2. INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES AND INVESTMENT POLICY

- 1. The Sub-fund's investment target is to outperform the benchmark (see "8. SPECIFIC INFORMATION ON THE BENCHMARK"). These investments in equities and other participation securities are made globally. Depending on the actual situation, the investment focus may be on large-cap companies or also on small and mid-caps.
- 2. The Sub-fund above is an equity fund.
- 3. The Sub-fund is actively managed. The composition of the portfolio is determined by the Investment Manager exclusively in accordance with the criteria defined in the investment objectives/policy, and is

regularly reviewed and adjusted if necessary. The performance of the Sub-fund is compared with the indices mentioned under point 8. The investment universe of the Sub-fund is not limited to the components of these indices. As a result, the performance of the Sub-fund may deviate significantly from the benchmark indices.

- 4. The equity component of the Sub-fund's assets shall always be at least 51%.
- 5. Up to 25% of the Sub-fund's assets may be invested in: bonds, convertible bonds and warrant bonds whose warrants are issued on securities of companies worldwide that are denominated in a freely convertible currency. Notwithstanding the targeted risk diversification, the Sub-fund's assets may temporarily be concentrated on certain countries and sectors.
- 6. When acquiring shares, the Fund has the option of acquiring eligible Chinese A Shares through the Shanghai and Shenzhen Hong Kong Stock Connect ("SHSC") programmes. The use of the SHSC programme serves as an additional investment opportunity for the fund.
- 7. In derogation of item 17.4(e) of the investment restrictions of the General Section of the Full Prospectus, the Sub-fund shall not acquire units in funds (UCITS and/or UCI), regardless of their legal form. The Sub-fund is therefore <u>target-fund eligible</u> within the meaning of Art. 41 (1) e) of the Law of 2010.
- 8. The Sub-fund may also hold liquid assets.
- 9. In compliance with the ESG strategy of the Investment Manager, ESG criteria, in particular sustainability risks, are taken into account in the investment decision-making process for this Sub-fund. To the extent that the Sub-fund invests in corporate securities, only such securities may be acquired that apply good corporate governance practices and do not fall under the general exclusion criteria. Article 8 of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 and Article 6 of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 (EU taxonomy) apply to this Sub-fund.

MainFirst Holding AG, to which the Investment Manager belongs, is a signatory to the UN PRI (United Nations-supported Principles for Responsible Investment).

The investment universe undergoes a systematic selection process. This selection process also takes into account ESG aspects based on our own analyses and with the help of external research services.

In addition, the fund management makes use of external research from one or more sustainability rating agencies. Their results are taken into account as one component in the Investment Manager's investment decision-making process.

For the assessment of the suitability of investments for the Fund's assets, the individual ESG criteria are also taken into account in addition to the traditional parameters for risk and return expectations.

The sustainability strategy of the Sub-fund seeks to deliver, on average, a better ESG risk profile than the benchmark. The benchmark used to guide the Sub-fund's investment strategy is not aligned with the environmental and social characteristics of the Fund. A description of the method used to calculate the benchmark can be found at www.msci.com.

Detailed information on the Management Company's responsible investment principles and the list of sustainability rating agencies used can be found at www.mainfirst.com.

The ESG principles underlying the investment process are described in Section 3 "GENERAL IN-VESTMENT OBJECTIVES, INVESTMENT POLICY AND RISKS" and on the Company's website <u>www.mainfirst.com</u>. ESG risks are a central component of the investment process. Measurement of the ESG risk score underpins the Sub-fund's sustainability strategy: The MainFirst - Global Equities Unconstrained Fund is expected to have a better average ESG risk score than its benchmark (see "8. SPECIFIC INFORMATION ON THE BENCHMARK"). In accordance with the provisions of Article 6 of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 (EU taxonomy), the following is pointed out in this context:

The principle of "avoidance of significant impairments" within the meaning of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 only applies to those investments on which the financial product is based that take into account the EU criteria for ecologically sustainable economic activities.

The investments underlying the remaining part of the financial product do not take into account the EU criteria for environmentally sustainable economic activities.

The Investment Manager takes into account the adverse sustainability impact for this Sub-fund as defined in Article 7(1) of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 November 2019. To this end, the Investment Manager systematically integrates the main adverse impacts of investment decisions on sustainability factors into their ESG investment process. Different sustainability aspects are weighted in the sustainability assessment of investments depending on their relevance for the respective business model. The ability to systematically take into account the most important adverse sustainability impacts depends largely on the quality of the available data. Further details are available on the website of MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Deutschland) GmbH (www.mainfirst.com). Information on the adverse effects on sustainability factors is provided in the annual report.

 The Sub-fund will use securities financing transactions within the meaning of Regulation 2015/2365. In this context, reference is made to points 17.7 (t), 17.7 (u) (risk information) and 17.18 (b), 17.37 – 17.40 (general explanations and cost structure) of the General Section, which includes explanations of the cost structure and the specific risks associated with these transactions.

# 3. RISK PROFILE AND RISK MANAGEMENT PROCEDURE

#### **Risk profile**

1. The Sub-fund is recommended for speculative investors who do not need the invested capital over the long term. Due to the composition of the net Sub-fund assets, there is a high overall risk, also accompanied by high income potential. The risks can consist, in particular, of currency, credit rating and price risks as well as risks that result from changes to the market interest rate.

#### **Risk management**

- 2. The Sub-fund will apply the relative Value-at-Risk method (VaR) to the benchmark MSCI World Net Total Return EUR Index (MSDEWIN INDEX) in order to determine the overall risk of its investments.
- 3. The **leverage** of the investments of the Sub-fund possibly generated through the use of derivative financial instruments is not expected to exceed 200% of the nominal value of the portfolio's investments. However, this limit may be exceeded in individual cases. This limit is calculated from the total of all nominal values of the derivative financial instruments used by the Sub-fund.

# 4. BASE CURRENCY OF THE SUB-FUND

The base currency of the Sub-fund is EUR.

If the currency of a Share Class differs from the base currency of the Sub-fund, no currency hedging is pursued for this Share Class by hedging the exchange rate risk.

# 5. ISSUE, REDEMPTION AND CONVERSION OF SHARES

The procedural rules stipulated in the General Section shall apply.

As an exception to the procedure under point 6.7, the following rules apply:

The redemption price corresponds to the net asset value per Share on the corresponding valuation day. Payment shall in principle be made in Luxembourg no later than three (3) banking days after the day on which the net asset value applicable to the redemption has been determined.

# 6. INVESTMENT MANAGER

The Company and the Management Company have appointed MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Deutschland) GmbH as Investment Manager for this Sub-fund.

# 7. COSTS

# Remuneration of the Management Company, the Central Administration, the Custodian Bank, the Investment Manager plus performance fee, and the Distributors

#### Flat-rate fee

The Sub-fund is charged a flat-rate fee in the amount stated under Section 1 of this Sub-fund Annex. The flat-rate fee shall be paid to the Management Company. The Management Company pays the remuneration for the Investment Manager and the Distributors from this flat-rate fee. The flatrate fee shall be calculated for the Sub-fund on a pro rata basis taking into account the daily net asset value of the Sub-fund and shall be payable monthly by the Sub-fund.

The total amount of remuneration for the Management Company, the Central Administration, the Custodian Bank, the Investment Manager and the Distributors shall be up to 2.00% p.a. of the net Sub-fund assets, depending on the Share Class, but at least EUR 20,000.00 p.a. per Sub-fund. This fee is subject to VAT.

The applicable rate of remuneration and the effective costs charged are stated in the annual and semi-annual reports.

#### Performance fee

The Investment Manager also receives, as an incentive, a performance fee of 15% of the net value increase per share of the Sub-fund resulting from the ordinary business activity of the Sub-fund. The performance fee is paid to the management company and calculated separately for the Sub-fund using the following formula:

In the following explanation, "gross share value" means the net asset value per share without the delimitation of the performance fee contained in this net asset value. In other words, to compare the performances, the net asset value per share is used, taking into account all costs, without the performance fee contained therein.

The performance fee amounts to 15% of the positive difference between the percentage change in the so-called gross share value of the respective Class and the Benchmark (see "8. SPECIFIC INFORMATION ON THE BENCHMARK"). The performance fee is calculated on the basis of the number of Shares currently in circulation in the respective Share Class. No performance fee is charged for Shares in the V and W Classes.

The daily return differential between the percentage change in the gross share value of the respective Class and the percentage-based performance of the benchmark is calculated as follows:

Return of the gross share value – return of the benchmark = return differential.

When calculating the performance fee, an additional mechanism is applied that includes that it can only be levied if the cumulative differential calculated using the above method has reached a new high watermark since the date of launching the Sub-fund. The reference period of the high watermark extends over the entire life cycle of the respective share classes of the Sub-fund, using the difference between the cumulative old (before the performance fee was withdrawn) and the new maximum value. The performance fee that is proportionally attributable and deferred to the share redemption at the time of an outperformance of the share class during the year is retained for these shares ("crystallisation") and paid to the investment manager at the end of the accounting period. The performance fee of the respective share class is calculated on each valuation day by comparing the percentage change in the share value plus the performance fee amount per share (gross share value) contained in the current share value and the percentage change in the benchmark based on the shares currently in circulation. The deferred total amount changes on the valuation days on which the daily return differential exceeds the high watermark. On the valuation days on which the daily return differential falls below the high watermark, the total amount accrued in the respective share class is released. The performance fee amount already crystallised on share redemptions during the year is retained even in the event of future negative performance.

A disbursable performance fee will be withdrawn from the Sub-fund at the end of the financial year (accounting period; 1 January - 31 December of each year); corresponding provisions for the performance fee are made each time the net asset value of the Sub-fund is calculated. These provisions are included in the net asset value. A further performance fee is only applicable if and when, at the end of the financial year, the previous high watermark determined for the payment of the remuneration is exceeded.

The calculation period for the performance fee is the financial year. The basis for the initial calculation of the performance fee is the sum of the subscription amounts received in the initial subscription period. After the initial subscription period, the performance fee is determined by comparing the percentage change in the share value plus the performance amount per share (gross share value) contained in the current share value and the percentage change in the benchmark and the applicable return differential.

Should the Company or the Sub-fund be liquidated, the net asset value used is that applicable on the day on which the decision was made to dissolve the Company or the Sub-fund.

The performance fee is calculated for unit certificate classes that differ from the Sub-fund currency (e.g. Sub-fund currency EUR, class currency CHF) in such a way that the performance of the unit value and the benchmark development are determined in the Sub-fund currency. Exchange rate fluctuations therefore have no direct impact on the level of the performance fee in the Sub-fund currency.

#### Calculation example:

Calculation assumptions for end of accounting period 1:

Shares in circulation High watermark in EUR Distribution per share in EUR	1000 100 1
Net share value at the end of the accounting period in EUR	112
Complete accrued performance fee for previous day in EUR	300
Benchmark value at the beginning of the period	10,000
Benchmark value at the end of the period	11,000
Benchmark value indexed at the end of the period	
(based on high watermark in EUR)	110
Performance fee rate	15%

#### Calculation for end of accounting period 1:

(EUR 112 + (EUR 300/1,000) + EUR 1 - EUR 110) x 1,000 x 15% = EUR 495

(Net unit value plus (already accrued performance fee) plus distribution minus indexed benchmark value) multiplied by circulating units multiplied by performance fee rate

At the end of accounting period 1, a performance fee of EUR 495 can be paid out, as the gross share value (net share value + already accrued performance fee) including distribution of EUR 113.30 exceeds the indexed benchmark of 110.

#### Calculation assumptions for end of accounting period 2:

Shares in circulation at start	1000
Shares in circulation at end	800
High watermark in EUR	112
Distribution per share in EUR	0
Net share value at the end of the accounting period in EUR	116.50
Complete accrued performance fee for previous day in EUR	0
Benchmark value at the beginning of the period	11,000
Benchmark value at the end of the period	11,500
Benchmark value indexed at the end of the period	
(based on high watermark) in EUR	117.09
Performance fee rate	15%

#### Calculation of the crystallisation amount at the time of return

Assumption: Gross share value EUR 115, indexed benchmark EUR 114, redeemed shares 200

(EUR 115 – EUR 114) x 200 x 15% = EUR 30

(Gross share value minus indexed benchmark) multiplied by return multiplied by performance fee rate

An amount of EUR 30 can be crystallised at the time the share certificates are returned, as the gross share value exceeds the indexed benchmark. Regardless of the further performance of the share class, this amount is paid out at the end of the accounting period.

#### Calculation for end of accounting period 2:

(EUR 116.50 + (EUR 0/800) + EUR 0 – EUR 117.09) x 800 x 15% < EUR 0 = no performance fee

(Net share value plus (already accrued performance fee) plus distribution minus indexed benchmark value) multiplied by circulating shares multiplied by performance fee rate

At the end of accounting period 2, no performance fee can be paid out, as the gross share value (net share value + already accrued performance fee) of EUR 116.50 does not exceed the indexed benchmark of EUR 117.09.

At the end of the accounting period, a performance fee is paid in the amount of the crystallisation amount of EUR 30. The performance payout only affects those shareholders who have sold during the year at a gross share price that was higher than the indexed benchmark value.

# 8. SPECIFIC INFORMATION ON THE BENCHMARK

The different Share Classes of the Sub-fund use the following benchmark, although an active investment approach is not limited to target investments included in a benchmark and the portfolio composition may differ significantly from the benchmark:

# - MSCI World Net Total Return EUR Index (MSDEWIN Index)

The administrator of these benchmarks is MSCI Inc., New York, USA ("MSCI"). MSCI is registered as administrator with the Financial Conduct Authority in the United Kingdom ("FCA") within the meaning of Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 with MSCI Limited.

The Management Company has established a different benchmark in a robust written plan if the benchmark ceases to exist or changes significantly. The latest version of this robust written plan can be downloaded from <u>www.mainfirst.com</u> or obtained free of charge from the Management Company.

# 9. TERM OF THE SUB-FUND

The Sub-fund has been launched for an unspecified period of time

# MAINFIRST – TOTAL RETURN EUROPEAN EQUITY FUND

A Sub-fund of MainFirst, SICAV

# SPECIAL SECTION X

This Special Section supplements the General Section with respect to the **MainFirst – Total Return European Equity Fund** (the **Financial Product Sub-fund**) Sub-fund and should only be read in combination with the General Section.

# 1. OVERVIEW

CLASSES	ISIN CODE	BASE CUR- RENCY	MINIMUM SUBSCRIPTION AND MINIMUM HOLDING AMOUNT	INITIAL IS- SUE PRICE	PERFOR- MANCE FEE
B Shares	LU2211756205	EUR		EUR 100	
B1 Shares	LU2211756460	CHF	None	CHF 100	
X Shares*	LU2211756627	EUR		EUR 1,000	15 %
X1 Shares*	LU2211757518	CHF		CHF 1,000	

CLASSES	ISSUE SUR- CHARGE	FLAT-RATE FEE***	FRACTIONS	INVESTORS	DISTRIBUTION POLICY
B Shares		up to 1.70% of the	up to 1/100th		
B1 Shares	up to 5% of the net asset	net assets p.a.	of a Share	Public trans- actions	Distributing**
X Shares*	value of the Share	up to 0.95% of the	up to		
X1 Shares*		net assets p.a.	1/1000th of a Share		

\* X Shares are sold exclusively through distributors who provide financial services within the framework of independent advice or discretionary portfolio management, and who do not receive or pass on any portfolio commissions for this service. Nevertheless, the Company or the Management Company reserves the right to accept subscriptions by investors in classes of X Shares.

\*\*Distributions are made by resolution of the Board of Directors. The distribution data are published annually.

\*\*\*This overview is to be read in conjunction with the information on costs in the General Section (particularly section 12) and the Special Section (particularly section 7) on this Sub-fund. The flat-rate fee includes the remuneration for the Management Company, the Investment Manager, distribution, central administration and the Custodian Bank and amounts to at least EUR 20,000 p.a. per Sub-fund. All information on remuneration is exclusive of any applicable value added tax.

# 2. INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES AND INVESTMENT POLICY

- 1. The Sub-fund's investment strategy aims to generate a positive investment result of more than 10% p.a. over the long term (the **benchmark**). The assets of the Sub-fund are actively managed. This means that the Investment Manager makes a discretionary selection of companies based on fundamental analyses, among other criteria. Other selection and analysis techniques are also used.
- 2. The Sub-fund above is an equity fund.
- 3. The Sub-fund is actively managed. The composition of the portfolio is determined by the Investment Manager exclusively in accordance with the criteria defined in the investment objectives/policy, and is regularly reviewed and adjusted if necessary. The Sub-fund is not managed against an index as a reference base.
- 4. The Sub-fund invests its assets predominantly (min. 51%) in equities or equity-related securities of companies that are based in a member state of the European Union or conduct the majority of their business activities in a member state of the European Union or are holding companies that primarily hold investments in companies based in a member state of the European Union, with a focus on companies with small and medium-sized market capitalisations.
- 5. As part of its active asset management, the Sub-fund may also invest in equities or equity-related securities with a different focus in terms of size and region, as well as in bonds, convertible bonds and warrant-linked bonds whose warrants are denominated in securities, units in UCITS and other UCIs, participation certificates, bank bonds, time deposits, index certificates on interest rates or bond indices, credit-linked notes and other fixed-income securities (e.g. zero bonds).
- 6. As part of its investment policy, the Sub-fund can invest up to 10% of the Sub-fund's assets in UCITS and/or UCI, irrespective of their legal form, that are subject to supervision equivalent to the CSSF. The Sub-fund is therefore <u>target-fund eligible</u> within the meaning of Art. 41 (1) e) of the Law of 2010.
- 7. The Sub-fund may also hold liquid assets. The net Sub-fund assets may, depending on the assessment of the market situation (in the short term) and taking into account the investment restrictions under tax law pursuant to Article 18 of the Articles of Association, deviate from the above investment focus, if in this case, with the addition of cash and cash equivalents, the investment focus is complied with overall.

Taking into account the ESG strategy of the investment manager, ESG criteria, in particular sustainability risks, are considered as a component in the investment decision-making process for this Subfund. In this case, however, the fund management decides which components are to be used, taking into account the overall risk and return aspects and the exclusions.

The investment manager does not currently take into account any adverse effects of investment decisions on sustainability factors for this Sub-fund. In the market, the relevant data that must be used to determine and weight the adverse sustainability impacts are currently not available to a sufficient degree. By 30 December 2022 at the latest, the investment manager will provide information on whether and how the most important negative effects of investment decisions on sustainability factors are taken into account.

- The ESG principles underlying the investment process are described in Section 3 "GENERAL IN-VESTMENT OBJECTIVES, INVESTMENT POLICY AND RISKS" and on the Company's website www.mainfirst.com.
- 9. No assurance can be given that the objectives of the investment policy will be achieved. In particular, there can be no guarantee that the investor will recoup all of the assets invested in the Sub-fund (see Item "3. Risk Profile and Risk Management Procedure"). The Sub-fund does not promote sustainable features or does not have the goal of sustainable investment within the meaning of Article 8 or Article 9 of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088. In accordance with the provisions of Article 7 of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 (EU taxonomy), the following is pointed out in this context:

The underlying investments in this financial product do not take into account the EU criteria for environmentally sustainable economic activities

10. The Sub-fund will use securities financing transactions within the meaning of Regulation 2015/2365. In this context, reference is made to points 17.7 (t), 17.7 (u) (risk information) and 17.18 (b), 17.37 – 17.40 (general explanations and cost structure) of the General Section, which includes explanations of the cost structure and the specific risks associated with these transactions.

# 3. RISK PROFILE AND RISK MANAGEMENT PROCEDURE

#### **Risk profile**

1. The Sub-fund is suitable for growth-oriented investors. Due to the composition of the net Sub-fund assets, there is a high overall risk, also accompanied by high income potential. The risks can consist, in particular, of currency, credit rating and price risks as well as risks that result from changes to the market interest rate.

#### **Risk management**

- 2. The Sub-fund shall use the commitment approach to calculate its total risk exposure. In this way, the Company shall ensure that the total risk associated with derivatives does not exceed the total net asset value of the Sub-fund portfolio.
- 3. Under the commitment approach, positions in derivative financial instruments are converted into their corresponding underlying equivalents using the delta method. Netting and hedging effects between derivative financial instruments and their underlyings are taken into account. The sum of these underlying equivalents may not exceed the total net asset value of the Sub-fund portfolio.

# 4. BASE CURRENCY OF THE SUB-FUND

The base currency of the Sub-fund is EUR.

If the currency of a Share Class differs from the base currency of the Sub-fund, currency hedging is pursued for this Share Class by hedging the exchange rate risk. However, no assurance can be given for the success of this currency hedging and there may be incongruities between the currency position of the Sub-fund and the currency position of the hedged Share Class, particularly in the event of severe market distortions. Hedging strategies can be used both when the value of the base currency of the Sub-fund decreases and when it increases relative to the value of the currency of the hedged Share Class. This means that the use of these strategies can provide significant protection for the investor

of the relevant Share Class against the risk of the depreciation of the base currency relative to the value of the currency of the hedged Share Class, but may also result in the investor not being able to benefit from an appreciation in the base currency.

# 5. ISSUE, REDEMPTION AND CONVERSION OF SHARES

- 1. The procedural rules stipulated in the General Section shall apply.
- 2. As an exception to the procedure under point 6.7, the following rules apply:

The redemption price corresponds to the net asset value per Share on the corresponding valuation day. Payment shall in principle be made in Luxembourg no later than three (3) banking days after the day on which the net asset value applicable to the redemption has been determined.

# 6. INVESTMENT MANAGER

The Company has appointed ETHENEA Independent Investors S.A., 16, rue Gabriel Lippmann, LU-5365 Munsbach, Luxembourg, as Investment Manager of this Sub-fund.

# 7. COSTS

Remuneration of the Management Company, the Central Administration, the Custodian Bank, the Investment Manager plus performance fee, and the Distributors

#### Flat-rate fee

The Sub-fund is charged a flat-rate fee in the amount stated under Section 1 of this Sub-fund Annex. The flat-rate fee shall be paid to the Management Company. The Management Company pays the remuneration for the Investment Manager and the Distributors from this flat-rate fee. The flatrate fee shall be calculated for the Sub-fund on a pro rata basis taking into account the daily net asset value of the Sub-fund and shall be payable monthly by the Sub-fund.

The total amount of remuneration for the Management Company, the Central Administration, the Custodian Bank, the Investment Manager and the Distributors shall be up to 1.70% p.a. of the net Sub-fund assets, depending on the Share Class, but at least EUR 20,000.00 p.a. per Sub-fund. This fee is subject to VAT.

The applicable rate of remuneration and the effective costs charged are stated in the annual and semi-annual reports.

# Performance fee

The Investment Manager also receives, as an incentive, a performance fee of 15% of the net value increase per share of the Sub-fund resulting from the ordinary business activity of the Sub-fund. The performance fee is paid to the management company and calculated separately for the Sub-fund using the following formula:

In the following explanation, "gross share value" means the net asset value per share without the delimitation of the performance fee contained in this net asset value. In other words, to compare

the performances, the net asset value per share is used, taking into account all costs, without the performance fee contained therein.

The performance fee amounts to 15% of the positive difference between the percentage change in the so-called gross share value of the respective Class and the reference value. The performance fee is calculated on the basis of the number of Shares currently in circulation in the respective Share Class.

The daily return differential between the percentage change in the gross share value of the respective Class and the percentage-based performance of the reference value is calculated as follows:

Return of the gross share value – reference value = return differential.

The reference value of 10% p.a. is thereby determined taking into account the compound interest effect under the Day Count Convention ACT/ACT with daily precision for the relevant consideration period.

When calculating the performance fee, an additional mechanism is applied that includes that it can only be levied if the cumulative differential calculated using the above method has reached a new high watermark since the date of launching the Sub-fund. The reference period of the high watermark extends over the entire lifespan of the respective unit classes of the Sub-fund. The difference between the cumulative old (before withdrawal of the performance fee) and the new peak value is applied. The performance fee that is proportionally attributable and deferred to the share redemption at the time of an outperformance of the share class during the year is retained for these shares ("crystallisation") and paid to the investment manager at the end of the accounting period. The performance fee of the respective share class is calculated on each valuation day by comparing the percentage change in the share value plus the performance fee amount per share (gross share value) contained in the current share value and the percentage change in the reference value based on the shares currently in circulation. The deferred total amount changes on the valuation days on which the daily return differential exceeds the high watermark. On the valuation days on which the daily return differential falls below the high watermark, the total amount accrued in the respective share class is released. The performance fee amount already crystallised on share redemptions during the year is retained even in the event of future negative performance.

A disbursable performance fee will be withdrawn from the Sub-fund at the end of the financial year (accounting period; 1 January - 31 December of each year); corresponding provisions for the performance fee are made each time the net asset value of the Sub-fund is calculated. These provisions are included in the net asset value. A further performance fee is only applicable if and when, at the end of the financial year, the previous high watermark determined for the payment of the remuneration is exceeded.

The calculation period for the performance fee is the financial year. The basis for the initial calculation of the performance fee is the sum of the subscription amounts received in the initial subscription period. After the initial subscription period, the performance fee is determined by comparing the percentage change in the share value plus the performance amount per share (gross share value) contained in the current share value and the percentage change in the reference value and the applicable return differential.

Should the Company or the Sub-fund be liquidated, the net asset value used is that applicable on the day on which the decision was made to dissolve the Company or the Sub-fund.

#### Calculation example:

Calculation assumptions for end of accounting period 1:

Shares in circulation High watermark in EUR Distribution per share in EUR	1,000 100 1
Net share value at the end of the accounting period in EUR	
before the last booking of the performance fee delta	112
Complete accrued performance fee for previous day in EUR	300
Reference value	10% p.a.
Reference value at the end of the period in EUR	
(based on high watermark in EUR)	110
Performance fee rate	15%

#### Calculation for end of accounting period 1:

(EUR 112 + (EUR 300/1,000) + EUR 1 – EUR 110) x 1,000 x 15% = EUR 495.00

(Net unit value plus (already accrued performance fee) plus distribution minus the reference value in EUR) multiplied by circulating units multiplied by performance fee rate

At the end of accounting period 1, a performance fee of EUR 495.00 can be paid out, as the gross share value (net share value + already accrued performance fee) including distribution of EUR 113.30 exceeds the reference value of EUR 110.

#### Calculation assumptions for end of accounting period 2:

Shares in circulation at start Shares in circulation at end	1,000 800
High watermark in EUR	111.81
Distribution per share in EUR	0
Net share value at the end of the accounting period in EUR	116.50
Complete accrued performance fee for previous day in EUR	0
Reference value	10% p.a.
Reference value at the end of the period in EUR	
(based on high watermark) in EUR	122.99
Performance fee rate	15%

#### Calculation of the crystallisation amount at the time of return

Assumption: Gross share value EUR 115, reference value EUR 114, redeemed shares 200

(EUR 115 – EUR 114) x 200 x 15% = EUR 30

(Gross share value minus the reference value in EUR) multiplied by return multiplied by performance fee rate

An amount of EUR 30 can be crystallised at the time the share certificates are returned, as the gross share value exceeds the reference value in EUR. Regardless of the further performance of the share class, this amount is paid out at the end of the accounting period.

#### Calculation for end of accounting period 2:

(EUR 116.50 + (EUR 0/800) + EUR 0 - EUR 122.99) x 800 x 15% < EUR 0 = no performance fee

(Net share value plus (already accrued performance fee) plus distribution minus the reference value in EUR) multiplied by circulating shares multiplied by performance fee rate

At the end of accounting period 2, no performance fee can be paid out, as the gross share value (net share value + already accrued performance fee) of EUR 116.50 does not exceed the reference value of EUR 122.99.

At the end of the accounting period, a performance fee is paid in the amount of the crystallisation amount of EUR 30. The performance payout only affects those shareholders who have sold during the year at a gross share price that was higher than the reference value in EUR.

# 8. TERM OF THE SUB-FUND

The Sub-fund has been launched for an unspecified period of time

# **MAINFIRST – MEGATRENDS ASIA**

A Sub-fund of MainFirst, SICAV

# **SPECIAL SECTION XI**

This Special Section supplements the General Section with respect to the **MainFirst – Megatrends Asia** (the **Financial Product Sub-fund**) Sub-fund and should only be read in combination with the General Section.

# 1. OVERVIEW

CLASSES	ISIN CODE	BASE CUR- RENCY	MINIMUM SUBSCRIPTION AND MINIMUM HOLDING AMOUNT	INITIAL IS- SUE PRICE	PERFOR- MANCE FEE
A Shares	LU2381585830	USD		USD 100	
A1 Shares	LU2381585913	EUR	None	EUR 100	
B Shares	LU2381586051	USD	None	USD 100	
B1 Shares	LU2381586135	EUR		EUR 100	
C Shares	LU2381586218	USD	USD 500,000	USD 100	
C1 Shares	LU2381586309	EUR	EUR 500,000	EUR 100	15 %
D Shares	LU2381586481	USD	USD 500,000	USD 100	
D1 Shares	LU2381586564	EUR	EUR 500,000	EUR 100	
R Shares	LU2381586648	USD		USD 100	
R1 Shares	LU2381586721	EUR	None	EUR 100	
X Shares	LU2381586994	USD		USD 100	

CLASSES	ISIN CODE	BASE CUR- RENCY	MINIMUM SUBSCRIPTION AND MINIMUM HOLDING AMOUNT	INITIAL IS- SUE PRICE	PERFOR- MANCE FEE
X1 Shares	LU2381587026	EUR		EUR 100	

CLASSES	ISSUE SUR- CHARGE	FLAT-RATE FEE***	FRAC- TIONS	INVESTORS	DISTRIBUTION POLICY
A Shares					Accumulating
A1 Shares		up to 1.80% of the net assets p.a.		Public trans- actions	Accumulating
B Shares	_		up to 1/100th		Distributing**
B1 Shares	_				Distributing
C Shares	_			of a investors	Accumulating
C1 Shares	up to 5% of the net asset value of the	up to 1.30% of the net			
D Shares	Share	assets p.a.	Share		Distributing**
D1 Shares	-		-		
R Shares*	-				Accumulating
R1 Shares*	-	up to 1.50% of the net			
X Shares*	-	assets p.a.			Distributing**
X1 Shares*					-

\* X Shares are sold exclusively through distributors who provide financial services within the framework of independent advice or discretionary portfolio management, and who do not receive or pass on any portfolio commissions for this service. Nevertheless, the Company or the Management Company reserves the right to accept subscriptions by investors in classes of X Shares.

\*\*Distributions are made by resolution of the Board of Directors. The distribution data are published annually.

\*\*\*This overview is to be read in conjunction with the information on costs in the General Section (particularly section 12) and the Special Section (particularly section 7) on this Sub-fund. The flat-rate fee includes the remuneration for the Management Company, the Investment Manager, distribution, central administration and the Custodian Bank and amounts to at least EUR 20,000 p.a. per Sub-fund. All information on remuneration is exclusive of any applicable value added tax.

# 2. INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES AND INVESTMENT POLICY

- 1. The Sub-fund's investment target is to outperform the benchmark (see "8. SPECIFIC INFORMATION ON THE BENCHMARK"). The investment focus is on Asian equities and other equity securities of both large and small and medium-sized companies.
- 2. The Sub-fund above is an equity fund.
- 3. The Sub-fund is actively managed. The composition of the portfolio is determined by the Investment Manager exclusively in accordance with the criteria defined in the investment objectives/policy, and is regularly reviewed and adjusted if necessary. The performance of the Sub-fund is compared with the indices mentioned under point 8. The investment universe of the Sub-fund is not limited to the components of these indices. As a result, the performance of the Sub-fund may deviate significantly from the benchmark indices.
- 4. The Sub-fund invests its assets predominantly (min. 51% gross) in equities or equity-related securities of companies in the Asian region. Up to 100% can be invested in foreign currencies.
- 5. Up to 25% of the Sub-fund's assets may be invested in: bonds, convertible bonds and warrant bonds whose warrants are issued on securities of companies worldwide that are denominated in a freely convertible currency. Notwithstanding the targeted risk diversification, the Sub-fund's assets may temporarily be concentrated on certain countries and sectors.
- 6. When acquiring shares, the Fund has the option of acquiring eligible Chinese A Shares through the Shanghai and Shenzhen Hong Kong Stock Connect ("SHSC") programmes. The use of the SHSC programme serves as an additional investment opportunity for the fund.
- 7. Units in UCITS or other UCI ("target funds") may be acquired up to a maximum limit of 10% of the Sub-fund's assets, meaning that the Sub-fund is <u>eligible to invest in target funds</u>. With regard to the target funds that can be acquired for the Sub-fund, there is no restriction on the types of target funds that can be acquired.
- 8. The use of derivative financial instruments ("derivatives") is permitted in order to achieve the abovementioned investment objectives, as well as for investment and hedging purposes. In addition to option rights, this also includes swaps and forward contracts on transferable securities, money market instruments, financial indices within the meaning of Article 9(1) of Directive 2007/16/EC and Article XIII of the ESMA Guidelines 2014/937, interest rates, exchange rates, currencies and investment funds in accordance with Article 41(1) e) of the Law of 17 December 2010.
- 9. The Sub-fund may also hold liquid assets. The net Sub-fund assets may, depending on the assessment of the market situation (in the short term) and taking into account the investment restrictions under tax law pursuant to Article 18 of the Articles of Association, deviate from the above investment focus, if in this case, with the addition of cash and cash equivalents, the investment focus is complied with overall.
- 10. In compliance with the ESG strategy of the Investment Manager, ESG criteria, in particular sustainability risks, are taken into account in the investment decision-making process for this Sub-fund. To the extent that the Sub-fund invests in corporate securities, only such securities may be acquired that apply good corporate governance practices and do not fall under the general exclusion criteria. Article 8 of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 and Article 6 of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 (EU taxonomy) apply to this Sub-fund.

MainFirst Holding AG, to which the Investment Manager belongs, is a signatory to the UN PRI (United Nations-supported Principles for Responsible Investment).

The investment universe undergoes a systematic selection process. This selection process also takes into account ESG aspects based on our own analyses and with the help of external research services.

In addition, the fund management makes use of external research from one or more sustainability rating agencies. Their results are taken into account as one component in the Investment Manager's investment decision-making process.

The sustainability strategy of the Sub-fund seeks to deliver, on average, a better ESG risk profile than the benchmark. The benchmark used to guide the Sub-fund's investment strategy is not aligned with the environmental and social characteristics of the Fund. A description of the method used to calculate the benchmark can be found at www.msci.com.

For the assessment of the suitability of investments for the Fund's assets, the individual ESG criteria are also taken into account in addition to the traditional parameters for risk and return expectations.

Detailed information on the Management Company's responsible investment principles and the list of sustainability rating agencies used can be found at www.mainfirst.com.

The ESG principles underlying the investment process are described in Section 3 "GENERAL IN-VESTMENT OBJECTIVES, INVESTMENT POLICY AND RISKS" and on the Company's website <u>www.mainfirst.com</u>. ESG risks are a central component of the investment process. Measurement of the ESG risk score underpins the Sub-fund's sustainability strategy: MainFirst - Megatrends Asia should on average show a better ESG risk score than its benchmark (see "8. SPECIFIC INFOR-MATION ON THE BENCHMARK"). In accordance with the provisions of Article 6 of Regulation (EU) 2020/852 (EU taxonomy), the following is pointed out in this context.

The principle of "avoidance of significant impairments" within the meaning of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 only applies to those investments on which the financial product is based that take into account the EU criteria for ecologically sustainable economic activities.

The investments underlying the remaining part of the financial product do not take into account the EU criteria for environmentally sustainable economic activities.

The Investment Manager takes into account the adverse sustainability impact for this Sub-fund as defined in Article 7(1) of Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 November 2019. To this end, the Investment Manager systematically integrates the main adverse impacts of investment decisions on sustainability factors into their ESG investment process. Different sustainability aspects are weighted in the sustainability assessment of investments depending on their relevance for the respective business model. The ability to systematically take into account the most important adverse sustainability impacts depends largely on the quality of the available data. Further details are available on the website of MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Deutschland) GmbH (www.mainfirst.com). Information on the adverse effects on sustainability factors is provided in the annual report.

11. The Sub-fund will use securities financing transactions within the meaning of Regulation 2015/2365. In this context, reference is made to points 17.7 (t), 17.7 (u) (risk information) and 17.18 (b), 17.37 – 17.40 (general explanations and cost structure) of the General Section, which includes explanations of the cost structure and the specific risks associated with these transactions.

# 3. RISK PROFILE AND RISK MANAGEMENT PROCEDURE

#### **Risk profile**

1. The Sub-fund is suitable for speculative shareholders. Due to the composition of the net Sub-fund assets, there is a very high overall risk, also accompanied by high income potential. The risks can consist, in particular, of currency, credit rating and price risks as well as risks that result from changes to the market interest rate.

#### **Risk management**

- 2. The Sub-fund shall use the commitment approach to calculate its total risk exposure. In this way, the Company shall ensure that the total risk associated with derivatives does not exceed the total net asset value of the Sub-fund portfolio.
- 3. Under the commitment approach, positions in derivative financial instruments are converted into their corresponding underlying equivalents using the delta method. Netting and hedging effects between derivative financial instruments and their underlyings are taken into account. The sum of these underlying equivalents may not exceed the total net asset value of the Sub-fund portfolio.

# 4. BASE CURRENCY OF THE SUB-FUND

The base currency of the Sub-fund is USD.

If the currency of a Share Class differs from the base currency of the Sub-fund, no currency hedging is pursued for this Share Class by hedging the exchange rate risk.

# 5. ISSUE, REDEMPTION AND CONVERSION OF SHARES

- 1. The procedural rules stipulated in the General Section shall apply.
- 2. As an exception to the procedure under point 6.7, the following rules apply:

The redemption price corresponds to the net asset value per Share on the corresponding valuation day. Payment shall in principle be made in Luxembourg no later than three (3) banking days after the day on which the net asset value applicable to the redemption has been determined.

# 6. INVESTMENT MANAGER

The Company and the Management Company have appointed MainFirst Affiliated Fund Managers (Deutschland) GmbH as Investment Manager for this Sub-fund.

# 7. COSTS

Remuneration of the Management Company, the Central Administration, the Custodian Bank, the Investment Manager plus performance fee, and the Distributors

#### Flat-rate fee

The Sub-fund is charged a flat-rate fee in the amount stated under Section 1 of this Sub-fund Annex. The flat-rate fee shall be paid to the Management Company. The Management Company pays the remuneration for the Investment Manager and the Distributors from this flat-rate fee. The flatrate fee shall be calculated for the Sub-fund on a pro rata basis taking into account the daily net asset value of the Sub-fund and shall be payable monthly by the Sub-fund.

The total amount of remuneration for the Management Company, the Central Administration, the Custodian Bank, the Investment Manager and the Distributors shall be up to 1.80% p.a. of the net Sub-fund assets, depending on the Share Class, but at least EUR 20,000.00 p.a. per Sub-fund. This fee is subject to VAT.

The applicable rate of remuneration and the effective costs charged are stated in the annual and semi-annual reports.

#### Performance fee

The Investment Manager also receives, as an incentive, a performance fee of 15% of the net value increase per share of the Sub-fund resulting from the ordinary business activity of the Sub-fund. The performance fee is paid to the management company and calculated separately for the Sub-fund using the following formula:

In the following explanation, "gross share value" means the net asset value per share without the delimitation of the performance fee contained in this net asset value. In other words, to compare the performances, the net asset value per share is used, taking into account all costs, without the performance fee contained therein.

The performance fee amounts to 15% of the positive difference between the percentage change in the so-called gross share value of the respective Class and the Benchmark (see "8. SPECIFIC INFORMATION ON THE BENCHMARK"). The performance fee is calculated on the basis of the number of Shares currently in circulation in the respective Share Class.

The daily return differential between the percentage change in the gross share value of the respective Class and the percentage-based performance of the benchmark is calculated as follows:

Return of the gross share value – return of the benchmark = return differential.

When calculating the performance fee, an additional mechanism is applied that includes that it can only be levied if the cumulative differential calculated using the above method has reached a new high watermark since the date of launching the Sub-fund. The reference period of the high watermark extends over the entire lifespan of the respective unit classes of the Sub-fund. The difference between the cumulative old (before withdrawal of the performance fee) and the new peak value is applied. The performance fee that is proportionally attributable and deferred to the share redemption at the time of an outperformance of the share class during the year is retained for these shares ("crystallisation") and paid to the investment manager at the end of the accounting period. The performance fee of the respective share class is calculated on each valuation day by comparing the percentage change in the share value plus the performance fee amount per share (gross share value) contained in the current share value and the percentage change in the benchmark based on the shares currently in circulation. The deferred total amount changes on the valuation days on which the daily return differential exceeds the high watermark. On the valuation days on which the daily return differential falls below the high watermark, the total amount accrued in the respective share class is released. The performance fee amount already crystallised on share redemptions during the year is retained even in the event of future negative performance.

A disbursable performance fee will be withdrawn from the Sub-fund at the end of the financial year (accounting period; 1 January - 31 December of each year); corresponding provisions for the performance fee are made each time the net asset value of the Sub-fund is calculated. These provisions are included in the net asset value. A further performance fee is only applicable if and when, at the end of the financial year, the previous high watermark determined for the payment of the remuneration is exceeded.

The calculation period for the performance fee is the financial year. The basis for the initial calculation of the performance fee is the sum of the subscription amounts received in the initial subscription period. After the initial subscription period, the performance fee is determined by comparing the percentage change in the share value plus the performance amount per share (gross share value) contained in the current share value and the percentage change in the benchmark and the applicable return differential.

Should the Company or the Sub-fund be liquidated, the net asset value used is that applicable on the day on which the decision was made to dissolve the Company or the Sub-fund.

The performance fee is calculated for unit certificate classes that differ from the Sub-fund currency (e.g. Sub-fund currency USD, class currency EUR) in such a way that the performance of the unit value and the benchmark development are determined in the Sub-fund currency. Exchange rate fluctuations therefore have no direct impact on the level of the performance fee in the Sub-fund currency.

#### Calculation example:

#### Calculation assumptions for end of accounting period 1:

Shares in circulation	1000
High watermark in EUR	100
Distribution per share in EUR	1
Net share value at the end of the accounting period in EUR	112
Complete accrued performance fee for previous day in EUR	300
Benchmark value at the beginning of the period	10,000
Benchmark value at the end of the period	11,000
Benchmark value indexed at the end of the period	
(based on high watermark in EUR)	110
Performance fee rate	15%

#### Calculation for end of accounting period 1:

(EUR 112 + (EUR 300/1,000) + EUR 1 - EUR 110) x 1,000 x 15% = EUR 495

(Net unit value plus (already accrued performance fee) plus distribution minus indexed benchmark value) multiplied by circulating units multiplied by performance fee rate

At the end of accounting period 1, a performance fee of EUR 495 can be paid out, as the gross share value (net share value + already accrued performance fee) including distribution of EUR 113.30 exceeds the indexed benchmark of 110.

#### Calculation assumptions for end of accounting period 2:

Shares in circulation at start	1000
Shares in circulation at end	800
High watermark in EUR	112
Distribution per share in EUR	0
Net share value at the end of the accounting period in EUR	116.50
Complete accrued performance fee for previous day in EUR	0
Benchmark value at the beginning of the period	11,000
Benchmark value at the end of the period	11,500

Benchmark value indexed at the end of the period	
(based on high watermark) in EUR	117.09
Performance fee rate	15%

#### Calculation of the crystallisation amount at the time of return

Assumption: Gross share value EUR 115, indexed benchmark EUR 114, redeemed shares 200

(EUR 115 – EUR 114) x 200 x 15% = EUR 30

(Gross share value minus indexed benchmark) multiplied by return multiplied by performance fee rate

An amount of EUR 30 can be crystallised at the time the share certificates are returned, as the gross share value exceeds the indexed benchmark. Regardless of the further performance of the share class, this amount is paid out at the end of the accounting period.

#### Calculation for end of accounting period 2:

(EUR 116.50 + (EUR 0/800) + EUR 0 - EUR 117.09) x 800 x 15% < EUR 0 = no performance fee

(Net share value plus (already accrued performance fee) plus distribution minus indexed benchmark value) multiplied by circulating shares multiplied by performance fee rate

At the end of accounting period 2, no performance fee can be paid out, as the gross share value (net share value + already accrued performance fee) of EUR 116.50 does not exceed the indexed benchmark of EUR 117.09.

At the end of the accounting period, a performance fee is paid in the amount of the crystallisation amount of EUR 30. The performance payout only affects those shareholders who have sold during the year at a gross share price that was higher than the indexed benchmark value.

# 8. SPECIFIC INFORMATION ON THE BENCHMARK

The different Share Classes of the Sub-fund use the following benchmarks, although an active investment approach is not limited to target investments included in a benchmark and the portfolio composition may differ significantly from the benchmark:

#### - MSCI AC Asia ex Japan Net Total Return USD Index (NDUECAXJ Index).

The administrator of these benchmarks is MSCI Inc., New York, USA ("MSCI"). MSCI is registered as administrator with the Financial Conduct Authority in the United Kingdom ("FCA") within the meaning of Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 with MSCI Limited.

The Management Company has established a different benchmark in a robust written plan if the benchmark ceases to exist or changes significantly. The latest version of this robust written plan can be downloaded from <u>www.mainfirst.com</u> or obtained free of charge from the Management Company.

# 9. TERM OF THE SUB-FUND

The Sub-fund has been launched for an unspecified period of time

# **ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION**

MainFirst, Société d'Investissement à Capital Variable.

# Title I. - Name - Registered Office - Duration - Purpose

#### **ARTICLE 1 - NAME**

1.1 A public limited company in the form of an investment company with variable capital (*société d'investissement à capital variable*, SICAV) under the name MainFirst is hereby established.

#### **ARTICLE 2 - REGISTERED OFFICE**

2.1 The Company's registered office is in the municipality of Strassen in the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg. Branches or other offices may be established by simple resolution of the Board of Directors both in the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg and abroad (but not in the United States of America).

2.2 If, in the opinion of the Board of Directors, exceptional political or military events occur or are imminent which affect the normal course of business of the Company at its registered office or the smooth communication with that registered office or between the registered office and abroad, the registered office may be temporarily transferred abroad until such time as these exceptional circumstances have been fully rectified; however, this provisional measure shall have no effect on the nationality of the Company, which shall remain a Luxembourg company notwithstanding such temporary transfer.

#### **ARTICLE 3 - DURATION**

3.1 The Company shall be established for an indefinite period.

#### **ARTICLE 4 - PURPOSE**

4.1 The exclusive purpose of the Company is to invest the funds available to it in transferable securities and other legally permissible assets with the aim of enabling its shareholders to participate in the income from the management of its assets in accordance with the principle of risk diversification.

4.2 The Company may, in the broadest sense and within the framework of Part I of the Law of 17 December 2010 on undertakings for collective investment, as amended (the "Law of 2010"), take all measures and carry out all transactions it deems appropriate in the performance and development of its purpose.

# Title II. - Share Capital - Shares - Net Asset Value

#### **ARTICLE 5 - CAPITAL SHARE CLASSES**

5.1 The share capital of the Company shall be represented by fully paid-up no-par value shares and shall at all times equal the total value of the net assets of the Company pursuant to Article 11 below. The minimum capital shall at all times be one million, two hundred and fifty thousand euros (EUR 1,250,000).

5.2 The initial capital shall be one hundred and twenty-five thousand euros (EUR 125,000) and shall be divided into two thousand five hundred (2500) fully paid-up no-par value shares.

5.3 The minimum capital of the Company must be reached within six months of the Company's authorisation as an Undertaking for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities (UCITS) pursuant to the provisions of Luxembourg law.

5.4 Shares issued in accordance with the provisions of Article 7 may, at the discretion of the Board of Directors, belong to different classes. The proceeds from the issue of Shares in a Class will be invested in

securities and other legally permissible assets in accordance with the investment policy established by the Board of Directors for each Sub-fund (as defined below), taking into account the investment restrictions laid down by law or by the Board of Directors.

5.5 The Board of Directors decides on the formation of separate assets (Sub-funds) within the meaning of Article 181(1) of the Law of 2010, which may consist of one or more Share Classes as defined in Article 11. In the relationship between the shareholders, these assets are allocated exclusively to the Share Class(es) issued to the respective Sub-fund.

5.6 To determine the capital of the Company, the net assets attributable to the relevant Share Classes of a Sub-fund are converted into euros, if it is not already in euros, and the capital of the Company as a whole corresponds to the sum of the net assets of the Share Classes of all Sub-funds.

5.7 The Board of Directors may set up Sub-funds in the form of master or feeder Sub-funds as defined in Article 77(1) of the Law of 2010.

#### **ARTICLE 6 - FORM OF THE SHARES**

6.1 The Company may issue Shares in the form of Bearer Shares or Registered Shares. Bearer Shares are only issued in the form of a global certificate held in a clearing and settlement system.

6.2 The issued Shares, regardless of their form, may be issued as either accumulating or distributing Shares.

6.3 The Board of Directors may issue Classes of Shares as detailed in the respective Special Sections of the Full Prospectus. The Board of Directors shall determine the terms (determination of the initial issue date at the initial issue price) by means of a resolution passed by same.

6.4 Savings and withdrawal plans for Registered Shares of all A and B Share Classes held in the Share Register are not offered. Savings and withdrawal plans at custodian institutions are offered for Bearer Shares of the A and B Share Classes.

6.5 The net return from the issue of Shares shall be invested in the corresponding Sub-fund's assets.

6.6 The Board of Directors shall set up separate assets for each Sub-fund. Each of these assets shall be allocated exclusively to the Shares issued for the relevant Sub-fund considering the ratio of the shareholders concerned.

6.7 Each Sub-fund shall only be only liable for its own obligations to third parties and to creditors in particular. Pursuant to the Law of 2010, the Company is not liable as a whole, irrespective of which Sub-fund's liabilities are concerned.

6.8 Registered Shares are entered into a Share Register maintained by the Company or one or several person(s) commissioned by the Company to this effect. The registration comprises the name of each holder of Registered Shares, the holder's domicile or chosen ordinary residence as communicated to the Company, the number of Registered Shares held and the amount paid in for each such Share.

6.9 Entry of the shareholder's name in the register is proof of their ownership.

6.10 Subject to the Company's consent, Shares may also be held via an intermediary such as a trustee or nominee. In such cases, the trustee or nominee is entered into the register following the subscription of Shares. However, all shareholders may at any time have their own name entered in the register by requesting that the trustee or nominee transfer the Shares to the shareholder.

6.11 Bearer Shares are issued in the form of global certificates. Shareholders are not entitled to the delivery of physical securities.

6.12 All Shares must be fully paid in; they have no face value and do not grant any preference or preemptive rights. Pursuant to the legal provisions and the stipulations of the Articles of Association, each Share grants one vote in any General Meeting, irrespective of the corresponding Sub-fund.

#### ARTICLE 7 - ISSUE OF SHARES

7.1 Accumulating and/or distributing Shares in each Sub-fund are issued at the subscription price. This price is calculated on any valuation day on the basis of the net asset value per Share.

7.2 As soon as Sub-funds are available for subscription, the Company may determine an initial subscription period in which the Shares are issued at a fixed initial subscription price plus a sales charge if applicable.

7.3 After the initial subscription period, the Shares of the various Sub-funds are issued at an issue price based on the net asset value per Share on the relevant valuation day. Moreover, a sales charge is applied which can be credited wholly or partially to the Distributor commissioned with the sale of the Shares in the country in which the investor is ordinarily resident.

7.4 Subscription applications for the acquisition of Registered Shares may be submitted to the Management Company, the Registrar and Transfer Agent and the Distributor, if any. These receiving offices are obligated to forward the subscription applications to the Registrar and Transfer Agent immediately. Subscription applications are considered to have been received when they are received at the Registrar and Transfer Agent, which accepts the subscription orders on behalf of the Management Company.

7.5 Subscription orders arriving at the Registrar and Transfer Agent by no later than 12 noon (Luxembourg time) on the valuation day are settled after acceptance at the subscription price applicable on that valuation day. Orders arriving after 12 noon (Luxembourg time) on the valuation day are settled after acceptance at the subscription price of the following valuation day.

7.6 The issue price must be paid within three (3) bank working days (bank working day) of receipt of subscription.

7.7 In any case, the issue price shall be determined after the specified cut-off time in order to ensure that investors subscribe based on prices that are not known to them in advance.

7.8 Individual Sub-funds may deviate from these general regulations. In this case, the special regulation for the Sub-fund is described in the Special Section to the Full Prospectus containing the description of this Sub-fund.

7.9 The Company reserves the right to reject or only partially accept any subscription order. Moreover, the Company reserves the right to suspend the issue and redemption of Shares of any Sub-fund without prior notice and at any time.

7.10 The Company may resolve to issue fractions of Shares if the net amount of a subscription is not sufficient for whole Shares and the investor has not given instructions to subscribe to whole Shares only. Fractions of Registered Shares may be issued up to one hundredth of a Share.

7.11 Subscription orders sent to the Distributor or other intermediaries must in any case include the purchaser's proxy statement granting sub-proxies.

7.12 Should the Company suspend calculation of the net asset value per Share for a Sub-fund (see Article 11 the Articles of Association), no Shares shall be issued for the relevant Sub-fund during the time of the suspension.

#### **ARTICLE 8 - REDEMPTION OF SHARES**

8.1 Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the following stipulations, every shareholder of the Company is entitled to request from the Company at any time the redemption of some or all of the Shares they hold in a Sub-fund.

8.2 Shareholders who wish to redeem all or a part of their Shares must submit a written, irrevocable application to the Company. Such application shall detail the following: the identity and the address of the applicant, the number of Shares to be redeemed or the amount for which the shareholder wishes to redeem Shares, and the name of the Sub-fund in which the Shares have been issued. The redemption price may not be paid to any person other than the shareholder. Any exceptions are subject to a review by the Custodian Bank of the information provided.

8.3 The redemption price can only be paid out if all of the documents required for the redemption are submitted with the redemption application in the proper form, as well as any certificates, where applicable.

8.4 Completed redemption and conversion applications for the redemption or conversion of Registered Shares may be submitted to the Management Company, the Registrar and Transfer Agent and the Distributor, if any, and the Paying Agents. These offices are obligated to forward the redemption and conversion applications to the Registrar and Transfer Agent immediately.

8.5 Redemption orders received by the Registrar and Transfer Agent by no later than 12 noon (Luxembourg time) on the valuation day are settled after acceptance at the redemption price applicable on that valuation day. Orders arriving after 12 noon (Luxembourg time) on the valuation day are settled after acceptance at the redemption price of the following valuation day.

8.6 As a general rule, the redemption price shall be paid in the currency of the relevant Sub-fund or – upon shareholder's application – in another currency as specified by the shareholder and available from the Custodian Bank, with the exchange-related costs charged to the shareholder.

8.7 The redemption price of Shares may be higher or lower than the relevant purchase or subscription price. The redemption price corresponds to the net asset value per Share on the corresponding valuation day. It is generally paid out in Luxembourg, at the latest five (5) banking days after the day on which the net asset value applicable to the redemption has been calculated. The Sub-fund specific determination of the deadline for payment of the redemption price is defined in the relevant Special Section of the Full Prospectus.

8.8 Payments are made at the shareholder's risk by bank transfer to an account specified by the shareholder. If the account is held by a third party, the restriction defined in 6.2 shall apply accordingly.

8.9 Redeemed Shares shall be cancelled.

8:10 Redemptions of a Sub-fund's Shares shall not be carried out during any period when calculation of the net asset value per Share for that Sub-fund has been suspended.

8.11 Should the incoming redemption (Article 8 of the Articles of Association) or conversion orders (Article 9 of the Articles of Association) for Shares, on a day on which the redemption or conversion of Shares is possible, exceed 10% of the relevant Sub-fund's outstanding Shares, the Board of Directors or Management Company may resolve to suspend all or a part of the redemption and conversion orders for a specified period of time and under consideration of the Company's interests; however, such suspension must as a general rule not exceed seven (7) valuation days. The processing of these redemption and conversion orders is then given priority over the processing of subsequent orders received after the initial redemption date.

8.12 Pursuant to Article 10 of the Articles of Association, the Company is authorised to repurchase all Shares held by a U.S. person.

8.13 In order to protect the remaining investors, Shares which are presented for redemption may be subject, at the discretion of the Board of Directors, to a redemption fee (the redemption fee). Further details as to whether and in what amount a redemption fee is levied can be found in the relevant Sub-fund Annex.

8.14 The redemption fee will be deducted from the redemption proceeds paid for the respective redemption order. The redemption fee will be applied to the respective Sub-fund and shall be used as a priority for the

purpose of paying the costs of settling the redemption order as well as generating available redemption funds. The Board of Directors reserves the right at its discretion to waive the redemption fee in whole or in part for any Share Class.

# **ARTICLE 9 - CONVERSION OF SHARES**

9.1 Pursuant to the stipulations of the Articles of Association and subject to the following stipulations, every shareholder may convert Shares issued in one Sub-fund into Shares of another Sub-fund.

9.2 The conversion of Shares within a Sub-fund or between different Sub-funds is possible on any valuation day.

9.3 The shareholder shall place the conversion order with the Company by fax or in writing. The procedures and time limits applicable to the redemption of Shares shall also apply to the conversion of Shares.

9.4 A conversion order shall be executed when a properly completed conversion order is received by the Registrar and Transfer Agent.

9.5 The conversion ratio for the relevant Shares is calculated based on the relevant Shares' net asset values on the same valuation day. The Board of Directors and Management Company are authorised to allow the conversion on condition that the relevant costs incurred at the agents charged with the conversion of Shares are paid.

9.6 Conversion of Shares shall not take place during any period when calculation of the net asset value per Share has been suspended with regard to the relevant Shares of the Company.

#### ARTICLE 10 - RESTRICTIONS ON OWNERSHIP OF SHARES

10.1 The Company may restrict or prohibit the ownership of its Shares in respect of any natural person or legal entity if, in the opinion of the Company, a breach of Luxembourg or foreign law would give rise to concerns that the Company would otherwise be subject to a law other than Luxembourg law (including, but not limited to, tax law) or would otherwise be prejudicial to the Company.

10.2 In particular, it may restrict or prohibit the property rights of nationals of the United States of America as defined in this Article and to that end it may:

(a) refuse to issue Shares and register a transfer of Shares if such issue or transfer appears to have the effect of transferring ownership of the Share to a U.S. Person; and

(b) require any person entered in the register of Registered Shares or any other person requesting their entry to provide the Company with all information and documents deemed necessary by the Company and, if necessary, to provide an affidavit stating whether the Shares are economically attributable to a United States national or whether a U.S. Person is the beneficial owner; and

(c) deny the right to vote to any U.S. Person at any General Meeting; and

(d) instruct a shareholder to sell their Shares and require evidence that such sale was effected thirty (30) days after such instruction, provided that the Company reasonably believes that a national of the United States of America alone or together with other persons is the beneficial owner of the Shares in the Company. If the shareholder concerned fails to comply with this obligation, the Company may forcibly redeem all the Shares held by this shareholder or arrange for such redemption to be effected, subject to the following procedure:

10.3 The Company will send a notice (redemption notice) to the shareholder holding the Shares or appearing in the register of Registered Shares as owner of the Shares; the redemption notice specifies the securities to be redeemed, the procedure by which the redemption price is determined and the name of the purchaser.

10.4 The redemption notice will be sent to the shareholder by registered letter addressed to the last known address of the shareholder or the address entered in the register of Registered Shares. The shareholder concerned is obliged to immediately submit the certificate(s) representing the Shares specified in the redemption notice.

10.5 Immediately after close of business on the day specified in the redemption notice, the shareholder concerned shall no longer be the owner of the Shares specified in the redemption notice; for Registered Shares, the name of the shareholder shall be deleted from the register.

10.6 The price at which the Shares specified in the redemption notice will be repurchased (redemption price) will be calculated on the basis of the net asset value per share of the relevant Share Class on the valuation day determined by the Board of Directors for the redemption of the Shares which immediately precedes the date of the redemption notice or immediately follows the submission of the certificates for the specified Shares, taking into account the principles set out in Article 8; the lower of the two prices will be used and the commissions also provided for will be deducted.

10.7 The redemption price shall be paid to the former shareholder in a currency determined by the Board of Directors for the payment of the redemption price of the Shares of the relevant Share Class; the price shall be deposited by the Company with a bank in Luxembourg or abroad (as specified in the redemption notice) after determination of the final redemption price and submission of the share certificate(s) specified in the redemption notice, including the coupons not yet due. Immediately after the announcement of the redemption notice, the former owner of the Shares listed in the redemption notice may no longer assert a right to their Shares or a claim against the Company or its assets, with the exception of the right of the shareholder appearing as the owner of the Shares to receive the deposited price (interest-free) from the bank after the actual return of the certificate or certificates. If the redemption price has not been claimed within five (5) years of the date specified in the redemption notice, the price may no longer be claimed and will be forfeited in favour of the Sub-fund established for the relevant Share Class(es). The Board of Directors is fully empowered to periodically take such measures as may be necessary to approve on behalf of the Company any action necessary to ensure such forfeit.

10.8 The exercise by the Company of the powers conferred by this Article may in no case be questioned or for invalidated on the grounds that the ownership of the Shares has not been sufficiently demonstrated in relation to a particular person or that another person is entitled to the Share which has not been authorised by the Company's redemption notice, provided that the Company exercises its powers in good faith.

10.9 The term "U.S. Person" under the provisions of these Articles means any citizen or resident of the United States of America and any corporation or association organised or incorporated under the laws of any state, confederation, territory or possession of the United States of America, and any legal successor or trust whose source of income outside the United States of America is included in the American income tax payable by such legal successor or trust, as well as any firm, company or other business entity, provided that ownership thereof, regardless of nationality, place of residence, location or domicile under the applicable provisions of United States income tax law can be attributed to one or more United States nationals or other persons who are nationals of the United States of America pursuant to Regulation S of the United States Securities Act of 1933 or the provisions of the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

10.10 The term "U.S. Persons" as used in these Articles shall not apply to subscribers to Shares in a company in connection with its formation, provided that such subscriber holds the shares for the purpose of resale.

# **ARTICLE 11 - CALCULATION OF THE NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE**

11.1 The net assets of the Company are denominated in euro (EUR) ("reference currency").

11.2 The value of a Share ("net asset value per Share") is denominated in the currency indicated in the respective Special Section to the Full Prospectus ("Sub-fund Currency") unless another currency in derogation of this is indicated for any additional Share Classes in the respective Special Section of the Full Prospectus ("Share Class Currency").

11.3 The net asset value per share is calculated by the Management Company or one of its agents under the supervision of the Custodian Bank on each banking day in Luxembourg with the exception of 24 and 31 December of each year ("valuation day"), published with the date of the preceding trading day and rounded to two decimal places. The Board of Directors may decide on a different arrangement for individual Sub-funds, in which case it should be taken into account that the net asset value per Share should be calculated at least twice a month.

11.4 To calculate the net asset value per Share, the value of the assets held in each Fund less the liabilities of the Fund ("net Sub-fund assets") is determined on each valuation day and divided by the number of Shares in circulation on the valuation day.

However, the Investment Company may decide to calculate the net asset value per Share on 24 and 31 December of a given year, without this determination of value being a calculation of the net asset value per share on a valuation day as defined above in sentence 1 of this number 4. As a result, shareholders may not request the issue, redemption and/or conversion of Shares on the basis of a net asset value per share calculated on 24 December and/or 31 December of a given year.

11.5 To calculate the share value, the value of the assets held in each Sub-fund less the liabilities of the respective Sub-fund ("net Sub-fund assets") is determined on each valuation day and divided by the number of units of the respective Sub-fund in circulation on the valuation day.

11.6 If applicable legal regulations or the provisions of these Articles of Association require the situation of the net company assets to be described in the annual or semi-annual reports and other financial statistics, the assets of the respective Sub-fund will be converted into the reference currency. The net assets of each Sub-fund are calculated according to the following principles:

a) Transferable securities, money market instruments, derivative financial instruments (derivatives) and other investments officially quoted on a securities exchange are valued at the latest available price which provides a reliable valuation on the trading day preceding the valuation day.

The Management Company may decide for individual Sub-funds that securities, money market instruments, derivative financial instruments (derivatives) and other investments not officially listed on a stock exchange can be valued at the last available closing price which ensures a reliable valuation. This is mentioned in the respective Special Section of the Sub-funds concerned in the Full Prospectus.

If transferable securities, money market instruments, derivative financial instruments (derivatives) and other investments are officially listed on more than one securities exchange, the price listed on the exchange with the highest liquidity will be the price used for this calculation.

b) Transferable securities, money market instruments, derivative financial instruments (derivatives) and other assets which are not officially listed on a securities exchange (or whose stock exchange rate is not deemed representative, e.g. due to lack of liquidity) but which are traded on another regulated market, shall be valued at a price no less than the bid price and no more than the offer price of the trading day preceding the valuation day, and which the Management Company considers in good faith to be the best possible price at which the transferable securities, money market instruments, derivative financial instruments (derivatives) and other investments can be sold.

The Management Company may decide for individual Sub-funds that securities, money market instruments, derivative financial instruments (derivatives) and other investments not officially listed on a stock exchange (or whose exchange rates are considered non-representative, e.g. due to a lack of liquidity), which are, however, traded on a regulated market, are valued at the last available price there which the Management Company holds in good faith for the best possible price at which the securities, money market instruments, derivative financial instruments (derivatives) and other investments can be sold. This is mentioned in the respective Special Section of the Sub-funds concerned in the Full Prospectus.

- c) OTC derivatives are valued on a day-to-day basis as determined and verifiable by the Management Company.
- d) Shares in UCITS or UCIs are generally valued at the last redemption price determined before the valuation day or are valued at the last available price, which ensures a reliable valuation. If redemption is suspended or no redemption prices are established for certain investment units, these units and all other assets will be valued at their market value, as determined in good faith by the Management Company in line with generally accepted and verifiable valuation rules.
- e) If the prices in question are not fair market prices, if the financial instruments listed under b) are not traded on a regulated market and if no prices are set for financial instruments different from those listed under (a)-(d), then these financial instruments and the other legally permissible assets shall be valued at their current market value, which shall be established in good faith by the Management Company on the basis of generally accepted and verifiable valuation rules (e.g. suitable valuation models taking account of current market conditions).
- f) Liquid funds are valued at their nominal value plus interest.
- g) Amounts due e.g. deferred interest claims and liabilities shall always be rated at their nominal value.
- h) The market value of securities, money-market instruments, derivatives (derivatives) and other assets denominated in a currency other than that of the Sub-fund will be converted into the Sub-fund currency at the exchange rate of the trading day preceding the valuation day, using WM/Reuters fixing at 5 p.m. (4 p.m. GMT). Gains and losses on foreign exchange transactions are shown net.

The Management Company may decide for individual Sub-funds that securities, money market instruments, derivative financial instruments (derivatives) and other investments denominated in a currency other than the Sub-fund currency are converted into the relevant Sub-fund currency at the exchange rate determined on the valuation day. Gains and losses on foreign exchange transactions are shown net. This is mentioned in the Annex to the Full Prospectus.

11.7 The respective net assets of the Sub-fund are reduced by any distributions which may be paid to the shareholders of the relevant Sub-fund.

11.8 The net asset value per Share is calculated pursuant to the aforementioned criteria separately for each Sub-fund. However, if Share Classes have been established within a Sub-fund, the resulting calculation of the net asset value per Share within the relevant Sub-fund will be made separately for each Share Class using the criteria listed above.

# ARTICLE 12 - FREQUENCY AND TEMPORARY SUSPENSION OF THE CALCULATION OF THE NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE, AS WELL AS OF THE ISSUE, REDEMPTION AND CONVERSION OF SHARES

12.1 The net asset value per Share of each Sub-fund and the issue, redemption and conversion price shall be calculated by the Company in accordance with the principles set out in Articles 11.3 and 11.4.

12.2 The Company may suspend the calculation of the net asset value per Share and the issue, redemption and conversion of Shares of one Share Class into another Share Class under the following circumstances:

(a) if one or more stock exchanges or other markets on which a substantial part of the assets of the Company attributable to the Share Class in question is regularly listed or traded are closed for reasons other than public holidays, or if the transactions have been suspended or subject to restrictions there, provided that such closure, restriction or suspension affects the valuation of the assets of the Company listed or traded there;

(b) if, in the opinion of the Board of Directors, an emergency exists as a result of which the Company is unable to dispose of or value assets attributable to a particular Share Class; or

(c) if the means of communication which are used to determine the price or value of an investment in a Share Class or prices on a stock exchange or other market are not operating; or

(d) the net asset value calculation of a Sub-fund if that Sub-fund invests as a feeder Sub-fund in a master Sub-fund within the meaning of Article 18.5 and the net asset value calculation of the master Sub-fund is suspended; or

(e) upon publication of the convocation of a General Meeting which is to decide on the dissolution of the Company.

12.3 Such suspension shall be published by the Company if it considers it appropriate and communicated to shareholders who have made an application for subscription, redemption or conversion in respect of Shares whose net asset value calculation has been suspended.

12.4 During the suspension of the net asset value calculation, applications for subscription, redemption or conversion of Shares may be revoked if such revocation is received by the Company before the expiry of this suspension period.

12.5 The suspension in respect of one Share Classes has no effect on the calculation of the net asset value, issue price, redemption price or conversion price of the other Share Classes.

# Title III. - Administration and supervision

# **ARTICLE 13 - MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS**

13.1 The Company is managed by a Board of Directors composed of at least three members who need not be shareholders. The term of office of the members of the Board of Directors shall not exceed six (6) years.

13.2 The members of the Board of Directors are elected by the shareholders at their General Meeting, which also determines the number of members of the Board of Directors and their remuneration.

13.3 The members of the Board of Directors are elected by a majority of the votes of the Shares present or represented.

13.4 Any member of the Board of Directors may be dismissed or replaced at any time by resolution of the General Meeting, or dismissed or replaced without cause.

13.5 In the event of a vacancy on the Board of Directors, the other members of the Board of Directors may appoint a temporary member; the shareholders shall pass a final resolution on this appointment at the subsequent Meeting.

#### **ARTICLE 14 - MEETINGS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS**

14.1 The Board of Directors shall elect from among its members a Chairman and, if appropriate, one or more Vice-Chairmen. It may elect a secretary, who need not be a member of the Board of Directors and who shall draw up the minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors and of the General Meetings of Shareholders. The Board of Directors will meet upon convocation by the Chairman or any two Directors, at the place indicated in the convocation.

14.2 The Chairman of the Board of Directors chairs the meetings of the Board of Directors and the General Meetings of Shareholders. In the absence of the Chairman, the General Meeting or the Board of Directors shall appoint by a majority another member of the Board of Directors or, in the case of the General Meeting, any other person to chair such meetings.

14.3 The Board of Directors may, as appropriate, appoint directors or other general agents, including a general director, associate general directors and other directors and general agents, as it deems necessary for the successful conduct of the business of the Company. Such appointments may be revoked by the Board of Directors at any time. Directors and general agents need not be directors or shareholders of the Company. The Directors and general agents shall have the powers granted to them by the Board of Directors and shall perform the duties assigned to them by the Board of Directors, except as otherwise provided for in these Articles of Association.

14.4 A convocation of a meeting of the Board of Directors shall be provided in writing to all members of the Board of Directors at least twenty-four (24) hours before the scheduled date of the meeting, except in the case of an urgent matter, in which case the nature and reasons for such urgency shall be stated in the convocation. The convocation may be dispensed with if each member of the Board of Directors has consented in writing by telephone, telex, fax or similar means of communication. An individual convocation is not required for meetings of the Board of Directors held at a time and at a place as defined in a previous resolution of the Board of Directors.

14.5 Each member of the Board of Directors may appoint another member of the Board of Directors in writing, by telegram or by telex as his/her deputy at a meeting of the Board of Directors. A member of the Board of Directors may represent one or more other member of the Board of Directors.

14.6 Each member of the Board of Directors may attend a meeting of the Board of Directors by telephone conference or other similar means of communication which ensure that all persons attending such meeting are able to hear the other persons. Attendance at a meeting in the manner described above shall be equivalent to physical attendance at that meeting.

14.7 The members of the Board of Directors may only act within the framework of duly convened meetings of the Board of Directors. The member of the Board of Directors may not bind the Company by their individual signature unless they have been authorised to do so by a resolution of the Board of Directors.

14.8 The Board of Directors may only adopt resolutions and take actions with legal effect if at least the majority of the members of the Board of Directors or another number of members of the Board of Directors determined by the Board of Directors are present or represented.

14.9 The resolutions of the Board of Directors shall be recorded in the minutes and the corresponding minutes shall be signed by the Chairman of the meeting of the Board of Directors. Copies of extracts of such minutes, which are to be submitted in any judicial or other proceedings, shall be validly signed by the Chairman of the Meeting or by two members of the Board of Directors.

14.10 Resolutions are adopted by a majority of the votes of the members of the Board of Directors present or represented. In the event of a tied vote, the Chairman shall have the casting vote.

14.11 The Board of Directors may take unanimous decisions by circular resolution, the approval of which may be given on one or more documents, as well as by telephone, telegram, telex, fax or other similar means of communication, the contents of which must be confirmed in writing; the entirety of the documents shall constitute the record evidencing the decision taken.

# **ARTICLE 15 - POWERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS**

15.1 The Board of Directors shall have the broadest possible powers to direct and manage the business activities and to carry out acts of disposition and administration within the scope of the purpose of the Company, subject to compliance with the investment policy pursuant to Article 18.

15.2 All tasks not expressly assigned to the General Meeting by law or by these Articles of Association are delegated to the Board of Directors.

# ARTICLE 16 - OBLIGATION OF THE COMPANY VIS-À-VIS THIRD PARTIES

16.1 The Company shall be legally bound with respect to third parties by the joint signature of two members of the Board of Directors or by the sole or joint signature of the person(s) authorised to do so by the Board of Directors.

# **ARTICLE 17 - DELEGATION OF POWERS**

17.1 The Board of Directors of the Company may delegate its powers within the framework of day-to-day management in connection with the investments of the Company (including signatory powers) and the representation of the Company in connection with such management to one or more members of the Board of Directors or to one or more natural or legal person(s) who are not required to be members of the Board of Directors and who shall have the powers determined by the Board of Directors and who may delegate such powers, subject to the authorisation of the Board of Directors.

17.2 The Board of Directors may also grant special powers of attorney by notarial or private deed.

# **ARTICLE 18 - INVESTMENT POLICY AND INVESTMENT RESTRICTIONS**

The objective of the investment policy of the respective Sub-fund is to achieve an appropriate increase in value in the respective Sub-fund currency or Share Class currency (as defined in the relevant special section of the Full Prospectus). The specific investment policy of each Sub-fund is described in the Special Section of the Full Prospectus.

The general investment principles and investment restrictions presented below apply to all Sub-funds unless the respective Special Section of the Full Prospectus for the respective Sub-fund provides for derogations or supplements.

The assets of each Sub-fund are invested on the principle of risk diversification as defined in the regulations of Part I of the Law of 17 December 2010, and in accordance with the investment principles set forth in this Article and in accordance with the investment restrictions. A distinction is made here between investment restrictions under supervisory law and investment restrictions under tax law. If the tax investment restrictions are applied to a Sub-fund, they will always be in addition to and subject to the supervisory investment restrictions.

The Company's investments consist of the following financial instruments in accordance with the Law of 2010:

#### 18.1 Investment restrictions under supervisory law

(a) Securities and money market instruments listed or traded on a regulated market; and/or

- (b) Securities and money market instruments traded on another market in an EU member state (EU member state), provided that such market operates regularly and is recognised and open to the public; and/or
- (c) Securities and money market instruments officially listed on a securities exchange of a third state or traded on another regulated market of a third state, provided that such market is recognised, open to the public and functions properly, if such securities exchange or market is specified in the Company's Articles of Association; and/or
- (d) Securities and money market instruments from new issues, provided that:
  - their issue terms include the obligation for an official listing on a securities exchange or for trading on another regulated market as specified above under (b) and (c);
  - they are admitted there for official trading within one year upon issue; and/or (e)
- (e) Shares of UCITS admitted pursuant to the UCITS Directive and/or other undertakings for collective investment in transferable securities within the meaning of Article 1 paragraph 2 letters a) and b) of the UCITS Directive having their registered office in an EU member state or a third state provided that:
  - such other undertakings for collective investment have been admitted based on legal provisions that subject them to a supervisory authority which is considered by the Luxembourg CSSF as equally suitable by EU standards, and that the cooperation of the relevant authorities is sufficiently ensured;
  - the level of protection for shareholders of the other undertakings for collective investment is equivalent to the level of protection of an UCITS and that especially the regulations concerning the separate custody of the special assets, borrowing, lending and short selling of securities and money market instruments are considered as equivalent to the provisions of the UCITS Directive;
  - the business activities of the other undertakings for collective investment are specified in semi-annual and annual reports, which enable a judgement to be formed as regards the assets and liabilities, the income and the transactions within the reporting period;
  - the UCITS or the other undertakings for collective investment, the Shares of which are to be purchased, are authorised in compliance with their respective Articles of Association to invest a total of 10% of their special assets in other UCITS or undertakings for collective investment; and/or
- (f) sight deposits or callable deposits with a maturity not exceeding twelve (12) months with credit institutes, if such credit institution has its registered office in an EU member state, or – if the credit institution's registered office is in a third state – if such institute is subject to supervisory provisions that the CSSF considers as equivalent to EU standards; and/or
- (g) derivative financial instruments derivatives), including equivalent instruments which are settled in cash and traded on a regulated market specified under letters (a), (b) and (c), and/or derivative financial instruments not traded on a securities exchange (OTC derivatives) provided that:
  - the underlying assets are instruments within the meaning of Article 41(1) of the Law of 2010, or financial indices, interest rates, exchange rates or currencies, in which the

UCITS is allowed to invest pursuant to the investment targets specified in its Articles of Association;

- the counterparties to the transactions with OTC derivatives are institutes subject to a supervisory authority of such category as authorised by the CSSF;
- and the OTC derivatives are subject to a reliable and verifiable daily valuation and can be sold, liquidated or sold off by a counter-deal at the appropriate market value at any time upon the initiative of the UCITS; and/or
- (h) money market instruments not traded on a regulated market and within the definition of Article 1 of the current law of 2010, if the issue or the issuer of such instruments is already subject to provisions regarding the protection of deposits and investors, and provided that they have been:
  - issued or guaranteed by a centralised governmental, regional or local corporate body or the central bank of a EU member state, the European Central Bank, the EU or the European Investment Bank, a third state, or, if it is a federal state, a member state of the federation, or by an international public body comprising at least one member state; or
  - issued by a company whose securities are traded on a regulated market specified under letters (a), (b) and (c); or
  - issued or guaranteed by an institution that is subject to a supervisory authority pursuant to the criteria defined by Community law or by an institution that is subject to and complies with supervisory provisions that are considered by the CSSF to be at least as strict as those laid down in Community law; or
  - issued by other issuers belonging to a category approved by the Luxembourg supervisory authority, provided that the investments in such instruments are subject to investor protection equivalent to that laid down in the first, second and third indent and provided the issuer is either a company whose capital and reserves amount to at least EUR 10 million and which presents and publishes its annual accounts in accordance with Directive 78/660/EEC or is an entity which, within a group of companies that includes one or more listed companies, is responsible for the financing of the group, or is an entity that is responsible for the financing of securitisation vehicles which benefit from a banking liquidity line.

#### 18.2 Moreover, the Company may execute the transactions specified below for each Sub-fund.

- (a) The Company may invest up to 10% of a Sub-fund's net assets in securities other than those described above.
- (b) The respective Sub-fund may hold liquid assets in the form of investment accounts (current accounts) and overnight deposits, but only on an ancillary basis.
- (c) Unless otherwise stated in the Special Section of the relevant Sub-fund, the Sub-fund may acquire assets in foreign currencies and may therefore be subject to foreign currency exposure.
- (d) The investment in money market instruments is limited to the extent that such money market instruments comply with the requirements specified under Article 18.4(h) above.

- (e) The Company may borrow money amounting to up to 10% of any Sub-fund's net assets for a limited period of time.
- (f) The Company may acquire foreign currencies via a back-to-back loan.
- (g) Unless otherwise specified in the Special Section of the relevant Sub-fund, investments in Delta-1 Certificates on commodities, precious metals and indices thereon, unless they are financial indices within the meaning of Article 9 (1) of Directive 2007/16/EC and Article XIII of ESMA Guideline 2014/937, are limited to a total of 20% of the net assets of the Sub-fund.
- (h) Unless otherwise stated in the Special Section of the relevant Sub-fund, the following shall apply: The use of derivative financial instruments (derivatives) is permitted in order to achieve the above-mentioned investment objectives, as well as for investment and hedging purposes. In addition to option rights, this also includes swaps and forward contracts on transferable securities, money market instruments, financial indices within the meaning of Article 9(1) of Directive 2007/16/EC and Article XIII of the ESMA Guidelines 2014/937, interest rates, exchange rates, currencies and investment funds in accordance with Article 41(1) e) of the Law of 17 December 2010. Total return swaps may also be used. These instruments can be used to synthetically replicate the profit and loss profile of the underlying instrument without being invested in the respective underlying. For the investor, the income from this total return swap is based on the performance of the underlying with its income (dividends, coupons, etc.) and the performance of the derivative instrument that was used. Such derivatives may only be used within the limits of this Article. Additional information on techniques and instruments can be found in the chapter "Notes on techniques and instruments" of the Full Prospectus.
- The Company may acquire Shares of other undertakings for collective investment in transferable securities (UCITS) and/or other undertakings for collective investments (UCI) pursuant to the following investment restrictions:
  - (i) The Company may acquire Shares of other UCITS and/or other UCI within the meaning of Article 18.1(e) provided that such investment in a single UCITS and/or other UCI does not exceed 20% of the Sub-fund's net assets.
  - (ii) Investments in Shares of UCI other than UCITS may not exceed a total of 30% of such UCITS' net assets.

The above restrictions shall not apply to feeder Sub-funds as defined in Article 18.5.

#### 18.3 Investment restrictions under tax law

If the Special Section of the relevant Sub-fund states that the Sub-fund is an equity fund or a balanced fund, the following conditions apply in conjunction with the regulatory investment restrictions listed:

- An equity fund is a Sub-fund which continuously invests more than 50% of its net assets in equity investments.
- A balanced fund is a Sub-fund which continuously invests at least 25% of its net assets in equity investments.

In determining the amount of assets invested in equity investments, loans are deducted in proportion to the share of equity investments in the value of all assets (modified net Sub-fund assets).

Equity investments are:

- 1. shares in a capital company admitted to official trading on a stock exchange or listed on another organised market,
- 2. shares in a capital company which is not a real estate company and which
  - a) is domiciled in a Member State of the European Union or in another state which is a party to the Agreement on the European Economic Area and is subject to and not exempt from taxation of income for corporations, or
  - b) is domiciled in a non-member state and is subject to and not exempt from income tax of at least 15% for capital companies,
- 3. Investment units in equity funds which, in accordance with their investment requirements, invest more than 50% of their modified net Sub-fund assets or more than 50% of their assets in the aforementioned shares in capital companies, in the amount of 51% of their value; if an equity fund provides for a higher percentage than 51% of its value in its investment requirements, the investment share is deemed to be an equity investment in the amount of this higher percentage, and
- 4. Investment units in balanced funds which, in accordance with their terms and conditions of investment, invest at least 25% of their modified net Sub-fund assets or at least 25% of their assets in the aforementioned shares in capital companies, in the amount of 25% of their value; if a balanced fund provides for a higher percentage than 25% of its value in its terms and conditions of investment, the investment share is deemed to be an equity investment in the amount of this higher percentage.

# 18.4 Moreover, the Company shall comply, regarding any of its Sub-funds, with the following investment restrictions:

- (a) The Company may not invest its assets in securities or money market instruments of a single issuer if the investment restrictions specified below are exceeded:
  - (i) The Company must not invest more than 10% of any Sub-fund's net assets in securities or money market instruments of a single issuer. Moreover, the Company must not invest more than 20% of any Sub-fund's net assets in deposits with a single institution. The Fund's risk exposure to a counterparty in an OTC derivative transaction may not exceed:
    - (A) 10% of any Sub-fund's net assets if the other party is a credit institution according to the meaning of Article 41(1)(f) of the Law of 2010;
    - (B) otherwise 5% of any Sub-fund's net assets
  - (ii) The aggregate value of securities and money market instruments of issuers in whose securities and instruments the Company invests more than 5% of any Sub-fund's net assets must not exceed 40% of the net assets of the relevant Sub-fund. This limit does not apply to deposits and transactions involving OTC derivatives with credit institutions subject to prudential supervision.

Notwithstanding the individual limit under number (i) above, the Company must not invest more than 20% of any Sub-fund's net assets in a single institution

- (A) Transferable securities or money market instruments issued by a single institution; and/or
- (B) Deposits with a single institution, and/or

- (C) OTC derivatives purchased from a single institution.
- (iii) The limit specified above under Article 18.4(a)(i) sentence 1 can be extended to a maximum of 35% in the Article securities or money market instruments issued or guaranteed by a EU member state and its local authorities, by a third state or by international public bodies involving at least one EU member state.
- (iv) The limit specified above under Article 18.4(a)(i) sentence 1 can be extended to a maximum of 25% in the case of certain debt obligations issued by a credit institution with its registered office in an EU member state, if such institution is subject to a special prudential supervision based on legal provisions for the protection of the holders of such debt obligations. In particular, the proceeds from the issue of such debt obligations and which would be used in the first instance to repay the principal and the interest payments in the event of the issuer being wound up. Should the Company invest more than 5% of any Sub-fund's net assets in such debt obligations of a single issuer, the total of such investments must not exceed 40% of the Sub-fund's net asset value.

The securities and money market instruments specified above under Articles 18.4(a)(iii) and 18.4(a)(a)(iv) are included in the calculation of the investment limit of 40% pursuant to Articles 18.4(a)(iii) above.

The investment limits specified in Articles 18.4(a)(i), 18.4(a)(ii), 18.4(a)(iii) and 18.4(a)(a)(iv) must not be accumulated; therefore investments in securities or money market instruments of a single issuer, or deposits or derivatives with/of such issuer within the meaning of Articles 18.4(a)(i), 18.4(a)(ii), 18.4(a)(iii) and 18.4(a)(a)(iv) must on no account exceed 35% of any Sub-fund's net assets.

Companies which are part of the same group regarding the preparation of consolidated annual reports within the meaning of Directive 83/349/EEC or pursuant to generally acknowledged international accounting standards must be considered as a single issuer for the purposes of calculating the investment limits specified in this Article.

A fund may invest a total of 20% of its assets in securities and money market instruments of a single group of companies.

Pursuant to Article 181(1) of the Law of 2010, any Sub-fund of an umbrella fund must be regarded individually as a single issuer, provided that the principle of separation of obligations of the various Sub-funds via third parties is guaranteed.

Notwithstanding the investment limits specified above under 18.4(a)(i), 18.4(a)(ii) and 18.4(a)(iii), the Company shall be entitled to invest – based on the principle of risk diversification – up to 100% of any Sub-fund's assets in securities and money market instruments issued or guaranteed by a EU member state or its local authorities, by another OECD member state (OECD member state) or by international public bodies including one or several EU member state(s), provided such securities comprise at least six different issues and the assets of a single issue do not exceed 30% of the relevant Sub-fund's assets.

(b) For all Sub-funds combined, the Company may not purchase more than 10% of the debt obligations issued by a single issuer.

- (c) For all Sub-funds combined, the Company may not purchase more than 25% of the Shares issued by a single UCITS and/or other UCI.
- (d) For all Sub-funds combined, the Company may not purchase more than 10% of the money market instruments issued by a single issuer.

The investment limits specified above under Articles 18.4(b), 18.4(c) and 18.4(d) do not have to be applied at the time of purchase if the gross amount of the debt obligations or the money market instruments or the net amount of the Shares issued cannot be calculated at the time of the purchase.

The above investment limits specified under Articles 18.4(b), 18.4(c) and 18.4(d) shall not apply to:

- (i) securities and money market instruments issued or guaranteed by an EU member state or its local authorities;
- (ii) securities and money market instruments issued or guaranteed by a state that is not an EU member state;
- (iii) securities and money market instruments issued by an international public body that comprises one or more EU member state(s);
- (iv) Shares of a company in a state that is not an EU member state ("third state"), provided such company invests its assets mainly in the assets of issuers based in such state and if such participation is the only possible way to invest in assets of the relevant issuer of such state, due to the state's legal provisions. The above stipulation shall, however, only apply if the Company in the third state complies with the investment limits laid down in Articles 18.3(e) and 18.4(a)(i) to 18.4(a)(iv), 18.4(b), 18.4(c) and 18.4(d). In the event of the investment limits specified in Articles 18.4(a)(i) to 18.4(a)(iv) and 18.4(e) being exceeded, letter 18.4(l) shall apply accordingly;
- (v) Shares of the equity capital of subsidiaries held by one investment company or several investment companies, if such subsidiary – in the state of its registered office – performs only and exclusively for such investment company/companies certain administration, advisory or distribution services regarding the repurchase of Shares upon application of the shareholders.
- (e) The Company may not invest in commodities or precious metals or in certificates thereof; currency transactions including the corresponding futures and options are not considered as commodity trade within the meaning of this investment restriction.
- (f) The Company may not make investments involving the unlimited liability of the investor.
- (g) The Company may not short sell securities or otherwise deal in instruments it does not own.
- (h) The Company may not purchase real property unless doing so is indispensable for its immediate business activities.
- (i) The Company may not use its assets for firm commitment underwritings.
- (j) The Company may not issue options or other subscription rights on its Shares.
- (k) Notwithstanding the admissibility of purchasing bonds and other securitised receivables, as well as the ownership of bank securities accounts, the Company may not provide loans or

guarantees to third parties. However, the Company may invest up to 10% of each Subfund's net assets in securities that have not been fully paid up.

(I) The Company may exceed the above investment restrictions in the scope of exercising subscription rights to the extent that such rights result from the securities comprising the Company's assets. Should the Company exceed the investment restrictions involuntarily or by exercising subscription rights, it shall primarily try to remedy this situation in the shareholders' interests within the scope of its selling transactions.

18.5 In the event that the Board of Directors establishes one or more feeder Sub-funds within the meaning of Article 77(1) of the Law of 17 December 2010, this feeder Sub-fund will invest between at least 85% and a maximum of 100% of its assets in units of an investable master UCITS (or one of its Sub-funds) in accordance with the statutory provisions and the rules of the Full Prospectus of the Company.

# ARTICLE 19 - COMPENSATION OF THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

19.1 The Company may indemnify any member of the Board of Directors, director or general agent and their heirs, executors and other assigns for reasonable costs in connection with any legal action or proceeding which affects such person, by virtue of his/her position as a member of the Board of Directors, director or general agent of the Company or on their behalf of the Company, of any other Company, in which the Company is a shareholder or in respect of which the Company is a creditor and in respect of which such person is not entitled to indemnification, except in connection with matters in which such person is definitively convicted of any such action or proceeding for negligence or gross negligence. In the case of an out-of-court agreement, compensation shall be paid only after the Company has received confirmation from its legal counsel that the member of the Board of Directors to be compensated or the director or general agent to be compensated has not been found at fault for any breach of duty. The claim described above does not exclude other claims to be made in connection with the position of member of the Board of Directors, director or general agent.

# **ARTICLE 20 - CONFLICTS OF INTEREST**

20.1 No contract or other transaction between the Company and other companies or firms shall be adversely affected or invalidated by the fact that one or more member of the Board of Directors, directors or general agents of the Company are members of such companies or are members of the Board of Directors, shareholders, directors, general agents or employees of such companies or firms. A member of the Board of Directors, director, general agent of the Company who is also a member of the Board of Directors, director, general agent or employee of another company or firm with which the Company has a contractual or other business relationship shall not be prevented by such affiliation with the relevant company or firm from advising, voting on or acting on any matter relating to such contract or business.

20.2 If any member of the Board of Directors, director or general agent of the Company has a conflicting interest in any business of the Company, he/she must notify the Board of Directors and will not participate in any deliberations or votes with respect to such business. A report on this will be submitted to the next General Meeting.

20.3 The term conflicting interest within the meaning of the preceding sentence shall not refer to any business relationship or interest which is merely in any way or for any reason connected with the Custodian Bank, the Manager or any other person, company or entity as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine at its absolute discretion.

# ARTICLE 21 - SUPERVISION

21.1 The accounting data contained in the annual report prepared by the Company shall be audited by an auditor appointed by the General Meeting and whose fee shall be borne by the Company.

21.2 The auditor shall perform all duties required by the Law of 2010 on undertakings for collective investment.

# **Title IV. - General Meeting**

#### **ARTICLE 22 - GENERAL MEETINGS**

22.1 The General Meeting of shareholders of the Company shall represent all the shareholders of the Company. Resolutions passed at the General Meeting are binding on all shareholders regardless of the Share Class they hold. The General Meeting has extensive powers to order, carry out or approve actions in connection with the business of the Company.

22.2 The General Meeting shall be convened by the Board of Directors.

22.3 It may also be convened at the request of shareholders representing at least one fifth of the share capital.

22.4 The Annual General Meeting shall be held in accordance with the provisions of Luxembourg law by resolution of the Board of Directors at the place specified in the convocation issued by the Board of Directors within 6 months after the end of the financial year.

22.5 Additional General Meetings may be held at the places and times specified in the invitation.

22.6 The shareholders shall meet at the convocation of the Board of Directors on the basis of a notice which contains the agenda and which must be sent at least eight days before the meeting to each holder of Registered Shares at the address entered in the register of shareholders; proof of such notice to the holders of Registered Shares need not be furnished at the meeting. The agenda shall be prepared by the Board of Directors, except when the Meeting is convened in accordance with the law at the written request of the shareholders, in which case the Board of Directors may prepare a supplementary agenda.

22.7 If Bearer Shares have been issued, the invitations shall also be published in accordance with the law.

22.8 If all Shares have been issued as Registered Shares and no publications have been effected, invitations may only be sent by registered mail to the addresses of the shareholders.

22.9 Whenever all shareholders are present or represented and declare that they consider themselves duly invited and that they have been informed in advance of the agenda submitted for discussion, the General Meeting may be held without an invitation.

22.10 The Board of Directors may establish additional requirements for shareholders to attend a General Meeting. The agenda may stipulate that the necessary quorum and majorities are to be determined on the basis of the number of Shares that have been issued by midnight (Luxembourg time) five (5) days before the date of the General Meeting (the fixing date). In such a case, shareholders' participation rights shall be based on the number of Shares that they hold on the fixing date.

22.11 The matters to be dealt with at a General Meeting are limited to those items listed in and relating to the agenda (which contains all information required by law).

22.12 Each share, irrespective of its class, confers one vote in accordance with the provisions of Luxembourg law and these Articles of Association. A shareholder may be represented at any General Meeting by a general agent, who need not be a shareholder and may be a member of the Board of Directors, on the basis of a written power of attorney.

22.13 Unless otherwise provided for by law or by these Articles of Association, resolutions of the General Meeting may be passed by a simple majority of the Shares present or represented.

#### **ARTICLE 23 - GENERAL MEETINGS OF THE SHAREHOLDERS OF A SUB-FUND**

23.1 Shareholders of a Share Class or of Share Classes issued to a Sub-fund may at any time hold General Meetings to decide on matters relating exclusively to that Sub-fund.

23.2 The provisions of Article 22 paragraphs 2, 3, 6, 7, 8, 9 and 10 shall apply mutatis mutandis to such General Meetings.

23.3 Each share confers the right to one vote in accordance with the provisions of Luxembourg law and these Articles of Association. Shareholders may attend such meetings in person or be represented by a general agent, who need not be a shareholder and may be a member of the Board of Directors, on the basis of a written power of attorney.

23.4 Unless otherwise provided for by law or by these Articles of Association, resolutions shall be taken at a General Meeting of Shareholders of a Sub-fund by a simple majority of the votes of the shareholders present or represented.

23.5 Any resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders of the Company which changes the rights of the shareholders of a particular Share Class in relation to the rights of the shareholders of another Share Class shall be submitted to the shareholders of such Share Class(es) for resolution. Article 68 of the Law of 10 August 1915 on commercial companies, as amended, shall apply.

#### ARTICLE 24 - CLOSURE OF SUB-FUNDS

24.1 If for any reason the value of the assets of a Sub-fund falls below a threshold which the Board of Directors deems to be the minimum value below which the Sub-fund can no longer be managed in an economically efficient manner, or if the economic or political situation has changed in any way that affects the relevant Sub-fund and has a material adverse effect on the investments of that Sub-fund, the Board of Directors may decide to compulsorily redeem all Shares of the relevant Class(es) of that Sub-fund at their net asset value on the valuation day on which this resolution enters into force (taking into account the prices and actual costs incurred in connection with the realisation of the assets). The Company shall inform the shareholders of the Class(es) concerned prior to the entry into force of the compulsory redemption. The notice to this effect will state the reasons and the procedure for the redemption. Holders of Registered Shares will be informed in writing. The Company will inform the holders of Bearer Shares in accordance with the statutory provisions.

24.2 Subject to any decision to the contrary in the interests of the shareholders or in the interests of ensuring equal treatment of all shareholders, the shareholders of the Sub-fund concerned may continue to request the redemption or conversion of their Shares free of charge prior to the effective date of this compulsory redemption.

24.3 Without prejudice to the powers conferred above on the Board of Directors, the General Meeting of Shareholders of the Share Class(es) issued in a Sub-fund may decide to redeem all Shares of those Share Class(es) issued in that Sub-fund against payment of their net asset value on the valuation day on which that decision takes effect (taking into account the prices and actual costs incurred in connection with the realisation of the assets). No quorum is required for such a meeting and resolutions may be adopted by a simple majority of the Shares present or represented at such meeting.

24.4 Assets which could not be paid out to their beneficiaries on the occasion of such a redemption shall be deposited with the Custodian Bank for six months after the redemption; after this period, these assets shall be transferred to the *Caisse de Consignation* in favour of the beneficiaries.

24.5 All such redeemed Shares will be cancelled.

#### **ARTICLE 25 - MERGER OF SUB-FUNDS**

25.1 The Company (or a Sub-fund of the Company) may participate in cross-border or domestic mergers either as a merging UCITS or as a receiving UCITS (as further defined in Article 25.3) in accordance with the following rules.

25.2 The Board of Directors is responsible for determining the date on which the merger will enter into force.

25.3 For the purposes of this Article 25, a merger shall be a process in which:

(a) one or more UCITS or Sub-funds thereof (the merging UCITS) when dissolved without going into liquidation, transfer all their assets and liabilities to another existing UCITS or a Sub-fund thereof (the receiving UCITS) in exchange for Shares of the receiving UCITS and, where applicable, a cash payment not exceeding 10% of the net asset value of those Shares to their shareholders;

(b) two or more UCITS or Sub-funds thereof (the merging UCITS) when dissolved without going into liquidation, transfer all their assets and liabilities to a UCITS which they have constituted or a Sub-fund thereof (the receiving UCITS) in exchange for Shares of the receiving UCITS and, where applicable, a cash payment not exceeding 10% of the net asset value of those Shares to their shareholders; or

(c) one or more UCITS or Sub-funds thereof (the merging UCITS) which continue to exist until the liabilities have been settled, transfer their net assets to another Sub-fund of the same UCITS, to a UCITS constituted by them or to another existing UCITS or Sub-fund thereof, (the receiving UCITS);

25.4 Within the meaning of this Article 25, the term UCITS shall also include a Sub-fund of a UCITS and the term Company shall also include a Sub-fund of the Company for the purposes of this Article.

25.5 If the Company is the subject of a merger with another UCITS in the capacity of either a merging or receiving UCITS, the following rules should be adhered to:

(a) The Company shall provide its shareholders with appropriate and precise information (particularly the details prescribed in Article 72(3)(a) to (e) of the Law of 2010) on the planned merger to enable the shareholders to form a sound judgement on the effects of the plan on their investment and to be able to effectively exercise their rights as described in more detail under letters (b) and (c). This information shall only be provided to shareholders following approval of the merger by the CSSF (or, where appropriate, the supervisory authority of the other UCITS) and at least thirty days prior to the final deadline for applying for Shares to be redeemed or paid out (or converted where applicable) at no additional cost.

(b) The decision by the Board of Directors to merge shall be subject to approval by the General Meeting, which shall vote on the basis of a simple majority of the votes present or represented at the Meeting. In the case of a merger leading to the dissolution of the Company, the resolution of the General Meeting must be recorded by notarial deed and must also be supported by a majority of votes and have the quorum as stipulated for an amendment to the Articles of Association. Where approval of the General Meeting is required, only the consent of the General Meeting of shareholders of the Sub-fund concerned is needed.

(c) The Company and the other UCITS must draw up a common merger plan that corresponds to the content requirements of Article 69(1) of the Law of 2010.

(d) The merger plan must set out a date on which the merger will take effect and the date for the calculation of the ratio for the conversion of Shares in the merging UCITS for Shares in the receiving UCITS and, where applicable, for stipulating the relevant net holding for cash payments.

(e) The shareholders of the Company shall have the right to request, at no cost other than that retained by the Company to cover the costs of liquidation, the resale or redemption of their Shares or, to the extent possible, their conversion into Shares of another UCITS with a similar investment policy that is managed by the same Management Company or by another company with which the Management Company is linked by common management or control or by a substantial direct or indirect holding. This right shall take effect as of the date on which the shareholders in the merging UCITS and the shareholders in the receiving UCITS are informed of the planned merger in accordance with item (a) and expire five (5) working days before the date on which the conversion ratio is calculated pursuant to Article 25.5(d).

(f) The Board of Directors may, without any impact on the rights described in item (b) and in deviation from the provisions of Article 11(2) and Article 28(1)(b) of the Law of 2010, suspend the subscription, redemption or disbursement of Shares for as long as such a suspension is justified in order to protect the shareholders.

(g) The Custodian Bank of the Company must verify the details described in Article 69(1)(a), (f) and (g) of the Law of 2010.

25.6 If the Company is the merging UCITS, the following rules must be adhered to:

(a) The Company shall commission the auditor with the task of verifying the following details:

(i) the agreed criteria for the valuation of the assets and, where applicable, the liabilities at the time of calculating the conversion ratio pursuant to Article 25.5(d);

(ii) where applicable, the cash payment per Share; and

(iii) the method for calculation of the conversion ratio and the actual conversion ratio at the time of calculating the ratio pursuant to Article 25.5(d).

(b) Upon request, the shareholders in the Company and the shareholders of the receiving UCITS, as well as the responsible supervisory authorities, shall be provided with a copy of the auditor's report free of charge.

25.7 If the Company is the receiving UCITS, the following rules must be adhered to:

(a) Whilst adhering to the principle of risk diversification, the Company may for a period of six (6) months after the date on which the merger takes effect deviate from the provisions of Articles 43, 44, 45 and 46 of the Law of 2010.

(b) The Management Company shall confirm to the Custodian Bank in writing that the transfer of the assets and, where applicable, liabilities has been concluded.

(c) The Company shall take the requisite measures to ensure that details of the merger are published as required and that the CSSF and all other authorities concerned are duly informed.

#### ARTICLE 26 - FINANCIAL YEAR

26.1 The financial year begins on 1 January and ends on 31 December of each calendar year.

#### **ARTICLE 27 - DISTRIBUTIONS**

27.1 In accordance with the statutory provisions, the General Meeting of Shareholders of the Shares of the corresponding Share Class(es) issued to a Sub-fund shall decide on the appropriation of profit at the proposal of the Board of Directors and may decide on a distribution or authorise the Board of Directors to decide on distributions.

27.2 In respect of each Share Class entitled to distribution, the Board of Directors may decide to pay interim dividends in accordance with the statutory provisions. Payment of all distributions shall be made in respect of Registered Shares to the address indicated in the share register.

27.3 Distributions may, at the discretion of the Board of Directors, be made in any currency and at such time and place as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine.

27.4 The Board of Directors may, subject to the conditions and terms it has established, decide to make distributions in kind instead of in cash.

27.5 Any declared distribution which has not been claimed by the beneficiary within five (5) years of allotment may no longer be claimed and will be forfeited in favour the Sub-fund(s) corresponding to the relevant Share Class(es).

27.6 No interest will be paid on distributions declared by the Company and made available to the beneficiary.

# **Title V. - Final provisions**

#### **ARTICLE 28 - DISSOLUTION OF THE COMPANY**

28.1 The Company may be dissolved at any time by a decision of the General Meeting, which shall take into account the quorums and majorities provided for in Article 29 below. The dissolution of the Company must be proposed by the Board of Directors to the General Meeting whenever the share capital has fallen below two thirds of the minimum capital referred to in Article 5. The Meeting shall decide by a simple majority of the Shares present or represented at the Meeting without a specific quorum being required.

28.2 The dissolution of the Company must also be proposed by the Board of Directors to the General Meeting as soon as the share capital has fallen below one quarter of the minimum capital as provided for in Article 5 of these Articles of Association; in this case, the meeting shall decide without quorum and by the votes of the shareholders representing one quarter of the Shares present or represented at the Meeting. The convocation of such General Meetings must be such that the relevant meeting may be held within forty days of the determination that the net assets of the Company have fallen below one-third or one-quarter of the minimum capital, as applicable.

#### **ARTICLE 29 - LIQUIDATION**

29.1 After the dissolution of the Company, its liquidation shall be effected by one or more liquidators, who may be natural or legal persons, appointed by the General Meeting, which shall also decide on their powers and compensation.

#### **ARTICLE 30 - AMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION**

30.1 These Articles of Association may be amended by a General Meeting in accordance with the quorums and majority requirements laid down by the Law of 10 August 1915 on commercial companies, as amended.

#### ARTICLE 31 - APPLICABLE LAW

31.1 The provisions of the Law of 10 August 1915 on commercial companies and the provisions of the Law of 2010, as amended, shall apply to all matters not specifically regulated in these Articles of Association.

# ARTICLE 32 - EFFECTIVE DATE

32.1 These Articles of Association entered into force on 1 January 2021.